CAMBREX CORP Form PREM14A December 04, 2006

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant þ

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the appropriate box:

- **b** Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- o Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

Cambrex Corporation (Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Not Applicable (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- o No fee required.
- b Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
 - 1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

Not applicable ____

2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:

Not applicable ____

3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

\$460,000,000

4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

\$460,000,000

5) Total fee paid:

Table of Contents

\$49,220

- o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
 - 1) Amount Previously Paid:
 - 2) Form, Schedule or Registration No.:
 - 3) Filing Party:
 - 4) Date Filed:

PRELIMINARY COPY, SUBJECT TO COMPLETION DATED DECEMBER [], 2006

CAMBREX CORPORATION One Meadowlands Plaza East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073 [], 2007

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Cambrex Corporation to be held on [], 2007 at [], at [].

At the special meeting, you will be asked to approve the sale of our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses for an aggregate purchase price of \$460 million, subject to certain post-closing adjustments, to subsidiaries of Lonza Group Limited pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 23, 2006. After using a portion of the cash proceeds from this transaction (after the payment of taxes and transaction-related costs) to repay all outstanding indebtedness under our credit facility, we intend to use the remaining cash proceeds, together with amounts expected to be made available under a new credit facility if financing can be arranged on favorable terms at the currently anticipated levels, to make a cash distribution to our stockholders of approximately \$13.50 to \$14.50 per share of our common stock. Following the sale of our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses, we will be a substantially smaller company focused on our remaining business, the Human Health Business.

In February 2006, our Board of Directors announced the retention of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. to assist in the analysis and consideration of our strategic alternatives. Over the course of the following months, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. solicited and received indications of interest from numerous potential strategic and financial buyers seeking to acquire all or parts of the Company. Based on the highly competitive nature of the bidding process for these businesses, our Board of Directors believes that the proposed sale of our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses to Lonza Group Limited offers the most effective means of maximizing stockholder value. At the same time, our Board of Directors decided to retain the Human Health Business as it believes that more value can be created by continuing to operate this business than through the other alternatives presented in the strategic review process to date.

Following the sale, we believe that Human Health s robust portfolio of products and services in value-added niches, coupled with its proven capabilities and first-rate regulatory record, uniquely position us to support both branded and generic manufacturers throughout the drug development life cycle. We are confident that our strong customer relationships and talented employee base give us a solid foundation for winning new business in growing healthcare markets. Concurrently, we will be working to aggressively reduce our corporate overhead in light of the decrease in both the size and complexity of Cambrex s operations. We expect these cost reductions and ongoing benefits from the rollout of Lean Six Sigma programs to create additional value for our stockholders. Furthermore, consistent with its fiduciary duties, our Board of Directors will also continue to evaluate strategic opportunities for the Human Health Business as they may arise.

In addition, in response to the vote at our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in favor of the non-binding proposal submitted by one of our stockholders to declassify the Board of Directors, our Board of Directors has decided to submit a proposal to declassify our Board of Directors at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This proposal underscores our Board of Directors commitment to being responsive to stockholders, in addition to implementing best

practices in corporate governance. If stockholders approve declassification, our Board of Directors also expects to implement majority voting for directors in uncontested elections.

After careful consideration, our Board of Directors has approved the proposal to sell our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses described in the enclosed proxy statement and recommends that you vote FOR this proposal.

Table of Contents

Your vote is very important, regardless of the number of shares of common stock that you own. The sale of our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses and the special cash dividend that we expect to pay to our stockholders following completion of this sale cannot be completed without the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock. Accordingly, we urge you to please complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card and return it as promptly as possible, even if you intend to attend the special meeting.

Please review in detail the enclosed proxy statement and its appendices, which we strongly encourage you to read in their entirety, for a more complete statement regarding the proposal to sell our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses.

On behalf of our Board of Directors, I thank you for your support and urge you to vote **FOR** the proposals described in the enclosed proxy statement.

Sincerely,

James A. Mack Chairman

The enclosed proxy statement is dated [], 2007 and is first being mailed to stockholders on or about [],
2007.		

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON [], 2007

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of the stockholders of Cambrex Corporation, a Delaware corporation, will be held on [], 2007 at [], at [], for the following purposes:

- 1. To consider and vote upon the authorization of the sale of our Bioproducts Business and our Biopharma Business pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2006, among Lonza Group Limited, as Guarantor, and certain of its subsidiaries and Cambrex Corporation, as more fully described in the enclosed proxy statement.
- 2. To approve the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal.
- 3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Stockholders are urged to review carefully the information contained in the enclosed proxy statement prior to deciding how to vote their shares of common stock at the special meeting.

Only holders of record of our common stock at the close of business on [], 200, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting or any adjournment thereof. The notice and proxy statement are first being mailed to stockholders on or about [], 2007.

Because of the significance of the sale of our Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses, your participation in the special meeting, in person or by proxy, is especially important. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card as promptly as practicable. If you attend the special meeting, you may revoke your proxy and vote in person if you wish, even if you have previously returned your proxy card. Simply attending the special meeting, however, will not revoke your proxy; you must vote at the special meeting. If you do not attend the special meeting, you may still revoke your proxy at any time prior to the special meeting by providing a later dated proxy or by providing written notice of your revocation to the Secretary of Cambrex Corporation. Your prompt cooperation will be greatly appreciated.

Please follow the instructions on the enclosed proxy card to vote either by mail, telephone or electronically via the Internet.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Peter E. Thauer Secretary

East Rutherford, New Jersey [], 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	1
SUMMARY	1
Questions and answers about the special meeting	1
Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement	5
The sale of the Bio Companies Business	5
<u>General</u>	5
Purchase price: Use of proceeds from the sale of the Bio Companies Business	5
Our Company following the sale of the Bio Companies Business	6
Recommendation of our Board of Directors	6
Opinions of our Financial Advisors	6
Accounting treatment	7
Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences	7
No appraisal rights	7
The Stock Purchase Agreement	8
Conditions to the sale of the Bio Companies Business	8
No solicitation; Superior proposals	8
Employee benefits matters	9
Indemnification	9
Termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement	9
Effect of Termination	10
Transition Services Agreement	10
Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business	11
Proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting	11
Questions	11
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION	12
THE SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS	13
Time and place	13
Proposals to be considered at the special meeting	13
Record date and quorum	13
Voting shares of common stock at the special meeting	13
Vote required for approval	14
Recommendation of our Board of Directors	14
Voting and revocation of proxies	14
How proxies are counted	15
Solicitation of proxies; Costs of solicitation	15
PROPOSAL 1 AUTHORIZATION OF THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS PURSUANT	
TO THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT	16
Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement	16
Purchase price; Use of proceeds	16
Background of the sale of the Bio Companies Business	17
Reasons for the proposed sale; Recommendation of our Board of Directors	25
Opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.	26
Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC	35
Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences	42

Accounting treatment	44
Fees and expenses	44
Regulatory approvals	44

	Page
No appraisal rights	45
Transition services	45
Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business	45
Special considerations you should take into account in deciding how to vote on the proposal to sell our Bio	
Companies Business	47
Special considerations regarding the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business	48
Special considerations relating to our Company if our Bio Companies Business is sold	49
THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT	56
General	56
The Bio Companies Business	56
Purchase price	56
Closing	56
Prepayment of indebtedness at closing	57
Representations and warranties	57
Conduct of business prior to closing	59
No solicitation: Superior proposals	61
Other covenants	62
Tax matters	65
Employee matters	65
Conditions to the closing	65
Indemnification	66
Termination	67
Termination fee and expenses	68
Amendments and waivers	68
Transition Services Agreement	69
NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS FOLLOWING THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS	70
FINANCIAL HISTORY AND EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES	
BUSINESS	71
5-Year and Interim Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of Cambrex	71
3-Year and Interim Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements of Cambrex	74
3-Year and Interim Unaudited Financial Statements of the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma	
Business	82
PROPOSAL 2 ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING	120
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	121
Principal stockholders	121
Security ownership of directors and executive officers	122
SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	124
OTHER MATTERS	124
Other business at the special meeting	124
Multiple stockholders sharing one address	124
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	125
APPENDIX A STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT	
APPENDIX B OPINION OF BEAR, STEARNS & CO. INC.	
APPENDIX C OPINION OF WACHOVIA CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC	
APPENDIX D CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CAMBREX CORPORATION	

SUMMARY

The following summary is an overview of selected information contained in this proxy statement about proposals that our stockholders are being asked to consider:

to authorize the sale of our Bioproducts Business and our Biopharma Business (in this proxy statement, we refer to our subsidiaries engaged in these businesses collectively as the Bio Companies and to the businesses engaged in by the Bio Companies as the Bio Companies Business) pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

to approve the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal.

This proxy statement is first being mailed to stockholders on or about [], 2007.

Please note that each item in this summary contains a page reference directing you to a more complete description of that item in this proxy statement.

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, please note that all references in this proxy statement to:

Cambrex , Company , we , our and us each refer to Cambrex Corporation and its subsidiaries;

Lonza refers to Lonza Group Limited, as Guarantor, and certain of its subsidiaries, the purchasers of the Bio Companies pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

the Stock Purchase Agreement refers to the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 23, 2006 between the Company and Lonza, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A.

Questions and answers about the special meeting

Q: When and where is the special meeting?

A: The special meeting of our stockholders will be held on [], 2007, at [], at [].

Q: Who is soliciting my proxy?

A: Our Board of Directors.

Q: What matters will I vote on at the special meeting?

A: You will be asked to consider and approve the following proposals:

to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

to approve the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal.

Q: How does our Board of Directors recommend that I vote on the proposals?

A: Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote:

FOR the proposal to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

FOR the proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal.

Q: Who is entitled to vote at the special meeting?

A: Only holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on [], 200, the record date of this solicitation, are entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at the special meeting. On the record date, approximately [] shares of our common stock, held by approximately []

stockholders of record, were outstanding and entitled to vote. You may vote all shares of common stock you owned as of the record date. You are entitled to one vote per share of common stock.

Q: What is a quorum for purposes of the special meeting?

A: In order to conduct business at the special meeting, a quorum must be present. A quorum is a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, present in person or by proxy. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present for the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum.

A broker non-vote generally occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares of common stock on your behalf submits a proxy card representing your shares of common stock but does not vote on a proposal because the nominee has not received your voting instructions and lacks discretionary power to vote the shares of common stock on that proposal. Based on applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange, brokers, banks and other nominees will not have discretionary authority to vote your shares of common stock on the proposal to sell the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement without your voting instructions. In instances in which the nominee has not received your voting instructions, the broker non-votes represented by that proxy card will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at the special meeting.

Q: What does it mean if I get more than one proxy card?

A: If your shares of common stock are registered differently and are in more than one account, you will receive more than one proxy card. If you do not sign and return one or more of your proxy card(s), then your shares of common stock represented by such unreturned proxy card(s) will not be voted. Sign and return all proxy cards to ensure that all of your shares of common stock are voted.

Q: How do I vote in person at the special meeting?

A: If you are a registered stockholder, you may attend the special meeting and vote your shares of common stock in person at the special meeting by giving us a signed proxy card or ballot before voting is closed. If you want to do that, please bring proof of identification with you. Even if you plan to attend the special meeting, we recommend that you vote your shares of common stock in advance as described above, so your vote will be counted even if you later decide not to attend the special meeting.

If you hold your shares of common stock through a broker, bank or other nominee, you may vote those shares of common stock in person at the special meeting only if you obtain and bring with you a signed proxy from the necessary nominees giving you the right to vote such shares of common stock. To do this, you should contact your nominee.

Q: How do I vote without attending the special meeting?

A: If you are a registered stockholder (that is, if you hold shares of common stock in certificated form), you may submit your proxy and vote your shares of common stock by returning the enclosed proxy card, marked, signed and dated, in the postage-paid envelope provided, or by telephone or via the Internet by following the instructions included with the enclosed proxy card.

If you hold your shares of common stock through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should follow the separate voting instructions, if any, provided by the broker, bank or other nominee with the proxy statement. Your broker, bank or other nominee may offer you the ability to make your proxy submission via the Internet or by telephone. Please

contact your broker, bank or other nominee to determine how to vote.

Q: How do I vote via the Internet or by telephone?

A: Our stockholders of record as of the record date and many of our stockholders who hold their shares of common stock through a broker or bank will have the option to submit their proxies or voting instructions via the Internet or by telephone. There are separate arrangements for using the Internet and telephone to

Table of Contents

submit your proxy depending on whether you are a stockholder of record or your shares of common stock are held in street name by your broker or bank. If your shares of common stock are held in street name, you should check the voting instruction card provided by your broker or bank to see which options are available and the procedures to be followed.

As an alternative to submitting the enclosed proxy card by mail, stockholders of record may submit their proxies:

via the Internet by visiting a website established for that purpose at [https://] and following the instructions on the website; or

by telephone by calling the toll-free number [1-] in the United States, Puerto Rico or Canada on a touch-tone phone and following the recorded instructions.

Q. If my shares of common stock are held in street name by my broker, bank or other nominee, will my nominee vote my shares of common stock for me?

A. Yes, but only if you provide instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares of common stock. Without these instructions, your shares of common stock will not be voted at the special meeting.

Q. Can I change my vote?

A. You may revoke or change your proxy at any time before it is voted. If you have not voted through your broker, bank or other nominee because you are the registered stockholder, you may revoke or change your proxy before it is voted by:

filing a notice of revocation, which is dated after the date of your proxy, with the Company s Secretary at our principal executive office located at One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073;

submitting a duly executed proxy bearing a later date before the special meeting;

submitting a new proxy by telephone or via the Internet at a later time, but not later than 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) on [], 2007, or, if the special meeting is adjourned or postponed, then the day before such adjourned special meeting date; or

voting in person at the special meeting.

Please note that simply attending the special meeting will not constitute revocation of a proxy. If your shares of common stock are held in street name, you should follow the instructions of your broker, bank or other nominee regarding revocation or change of proxies. If your broker, bank or other nominee allows you to submit a proxy by telephone or via the Internet, you may be able to change your vote by submitting a new proxy by telephone or via the Internet.

Q. How are votes counted?

A. For each proposal, you may vote FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN.

Proposal to authorize the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement: Stockholders as of the close of business on the record date representing a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock must vote **FOR** the approval of this proposal in order for us to complete the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, both abstentions and broker non-votes will count as a vote cast **AGAINST** this proposal.

Proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting: Stockholders as of the close of business on the record date representing a majority of the shares of our common stock representing the quorum at the special meeting must vote **FOR** this proposal in order for the chairman of the special meeting to be able to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, once a quorum is present, if necessary or appropriate to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the proposal to sell the Bio Companies

Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, both abstentions and broker non-votes will count as a vote cast **AGAINST** this proposal.

If you sign your proxy card without indicating your vote, your shares of common stock will be voted: **FOR** the authorization of the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and **FOR** adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal; and in accordance with the best judgment of the persons appointed as proxies on any other matters properly brought before the special meeting for a vote.

Q: What do I need to do now?

A: Please vote your shares of common stock as soon as possible so that your shares of common stock may be represented at the special meeting. You may vote by signing and dating your proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed return envelope, or you may vote in person at the special meeting. Alternatively, you may vote by telephone or via the Internet in accordance with the instructions on your proxy card. If your shares of common stock are held in street name by your broker, bank or other nominee, you must provide instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares of common stock.

Q: Who will bear the costs of this solicitation?

A: The costs of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. Brokerage houses, banks, custodians, nominees and fiduciaries are being requested to forward the proxy material to beneficial owners, and their reasonable expenses therefore will be reimbursed by the Company. The expenses of preparing, printing and mailing this proxy statement and the proxies solicited hereby will be borne by the Company. Additional solicitation may be made by telephone, facsimile or other contact by certain directors, officers, employees or agents of the Company, none of whom will receive additional compensation therefore. The Company has also engaged Innisfree M&A Incorporated (also referred to in this proxy statement as Innisfree) to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the special meeting.

Q: Whom should I call if I have any questions?

A: If you have questions about any of the proposals on which you are voting, you may call Arthur B. Crozier of Innisfree M&A Incorporated at (212) 750-5837 or Peter E. Thauer, our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, at (201) 804-3000.

For a more complete description of the special meeting, please see THE SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS beginning on page 13.



Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement

Cambrex Corporation. Cambrex is a Delaware corporation and was founded in 1981. Cambrex is a global, diversified life sciences company dedicated to providing products and services to accelerate and improve the discovery and commercialization of human therapeutics. Cambrex primarily supplies its products and services worldwide to branded and generic pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies and research organizations. We currently operate in three business segments, *Bioproducts, Biopharma* and *Human Health*:

Our Bioproducts business, acquired in 1997, manufactures and markets research, therapeutic and analytical testing products based on cell biology and used in drug discovery and biotherapeutic manufacturing. In this proxy statement, we refer to this business segment as the Bioproducts Business .

Our Biopharma business engages in contract services for the process development and current Good Manufacturing Practices manufacturing of therapeutic proteins, vaccines and other biologic drugs. In this proxy statement, we refer to this business segment as the Biopharma Business, and together with the Bioproducts Business, the Bio Companies Business.

Our Human Health business features a broad portfolio of products and services for process development and manufacturing of approximately 120 active pharmaceutical ingredients, advanced pharmaceutical intermediates and specialty intermediates for animal health, x-ray diagnostic and other applications under U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP). In this proxy statement, we refer to this business segment as the Human Health Business and any such reference to the Human Health Business prior to October 27, 2006 includes the Company s subsidiaries located in Cork, Ireland and Landen, Belgium (the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries) and on and after October 27, 2006 excludes the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries.

Lonza Group Limited. Lonza, which is headquartered in Basel, Switzerland and is listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, is one of the world s leading suppliers to the pharmaceutical, healthcare and life science industries. Its products and services span its customers needs from research to final product production. Lonza is a global leader in the production and support of pharmaceutical active ingredients both chemically as well as biotechnologically. Lonza has capabilities in large and small molecules, peptides, amino acids and niche bioproducts which play an important role in the development of novel medicines and healthcare products. Lonza also is a leading provider of value chemical and biotech ingredients to the nutrition, hygiene, preservation, agro and personal care markets.

For a more complete description of the parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement beginning on page 16.

The sale of the Bio Companies Business

General

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement and subject to the approval of our stockholders, we have agreed to sell all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of each of the Bio Companies to Lonza, except for one of the Bio Companies which owns intellectual property used in the Bio Companies Business and whose assets will be sold to Lonza.

Purchase price; Use of proceeds from the sale of the Bio Companies Business

The sale of the Bio Companies Business is anticipated to result in the Company receiving approximately \$460 million in gross proceeds, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. For a more detailed description of these purchase price adjustments, please see Purchase price beginning on page 56. From these proceeds, the Company will pay various transaction-related costs, including without limitation legal, advisory, banking and accounting costs, currently estimated at approximately \$9 million, and estimated taxes of approximately \$1 million. In addition, the Company will also repay all outstanding indebtedness under our existing credit facility of approximately \$178 million and estimated cash costs associated with employee change of control agreements and retention bonuses of \$18 million, leaving \$254 million of net proceeds from the sale.

Cambrex expects to pay a special cash dividend to its stockholders that will be funded by the net proceeds from the sale plus an additional \$125 million to \$150 million from new lines of credit that Cambrex expects to secure after closing. Assuming financing can be arranged on favorable terms at the currently anticipated levels, and subject to compliance with Delaware law, Cambrex expects the special dividend to be approximately \$13.50 to \$14.50 per share of common stock. For a more complete description of the payment of the special cash dividend and the tax consequences thereof, please see Purchase price; Use of proceeds beginning on page 16 and Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences beginning on page 42.

Our Company following the sale of the Bio Companies Business

After the sale of the Bio Companies Business, the Company will be substantially smaller and will focus on its remaining business, the Human Health Business. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Human Health Business (excluding the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries) accounted for 49.5% of our consolidated gross sales and 54.6% of our consolidated gross profit. Our Board of Directors believes that its decision to continue to operate our Human Health Business and to improve its profitability will position the Company to deliver greater value to stockholders than any alternative presented through the strategic review process. As part of the drive to improve the profitability of the Human Health Business, the Company recently consummated the sale of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries. Additionally, through an aggressive effort to reduce our corporate overhead, in light of the decrease in both the size and complexity of the Company s operations following the sale of the Bio Companies Business, we expect to realize additional annual cost savings of approximately \$8 million beginning in the second half of 2007. Finally, consistent with its fiduciary duties, our Board of Directors will continue to evaluate strategic opportunities for the Human Health Business as they may arise.

In addition, in response to the vote at our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in favor of the non-binding proposal submitted by one of our stockholders to declassify the Board of Directors, and in order to give stockholders a greater voice in the future direction of the Company, our Board of Directors has decided to submit a proposal to declassify our Board of Directors at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. If stockholders approve declassification, our Board of Directors also expects to implement majority voting for directors in uncontested elections.

For a more complete description of our Company following the sale of the Bio Companies Business, please see NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS FOLLOWING THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS beginning on page 70.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has determined that the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement is in the best interests of Cambrex and its stockholders. Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved (with Mr. Ilan Kaufthal abstaining due to his position as a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.) the Stock Purchase Agreement and unanimously recommends that stockholders vote **FOR** the proposal to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. For a more complete description of our Board of Directors recommendation to the stockholders, please see Reasons for the proposed sale; Recommendation of our Board of Directors beginning on page 25.

Opinions of our Financial Advisors

In connection with the proposed transaction, the Board of Directors received separate written opinions, each dated October 23, 2006, from Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. (also referred to in this proxy statement as Bear Stearns) and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC (also referred to in this proxy statement as Wachovia Securities) as to the fairness,

from a financial point of view and as of the date of such opinion, to the Company of the \$460 million in cash to be received by the Company for the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement (the Initial Sale Price). The full texts of Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities written opinions, dated October 23, 2006, each of which sets forth, among other things, assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken in connection with such opinions, are attached as Appendix B and Appendix C, respectively, to this proxy statement and are incorporated by reference in their entirety into this proxy statement.

This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of each opinion. Holders of Company common stock are encouraged to read the opinions carefully in their entirety. Each of Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities provided its opinion for the information and assistance of the Board of Directors in connection with its evaluation of the Initial Sale Price from a financial point of view. Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities opinions do not address any other aspect of the proposed transaction, do not address the relative merits of the transaction as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for the Company, the use or uses of the net after tax proceeds from the sale or the effects of any other transactions in which the Company might engage and do not constitute a recommendation as to how any stockholder should vote in connection with the proposed transaction. For a more complete description of these opinions, please see Opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. beginning on page 26 and Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC beginning on page 35.

Accounting treatment

Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, we expect to reflect the results of operations and the related gain on the sale of the Bio Companies Business as discontinued operations, net of taxes.

Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences

The sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company (and certain of the Company s subsidiaries that are sellers under the Stock Purchase Agreement) will recognize gain or loss as a result of the sale. Any gain will be subject to tax to the extent not offset by tax losses. There may also be certain foreign taxes, including withholding taxes, imposed in connection with the sale and the deemed repatriation of sale proceeds from a non-U.S. seller to the Company. The Company estimates that federal taxes in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business will largely be offset by certain tax loss carry-forwards and available foreign tax credits. Based upon utilization of these Company tax attributes offsetting federal tax and considering taxes payable on the sale of the Bio Companies Business at the state and local level as well as foreign jurisdictions, the Company estimates taxes will be approximately \$1,000,000.

As discussed more fully in this proxy statement, a holder s receipt of a pro-rata portion of the remaining sale proceeds by means of a special dividend will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent of the Company s current or accumulated earnings and profits (computed using U.S. federal income tax principles), with any amount in excess of such current or accumulated earnings and profits treated as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the holder s adjusted tax basis in their stock and, thereafter, as capital gain. For a more complete description of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences, please see Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences beginning on page 42.

No appraisal rights

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, holders of our common stock are not entitled to appraisal rights in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement.

For a more complete description of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, please see PROPOSAL 1 AUTHORIZATION OF THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS PURSUANT TO THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT beginning on page 16.

The Stock Purchase Agreement

Conditions to the sale of the Bio Companies Business

Before we can complete the sale of the Bio Companies Business, a number of conditions must be satisfied or waived (to the extent permitted by law). These include:

the receipt of the affirmative vote of the holders of the requisite number of outstanding shares of our common stock approving the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of any law, injunction, judgment or ruling by any governmental authority enjoining, restraining, preventing or prohibiting the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business or making the consummation of such sale illegal;

the receipt of all consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any governmental authority required of Lonza, the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries to consummate the transaction and the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (HSR Act) and the receipt of confirmation or approval under foreign antitrust laws;

the execution of the transition services agreement whereby Cambrex will provide, or cause to be provided, certain transition services to Lonza and the Bio Companies following the closing on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein (the Transition Services Agreement);

representations and warranties of the parties being true and correct subject to customary materiality qualifiers;

performance or compliance by the parties in all material respects with all agreements, obligations and covenants; and

the absence of any Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) or any event or circumstance that would be reasonably expected to result in a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect in the reasonably foreseeable future.

For a more complete description of the conditions to the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Conditions to the closing beginning on page 65.

No solicitation; Superior proposals

The Stock Purchase Agreement restricts our ability to, among other things, solicit or engage in discussions or negotiations with any third party regarding certain takeover proposals and our ability to change or withdraw our recommendation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Notwithstanding these restrictions, prior to stockholder approval of the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, under certain circumstances, our Board of Directors may respond to an unsolicited written proposal for an alternative acquisition or terminate the Stock Purchase Agreement and enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to a superior proposal , so long as Cambrex complies with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Our Board of Directors may also withdraw its recommendation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement if our Board of Directors determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to take such action would not be consistent with the Board of Directors fiduciary

duties to the Cambrex stockholders under Delaware law. In the event that the Company terminates the Stock Purchase Agreement to enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to a superior proposal, the Company is required to pay Lonza a termination fee of \$18,354,000 (which is approximately 3.99% of the Initial Sale Price). For a more complete description of the provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement relating to our Board of Directors ability to solicit and consider alternative transaction proposals, please see No solicitation; Superior proposals beginning on page 61.

Employee benefits matters

Immediately following the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Bio Companies will continue to employ all the employees employed by them immediately before the closing. However, no provision of the Stock Purchase Agreement limits the ability of Lonza to terminate the employment of any employee of the Bio Companies Business following the closing for any reason. For at least one year after the sale, Lonza or its affiliates must (i) provide compensation and benefits to employees who remain employed by the Bio Companies that are substantially comparable to those provided by the Bio Companies before the closing of the sale and (ii) continue to provide severance benefits to employees of the Bio Companies pursuant to the terms of severance plans and arrangements in effect as of the closing.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, Lonza and its affiliates will generally assume all liabilities and obligations related to current and former employees of the Bio Companies Business (regardless of whether those liabilities or obligations arose before or after the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business), except that Cambrex will be responsible for liabilities arising under certain retirement plans sponsored by Cambrex. For a more complete description of the provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement relating to employee benefits matters, please see Employee matters beginning on page 65.

Indemnification

Except as described in the two preceding paragraphs and except for pre-closing tax liabilities of the Bio Companies, which will be retained by Cambrex, following the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Lonza will generally indemnify Cambrex and its affiliates for losses arising out of or resulting from liabilities relating to the Bio Companies Business, in each case whether arising prior to, on or after the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. In addition to pre-closing tax liabilities, liabilities under certain Company sponsored retirement plans, as described above, and certain specified environmental liabilities, Cambrex will generally indemnify Lonza and its affiliates for losses arising out of or resulting from any liabilities of the Company and its other subsidiaries unrelated to the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. For a more complete description of the indemnification obligations in the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Indemnification beginning on page 66.

Termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement

The Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the closing date, whether before or after the approval by our stockholders of the Stock Purchase Agreement:

by the mutual written consent of Cambrex and Lonza; or

by either party if:

any law, injunction, judgment or ruling by any governmental authority enjoining, restraining, preventing or prohibiting consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business or making the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business illegal is in effect and has become final and non-appealable;

the closing has not been consummated on or before April 23, 2007; or

the affirmative vote of the requisite number of our stockholders approving the Stock Purchase Agreement is not obtained; or

by Cambrex if:

concurrently it enters into a definitive agreement in accordance with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement providing for a Superior Bio Companies Proposal (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement);

any of the representation and warranties of Lonza set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement are not true and correct as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007 subject to customary materiality qualifiers; or

Lonza has breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by the Stock Purchase Agreement to be complied with by it in all material respects as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007; or

by Lonza if:

the representation and warranties of Cambrex set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement are not true and correct as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007 subject to customary materiality qualifiers;

Cambrex has breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by the Stock Purchase Agreement to be complied with by it in all material respects as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007;

our Board of Directors makes an adverse recommendation change by withdrawing or adversely modifying its recommendation that the stockholders approve the Stock Purchase Agreement, or if the Board of Directors approves or recommends a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) to the stockholders;

an event has occurred or a circumstance exists that could reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, but only to the extent that such event or circumstance would cause the closing condition requiring the absence of a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect not to be satisfied and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007; or

the Board of Directors (A) fails to recommend the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement to the stockholders, (B) withdraws or modifies in a manner adverse to Lonza its approval or recommendation of the Stock Purchase Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby, (C) approves or recommends a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal to the stockholders, (D) causes Cambrex or its subsidiaries or their respective representatives to take any action that would constitute a breach of the provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement restricting solicitation of alternative transaction proposals, (E) causes any Seller or Bio Company to enter into a Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement (as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement), or (F) resolves to take any of the foregoing actions.

For a more complete description of the termination provisions in the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Termination beginning on page 67.

Effect of Termination

In the event that the Company terminates the Stock Purchase Agreement to enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to a superior proposal, the Company is required to pay Lonza a termination fee of \$18,354,000 (which is approximately 3.99% of the Initial Sale Price).

In addition, if the Stock Purchase Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, including the failure of our stockholders to approve the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, and within 16 months thereafter (i) the Company consummates a transaction whereby more than 50% of the stock of the Bio Companies, or more than 50% of the assets of the Company primarily used in connection with the Bio Companies Business, is acquired by a third party, the Company will be obligated to pay Lonza a termination fee of \$18,354,000, or (ii) the Company consummates a transaction whereby all or substantially all of the assets of, or the equity interests

in, the subsidiaries engaged in the Biopharma Business are acquired by a third party, the Company will be obligated (unless it shall already have become obligated to make the payment described in the preceding clause (i)) to pay Lonza a termination fee of \$2,000,000. If the Company becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (i) of the preceding sentence, the first fee will be credited against the second fee. For a more complete description of the effects of termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Termination fee and expenses beginning on page 68.

Transition Services Agreement

The Stock Purchase Agreement provides that Cambrex and Lonza will enter into the Transition Services Agreement, attached as Exhibit A to the Stock Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which Cambrex will provide, or cause to be provided, certain transition services to Lonza and the Bio Companies following the closing on the terms

and subject to the conditions set forth in the Transition Services Agreement. For a more complete description of the Transition Services Agreement, please see Transition Services Agreement beginning on page 69.

For a more complete description of the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT beginning on page 56.

Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business

In considering the recommendation of the Board of Directors with respect to the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, you should be aware that some of the Company s directors and executive officers have interests in the Bio Companies sale that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of our stockholders generally. Such interests include the treatment of stock options and restricted stock units held by such directors and officers, as well as the triggering of change in control severance benefits that may become payable to certain officers. In addition, one of the members of our Board of Directors is a Vice Chairman of Bear Stearns, which served as the financial advisor to the Board of Directors in connection with the consideration by the Board of Directors of the Company s strategic alternatives, including the process leading to the signing of the Stock Purchase Agreement with Lonza. These interests, to the extent material, are described in this proxy statement. Our Board of Directors was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in approving the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. For a more complete description of the interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, please see Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business beginning on page 45.

Proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting

Although it is not currently expected (and assuming a quorum is present), the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed, if necessary or appropriate, for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. You should note, however, that if a quorum is not present, then the chairman of the special meeting will be entitled to adjourn the special meeting to another place, date or time. For a more complete description of this proposal, please see PROPOSAL 2 ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING beginning on page 120.

Questions

If, after reading this proxy statement, you have additional questions about the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement or other matters discussed in this proxy statement, please contact:

Arthur B. Crozier Innisfree M&A Incorporated at (212) 750-5837

or

Peter E. Thauer Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary at (201) 804-3000

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This proxy statement may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Rule 3b-6 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including, without limitation, statements regarding expected performance, especially expectations with respect to sales, research and development expenditures, earnings per share, capital expenditures, acquisitions, divestitures, collaborations, or other expansion opportunities. These statements may be identified by the fact that they use words such as expects, anticipates, intends, estimates, believes or similar expressions in connection with any discussion of future financial and/or operating performance. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the risk factors discussed in our periodic reports filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (or, the SEC). Any forward-looking statements contained herein are based on current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially from current expectations including, but not limited to, global economic trends, pharmaceutical outsourcing trends, competitive pricing or product developments, government legislation and/or regulations (particularly environmental issues), tax rate, interest rate, technology, manufacturing and legal issues, changes in foreign exchange rates, performance of minority investments, uncollectible receivables, loss on disposition of assets, cancellation or delays in renewal of contracts, lack of suitable raw materials or packaging materials, the possibility that the value of the acquisition of PermaDerm cultured skin may not be realized or that our plans to obtain a Humanitarian Device Exemption, completion of clinical trials and commercialization of PermaDerm cultured skin in the United States may not be successful, the Company s ability to receive regulatory approvals for its products, the outcome of the evaluation of strategic alternatives, the satisfaction of the conditions to closing set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement with Lonza, the availability of financing on favorable terms in order to fund the portion of the special dividend that is not being funded from proceeds of the sale and whether the Company s estimates set forth in this proxy statement with respect to its earnings and profits for tax purposes in 2007 will be correct. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. New factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict which new factors will arise. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

For further details and a discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned to review our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the Forward-Looking Statement section therein, filed with the SEC, as well as our other filings with the SEC, including the Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on October 24, 2006, October 27, 2006 and November 2, 2006. For further information relating to the Company s risks and uncertainties, please see Special considerations you should take into account in deciding how to yote on the proposal to call our Bio Companies

Special considerations you should take into account in deciding how to vote on the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business beginning on page 47. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

THE SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

This proxy statement is being furnished to our stockholders as part of the solicitation by our Board of Directors for use at the special meeting of stockholders of Cambrex Corporation, and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Time and place

The special meeting of our stockholders will be held on [], 2007, at [], at [].

Proposals to be considered at the special meeting

At the special meeting, you will be asked to consider and approve the following proposals:

to authorize the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

approve the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposal.

Our Board of Directors knows of no other matters to be presented for action at the special meeting. If any other matters properly come before the special meeting, however, the persons named in the proxy will vote on such other matters in accordance with their best judgment.

Record date and quorum

Only holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on [], 200, the record date of this solicitation, are entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at the special meeting. On the record date, approximately [] shares of our common stock, held by approximately [] stockholders of record, were outstanding and entitled to vote. You may vote all shares of common stock you owned as of the record date. You are entitled to one vote per share of common stock.

In order to conduct business at the special meeting, a quorum must be present. A quorum is a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, present in person or by proxy. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as present for the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum.

Voting shares of common stock at the special meeting

Voting in person at the special meeting: If you are a registered stockholder, you may attend the special meeting and vote your shares of common stock in person at the special meeting by giving us a signed proxy card or ballot before voting is closed. If you want to do that, please bring proof of identification with you. Even if you plan to attend the special meeting, we recommend that you vote your shares of common stock in advance as described above, so your vote will be counted even if you later decide not to attend the special meeting. If you hold your shares of common stock through a broker, bank or other nominee, you may vote those shares of common stock in person at the special meeting only if you obtain and bring with you a signed proxy from the necessary nominees giving you the right to vote such shares of common stock. To do this, you should contact your nominee.

Voting without attending the special meeting: If you are a registered stockholder (that is, if you hold shares of common stock in certificated form), you may submit your proxy and vote your shares of common stock by returning

Table of Contents

the enclosed proxy card, marked, signed and dated, in the postage-paid envelope provided, or by telephone or via the Internet by following the instructions included with the enclosed proxy card. If you hold your shares of common stock through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should follow the separate voting instructions, if any, provided by the broker, bank or other nominee with the proxy statement. Your broker, bank or other nominee may offer you the ability to make your proxy submission via the Internet or by telephone. Please contact your broker, bank or other nominee to determine how to vote.

Voting via the Internet or by telephone: Our stockholders of record as of the record date and many of our stockholders who hold their shares of common stock through a broker or bank will have the option to submit their proxies or voting instructions via the Internet or by telephone. There are separate arrangements for using the

Table of Contents

Internet and telephone to submit your proxy, depending on whether you are a stockholder of record or your shares of common stock are held in street name by your broker or bank. If your shares of common stock are held in street name, you should check the voting instruction card provided by your broker or bank to see which options are available and the procedures to be followed. As an alternative to submitting the enclosed proxy card by mail, stockholders of record may submit their proxies:

via the Internet by visiting a website established for that purpose at [https://] and following the instructions on the website; or

by telephone by calling the toll-free number [1-] in the United States, Puerto Rico or Canada on a touch-tone phone and following the recorded instructions.

Broker non-votes: If your shares of common stock are held in street name by a broker, bank or other nominee, such nominee will be allowed to vote your shares of common stock only if you provide instructions to such nominee on how to vote such shares of common stock. Without such instructions, your shares of common stock will not be voted at the special meeting.

Vote required for approval

At the close of business on [], 200, there were [] shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. At the special meeting, each share of common stock is entitled to one vote (whether in person or by proxy or pursuant to a stockholders consent).

Once a quorum is present:

the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock is required to approve the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock representing such quorum shall be required to approve the proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies. You should note, however, that if a quorum is not present, then the chairman of the special meeting will be entitled to adjourn the special meeting to another place, date or time.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote **FOR** each of the proposals listed on the proxy and described in this proxy statement.

Voting and revocation of proxies

You may revoke or change your proxy at any time before it is voted. If you have not voted through your broker, bank or other nominee because you are the registered stockholder, you may revoke or change your proxy before it is voted by:

filing a notice of revocation, which is dated after the date of your proxy, with the Company s Secretary at our principal executive office located at One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073;

submitting a duly executed proxy bearing a later date (but before the special meeting);

submitting a new proxy by telephone or via the Internet at a later time, but not later than 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) on [], 2007, or, if the special meeting is adjourned or postponed, then the day before such adjourned special meeting date; or

voting in person at the special meeting.

Please note that simply attending the special meeting will not constitute revocation of a proxy. If your shares of common stock are held in street name, you should follow the instructions of your broker, bank or other nominee regarding revocation or change of proxies. If your broker, bank or other nominee allows you to submit a proxy by telephone or via the Internet, you may be able to change your vote by submitting a new proxy by telephone or via the Internet.

How proxies are counted

For each proposal, you may vote FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN.

Proposal to authorize the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase

Agreement: Stockholders as of the close of business on the record date representing a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock must vote **FOR** the approval of this proposal in order for us to complete the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, both abstentions and broker non-votes will count as a vote cast **AGAINST** this proposal.

Proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting: Stockholders as of the close of business on the record date representing a majority of the shares of our common stock representing the quorum at the special meeting must vote FOR this proposal in order for the chairman of the special meeting to be able to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, once a quorum is present, if necessary or appropriate to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the proposal to sell the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, both abstentions and broker non-votes will count as a vote cast AGAINST this proposal.

If you sign your proxy card without indicating your vote, your shares of common stock will be voted: **FOR** the authorization of the sale of our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement; and **FOR** adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the foregoing proposals; and in accordance with the best judgment of the persons appointed as proxies on any other matters properly brought before the special meeting for a vote.

A broker non-vote generally occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares of common stock on your behalf submits a proxy card representing your shares of common stock but does not vote on a proposal because the nominee has not received your voting instructions and lacks discretionary power to vote the shares of common stock on that proposal. Based on applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange, brokers, banks and other nominees will not have discretionary authority to vote your shares of common stock on the proposal to sell the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement without your voting instructions. In instances in which the nominee has not received your voting instructions, the broker non-votes represented by that proxy card will be counted for purpose of determining whether a quorum is present at the special meeting. As described above, however, at the special meeting, a broker non-vote will count as a vote against any of the proposals to which the broker non-vote applies.

Solicitation of proxies; Costs of solicitation

The costs of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. Brokerage houses, banks, custodians, nominees and fiduciaries are being requested to forward the proxy material to beneficial owners, and their reasonable expenses therefore will be reimbursed by the Company. The expenses of preparing, printing and mailing this proxy statement and the proxies solicited hereby will be borne by the Company. Additional solicitation may be made by telephone, facsimile or other contact by certain directors, officers, employees or agents of the Company, none of whom will receive additional compensation therefore. The Company has also engaged Innisfree to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and the Company will pay Innisfree a fee not to exceed \$50,000, and will reimburse Innisfree for reasonable administrative and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with such solicitation.

PROPOSAL 1

AUTHORIZATION OF THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS PURSUANT TO THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This section of the proxy statement describes certain aspects of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. However, we recommend that you read carefully the complete Stock Purchase Agreement for the precise legal terms of such agreement and other information that may be important to you. The Stock Purchase Agreement is included in this proxy statement as Appendix A.

Parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement

Cambrex Corporation. Cambrex is a Delaware corporation and was founded in 1981. Cambrex is a global, diversified life sciences company dedicated to providing products and services to accelerate and improve the discovery and commercialization of human therapeutics. Cambrex primarily supplies its products and services worldwide to branded and generic pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies and research organizations. We currently operate in three business segments, *Bioproducts, Biopharma* and *Human Health*:

Our Bioproducts Business, acquired in 1997, manufactures and markets research, therapeutic and analytical testing products based on cell biology and used in drug discovery and biotherapeutic manufacturing. Our Bioproducts Business accounted for 33.1% of our consolidated gross sales and 48.3% of our consolidated gross profit for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.

Our Biopharma Business engages in contract services for the process development and current Good Manufacturing Practices manufacturing of therapeutic proteins, vaccines and other biologic drugs. The Biopharma Business provides complete services from strain and process development through Phase III clinical and commercial production, making use of a full range of microbial fermentation and mammalian cell culture expertise. Our Biopharma Business accounted for 9.2% of our consolidated gross sales and (2.4%) of our consolidated gross profit for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.

Our Human Health Business features a broad portfolio of products and services for process development and manufacturing of approximately 120 active pharmaceutical ingredients, advanced pharmaceutical intermediates and specialty intermediates for animal health, x-ray diagnostic and other applications under FDA current Good Manufacturing Practices. The products and services of our Human Health Business are marketed to generic drug and branded pharmaceutical companies worldwide. Our Human Health Business accounted for 57.7% of our consolidated gross sales and 54.1% of our consolidated gross profit for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.

Cambrex s principal executive offices are located at One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073. The telephone number of our principal executive offices is (201) 804-3000.

Lonza Group Limited. Lonza, which is a Swiss company listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, is one of the world s leading suppliers to the pharmaceutical, healthcare and life science industries. Its products and services span its customers needs from research to final product production. Lonza is a global leader in the production and support of pharmaceutical active ingredients both chemically as well as biotechnologically. Lonza has capabilities in large and small molecules, peptides, amino acids and niche bioproducts which play an important role in the development of novel medicines and healthcare products. Lonza also is a leading provider of value chemical and biotech ingredients to the nutrition, hygiene, preservation, agro and personal care markets.

Lonza s principal executive offices are located in Basel, Switzerland. The telephone number of their principal executive offices is (+41) 61 316 81 11.

Purchase price; Use of proceeds

Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Cambrex will receive \$460 million in cash, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. For a more detailed description of these purchase price adjustments, please see Purchase price beginning on page 56. From these

Table of Contents

proceeds, the Company will pay various transaction-related costs, including without limitation legal, advisory, banking and accounting costs, currently estimated at approximately \$9 million, and estimated taxes of approximately \$1 million. In addition, a portion of the proceeds will be used to repay all of the outstanding indebtedness under the terms of the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2005, as amended, among the Company, certain of our subsidiaries and the lenders and their agents, which indebtedness we estimate will be approximately \$178 million at the time of the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, and to pay estimated cash costs associated with employee change of control agreements and retention bonuses of \$18 million. In this proxy statement, we refer to this credit facility as the Credit Agreement .

After making these payments, Cambrex estimates that it will have approximately \$254 million of available net proceeds, which we intend to use, together with amounts expected to be made available under a new credit facility of \$125 to \$150 million, to pay a special cash dividend to stockholders following consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business. Assuming financing can be arranged on favorable terms at the currently anticipated levels, and subject to compliance with applicable Delaware law, Cambrex expects the special dividend to be approximately \$13.50 to \$14.50 per outstanding share of our common stock. For a description of the tax consequences resulting from the payment of a special cash dividend, please see Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences beginning on page 42.

Background of the sale of the Bio Companies Business

On September 19, 2005, the Board of Directors held a regularly scheduled meeting at which, as part of its ongoing evaluation of the Company s long-term strategy and prospects, it discussed with Bear Stearns four possible strategic alternatives:

the continuing evolution of the Company s specialty therapeutics business segment and Bioproducts Business through acquiring other companies or products in those industries;

the sale of the Human Health Business and the redeployment of the realized proceeds;

the sale of the Bioproducts Business and the redeployment of the realized proceeds; and

the sale of the Company as a whole.

Bear Stearns noted that the public market price for the Company s common stock reflected a discount from a theoretical sum-of-the-parts evaluation, due in part to the disparity of its business segments. In addition, Bear Stearns characterized the Company s two principal business segments as sub-scale and requiring further growth or acquisitions to maximize their strategic and financial value, but noted that the Company s limited financial resources would make it difficult for both business segments to compete for resources to achieve their full business potential, particularly at a time when the Company also was seeking to expand its specialty therapeutics business. Following an extended discussion, the Board of Directors concluded that Company management should continue managing the current businesses, including the possible acquisition of individual specialty therapeutics products or specialty therapeutics company, while exploring possible alternative strategies, such as selling the Human Health Business to a financial buyer and seeking to identify potential merger candidates in the Bioproducts industry. In light of the relative size and importance of the Human Health Business to the Company, the Board of Directors expressed its intent to seek Company stockholder approval of any potential transaction that might result in the sale of this business segment. Further, the Board of Directors agreed that Bear Stearns should be engaged to assist management with these efforts, and directed management to consider retention bonuses and other inducements to ensure management continuity during this process.

On October 26, 2005, Mr. James A. Mack, at the time our Chairman of the Board, received an unsolicited non-binding letter from a Bioproducts industry participant expressing interest in acquiring the Company in an all-cash acquisition or, if the Company was not so inclined, in acquiring just the Bioproducts Business. A special meeting of the Board of Directors was called for October 27, 2005 to consider the letter, and both Bear Stearns and Milbank Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP, the Company s external counsel, were requested to be present at such meeting.

At the October 27, 2005 special meeting, before discussing the proposal outlined in the October 26, 2005 letter, Mr. John R. Leone, at the time our President and Chief Executive Officer, updated the Board of Directors on recent

developments in discussions with a potential financial buyer which had expressed preliminary interest in acquiring the Human Health Business, as well as a preliminary expression of interest from another Bioproducts industry participant potentially interested in either acquiring the Bioproducts Business or merging with the Company in connection with a sale of the Human Health Business. Mr. Leone reported that the valuation expressed by the Bioproducts industry participant was inadequate and discussions had stalled. Next, Bear Stearns reported that the discussions with the potential financial buyer for the Human Health Business were moving quite slowly following management presentations, and suggested that additional potential bidders be contacted.

The discussion next turned to the proposal to acquire the Company contained in the October 26, 2005 letter to Mr. Mack. After a thorough consideration of the available alternatives, the Board of Directors determined that the Company should pursue the potential transaction on a non-exclusive basis and directed Mr. Mack to signal the Company s interest to the Bioproducts industry participant in discussing its proposal.

At a special meeting of the Board of Directors held on November 9, 2005, Bear Stearns reported on the preliminary discussions with the Bioproducts industry participant and presented its views on the current value of the Company s common stock, and management presented its updated views on the historical and projected operating and financial performance of the Company. Among other things, Bear Stearns advised the Board of Directors that, while selling the segments of the Company separately could potentially yield higher values than a sale of the entire Company, such a process carried with it several risks and disadvantages, including execution risk, disruption to the organization and transaction and shutdown costs. The Board of Directors concluded that the Company should pursue the opportunity presented by the October 26, 2005 proposal from the Bioproducts industry participant. Accordingly, Mr. Mack was directed to allow this party to conduct limited due diligence on the Company under an appropriate confidentiality agreement with a view to seeking an improvement in the proposal. Thereafter, the Bioproducts industry participant signed a confidentiality agreement, conducted limited due diligence and attended management presentations.

On December 2, 2005, Mr. Mack received a second letter containing a revised proposal from the Bioproducts industry participant with a lower cash price per share than had been offered in the October 26, 2005 letter. A special meeting was called for December 5, 2005 to update the Board of Directors and to discuss the revised offer. At this meeting, the Board of Directors expressed disappointment with the lower offer and concluded that the offeror was unlikely to increase, and in fact would likely reduce further, its offer after further due diligence. Accordingly, after thorough discussion, the Board of Directors determined that the revised price was inadequate and that the Company should reject the offer, request the return of confidential information from the Bioproducts industry participant and end the discussions.

The Board of Directors then turned to a discussion of the general financial performance of the Company, as well as its overall strategy to enter the specialty therapeutics marketplace. Following a thorough discussion, the Board of Directors concluded that due to the increasing costs of acquiring companies in this sector, coupled with the risks associated with achieving an appropriate return on investment, the strategy of entering the specialty therapeutics marketplace should be abandoned and the Company should pursue a strategy of reviewing the Company s businesses with a view to selling all or parts of the Company while refocusing on investment in and support for the Bioproducts Business. Additionally, the Board of Directors discussed the fact that, because Mr. Leone had been hired to lead an entry into the specialty therapeutics marketplace, the proposed change in the Company s strategy would likely make a change in leadership appropriate. The Board of Directors also concluded, however, that no change in leadership would be prudent until the revised strategy was in place, and asked Mr. Mack to focus on the new strategy during the remainder of the month of December.

At a special meeting held on December 29, 2005, the Board of Directors concluded that, due to the change in overall strategy, the employment relationship between the Company and Mr. Leone should terminate and that Mr. Mack should return as Acting President and Chief Executive Officer. Following this meeting, on January 4, 2006, the

Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC announcing (i) that the Board of Directors had decided to discontinue the Company s acquisition program aimed at transforming the Company into a specialty therapeutics enterprise, (ii) that the Company would concentrate its resources going forward on the Bioproducts Business, capitalize on its leadership position in cell biology, molecular biology, rapid microbial testing and cell therapy manufacturing and continue to allocate the appropriate resources necessary to maintain the market position

of the Human Health Business and the Biopharma Business, (iii) the resignation of Mr. Leone and the appointment of Mr. Mack as Acting President and Chief Executive Officer and (iv) its intention of retaining an investment bank to examine the Company s trategic alternatives, including the potential sale of certain assets, with any proceeds from an asset sale to be used to support further growth in the Bioproducts Business, pay down debt, repurchase Company stock or make complementary strategic acquisitions in all segments.

At the regular meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 25 and 26, 2006, the Board of Directors conducted a full review of the Company s strategic options and alternatives in light of the developments since the September 2005 Board of Directors meeting. Following presentations by the Company s management, the Board of Directors concluded that the Company could anticipate only modest growth for 2006, that each of the Company s three business segments were sub-scale individually and, with the exception of the Bioproducts Business, each had suffered declining performance over the past three years. The Board of Directors formally authorized management to retain Bear Stearns to assist the Company in its consideration of strategic options and alternatives. Although Mr. Ilan Kaufthal, a member of the Board of Directors, is a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., the Board of Directors concluded that Bear Stearns familiarity with the Company and its business segments and the industries in which the Company conducts business made Bear Stearns the logical and appropriate choice as financial advisor. The Board of Directors also discussed the fact that, in light of Mr. Kaufthal s dual roles, a second investment bank should be retained to render, in addition to Bear Stearns, an opinion to the Board of Directors with respect to the consideration to be received by the Company in any transaction for which Bear Stearns served as the Company s financial advisor.

When this meeting was reconvened on January 26, 2006, the Board of Directors discussed the adoption of retention and incentive plans and programs for key employees in anticipation of a decision that the Company would pursue a publicly announced evaluation of its strategic alternatives. Thereafter, the directors returned to an extensive discussion of the Company s strategic options and alternatives. Subject to receiving further input from Bear Stearns and management at a Board of Directors meeting to be held the following week, the Board of Directors determined to pursue a multi-pronged process:

(1) On one front, Bear Stearns would be directed to contact a group of potential strategic buyers (along with certain potential financial buyers) to determine whether offers at attractive values could be obtained for the Bioproducts Business. In this proxy statement, we refer to this prong of the auction process as the Bioproducts Process .

(2) At the same time, Bear Stearns would be directed to contact a group of potential financial buyers (along with certain potential strategic buyers) to determine whether offers at attractive values could be obtained for the remainder of the Company excluding the Bioproducts Business. In this proxy statement, we refer to this prong of the auction process as the Company Process .

(3) Concurrently, management would be directed to seek potential buyers for the Biopharma Business and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries.

(4) Finally, while the Board of Directors specifically did not determine to put the Company up for sale, the Board of Directors did conclude that, to the extent that any of these processes identified a potential buyer for the entire Company, or if such a buyer otherwise emerged on an unsolicited basis, the Board of Directors would be open to consider such a proposal.

The directors noted that the decision to seek indications of interest for the Bioproducts Business, rather than for the Human Health Business, independent from the remainder of the Company, represented a change in strategy from the discussion at the previous meetings of the Board of Directors. This shift was based on three factors: first, the Board of Directors concluded that a larger organization would be likely to pay a premium for the Bioproducts Business because it could devote the resources necessary to accelerate its growth; second, the Board of Directors concluded that a sale

of the Bioproducts Business, unburdened from the cost structure of the parent Company, would maximize the sale value of the Bioproducts Business; and third, it was determined that an independent sale of the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma Business would be more tax efficient than an independent sale of the Human Health Business.

At a February 1, 2006 special meeting of the Board of Directors, Mr. Mack was elected President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board of Directors reaffirmed its conclusions from the January 26th meeting with respect to pursuing the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process.

Following this meeting, on February 7, 2006, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC announcing (i) that the Board of Directors had elected Mr. Mack President and Chief Executive Officer effective February 1, 2006, (ii) the establishment by the Company of a Retention and Enhanced Severance Program under which certain employees of the Company would receive retention payments of varying amounts if the Company achieved certain strategic objectives, (iii) the approval of certain changes to the employment agreements with certain executives of the Company and (iv) the retention of Bear Stearns to act as advisor to the Board of Directors in the analysis and consideration of strategic alternatives.

While preparations were continuing for the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process, on March 8, 2006, the Company received a letter describing an unsolicited non-binding proposal from a newly-formed company, created through a joint undertaking by a participant in the Bioproducts industry and a potential financial buyer, in which the newly-formed company proposed an all-cash acquisition of the Company. The proposed structure for this acquisition called for the newly-formed company to merge with the Company, pay cash consideration to Company stockholders and then immediately spin off the Bioproducts Business to the Bioproducts industry participant. The proposal was conditioned on the receipt of financing by the acquisition vehicle, and attached terms for a proposed financing commitment that were subject to numerous conditions. The letter also indicated that the offeror s willingness to proceed with the proposed acquisition was dependent upon the Company s granting it an exclusive period in which to conduct its due diligence and negotiate the terms of the proposed acquisition, and demanded reimbursement of its expenses and payment of a termination fee if the Company was ultimately sold to another party or under certain other circumstances.

The Board of Directors met telephonically on March 10, 2006 to review and consider this proposal letter. The Board of Directors believed that the price offered in this letter was sufficiently attractive to warrant further evaluation of the proposed transaction, and allowing representatives of the offeror access to confidential Company information. However, the Board of Directors concluded that the offeror s demand for exclusivity, coupled with the highly conditional nature of the proposed financing, would unduly restrict the Company from pursuing all of its strategic alternatives. Accordingly, the Board of Directors directed management and Bear Stearns to permit representatives of the offeror to begin a due diligence investigation, subject to signing a customary confidentiality agreement. At the same time, Bear Stearns was directed to seek improvements to the terms of the proposal, and particularly the proposed financing and the demand for exclusivity, while continuing preparations for the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process. Although negotiations with, and a due diligence investigation by, representatives of the newly-formed company continued over the next several weeks, the offeror was ultimately unable to provide sufficient assurances as to its financing or revisions to the other terms of its offer to enable the Board of Directors to conclude that its exclusivity demands should be granted. The Board of Directors proposed a form of limited expense reimbursement in order to induce this offeror to continue with its due diligence investigation while the Company pursued its multi-prong strategy, but ultimately the Company and the offeror could not reach agreement on terms for the offeror to proceed on this basis. The Bioproducts industry participant subsequently indicated that it would bid independently in the **Bioproducts Process.**

On March 22, 2006, the Board of Directors held a special meeting to receive an update on the various sales processes from Bear Stearns and management. After discussion of the various elements of the process to pursue the Company s strategic alternatives, the Board of Directors reconfirmed that both the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process should continue, that management should continue to identify parties interested in the Biopharma Business and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries, and that if an attractive bid for the entire Company were to be received, the Board of Directors would give it serious consideration.

On March 27, 2006, the Company received an unsolicited non-binding proposal letter from a private equity investment firm on behalf of a consortium consisting of itself, another private equity firm and a Human Health industry participant, for the acquisition of the entire Company. The Board of Directors considered and evaluated the preliminary proposal letter received from this consortium, and instructed Bear Stearns to work with the consortium to further develop their proposal on a parallel track with the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process.

Although this consortium conducted extensive due diligence, ultimately, their bid proved not to be competitive with the bids received in the first round of the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process. However, since this bidder seemed most interested in the Human Health Business, they were encouraged to bid for that business separately in the Company Process.

The Board of Directors met telephonically on March 31, 2006 and April 7, 2006 to discuss progress on discussions with the unsolicited bidders for the entire Company, as well as to receive an update on the various processes being conducted by Bear Stearns and management. The Board of Directors again reconfirmed its decision to allow Bear Stearns and management to pursue all of these possible alternatives.

At the April 27, 2006 regular meeting of the Board of Directors, Bear Stearns reported that both the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process had been formally launched. Confidential Informational Memoranda, or CIMs, had been completed for both the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process and distributed to potential bidders who had executed customary confidentiality agreements. According to Bear Stearns, as of April 27, 2006: (i) with respect to the Bioproducts Process, 13 potentially interested parties had been contacted and seven received a Bioproducts Process CIM; (ii) with respect to the Company Process, 49 potentially interested parties had been contacted and 26 received the Company Process CIM; and (iii) with respect to bidders potentially interested in participating in both processes, six had been contacted and five received both CIMs.

Following the April 27, 2006 meeting, Bear Stearns continued the process of contacting potential bidders. According to Bear Stearns, as of May 15, 2006: (i) with respect to the Bioproducts Process, 26 potentially interested parties had been contacted and 22 received a Bioproducts Process CIM; (ii) with respect to the Company Process, 64 potentially interested parties had been contacted and 53 received the Company Process CIM; and (iii) with respect to bidders potentially interested in participating in both processes, 10 had been contacted and 10 received both CIMs. During the week of May 15th when first round bids were due, six strategic bidders and one financial bidder submitted preliminary, non-binding indications of interest in the Bioproducts Process, five financial bidders and one strategic bidder submitted preliminary, non-binding indications of interest for the entire Company. Lonza, acting together with a financial buyer, was one of the bidders that submitted a preliminary, non-binding indication of interest for the entire Company.

On May 18, 2006, the Board of Directors held a special meeting to discuss recent developments in the strategic review process. Bear Stearns reported on the details of each bidder s initial expression of interest and generally discussed both the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process. Bear Stearns indicated that the degree of buyer interest in the Company Process was not as strong as that in the Bioproducts Process, and that some slippage in bids should be expected. A further discussion ensued as to how to best manage each process.

After the May 18, 2006 meeting, six strategic bidders were invited into the next round of the Bioproducts Process, five bidders were invited into the next round of the Company Process and two consortia bidders were invited into the next round of bidding for the entire Company, including the consortium consisting of Lonza and a financial buyer. These invitees were allowed to participate in management presentations and were given data room access for their follow-up due diligence. Due to the large number of bidders remaining in each of the Bioproducts and Company Processes, all interested parties were asked to provide updated proposals for the part (or parts) of the Company in which they were interested. A term sheet highlighting the key contract terms to be included in the acquisition agreements for each of the three processes also was distributed to these bidders, who were directed to submit their proposed revisions to these term sheets along with their updated bids by June 30, 2006. In response, the Company received (i) six updated proposals in the Bioproducts Process, including one non-conforming proposal to acquire only the rapid microbial detection segment of the Bioproducts Business which was rejected by the Company, (ii) one proposal for both the Bioproducts Business from Lonza, (iii) one updated proposal in the Company Process and (iv) one updated proposal for the whole Company from two of the members of the consortium which had

submitted the March 27, 2006 proposal letter, acting together with an additional private equity firm. The updated Lonza bid included a valuation of the Bio Companies Business in the range of \$480 million to \$505 million, subject to numerous adjustments, together with a mark-up of the term sheet containing substantial revisions from the terms proposed in the Company s term sheet.

On July 7, 2006, the Board of Directors held a telephonic special meeting to discuss developments in the auction process. Mr. Thomas N. Bird, Vice President, Corporate Development of Cambrex, updated the Board of Directors on the proposed divestiture of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries. One bidder, which had previously declined further participation, had recently expressed renewed interest, and a revised term sheet was expected from the bidder in the near future. The Board of Directors agreed that discussions with the bidder should continue in an effort to reach an acceptable transaction. Mr. Bird also outlined recent activities with several parties which had expressed an interest in acquiring the Biopharma Business. The Board of Directors concluded that management should continue to negotiate with interested parties for both the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries and the Biopharma Business and report back to the Board of Directors at a future meeting.

Next, Bear Stearns reviewed in detail the revised indications of interest in the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process, noting strong interest in the Bioproducts Process and limited interest in the Company Process. Bear Stearns suggested that the remaining bidder in the Company Process, whose bid was lower than hoped for, should be encouraged to increase its bid and an earlier bidder which had dropped out of the Company Process should be encouraged to re-enter. Because the remaining bid for the entire Company was at the low end of the bidder s previous range, and this bidder (a consortium of industrial and private equity firms) had failed to specify the sources of funds for its proposal, had changed the composition of its consortium and had only expressed detailed interest in the Human Health Business, the Board of Directors directed that this bidder should be encouraged to change its offer and bid only in the Company Process. With respect to the Bioproducts Process, the Board of Directors instructed Bear Stearns to invite two of the bidders, including Lonza, to the next round, and to encourage one of the other three bidders to increase its bid through specific further due diligence.

During the course of the month of July, the two bidders who were not invited to continue into the next round of the Bioproducts Process submitted revised proposals with substantially improved value indications and, in one case, substantially improved contract terms. On the strength of their revised proposals, these two bidders were invited to continue in the next round of the Bioproducts Process.

At the regular meeting of the Board of Directors held on July 27, 2006, Bear Stearns again updated the Board of Directors on the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process. The Bioproducts Process remained active, with five bidders, including Lonza, continuing their due diligence. Due to its disappointment with the results of the Company Process, the Board of Directors asked Bear Stearns to review and discuss the Company s profile should it elect to sell the Bioproducts Business and retain its remaining businesses (while continuing to try to sell the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries and the Biopharma Business). The Board of Directors also revisited the earlier decision to sell the Bioproducts Business, rather than the Human Health Business, independent of the rest of the Company s businesses. Based on this discussion, the Board of Directors again concluded that due to the strength of interest among bidders in the Bioproducts Business, the favorable tax consequences of selling the Bioproducts Business rather than the Human Health Businesses, the relative lack of interest in the Company Process and the fact that the Company Process would take longer to complete due to the demand by the remaining financial bidder for separate audited financial statements for the entities it was to acquire, it was in the best interests of the Company Process as soon as possible.

Accordingly, Bear Stearns was directed to seek final bids in the Bioproducts Process during the first week of September, including a mark-up of a form of purchase agreement for the Bioproducts Business (or, in the case of Lonza, a form of purchase agreement for the Bio Companies Business) prepared by the Company s external counsel. The Board of Directors also concluded that the remaining financial bidder in the Company Process should be encouraged to continue with its due diligence, but on a slower time schedule due to the delays described above. Finally, Mr. Bird updated the Board of Directors on recent progress in the efforts to sell the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries and the Biopharma Business.

Two final bids for the Bioproducts Business were received on September 6, 2006, one of which was submitted by Lonza and included the Biopharma Business. The Lonza bid had an indicated enterprise value of \$510 million, subject to numerous adjustments for indebtedness, transaction fees, transaction compensation, regular bonuses, deferred compensation, severance and other items enumerated in its draft purchase agreement. As a result of the proposed adjustments, Bear Stearns and management concluded that it would be difficult for the Board of Directors to evaluate Lonza s bid and compare it to the bid submitted by the other bidder, which was significantly lower in

value but was subject to relatively minimal adjustments. Accordingly, Bear Stearns was directed to request that Lonza submit a revised bid that eliminated as many of the adjustments as possible in advance of the Board of Directors meeting scheduled for September 9, 2006. On September 8, 2006, Lonza submitted a revised bid which eliminated some, but not all, of its proposed purchase price adjustments and reduced its valuation for the Bio Companies Business to \$495 million. In addition, Lonza s mark-up of the form of purchase agreement for the Bio Companies Business reflected numerous changes to risk allocations and other contract terms that were significantly less favorable than those proposed by the Company in the June term sheet and in its initial draft of the purchase agreement.

On September 9, 2006, the Board of Directors held a telephonic special meeting to review the final bids. Both bids were discussed in detail. The bidder for the Bioproducts Business had significantly reduced its bid price from its previous proposal but had few issues with the draft purchase agreement. The revised Lonza bid suggested a higher value, but was subject to the numerous adjustments mentioned above, and was accompanied by a heavily marked-up version of the draft purchase agreement reflecting contract terms that were not acceptable to the Board of Directors. In response to questions from the Board of Directors as to whether any of the three other highest bidders from the previous round which had declined to submit final bids could be encouraged to submit competitive final offers for the Bioproducts Business, Bear Stearns reported (i) that it had recently contacted two of the non-bidding parties and/or their advisors to evaluate each party s level of interest in submitting a competing final proposal for the Bioproducts Business, and had confirmed that no such competing proposals would be forthcoming, and (ii) that the third non-bidding party had previously indicated that it was unwilling to continue its investigation of the Bioproducts Business to enable it to make a final proposal absent an exclusivity arrangement with the Company.

The Board of Directors concluded that it was not comfortable giving exclusivity to either finalist in order to give them an opportunity to complete their due diligence and negotiate a definitive agreement. Accordingly, Bear Stearns was directed to ask each finalist to revise its bid within the next ten days.

Next, Bear Stearns updated the Board of Directors on the Company Process, indicating that the sole remaining bidder would continue its due diligence despite the delay in the process for the reasons discussed at the July 27, 2006 Board of Directors meeting. Finally, Mr. Bird informed the Board of Directors that there were two potential bidders for the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries and three potential bidders for the Biopharma Business. The Board of Directors acknowledged that if exclusivity were granted to Lonza with respect to the Bio Companies Business, then the Company would be required to terminate discussions with the potential bidders for the Biopharma Business.

On September 18, 2006, the Board of Directors held a telephonic special meeting to discuss the revised final bids in the Bioproducts Process. Lonza had eliminated many of the purchase price adjustments but also had reduced its valuation of the Bio Companies Business to \$477 million. In addition, although Lonza eliminated some of the significant contract issues relating to the allocation of risk between the parties, there were still several outstanding issues with respect to the purchase agreement. Bear Stearns informed the Board of Directors that Lonza had indicated that it would submit a further revised bid letter later that day which Lonza hoped would be more satisfactory to the Board of Directors in regards to the contract issues outstanding. Bear Stearns also advised the Board of Directors that the other bidder had declined to raise its bid. The Board of Directors discussed the alternatives of selecting one bidder over the other and the consequences of selling the Biopharma Business and Bioproducts Business. The Board of Directors decided to postpone the decision on exclusivity and choosing a winner in the Bioproducts Process until the revised bid letter was received from Lonza.

On September 20, 2006, the Board of Directors held a telephonic special meeting to discuss the newly updated revised bid from Lonza. Since the last Board of Directors meeting, Lonza had revised its bid two more times. In these bids, Lonza first had reduced its valuation for the Bio Companies Business to \$460 million, but then increased it to \$462.5 million, while each time eliminating some of the purchase price adjustments and contract issues. Bear Stearns

and the Company s external legal counsel informed the Board of Directors that although not all of the contract terms were adequate, the remaining issues were ones that they believed could be negotiated during an exclusivity period if the Board of Directors decided to grant exclusivity to Lonza. The Board of Directors also noted the advantages presented by the Lonza bid because it included the Biopharma Business. On this basis, and due to the concern that the other finalist, whose contract terms were still somewhat more favorable than Lonza s but whose bid

price was inferior, would further reduce its bid price if granted exclusivity, the Board of Directors agreed to give Lonza the exclusive opportunity through October 16, 2006 to complete its due diligence and negotiate the purchase of the Bio Companies Business.

At this special meeting, the Board of Directors also authorized management to retain Wachovia Securities to render, in addition to Bear Stearns, an opinion to the Board of Directors with respect to the consideration to be received by the Company in a sale of the Bio Companies Business given that one of the members of the Board of Directors, Mr. Ilan Kaufthal, is a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

On September 20, 2006, the Company and Lonza entered into an exclusivity agreement granting Lonza an exclusive negotiating period through October 16, 2006 in which to complete its remaining due diligence investigation and negotiations for the purchase of the Bio Companies Business. Subsequently, Bear Stearns advised the other remaining bidders in the Bioproducts Process, and Mr. Bird advised the remaining parties which had expressed an interest in purchasing the Biopharma Business, of the Company s obligation to terminate discussions due to its having entered into an exclusivity agreement.

During the exclusivity period, Lonza conducted its final confirmatory due diligence investigation of the Bio Companies Business. Concurrently, Lonza, together with its external legal counsel and financial advisor, negotiated the terms of the stock purchase agreement with the Company s external legal counsel and Bear Stearns. The parties were not able to reach agreement before the expiration of the exclusivity period on several issues, including the purchase price, the retention by the Company of certain liabilities of the Bio Companies and the circumstances under which the Company would be required to pay a termination fee to Lonza.

On October 17, 2006, the Board of Directors held a special meeting to discuss the status of the negotiations between Lonza and the Company. Bear Stearns summarized the activities of the parties during the exclusivity period and external legal counsel described the principal terms of the stock purchase agreement and the remaining open issues between the parties. Next, Bear Stearns reviewed with the Board of Directors the pro forma operating and financial composition of the Company after giving effect to the divestiture of the Bio Companies Business and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries, and the financial parameters of the Company on such pro forma basis as compared to comparable publicly traded companies under a range of potential scenarios and assumptions. Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities each reviewed with the Board of Directors certain financial aspects of the proposed transaction, and also reviewed the methodologies and analyses which it expected to utilize in evaluating the fairness of the proposed initial sale price, from a financial point of view, once Lonza and the Company had agreed on the final terms of a transaction. A lengthy discussion among the directors, Bear Stearns and the Company s external legal counsel ensued with respect to the Company s alternatives in light of the failure of the Company and Lonza to reach final agreement on the terms of the transaction during the exclusivity period. It was the consensus of the Board of Directors that while the terms last proposed by Lonza were not acceptable, the Board of Directors remained committed to selling the Bio Companies Business and did not believe that superior terms could be obtained from the other bidders in the Bioproducts Process. At the conclusion of the meeting, the Board of Directors directed the Company s external legal counsel to deliver to Lonza a final stock purchase agreement on terms acceptable to the Company and to require that Lonza either accept or reject the transaction reflected in such stock purchase agreement by October 20, 2006.

At the October 17, 2006 special meeting, the Board of Directors also received a report from management on the proposed terms for the sale of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries. The Board of Directors discussed and approved that transaction.

During the three-day period following the October 17, 2006 special meeting, the parties and their respective legal counsel resolved the remaining contract issues and finalized the stock purchase agreement. Based on the results of its final due diligence, Lonza reduced its proposed purchase price to \$460 million. The Company s management agreed to

present these final terms to the Board of Directors.

The Company was advised on October 23, 2006 that Lonza s board of directors approved the acquisition of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Later that day, our Board of Directors held a telephonic special meeting to consider the Stock Purchase Agreement and Lonza s reduced purchase price. During this meeting, the Company s external legal counsel reviewed with the Board of Directors the

final terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Also at this meeting, each of Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities rendered to the Board of Directors an oral opinion, which opinion was confirmed by delivery of a written opinion, dated October 23, 2006, to the effect that, as of that date and based on and subject to various assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations described in such opinion, the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million in cash to be received by the Company for the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company. Following these presentations and discussion among the directors, the Board of Directors unanimously approved (with Mr. Kaufthal abstaining due to his position as a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.) the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Subsequently, the Company and Lonza executed the Stock Purchase Agreement on October 23, 2006. On October 24, 2006, both the Company and Lonza issued press releases announcing the signing of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Later that day, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the signing of the Stock Purchase Agreement, attaching a copy of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the Company s press release.

Reasons for the proposed sale; Recommendation of our Board of Directors

In evaluating the proposed sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, our Board of Directors consulted with our management and legal and financial advisors and considered the following material factors:

According to Bear Stearns, investors have had difficulty assessing our various business segments because they do not complement each other, resulting in a stock price that we believe was, prior to the January 2006 announcement of the Company s intention to retain an investment bank to examine the Company s strategic alternatives, discounted to the value of the underlying parts of our business.

Each of the Company s business segments is sub-scale and the Company does not have sufficient capital resources to devote to the necessary expansion of all three segments. Disposition of the Bioproducts and Biopharma Businesses will enable the Company to narrow its strategic focus and to deploy its available resources, including through acquisitions, to maximize the Human Health Business potential.

The Company conducted a nearly seven-month process in which Bear Stearns contacted numerous potential financial and strategic buyers for the sale of the Bioproducts Business and the Human Health Business. During this process, even though several parties expressed interest in purchasing the entire Company, none of the discussions with these parties advanced beyond the preliminary stage. Although the Bioproducts Process resulted in second-round bids from several bidders and two attractive final bids, only one bidder continued to show interest in the Human Health Business. Similarly, while several parties expressed preliminary interest in the Biopharma Business, none of those parties submitted a firm bid or commented on the draft purchase agreement by the time exclusivity was granted to Lonza with respect to the Bio Companies Business.

The fact that Lonza proposed to purchase the Biopharma Business in addition to the Bioproducts Business presents advantages not available from the other bids received in the Bioproducts Process.

By selling both business segments to Lonza, the Company is able to avoid the execution risk of a separate auction for the Biopharma Business.

It is unlikely that the Company would be able to obtain as favorable contract terms with respect to a separate sale of the Biopharma Business.

The taxes payable by the Company on the capital gain from the sale of the Bioproducts Business will largely be offset by net operating loss carry-forwards and the capital loss from the sale of the Biopharma Business and maximizes the cash available from which to pay a special dividend to stockholders.

The risks associated with retaining the Human Health Business and working to improve its profitability, rather than continuing to market that business through the Company Process, including management s ability to successfully reduce overhead expenses.

Each of Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities has delivered its written opinion, dated October 23, 2006, to the Board of Directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of such opinion and based on and subject to the matters set forth in such opinion, to the Company of the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million in cash to be received by the Company for the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. For a more complete description of these opinions, please see Opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. beginning on page 26 and Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC beginning on page 35.

The Board of Directors believes that the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, which is the product of extensive arm s-length negotiations, are reasonable and commercially attractive.

The consideration to be paid by Lonza consists entirely of cash, which provides certainty in value and will allow the Company to pay a special dividend to our stockholders.

There is no financing condition, so we are not assuming the risk that Lonza will be unable to obtain financing.

The representations and warranties made by the Company generally do not survive beyond the closing of the transaction.

Lonza is generally assuming all liabilities of the Bio Companies, except for specified tax, employee benefits and environmental liabilities.

Subject to the payment of a customary termination fee, our Board of Directors will be able to accept an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal that includes the Bio Companies Business if one is presented between signing and approval by our stockholders of the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza.

The fact that some of the Company s directors and executive officers who participated in the meeting of the Board of Directors relating to the sale of the Bio Companies Business have interests in the sale of the Bio Companies Business that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Company stockholders generally. For a more complete description of these interests please see Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business beginning on page 45.

The special considerations discussed under Special considerations you should take into account in deciding how to vote on the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business beginning of page 47.

Our Board of Directors did not find it practical to, and did not, quantify or attempt to attach relative weight to any of the specific factors considered by it. Our Board of Directors, however, did find that the positive factors listed above outweighed the potential risks of the proposed sale and found the opportunity to generate increased stockholder value through completion of the proposed sale compelling from a financial perspective. Notwithstanding the expectations of our Board of Directors regarding the benefit to be realized from the proposed sale, no assurance can be given that we will be able to realize such benefits.

Based on the foregoing, our Board of Directors has determined that the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved (with Mr. Kaufthal abstaining due to his position as a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.) the Stock Purchase Agreement and unanimously recommends that stockholders vote **FOR** the proposal to approve the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

Pursuant to an engagement letter dated September 19, 2005, as amended October 22, 2006, Cambrex retained Bear Stearns to act as its exclusive financial advisor with regard to its evaluation of strategic alternatives, including the possible sale of the Company or the possible sale of any or all of its three business segments, either in combination or separately, those being the Human Health Business, the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma Business. In selecting Bear Stearns, our Board of Directors considered, among other things, the fact that Bear Stearns is an internationally recognized investment banking firm with substantial experience advising companies in the health care products and services industry and companies in the chemicals and industrial products and services

26

industry, as well as substantial experience providing strategic advisory services. Bear Stearns, as part of its investment banking business, is continuously engaged in the evaluation of businesses and their debt and equity securities in connection with mergers, acquisitions and divestitures; underwritings, private placements and other securities offerings; senior credit financings; valuations; and general corporate advisory services.

On October 23, 2006, at a meeting of the Board of Directors held to evaluate the transaction, Bear Stearns delivered to the Board of Directors its oral opinion, which was subsequently confirmed in writing, to the effect that, as of October 23, 2006, and based on and subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limitations set forth in the written opinion, the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million in cash to be received by Cambrex for the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to Cambrex.

The full text of Bear Stearns written opinion to the Board of Directors is attached as Appendix B to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference in its entirety in this proxy statement. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion. Holders of Cambrex common stock are encouraged to read the opinion carefully in its entirety. The opinion sets forth the assumptions made, some of the matters considered and qualifications to and limitations of the review undertaken by Bear Stearns. The Bear Stearns opinion is subject to the assumptions and conditions contained therein and is necessarily based on economic, market and other conditions and the information made available to Bear Stearns as of the date of the Bear Stearns opinion, and Bear Stearns assumes no responsibility for updating or revising its opinion based on circumstances or events occurring after the date of its opinion.

In reading the discussion of the opinion set forth below, you should be aware that Bear Stearns opinion:

was provided to Cambrex s Board of Directors for its benefit and use;

did not constitute a recommendation to the Board of Directors or any stockholder of Cambrex as to how to vote in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business or otherwise; and

did not address the Board of Directors underlying business decision to pursue the sale of the Bio Companies Business, the relative merits of such sale as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for Cambrex, the use or uses of the net after-tax proceeds from the sale (including Cambrex s proposed special dividend to stockholders and proposal to incur new indebtedness related to such special dividend) or the effects of any other transaction in which Cambrex might engage.

The Company did not provide specific instructions to, or place any limitations on, Bear Stearns with respect to the procedures to be followed or factors to be considered by it in performing its analyses or providing its opinion.

In connection with rendering its opinion, Bear Stearns:

reviewed a draft of the Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 20, 2006;

reviewed Cambrex s Annual Reports to Shareholders and Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31 and June 30, 2006 and its Current Reports on Form 8-K filed since December 31, 2005;

reviewed certain operating and financial information relating to the Bio Companies businesses and prospects, including projections for the five years ending December 31, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 and projection assumptions for the Biopharma Business for the period beyond 2010, all as prepared and provided to Bear Stearns by Cambrex s and the Bio Companies management;

met with certain members of Cambrex s and the Bio Companies senior management to discuss Cambrex s and the Bio Companies respective businesses, operations, historical and projected financial results and prospects;

reviewed publicly available financial data, stock market performance data and trading multiples of companies which Bear Stearns deemed generally comparable to, or otherwise relevant to an evaluation of, the Bio Companies;

reviewed the terms of recent mergers and acquisitions involving companies which Bear Stearns deemed generally comparable to, or otherwise relevant to an evaluation of, the Bio Companies;

performed discounted cash flow analyses based on the projections for the Bio Companies furnished to Bear Stearns; and

conducted such other studies, analyses, inquiries and investigations as Bear Stearns deemed appropriate.

Bear Stearns relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of the financial and other information provided to or discussed with Bear Stearns by Cambrex and the Bio Companies, including, without limitation, the projections referred to above, or obtained by Bear Stearns from public sources. With respect to the projections, Bear Stearns relied on representations that they were reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the senior management of Cambrex and the Bio Companies as to the expected future performance of the Bio Companies. Bear Stearns did not assume any responsibility for the independent verification of any such information, including, without limitation, the projections, and Bear Stearns further relied upon the assurances of the senior management of Cambrex and the Bio Companies that they were unaware of any facts that would make the information and projections incomplete or misleading.

In arriving at its opinion, Bear Stearns did not perform or obtain any independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Cambrex or the Bio Companies, nor was Bear Stearns furnished with any such appraisals. During the course of Bear Stearns engagement, Bear Stearns was asked by the Board of Directors to solicit indications of interest from various third parties regarding an acquisition of (i) Cambrex, (ii) the Bioproducts Business and (iii) Cambrex excluding the Bioproducts Business, and Bear Stearns considered the results of such inquiries, as well as the results of Cambrex s independent solicitation of indications of interest from third parties regarding an acquisition of the Biopharma Business, in rendering its opinion. Bear Stearns assumed that the sale of the Bio Companies Business will be consummated in a timely manner and in accordance with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement without any limitations, restrictions, conditions, amendments or modifications, regulatory or otherwise, that collectively would have a material effect on Cambrex or the Bio Companies Business. Bear Stearns also assumed, with the consent of Cambrex, that the application of any post-closing purchase price adjustment mechanism in the Stock Purchase Agreement will not result in any reduction of the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million. Bear Stearns relied on advice of counsel to Cambrex as to all legal matters. Bear Stearns did not express any opinion as to the price or range of prices at which the shares of common stock of Cambrex may trade subsequent to the announcement or consummation of the Sio Companies Business.

Summary of analyses

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses performed by Bear Stearns and presented to the Board of Directors in connection with rendering its opinion. The following summary, however, does not purport to be a complete description of the financial analyses performed by Bear Stearns, and the order of analyses described does not represent the relative importance or weight given to the analyses performed by Bear Stearns.

Some of the financial analyses summarized below include summary data and information presented in tabular format. In order to understand fully the financial analyses, the summary data and tables must be read together with the full text of the analyses. Considering the summary data and tables alone could create a misleading or incomplete view of Bear Stearns financial analyses.

The analyses performed by Bear Stearns are not necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those indicated by the analyses.

Comparable Companies Analysis Bioproducts Business. Bear Stearns analyzed selected historical and projected operating information for the Bioproducts Business provided by management of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business, and compared this data to that of four publicly traded companies deemed by Bear Stearns to be generally comparable to the Bioproducts Business based upon consideration of factors such as business mix and profile, enterprise value, revenues, margins, returns on capital and historical and projected revenue and cash flow growth. Bear Stearns analysis did not exclude any material companies meeting these criteria. However, Bear Stearns concluded that no publicly traded company used for the analysis is highly comparable to the Bioproducts

Business, as the Bioproducts Business operates in four distinct business segments, and no public company operates with this same mixture of business segments, and most of the comparable companies operate across their own mixture of business segments, many of which the Bioproducts Business does not operate in. The analysis was performed using financial data and forecasts for these companies gathered from publicly available sources, Thomson Analytics, Capital IQ and selected Wall Street equity research reports. In conducting its analysis, Bear Stearns analyzed the trading multiples of the following comparable companies:

Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.;

Charles River Laboratories International, Inc.;

Invitrogen Corporation; and

Sigma-Aldrich Corporation.

For each of the companies listed above, Bear Stearns reviewed, among other things, the companies multiples of Enterprise Value to (i) last twelve months (for the period ending June 30, 2006) (LTM) Revenue, 2006 estimated (E) Revenue and 2007E Revenue; (ii) LTM earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), 2006E EBITDA and 2007E EBITDA; and (iii) LTM earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), 2006E EBIT and 2007E EBIT. For the purposes of the comparable companies analyses performed by Bear Stearns, Enterprise Value represents a company s fully diluted equity value based on the closing price of the company s common stock as of a certain date, plus debt and preferred stock and minority interest, minus cash. The Enterprise Value multiples in the following table are based on closing stock prices of the comparable companies on October 11, 2006. The following table summarizes the calculated multiples for the comparable companies:

	Enterprise Value/									
	LTM	2006E	2007E	LTM	2006E	2007E	LTM	2006E	2007E	
	Revenue	Revenue	Revenue	EBITDA	EBITDA	EBITDA	EBIT	EBIT	EBIT	
High	3.59x	3.51x	3.31x	14.0x	12.3x	11.2x	16.0x	15.3x	13.1x	
Low	1.63x	1.59x	1.49x	10.3x	10.7x	9.2x	13.9x	13.6x	12.3x	
Mean	2.62x	2.54x	2.38x	11.7x	11.3x	10.1x	14.7x	14.3x	12.6x	
Median	3.16x	3.02x	2.83x	11.6x	11.2x	10.2x	14.5x	14.2x	12.4x	

The multiple ranges selected by Bear Stearns based on this analysis considered a number of factors deemed relevant in deriving a range of values for the Bioproducts Business, including, among others, the historical and projected financial performance of the Bioproducts Business as compared to the historical and projected financial performance of the comparable companies in the analysis. The following table summarizes the multiple ranges and analysis:

	Referenc	e Range	Implied Enterprise Value		
	Low	High	Low (\$ in m	High iillions)	
LTM Gross Revenue* 2006E Gross Revenue* 2007E Gross Revenue*	2.60x 2.50x 2.35x	3.15x 3.00x 2.85x	\$ 403.6 405.3 441.3	\$ 489.0 486.4 535.2	

LTM EBITDA	11.1x	12.1x	\$ 410.6	\$ 447.5
2006E EBITDA	10.7x	11.7x	423.9	463.5
2007E EBITDA	9.6x	10.6x	443.2	489.4
LTM EBIT	14.1x	15.1x	\$ 407.9	\$ 436.8
2006E EBIT	13.7x	14.7x	425.4	456.5
2007E EBIT	12.0x	13.0x	442.0	478.8
		Mean	\$ 422.6	\$ 475.9
		Median	423.9	478.8

* Gross Revenue excludes other revenues comprised of non-core items that are not predictably recurring and/or not central to the operations of the business, including such items as freight charges and currency revaluations.

29

Table of Contents

Bear Stearns also analyzed the trading prices and trading multiples of the comparable companies as of October 20, 2006. During the period of October 11, 2006 to October 20, 2006, the stock prices of the comparable companies increased by 1.2% to 3.1%. As a result, the October 20, 2006 mean and median trading multiples of the comparable companies were 1.6% to 2.6% higher than the October 11, 2006 trading multiples shown in the table above, which did not materially change the conclusions of Bear Stearns analysis.

Bear Stearns Bioproducts Business comparable companies analysis indicated a range of values for the Bioproducts Business of \$420 million to \$480 million.

Comparable Companies Analysis Biopharma Business. Although Bear Stearns analyzed data for five publicly traded companies deemed by Bear Stearns to be potentially comparable to the Biopharma Business based on certain comparable features, it was determined that dissimilarities between these companies and the Biopharma Business significantly undermined the applicability of the publicly traded companies to a valuation of the Biopharma Business. The five potentially comparable companies analyzed were:

Baxter Group Ltd.;

Biovitrum AB;

Cangene Corporation;

Cobra Biomanufacturing Plc; and

Lonza Group Ltd.

For each of the potentially comparable companies, Bear Stearns reviewed, among other things, the companies multiples of Enterprise Value to (i) LTM Revenue, 2006E Revenue and 2007E Revenue; (ii) LTM EBITDA, 2006E EBITDA and 2007E EBITDA; and (iii) LTM EBIT, 2006E EBIT and 2007E EBIT. The analysis was performed using financial data and forecasts for these companies gathered from publicly available sources, Thomson Analytics, Capital IQ and selected Wall Street equity research reports. The analysis was based on closing stock prices of the comparable companies on October 11, 2006. The following table summarizes the calculated multiples for the potentially comparable companies:

	Enterprise Value/									
	LTM Revenue	2006E Revenue	2007E Revenue	LTM EBITDA	2006E EBITDA	2007E EBITDA	LTM EBIT	2006E EBIT	2007E EBIT	
High	5.44x	5.00x	3.53x	21.5x	15.4x	11.4x	33.3x	54.4x	15.7x	
Low	1.44x	1.28x	1.13x	8.1x	9.8x	7.5x	12.2x	15.9x	13.1x	
Mean	2.44x	2.18x	1.91x	12.8x	12.2x	8.9x	17.8x	21.5x	14.5x	
Median	2.85x	2.44x	2.26x	13.8x	12.5x	8.6x	17.8x	17.2x	14.6x	

There are significant differences between the selected companies and the Biopharma Business with respect to several factors including profitability, size, business composition, ownership characteristics and geographic location. Based on the significant lack of comparability of these companies to the Biopharma Business, the Biopharma Business record of losses over the last several periods and the uncertainty around the timing and extent of a return to profitability for the Biopharma Business, Bear Stearns was unable to draw meaningful valuation conclusions for the Biopharma Business from the comparable public companies analysis. As a result, Bear Stearns did not rely on data

from its Biopharma Business comparable companies analysis to arrive at valuation conclusions regarding the Biopharma Business.

Comparable Precedent Transactions Analysis Bioproducts Business. Bear Stearns analyzed selected historical and projected operating information for the Bioproducts Business provided by management of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business, and analyzed this data in the context of the implied valuation multiples of eleven precedent merger and acquisition transactions for which financial information was available and which involved the acquisition of a target company that Bear Stearns deemed generally comparable to the Bioproducts Business based upon consideration of factors such as business mix and profile, enterprise value implied in the transaction, date of acquisition, margins and historical revenue and cash flow growth. Bear Stearns analysis did not exclude any material transactions meeting these criteria. However, no transaction used for the analysis involved a target company that is highly comparable to the Bioproducts Business, as the Bioproducts Business operates in four

30

distinct business segments, and no target company operated with this same mixture of business segments, and most of the target companies operated across their own mixture of business segments, many of which the Bioproducts Business does not operate in. The analysis was performed using financial data and forecasts for these companies gathered from publicly available data, Capital IQ and selected Wall Street equity research reports. In conducting its analysis, Bear Stearns analyzed the implied valuation multiples of the following precedent transactions:

Target	Acquiror	Announcement Date
Fisher Scientific International, Inc.	Thermo Electron Corporation	May 8, 2006
Serologicals Corporation	Millipore Corporation	April 25, 2006
BioSource International, Inc.	Invitrogen Corporation	July 26, 2005
Proligo LLC	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	February 16, 2005
Dynal Biotech ASA	Invitrogen Corporation	February 8, 2005
JRH Biosciences, Inc.	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	January 18, 2005
Zymed Laboratories, Inc.	Invitrogen Corporation	January 10, 2005
Dharmacon, Inc.	Fisher Scientific International, Inc.	February 11, 2004
Oxoid, Ltd.	Fisher Scientific International, Inc.	February 11, 2004
Perbio Science AB	Fisher Scientific International, Inc.	June 26, 2003
Chemicon International, Inc.	Serologicals Corporation	February 11, 2003

For each of the precedent transactions, Bear Stearns reviewed, among other things, the multiple of the target company s Enterprise Value implied in the respective transaction to its LTM Revenue, transaction year estimated (CY) Revenue and following year estimated (CY+1) Revenue; LTM EBITDA, CY EBITDA and CY+1 EBITDA; and LTM EBIT, CY EBIT and CY+1 EBIT. For the purposes of the comparable precedent transactions analyses performed by Bear Stearns, Enterprise Value represents either (i) a target company s fully diluted equity value based on the purchase price offered for the target company s common stock, plus debt and preferred stock and minority interest, minus cash, or (ii) the announced total value of the transaction including the assumption of the target company s net debt by the acquiror. In the case of Millipore s acquisition of Serologicals, where sufficient financial forecast information was made available via filings with the SEC, Bear Stearns incorporated announced synergies in establishing transaction multiples. In the case of Invitrogen s acquisition of BioSource, Bear Stearns determined that multiples of EBITDA and EBIT were not meaningful due to low profitability at BioSource and therefore considered only multiples of revenue. The following table summarizes the calculated multiples for the comparable precedent transactions:

	Enterprise Value/									
	LTM	CY	CY+1	LTM	CY	CY+1	LTM	CY	CY+1	
	Revenue	Revenue	Revenue	EBITDA	EBITDA	EBITDA	EBIT	EBIT	EBIT	
	(\$ in millions)									
High	4.94x	4.30x	3.45x	16.9x	13.5x	10.8x	20.9x	16.2x	13.4x	
Low	2.14x	2.13x	1.99x	9.9x	11.2x	9.3x	11.3x	14.0x	11.3x	
Mean	2.81x	2.74x	2.35x	12.5x	12.1x	10.0x	15.4x	14.9x	12.3x	
Median	2.55x	2.53x	2.07x	12.5x	11.8x	10.0x	16.2x	14.8x	12.4x	
				3	1					

The multiple ranges selected by Bear Stearns based on this analysis considered a number of factors deemed relevant in deriving a range of values for the Bioproducts Business, including, among others, the historical and projected financial performance of the Bioproducts Business as compared to the historical and projected financial performance of the target companies in the comparable precedent transactions analysis. The following table summarizes the multiple ranges and analysis:

	Reference	e Range	Implied Enterprise Value			
	Low	High	Low	High		
			(\$ in mil	lions)		
LTM Gross Revenue*	2.50x	2.75x	\$ 388.0	\$ 426.8		
2006E Gross Revenue*	2.50x	2.70x	405.3	437.7		
2007E Gross Revenue*	2.00x	2.30x	375.6	431.9		
LTM EBITDA	11.8x	12.8x	\$ 434.6	\$ 471.6		
2006E EBITDA	11.3x	12.3x	445.6	485.3		
2007E EBITDA	9.3x	10.3x	427.1	473.3		
LTM EBIT	15.1x	16.1x	\$ 435.4	\$ 464.3		
2006E EBIT	14.2x	15.2x	439.4	470.5		
2007E EBIT	11.7x	12.7x	429.1	465.9		
		Mean	\$ 417.2	\$ 455.8		
		Median	429.1	465.9		

* Gross Revenue excludes other revenues comprised of non-core items that are not predictably recurring and/or not central to the operations of the business, including such items as freight charges and currency revaluations.

Bear Stearns Bioproducts Business comparable precedent transactions analysis indicated a range of values for the Bioproducts Business of \$415 million to \$465 million.

Comparable Precedent Transactions Analysis Biopharma Business. Although Bear Stearns analyzed five precedent merger and acquisition transactions for which financial information was available and which involved the acquisition of a target company that Bear Stearns deemed potentially comparable to the Biopharma Business based on certain comparable features, it was determined that significant dissimilarities between the target companies in each of the precedent transactions and the Biopharma Business current situation significantly undermined the applicability of the precedent transactions to a valuation of the Biopharma Business. The potentially comparable precedent transactions analyzed by Bear Stearns were:

Target	Acquiror	Announcement Date
Mova Pharmaceutical Corporation	Patheon, Inc.	November 23, 2004
BioReliance Corporation	Invitrogen Corporation	December 24, 2003
BioScience Contract Production Corporation	Cambrex Corporation	April 30, 2001
Covance Biotechnology Services, Inc.	Akzo Nobel NV	April 24, 2001
Chesapeake Biological Laboratories, Inc.	Cangene Corporation	October 30, 2000

For each of the potentially comparable precedent transactions, Bear Stearns reviewed, among other things, the multiple of the target company s Enterprise Value implied in the respective transaction to its LTM Revenue, CY Revenue and CY+1 Revenue; LTM EBITDA, CY EBITDA and CY+1 EBITDA. The analysis was performed using financial data and forecasts for the target companies gathered from publicly available sources, Capital IQ and selected Wall Street equity research reports, except for Cambrex s acquisition of BioScience Contract Production Corporation, for which Bear Stearns used non-public data that had been presented to the Cambrex Board of Directors at the time of that acquisition. The following table summarizes the calculated multiples for the potentially comparable precedent transactions:

	Enterprise Value /							
	LTM	CY	CY+1	LTM	CY	CY+1		
	Revenue	Revenue	Revenue	EBITDA	EBITDA	EBITDA		
			(\$ in r	nillions)				
High	5.72x	4.18x	3.68x	18.1x	16.6x	12.5x		
Low	2.94x	3.86x	2.70x	8.6x	7.5x	5.0x		
Mean	3.95x	4.01x	3.12x	12.8x	10.3x	7.1x		
Median	4.09x	4.02x	3.19x	14.5x	12.1x	8.7x		

There are significant features of the selected transactions that are different from those that would be present in a potential transaction for the Biopharma Business. These include the profitability, size, and business composition of the target companies and the market situation and outlook for biomanufacturing at the time of the transactions. Based on the significant lack of comparability of these transactions, the Biopharma Business record of losses over the last several periods and the uncertainty around the timing and extent of a return to profitability for the Biopharma Business from precedent transactions. As a result, Bear Stearns did not rely on data from its Biopharma Business precedent transactions analysis to arrive at valuation conclusions regarding the Biopharma Business.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis Bioproducts Business. Bear Stearns calculated the estimated net present value of the stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows of the Bioproducts Business (excluding the projected cash flows from the Bioproducts Business PermaDerm cell therapy product) for the five years ending December 31, 2010, based on projections provided to Bear Stearns by Cambrex s and the Bioproducts Business management. Bear Stearns then calculated a range of terminal values, representing the estimated values of the Bioproducts Business stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows for the period beyond December 31, 2010, based on (i) perpetuity growth rates (which represent the rates at which normalized, unlevered after-tax free cash flow in fiscal year 2010 might be expected to continue to grow in perpetuity) of 4.5% to 5.5% and (ii) multiples of 6.7x to 8.7x projected 2010 EBITDA. The net present value of the free cash flows and terminal values were calculated using a range of discount rates of 10.5% to 12.5% which were estimated based on a range of the Bioproducts Business calculated weighted average cost of capital.

Bear Stearns separately calculated the estimated net present value of the stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows of the Bioproducts Business PermaDerm cell therapy product for the five years ending December 31, 2010, based on projections provided to Bear Stearns by Cambrex s and the Bioproducts Business management. Bear Stearns then calculated a range of terminal values, representing the estimated values of PermaDerm s stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows for the period beyond December 31, 2010, based on annuity growth rates through 2017 (which represent the rates at which normalized, unlevered after-tax free cash flow in fiscal year 2010 might be expected to continue to grow through 2017, the year of expiration of certain PermaDerm patents deemed important by management) of 0.0% to 4.0%. The net present value of the free cash flows and terminal values were calculated using

a range of discount rates of 22.0% to 26.0% which were estimated based on a range of PermaDerm s calculated weighted average cost of capital. Additionally, Bear Stearns analyzed the affect on PermaDerm s estimated net present value based on varying the estimated years of product life beyond 2010 versus management s base case expectation of patent protection through 2017.

Bear Stearns Bioproducts Business discounted cash flow analysis indicated a range of values for the Bioproducts Business, including the PermaDerm cell therapy product, of \$398 million to \$500 million.

Table of Contents

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis Biopharma Business. Applying a discounted cash flow valuation methodology to the Biopharma Business requires considerable caution due to the high degree of uncertainty surrounding management s projections for the business. The Biopharma Business has consistently underperformed even short term forecasts prepared by management and Wall Street equity research projections. Nevertheless, Bear Stearns performed discounted cash flow analyses of the Biopharma Business using two recent management projection cases for the Biopharma Business.

Bear Stearns calculated the estimated net present value of the stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows of the Biopharma Business for the ten years ending December 31, 2015 based on projections for 2006 through 2010 provided to Bear Stearns by Cambrex s and the Biopharma Business management and extrapolated performance from 2010 through 2015 based on assumptions provided by management (the Base Case Projections). The projections for the period from 2006 through 2010 were based on management s May 15, 2006 forecast and were the projections shown to potential buyers in the strategic alternatives process. Bear Stearns calculated a range of terminal values, representing the estimated value of the Biopharma Business stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows for the period beyond December 31, 2015, based on perpetuity growth rates (which represent the rates at which normalized, unlevered after-tax free cash flow in fiscal year 2015 might be expected to continue to grow in perpetuity) of 2.0% to 4.0%. The net present value of the free cash flows and terminal values were calculated using a range of discount rates from 18.0% to 20.0% which were estimated based on a range of the Biopharma Business calculated weighted average cost of capital.

Bear Stearns also performed a discounted cash flow analysis for an alternative set of projections developed by Cambrex s and the Biopharma Business management in August 2006 and provided to Bear Stearns that reflected the possibility that the Biopharma Business might not achieve the performance projected in the Base Case Projections (the Downside Case Projections). The Downside Case Projections consisted of projections for the period from 2006 through 2010 provided to Bear Stearns by Cambrex s and the Biopharma Business management and extrapolated performance from 2010 through 2020 based on assumptions provided by management. Bear Stearns calculated the estimated net present value of the stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows of the Biopharma Business for the 15 years ending December 31, 2020 based on the Downside Case Projections. Bear Stearns calculated a range of terminal values, representing the estimated values of the Biopharma Business stand-alone, unlevered after-tax free cash flows for the period beyond December 31, 2020, based on perpetuity growth rates (which represent the rates at which normalized, unlevered after-tax free cash flow in fiscal year 2020 might be expected to continue to grow in perpetuity) of 2.0% to 4.0%. The present value of the free cash flows and terminal values were calculated using a range of discount rates from 18.0% to 20.0% which were estimated based on a range of the Biopharma Business calculated weighted average cost of capital.

In interpreting the results of the discounted cash flow analyses discussed above, Bear Stearns considered the facts that the Biopharma Business had repeatedly underperformed management and Wall Street equity research projections and that the assumption that the Biopharma Business would continue as a going concern, a key assumption in discounted cash flow analysis, was not shared by many of the potential buyers in the strategic alternatives process. Bear Stearns Biopharma Business discounted cash flow analyses indicated a range of values for the Biopharma Business of \$5 million to \$15 million, which range was consistent with some of the preliminary proposals received in the independent sales process for the Biopharma Business conducted by Cambrex.

The preparation of an opinion is a complex process and involves various judgments and determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant assumptions and financial analyses and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances involved. Such an opinion is therefore not readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description, and taking portions of the analyses set out above, without considering the analysis as a whole, would in the view of Bear Stearns create an incomplete and misleading picture of the processes underlying the analyses considered in rendering the Bear Stearns opinion. Bear Stearns based its analyses on assumptions that it deemed

reasonable, including assumptions concerning general business and economic conditions and industry-specific factors. Bear Stearns did not form an opinion as to whether any individual analysis or factor, whether positive or negative, considered in isolation, supported or failed to support the Bear Stearns opinion. In arriving at its opinion, Bear Stearns considered the results of all its analyses and did not attribute any particular weight to any one analysis or factor, except in the analysis of the Biopharma Business, where Bear Stearns was unable to draw meaningful valuation conclusions from analyses of comparable companies and precedent transactions due to the

lack of comparability to the Biopharma Business, the Biopharma Business record of losses over the last several periods and the uncertainty around the timing and extent of a return to profitability for the Biopharma Business. Bear Stearns arrived at its ultimate opinion based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole, and believes that the totality of the factors considered and analyses performed by Bear Stearns in connection with its opinion operated collectively to support its determination as to the fairness of the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million, from a financial point of view, to Cambrex. The analyses performed by Bear Stearns, particularly those based on estimates and projections, are not necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than indicated by such analyses.

None of the public companies used in the comparable companies analyses described above are identical to the Bioproducts Business or the Biopharma Business, and none of the precedent transactions used in the precedent transactions analyses described above are identical to the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, an analysis of publicly traded comparable companies and comparable precedent transactions is not mathematical; rather it involves complex considerations and judgments concerning the differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies and precedent transactions and other factors that could affect the values of the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma Business and the public trading values of the companies and precedent transactions to which they were compared. The analyses do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which any securities may trade at the present time or at any time in the future.

The amount and form of consideration payable in the sale of the Bio Companies pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement were determined through extensive negotiations between Cambrex and Lonza and were approved by the Board of Directors. The Bear Stearns opinion was just one of the many factors taken into consideration by the Board of Directors. Consequently, Bear Stearns analysis should not be viewed as determinative of the decision of the Board of Directors with respect to the fairness of the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million, from a financial point of view, to Cambrex.

Bear Stearns acted as Cambrex s financial advisor in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business and will receive a customary fee for such services, a substantial portion of which is contingent upon consummation of the sale. In addition, Cambrex has agreed to reimburse Bear Stearns for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Bear Stearns in connection with its engagement, including reasonable fees and disbursements of its legal counsel. Cambrex has also agreed to indemnify Bear Stearns against certain liabilities arising out of Bear Stearns engagement.

Ilan Kaufthal, a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., serves on the Board of Directors. In the ordinary course of business, Bear Stearns and its affiliates may actively trade the equity and debt securities and/or bank debt of Cambrex for its own account and for the accounts of its customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities or bank debt.

Opinion of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC

Cambrex also retained Wachovia Securities to render an opinion to the Board of Directors in connection with the sale by Cambrex of the Bio Companies Business given that one of the members of the Board of Directors, Mr. Ilan Kaufthal, is a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. In selecting Wachovia Securities to render such an opinion, the Board of Directors considered, among other things, Wachovia Securities reputation and experience in similar transactions. Wachovia Securities, as part of its investment banking business, is continuously engaged in the evaluation of businesses and their debt and equity securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions; underwritings, private placements and other securities offerings; senior credit financings; valuations; and general corporate advisory services.

On October 23, 2006, at a meeting of the Board of Directors held to evaluate the transaction, Wachovia Securities delivered to the Board of Directors its oral opinion, which was confirmed in writing, to the effect that, as of October 23, 2006 and based on and subject to various assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken in connection with the opinion, its experience as investment bankers and other factors it deemed relevant, the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million in cash to be received by Cambrex for the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to Cambrex.

The full text of Wachovia Securities written opinion to the Board of Directors is attached as Appendix C to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference in its entirety into this proxy statement. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion. Holders of Cambrex common stock are encouraged to read the opinion carefully in its entirety. Wachovia Securities provided its opinion for the information and assistance of the Board of Directors in connection with its evaluation of the Initial Sale Price from a financial point of view. Wachovia Securities opinion does not address any other aspect of the proposed transaction, does not address the relative merits of the transaction and does not constitute a recommendation as to how any stockholder should vote in connection with the proposed transaction.

In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities, among other things:

reviewed the Stock Purchase Agreement, including the financial terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement;

reviewed Cambrex s Annual Reports to Stockholders and Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the last two years ended December 31, 2005;

reviewed certain interim reports to stockholders and Cambrex s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q;

reviewed certain business, financial and other information regarding the Bio Companies Business, a portion of which was publicly available and a portion of which was furnished to Wachovia Securities by the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies Business, including financial forecasts prepared by the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies Business, and discussed the operations and prospects of the Bio Companies Business, including the historical financial performance and trends in the results of operations of, and certain risks and uncertainties with respect to, the Bio Companies Business, with the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies Business;

reviewed certain business, financial and other information regarding Cambrex, a portion of which was publicly available and a portion of which was furnished to Wachovia Securities by the management of Cambrex, including financial forecasts prepared by the management of Cambrex;

compared certain financial data for the Bio Companies Business with similar data regarding certain publicly traded companies that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant;

compared the proposed financial terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement with the financial terms of certain other business combinations and transactions that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant;

discussed with Cambrex s senior executives certain strategic alternatives previously considered by the Board of Directors with respect to the Bio Companies Business, including the results of the process undertaken by Cambrex with respect to the possible sale of the Bio Companies Business and preliminary discussions held with third parties in connection with such process; and

considered other information such as financial studies, analyses, and investigations, as well as financial and economic and market criteria, that Wachovia Securities deemed relevant.

In connection with its review, Wachovia Securities relied on the accuracy and completeness of the foregoing financial and other information, including all accounting, tax and legal information, and Wachovia Securities did not assume any responsibility for any independent verification of such information. With respect to the financial forecasts of the Bio Companies Business and Cambrex, Wachovia Securities assumed that the financial forecasts were reasonably

prepared and reflected the best current estimates and judgments of the managements of the Bio Companies Business and Cambrex as to the future financial performance of the Bio Companies Business and Cambrex. Wachovia Securities assumed no responsibility for, and expressed no view as to, such forecasts or the assumptions upon which they were based. In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities did not make and was not provided with any evaluations or appraisals of the assets or liabilities, contingent or otherwise, of Cambrex or the Bio Companies Business.

In rendering its opinion, Wachovia Securities assumed that the transaction would be consummated on the terms described in the Stock Purchase Agreement, without waiver of any material terms or conditions, and that in the course of obtaining any necessary legal, regulatory or other third party consents or approvals, no restrictions

36

would be imposed or other actions would be taken that would have an adverse effect on the transaction. Wachovia Securities also assumed, with Cambrex s consent, that adjustments, if any, to the Initial Sale Price pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement would not adversely impact its opinion.

Wachovia Securities opinion was necessarily based on economic, market, financial and other conditions and the information made available to Wachovia Securities as of the date of its opinion. Although subsequent developments may affect its opinion, Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. Wachovia Securities did not provide any advice or services in connection with the transaction other than the delivery of its opinion and was not requested to, and did not, participate in any process undertaken by Cambrex with respect to the sale of the Bio Companies Business or in the negotiations of the terms of the transaction. Wachovia Securities opinion did not address the relative merits of the transaction as compared to other business strategies or transactions available or that have been or might be considered by Cambrex s management or the Board of Directors regarding the Bio Companies Business, nor did its opinion address the merits of Cambrex s underlying decision to enter into the Stock Purchase Agreement. Wachovia Securities did not consider, nor did Wachovia Securities express any opinion with respect to, the price at which Cambrex common stock would trade following the announcement or consummation of the transaction. Except as described above, the Board of Directors imposed no other limitations on the investigations made or procedures followed by Wachovia Securities in rendering its opinion.

The summary set forth below does not purport to be a complete description of the analyses performed by Wachovia Securities, but describes, in summary form, the material analyses presented by Wachovia Securities to the Board of Directors in connection with Wachovia Securities opinion. The preparation of an opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In arriving at its opinion, Wachovia Securities considered the results of all of its analyses as a whole and did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it. Accordingly, the analyses reflected in the tables and described below must be considered as a whole, and considering any portion of the analyses, without considering all analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the processes underlying Wachovia Securities analyses and opinion.

Introduction. Wachovia Securities evaluated the Bio Companies Business both on a consolidated basis and a sum-of-the-parts basis. In evaluating the Bio Companies Business on a consolidated basis, Wachovia Securities performed a Selected Company Analysis and Selected Transaction Analysis as described below. In evaluating the Bio Companies Business on a sum-of-the-parts basis, Wachovia Securities performed a Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Company Analysis, Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Transaction Analysis and Sum-of-the-Parts Discounted Cash Flow Analysis as described below. The Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Company Analysis was based on selected company analyses of the Bioproducts Business (excluding the Bioproducts Business PermaDerm cell therapy product) and the Biopharma Business and a discounted cash flow analysis of the PermaDerm cell therapy product. The

Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Transaction Analysis was based on selected transaction analyses of the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm) and the Biopharma Business and a discounted cash flow analysis of PermaDerm. The Sum-of-the-Parts Discounted Cash Flow Analysis was based on a discounted cash flow analysis of each of the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm), the Biopharma Business and PermaDerm. Latest 12 months financial data of Cambrex utilized in the analyses described below were as of June 30, 2006.

Consolidated Analyses of the Bio Companies Business

Selected Company Analysis. Using publicly available information, including research analysts estimates and public filings, Wachovia Securities reviewed financial and stock market information for the following seven selected publicly-held life sciences companies:

Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.

Fisher Scientific International Inc.

Invitrogen Corporation

Lonza Group Limited

Millipore Corporation

Qiagen N.V.

Sigma-Aldrich Corporation

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, enterprise values of the selected companies, calculated as fully-diluted market value based on closing stock prices on October 20, 2006, plus net debt and minority interests, less cash and cash equivalents, as a multiple of latest 12 months earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, commonly referred to as EBITDA, and calendar years 2006 and 2007 estimated EBITDA. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months EBITDA multiples of 11.0x to 13.5x, calendar year 2006 EBITDA multiples of 10.5x to 12.5x and calendar year 2007 EBITDA multiples of 9.0x to 11.5x derived from the selected companies to corresponding data of the Bio Companies Business, based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies Business. This analysis resulted in the following selected reference range for the Bio Companies Business, as compared to the Initial Sale Price:

Selected Reference Range for the Bio Companies Business			Initial Sale Price	
\$	385 million	\$475 million	\$ 460 million	

Selected Transaction Analysis. Using publicly available information, including public filings and equity research, Wachovia Securities reviewed the following selected transactions involving companies in the life sciences industry:

Close Date	Acquiror	Target
Pending	Thermo Electron Corporation	Fisher Scientific International Inc.
7/06	Millipore Corporation	Serologicals Corp.
10/05	Invitrogen Corporation	BioSource International Inc.
3/05	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	Proligo Group of Degussa AG
2/05	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	JRH Biosciences Division of CSL Limited
12/04	Patheon Inc.	Mova Pharmaceutical Corporation
8/04	Fisher Scientific International Inc.	Apogent Technologies Inc.
9/03	Fisher Scientific International Inc.	Perbio Science AB

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, transaction values, calculated as the purchase prices paid in the selected transactions, as multiples of latest 12 months gross revenue and EBITDA. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months gross revenue multiples of 2.5x to 3.2x and latest 12 months EBITDA multiples of 12.0x to 14.0x derived from the selected transactions to corresponding data of the Bio Companies Business, based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies Business. This analysis resulted in the following selected reference range for the Bio Companies Business, as compared to the Initial Sale Price:

Selected Reference Range for the Bio Companies Business		Initial Sale Price	
430 million	\$530 million	\$ 460 million	

\$

Sum-of-the-Parts Analyses of the Bio Companies Business

Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Company Analysis. In performing its Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Company Analysis of the Bio Companies Business, Wachovia Securities derived an aggregate reference range for the Bio Companies Business based on the results of selected company analyses for the Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product) and the Biopharma Business and a discounted cash flow analysis for PermaDerm as more fully described below. This analysis indicated the following aggregate reference range for the Bio Companies Business, as compared to the Initial Sale Price:

Aggregate Reference Range for the Bio Companies Business			Initial Sale Price		
455 million	\$600 million		\$ 460 million		
		20			

38

\$

Table of Contents

Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product). Using publicly available information, including research analysts estimates and public filings, Wachovia Securities reviewed financial and stock market information for the following six selected publicly-held life sciences companies:

Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.

Fisher Scientific International Inc.

Invitrogen Corporation

Millipore Corporation

Qiagen N.V.

Sigma-Aldrich Corporation

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, enterprise values of the selected companies, calculated as fully-diluted market value based on closing stock prices on October 20, 2006, plus net debt and minority interests, less cash and cash equivalents, as a multiple of latest 12 months EBITDA and calendar years 2006 and 2007 estimated EBITDA. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months EBITDA multiples of 11.5x to 13.5x, calendar year 2006 EBITDA multiples of 11.0x to 12.5x and calendar year 2007 EBITDA multiples of 10.0x to 11.5x derived from the selected companies to corresponding data of the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm), based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business. This analysis resulted in a selected reference range for the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm) of \$440 million to \$510 million.

Biopharma Business. Using publicly available information, including research analysts estimates and public filings, Wachovia Securities reviewed financial and stock market information for the following four selected publicly-held life sciences companies:

Biovitrum AB

Cangene Corporation

Cobra Biomanufacturing Plc

Lonza Group Limited

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, enterprise values of the selected companies, calculated as fully-diluted market value based on closing stock prices on October 20, 2006, plus net debt and minority interests, less cash and cash equivalents, as multiples of latest 12 months revenue, calendar years 2006 and 2007 estimated revenue and calendar year 2007 estimated EBITDA. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months revenue multiples of 0x to 1.5x, calendar year 2006 revenue multiples of 0x to 1.5x, calendar year 2007 EBITDA multiples of 0x to 1.5x, calendar year 2007 EBITDA multiples of 0x to 12.0x derived from the selected companies to corresponding data of the Biopharma Business, based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Biopharma Business. This analysis resulted in a selected reference range for the Biopharma Business of \$0 to \$70 million.

PermaDerm. Using internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business, Wachovia Securities derived an implied reference range for the PermaDerm cell therapy product of \$15 million to \$20 million based on a discounted cash flow analysis of PermaDerm, as more fully described below under the caption Sum-of-the-Parts Discounted Cash Flow Analysis PermaDerm.

Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Transaction Analysis. In performing its Sum-of-the-Parts Selected Transaction Analysis of the Bio Companies Business, Wachovia Securities derived an aggregate reference range for the Bio Companies Business based on the results of selected transaction analyses for the Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product) and the Biopharma Business and a discounted cash flow analysis for PermaDerm, as more fully described below. This analysis indicated the following aggregate reference range for the Bio Companies Business, as compared to the Initial Sale Price:

Aggregate Reference Range for the Bio Companies Business	Initial Sale Price	Initial Sale Price	
430 million \$610 million	\$ 460 mil	lion	
39			

\$

Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product). Using publicly available information, including public filings and equity research, Wachovia Securities reviewed the following selected transactions involving companies in the life sciences industry:

Close Date	Acquiror	Target
Pending	Thermo Electron Corporation	Fisher Scientific International Inc.
7/06	Millipore Corporation	Serologicals Corp.
10/05	Invitrogen Corporation	BioSource International Inc.
3/05	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	Proligo Group of Degussa AG
2/05	Sigma-Aldrich Corporation	JRH Biosciences Division of CSL Limited
8/04	Fisher Scientific International Inc.	Apogent Technologies Inc.
9/03	Fisher Scientific International Inc.	Perbio Science AB

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, transaction values, calculated as the purchase prices paid in the selected transactions, as multiples of latest 12 months gross revenue and EBITDA. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months gross revenue multiples of 2.5x to 3.2x and latest 12 months EBITDA multiples of 12.0x to 13.5x derived from the selected transactions to corresponding data of the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm), based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business. This analysis resulted in a selected reference range for the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm) of \$415 million to \$500 million.

Biopharma Business. Using publicly available information, including public filings and equity research, Wachovia Securities reviewed the following selected transactions involving companies in the life sciences industry:

Close Date	Acquiror	Target	
12/04	Patheon Inc.	Mova Pharmaceutical Corporation	
6/01	Cambrex	Bio Science Contract Production	
1/01	Cangene Corporation	Chesapeake Biological Laboratories	

Wachovia Securities reviewed, among other things, transaction values, calculated as the purchase prices paid in the selected transactions, as a multiple of latest 12 months revenue. Wachovia Securities then applied a selected range of latest 12 months revenue multiples of 0x to 2.0x derived from the selected transactions to corresponding data of the Biopharma Business, based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Biopharma Business. This analysis resulted in a selected reference range for the Biopharma Business of \$0 to \$90 million.

PermaDerm. Using internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bioproducts Business, Wachovia Securities derived an implied reference range for the PermaDerm cell therapy product of \$15 million to \$20 million based on a discounted cash flow analysis of PermaDerm, as more fully described below under the caption Sum-of-the-Parts Discounted Cash Flow Analysis PermaDerm.

Sum-of-the-Parts Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Wachovia Securities calculated the estimated present value as of December 31, 2006 of the stand-alone unlevered, after tax free cash flows that each of the Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product), the Biopharma Business and PermaDerm could generate during fiscal years 2007 through 2011, based on internal estimates of the managements of Cambrex and the Bio Companies

Business. This analysis indicated the following implied aggregate reference range for the Bio Companies Business, as compared to the Initial Sale Price:

Aggregate Reference Range for the Bio Companies Business			Initial Sale Price	
\$	414 million	\$513 million	\$	460 million

Bioproducts Business (excluding the PermaDerm cell therapy product). Wachovia Securities calculated a range of terminal values for the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm) by applying perpetuity growth rates of 3.0% to 5.0% to the fiscal year 2011 estimated cash flows of the Bioproducts Business (excluding

40

PermaDerm). The cash flows and terminal values were then discounted to present value using the midpoint of discount rates ranging from 9.1% to 12.1%. This analysis resulted in an implied reference range for the Bioproducts Business (excluding PermaDerm) of approximately \$370 million to \$460 million.

Biopharma Business. Wachovia Securities calculated a range of terminal values for the Biopharma Business by applying perpetuity growth rates of 3.0% to 5.0% to the fiscal year 2011 estimated cash flows of the Biopharma Business. The cash flows and terminal values were then discounted to present value using the midpoint of discount rates ranging from 14.2% to 18.2%. This analysis resulted in an implied reference range for the Biopharma Business of approximately \$29 million.

PermaDerm. Wachovia Securities calculated a range of terminal values for the PermaDerm cell therapy product by applying perpetuity growth rates of 5.0% to 9.0% to the fiscal year 2011 estimated cash flows of PermaDerm. The cash flows and terminal values were then discounted to present value using the midpoint of discount rates ranging from 30.0% to 40.0%. This analysis resulted in an implied reference range for PermaDerm of approximately \$15 million to \$20 million.

Miscellaneous

In performing its analyses, Wachovia Securities considered industry performance, general business and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond Cambrex s control. No company, transaction or business used in the analyses described above is identical or directly comparable to Cambrex, the Bio Companies Business or the transaction. Accordingly, a complete analysis of the results of the foregoing cannot be limited to a quantitative review of such results and involves complex considerations and judgments concerning the differences in the financial characteristics of the selected companies, transactions or businesses and other factors that could affect the value of the selected companies, transactions or businesses as well as the Bio Companies Business and the proposed transaction. Any estimates underlying Wachovia Securities analyses are not necessarily indicative of future results or actual values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those suggested by such estimates.

The analyses performed were prepared solely as a part of Wachovia Securities analysis of the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Cambrex, as of October 23, 2006 and subject to and based on the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken in connection with Wachovia Securities opinion, of the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million in cash to be received by Cambrex pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, and were conducted in connection with the delivery by Wachovia Securities of its opinion dated October 23, 2006 to the Board of Directors. The analyses do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which a company or business might actually be sold or the prices at which any securities have traded or may trade at any time in the future. The type and amount of consideration payable in the transaction were determined through negotiations between Cambrex and Lonza. Wachovia Securities did not recommend any specific consideration to Cambrex or that any given consideration constituted the only appropriate consideration for the transaction. The decision to enter into the Stock Purchase Agreement was solely that of the Board of Directors. As described above, Wachovia Securities opinion and analyses were only one of many factors taken into consideration by the Board of Directors in evaluating the transaction. Wachovia Securities analyses summarized above should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Board of Directors or Cambrex s management with respect to the Bio Companies Business, the transaction or the consideration payable in the transaction.

Wachovia Securities is a trade name of Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, an investment banking subsidiary and affiliate of Wachovia Corporation. Wachovia Securities and its affiliates provide a full range of financial advisory, securities and lending services in the ordinary course of business, for which Wachovia Securities receives customary fees. In connection with unrelated matters, Wachovia Securities or its affiliates in the past have provided financing services to Cambrex, including acting as co-syndication agent and lender under an existing credit facility of Cambrex,

which facility is expected to be repaid with a portion of the Initial Sale Price. In addition, Wachovia Securities may provide similar or other such services to, and maintain relationships with, Cambrex in the future. In the ordinary course of its business, Wachovia Securities may actively trade in the securities of Cambrex and Lonza and certain of its affiliates for Wachovia Securities own account and for the accounts of Wachovia Securities customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

Wachovia Securities was engaged solely to render an opinion to the Board of Directors in connection with the transaction and will receive a customary fee for rendering its opinion. In addition, Cambrex has agreed to reimburse certain of Wachovia Securities expenses and to indemnify Wachovia Securities and certain related parties against certain liabilities and expenses related to or arising out of Wachovia Securities engagement.

Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences

Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the sale of the Bio Companies Business

The sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company (and certain of the Company s subsidiaries that are sellers under the Stock Purchase Agreement) will recognize gain or loss as a result of the sale. Any gain will be subject to tax to the extent not offset by tax losses. There may also be certain foreign taxes, including withholding taxes, imposed in connection with the sale and the deemed repatriation of sale proceeds from a non-U.S. seller to the Company. The Company estimates that federal taxes in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business will largely be offset by certain tax loss carry-forwards and available foreign tax credits. Based upon utilization of these Company tax attributes offsetting federal tax and considering taxes payable on the sale of the Bio Companies Business at the state and local level as well as foreign jurisdictions, the Company estimates taxes will be approximately \$1,000,000.

Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to the holders of Company common stock of a cash dividend

The following is a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders of Company common stock in connection with the Company s intended distribution to its stockholders of the available proceeds from the sale of the Bio Companies Business and from new lines of credit that the Company expects to secure after closing (assuming financing can be arranged on favorable terms at the currently anticipated levels).

For purposes of this discussion, a U.S. Holder is a beneficial owner of Company common stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, an individual citizen or resident of the U.S., a U.S. corporation, a trust if the trust (i) is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and one or more United States persons are able to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) has elected to be treated as a United States person, or an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source. A non-U.S. Holder is any holder of Company common stock other than a U.S. Holder.

This discussion is based on the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations, all as in effect on the date hereof, all of which may be changed, perhaps retroactively, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those described below. This summary does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income and estate taxes and does not deal with foreign, state, local or other tax considerations that may be relevant to a holder of Company common stock in light of their personal circumstances. In addition, it does not address U.S. federal income tax laws (including U.S. expatriates, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax or investors in pass-through entities). Furthermore, this summary deals only with holders of Company common stock that hold such stock as a capital asset.

U.S. federal income tax treatment of the distribution. The intended distribution will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent of the Company s current or accumulated earnings and profits (computed using U.S. federal income tax principles), with any amount in excess of such current or accumulated earnings and profits treated as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the holder s adjusted tax basis in their Company common stock and, thereafter, as capital gain. Because the Company s current earnings and profits must take into account the results of operations for

the entire year in which the distribution is made, the Company will not be able to determine the portion of the distribution that will be treated as a dividend until after the close of the taxable year in which the distribution is made. Based on information available to the Company and preliminary projections of Company earnings and profits through the end of the year in which the distribution is made, the Company estimates that approximately 60% to 70% of the distribution will be treated as a dividend. This range is based on estimates and

projections for 2006 and 2007 and the actual portion of a stockholder s distribution that is paid out of earnings and profits, and therefore treated as a dividend, may be different and will be reported on a form sent to each stockholder and the Internal Revenue Service following the close of the taxable year in which the distribution is made. If the portion of a U.S. Holder s distribution that is treated as a dividend equals or exceeds 10% of the U.S. Holder s tax basis in their Company common stock, the dividend may be treated as an extraordinary dividend. See below for a description of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of receiving an extraordinary dividend.

U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders. Current U.S. federal income tax law applies long-term capital gains tax rates (currently a maximum 15% rate) to the dividend income of an individual U.S. Holder with respect to dividends paid by a domestic corporation if certain minimum holding period requirements are met. Dividends paid to a U.S. Holder that is a corporation will generally be eligible for the dividends received deduction. As noted above, the portion of the distribution received by a U.S. Holder that exceeds the holder s share of the Company s earnings and profits and also exceeds the holder s tax basis in their Company common stock will be treated as received pursuant to a taxable sale or exchange of their Company common stock and the holder will recognize gain in an amount equal to such excess. Any gain will be capital gain and will be long-term capital gain if the U.S. Holder held their Company common stock for more than one year.

Tax treatment of extraordinary dividends. As noted above, the portion of the distribution that is a dividend for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be treated as an extraordinary dividend. If a dividend received by an individual U.S. Holder is subject to U.S. federal income tax at capital gains rates as noted above, and the dividend is an extraordinary dividend with respect to that holder, the holder will be required to treat any loss on a sale of its Company common stock as long-term capital loss to the extent of the extraordinary dividend. A dividend distributed to a corporate holder claiming the dividends received deduction that has not held its Company common stock for more than 2 years prior to the dividend announcement date (as determined under the tax law) may be treated as an extraordinary dividend. For this purpose, it is unclear whether the dividend announcement date will be the date the dividend is declared or an earlier time. If the dividend is treated as an extraordinary dividend for a U.S. Holder that is a corporation, the corporate holder will be required to reduce its tax basis, and may be required to recognize current gain in respect of the shares of Company common stock that entitled the holder to the dividend. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the extraordinary dividend rules.

U.S. federal income tax consequences to non-U.S. Holders. Dividends paid to a non-U.S. Holder of Company common stock generally will be subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. However, dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business by the non-U.S. Holder within the United States are not subject to the withholding tax, provided certain certification and disclosure requirements are satisfied. Instead, such dividends are subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis in the same manner as if the non-U.S. Holder were a United States person as defined under the Code, unless an applicable income tax treaty provides otherwise. Any such effectively connected dividends received by a foreign corporation may be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.

A non-U.S. Holder of our common stock who wishes to claim the benefit of an applicable treaty rate for dividends will be required to (a) complete Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN (or other applicable form) and certify under penalty of perjury that such holder is not a United States person as defined under the Code and is eligible for treaty benefits or (b) if the holder s Company common stock is held through certain foreign intermediaries, satisfy the relevant certification requirements of applicable U.S. Treasury regulations. Special certification and other requirements apply to certain non-U.S. Holders that are pass-through entities rather than corporations or individuals.

As noted above, the portion of the distribution received by a non-U.S. Holder that exceeds the holder s share of the Company s earnings and profits and also exceeds the holder s tax basis in their Company common stock will be treated

as received pursuant to a taxable sale or exchange of their Company common stock and the holder will

recognize gain in an amount equal to such excess. Any gain realized on such a disposition of Company common stock generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless:

the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the non-U.S. Holder in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment of the non-U.S. Holder);

the non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition, and certain other conditions are met; or

the Company is or has been a United States real property holding corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and the non-U.S. Holder owns (or has owned) more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the Company.

An individual non-U.S. Holder described in the first bullet point immediately above will be subject to tax on the net gain derived from the sale under regular graduated U.S. federal income tax rates in the same manner as if the non-U.S. Holder were a United States person as defined under the Code. If a non-U.S. Holder that is a foreign corporation falls under the first bullet point immediately above, it will be subject to tax on its net gain in the same manner as if it were a United States person as defined under the Code and, in addition, may be subject to the branch profits tax equal to 30% of its effectively connected earnings and profits or at such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. An individual non-U.S. Holder described in the second bullet point immediately above will be subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, which may be offset by U.S. source capital losses, even though the individual is not considered a resident of the United States.

Information reporting and backup withholding. Information reporting to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service generally will be required with respect to a payment of cash to U.S. Holders, other than corporations and other exempt recipients. A 28% backup withholding tax may apply to those payments if such a holder fails to provide a taxpayer identification number to the paying agent and to certify that no loss of exemption from backup withholding has occurred. Non-U.S. Holders may be required to comply with applicable certification procedures to establish that they are not U.S. Holders in order to avoid the application of such information reporting requirements and backup withholding. The amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules are not an additional tax and may be refunded, or credited against the holder s U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, provided the required information is furnished to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.

Accounting treatment

Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, we expect to reflect the results of operations and the related gain on the sale of the Bio Companies Business as discontinued operations, net of taxes.

Fees and expenses

Whether or not the proposed sale of the Bio Companies Business is completed, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business will be paid by the party incurring or required to incur such expenses. Our expenses include the costs of preparing, filing with the SEC, printing and mailing this proxy statement.

Regulatory approvals

The sale of our Bio Companies Business is subject to review by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the FTC) or the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice (the DOJ) under the HSR Act. Under the HSR Act, Cambrex and Lonza are required to make pre-acquisition notification filings and to await the expiration or early termination of the statutory waiting period prior to completing the acquisition. The HSR Act provides for an initial 30-calendar-day waiting period following the necessary filings by Cambrex and Lonza, unless a request for additional information or documentary materials is received from the FTC or DOJ or unless early termination of the waiting period is granted. If either the FTC or DOJ makes a request for additional information or documentary

44

materials, the waiting period will expire 30 days after substantive compliance with the request, unless earlier terminated.

Even after the expiration of the statutory waiting period described above and completion of the acquisition, either the DOJ or the FTC could challenge, seek to block or block the acquisition under the antitrust laws as it deems necessary or desirable in the public interest. In addition, in some jurisdictions, a competitor, customer or other third party could initiate a private action under the antitrust laws challenging or seeking to enjoin the acquisition, before or after it is completed. Cambrex cannot be sure that a challenge to the acquisition will not be made or that, if a challenge is made, Cambrex and Lonza will prevail.

The sale of our Bio Companies Business does not have a Community Dimension within the meaning of Council Regulation (EC) No 139/2004 and notification of the acquisition is required to be filed with several EEA (European Economic Area) countries national competition authorities. The EEA countries where pre-acquisition notification of the sale is required are Germany, Portugal and Spain. The laws of these countries stipulate various review periods, but in each case the initial review of the transaction takes approximately one month, and an in-depth review of the transaction can take up to four months.

Outside Europe, the sale our Bio Companies Business is subject to review by the Brazilian and Taiwanese antitrust authorities.

In Germany, Portugal, Spain and Taiwan, Cambrex and Lonza are required to wait for the expiry or early termination of the statutory waiting periods prior to completing the sale of our Bio Companies Business. In Brazil, there is no statutory waiting period so the sale of our Bio Companies Business can be completed prior to the issuing of a decision from the authority.

Other than applicable U.S. antitrust laws and the foreign approvals described above, neither we nor Lonza are aware of any other regulatory requirements or governmental approvals or actions that may be required to consummate the sale of the Bio Companies Business, except for compliance with the applicable regulations of the SEC in connection with this proxy statement. Should any such approval or action be required, it is presently contemplated that such approval or action would be sought. There can be no assurance, however, that any such approval or action, if needed, could be obtained and would not be conditioned in a manner that would cause the parties to abandon the acquisition.

No appraisal rights

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, holders of our common stock are not entitled to appraisal rights in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business.

Transition services

The Stock Purchase Agreement provides that Cambrex and Lonza will enter into a transition services agreement pursuant to which Cambrex will provide to Lonza and the Bio Companies for a fee certain transition services during a period of time not to exceed one year after the closing date.

For a more detailed description of the transition services to be provided by Cambrex to Lonza and the Bio Companies, please see Transition Services Agreement beginning on page 69.

Interests of our directors and executive officers in the sale of the Bio Companies Business

In considering the recommendation of the Board of Directors with respect to the sale of the Bio Companies Business, you should be aware that some of the Company s directors and executive officers who participated in meetings of the Board of Directors relating to the sale of the Bio Companies Business have interests in the sale of the Bio Companies Business that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of our stockholders generally. These interests, to the extent material, are described below. The Board of Directors was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in approving the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Treatment of stock awards

The Board of Directors has waived resale restrictions on shares of Cambrex common stock underlying outstanding vested stock options.

Executive employment agreements; Change of control arrangements

The Board of Directors has agreed to award Mr. James A. Mack (President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors) an incentive payment or payments totaling up to four times his annual salary of \$500,000 upon achievement of certain strategic objectives in connection with the Board of Directors decision to change the Company s strategic focus and to consider all available strategic alternatives. Under this arrangement, Mr. Mack will be awarded an incentive payment of \$1,000,000, equal to twice his annual salary, upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. If the remaining portions of the Company are sold, Mr. Mack will be paid an additional \$1,000,000.

The Company has also entered into change of control employment agreements with Mr. Luke M. Beshar (Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer), Mr. Thomas N. Bird (Vice President, Corporate Development), Mr. Steven M. Klosk (Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, Biopharma Business Unit) and Mr. Peter E. Thauer (Senior Vice President, Law and Environment, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary), as well as with Mr. Shawn P. Cavanagh (Senior Vice President and General Manager, Bioproducts Business Unit). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, Mr. Cavanagh s employment agreement will be assumed by Lonza at the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business. These agreements become effective upon a change of control of the Company (the Effective Date), which is defined as (i) the acquisition by one person or a group of persons of 15% or more of the Company s outstanding common stock or combined voting power; (ii) a change in a majority of the incumbent Board of Directors unless approved by the incumbent Board of Directors; (iii) a transaction which results in the stockholders of the Company immediately before the transaction not owning at least 50% of the Company s common stock following the transaction; (iv) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or (v) any other event or series of events determined by the Board of Directors to constitute a change of control. The phrase sale of all or substantially all is defined in the agreements as a sale or other disposition transaction involving assets of the Company, including stock of any of the Company s subsidiaries, in which the value of the assets or stock being sold or otherwise disposed of (as measured by the purchase price being paid) constitutes 35% or more of the enterprise value of the Company, which is defined as the aggregate market value of the Company s then outstanding stock (on a fully diluted basis) plus aggregate debt minus cash. Accordingly, the sale of the Bio Companies pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement will constitute a change of control for purposes of these change of control employment agreements.

Following a change of control, the Company has agreed to employ the covered employees for a period of three years in a commensurate position at a location not more the 35 miles from the location at the time of such change of control at a monthly base salary equivalent to the employee s highest monthly base salary in the 12 months preceding such change of control. During the employment period, the employee may be terminated for cause , which is defined as (i) personal dishonesty or breach of fiduciary duty involving personal profit; (ii) the commission of a criminal act related to the performance of duties, or the disclosure of confidential information of the Company to a competitor; (iii) habitual intoxication by alcohol or drugs during working hours; or (iv) conviction of a felony. During the employment period, the covered employees may terminate employment for good reason , which is defined as (i) an office relocation of more than 35 miles; (ii) a substantial reduction in base salary, benefits or perquisites; (iii) a substantial reduction in esponsibilities, authorities or functions; (iv) a substantial change in work conditions; or (v) failure to require a successor to assume the Company s obligations under the agreement. Any good faith determination of good reason made by a covered employee will be conclusive and a termination by a covered employee for any reason during the 30-day period immediately following the first anniversary of the Effective Date

will be deemed to be a termination for good reason .

If a covered employee is terminated other than for death, disability or cause, or if a covered employee terminates for good reason, the Company shall pay to the employee within 30 days the following: (i) the employee s highest unpaid base salary through the date of termination; (ii) a prorated bonus based on the employee s highest bonus during the prior three years; and (iii) the product of a fraction, the denominator of which is thirty-six less the

number of months worked following the first anniversary of the Effective Date and the numerator of which is twelve, multiplied by the employee s highest annualized base salary; (iv) the product of a fraction, the denominator of which is thirty-six less the number of months worked following the first anniversary of the Effective Date and the numerator of which is twelve, multiplied by the highest annual bonus earned by the employee during the prior three years; (v) all previously deferred compensation plus any interest thereon and any accrued but unused vacation; and (vi) a lump sum payment calculated on an actuarial basis of pension credit forfeited for the balance of a three-year period due to the termination. In addition, the Company shall continue all benefits to the covered employees for the balance of the employment period, and all outstanding equity awards shall immediately vest and become exercisable.

The change of control employment agreements also provide for a gross up of any taxes due under section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, and contain non-competition and non-disclosure of confidential information restrictions.

Incentive and retention bonuses to certain key employees

In connection with our Board of Directors decision to consider the Company s strategic alternatives and to embark on the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process, the Company has offered retention bonuses and enhanced severance payments to key employees at the business units and the corporate office. Key employees at the business units were offered retention bonus payments if they remained with their unit until a transaction involving their unit or the Company as a whole was closed. Key employees were also offered enhanced severance in varying amounts in addition to the Company s regular severance program if their employment was terminated prior to February 2008 for reasons other than poor performance or cause. Such enhanced severance ends at the time the key employee obtains other comparable employment or is offered comparable employment following a transaction involving his or her business unit or the Company as a whole.

The Company has also offered a retention bonus to key employees at the Company s corporate office (including those having change of control employment agreements as described above) contingent on their remaining with the Company through the closing of a sale of 35% or more of the Company s enterprise value. These key employees (other than those having change of control employment agreements) were also offered enhanced severance in varying amounts, but not less than 26 weeks, if their employment was terminated prior to February 2008 for reasons other than poor performance or cause. Such enhanced severance ends at the time the key employee obtains other comparable employment or is offered comparable employment within 40 miles of the current corporate offices following a transaction involving 35% of the enterprise value of the Company as a whole. Corporate employees who were not offered a retention award were offered enhanced severance of a minimum of 26 weeks or until the employee found other comparable employment or was offered comparable employment within 40 miles of the current corporate offices following a transaction involving 35% of the enterprise value of the Company as a whole.

Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, the Company will pay an aggregate of \$2.6 million in retention bonuses to its key employees, including those having change of control employment agreements, under the arrangements described above.

Certain relationships of directors

Mr. Ilan Kaufthal, one of the members of our Board of Directors, is a Vice Chairman of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. For a more detailed description of the Company s relationship with Bear Stearns, please see Opinion of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. beginning on page 26.

Special considerations you should take into account in deciding how to vote on the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business

You should carefully consider the special considerations described below as well as other information provided to you in this proxy statement in deciding how to vote on the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. The special considerations described below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional considerations not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may

also impair our business operations. If any of the following special considerations actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected, and the value of our common stock could decline.

Special considerations regarding the proposal to sell our Bio Companies Business

The amount of cash we receive in this transaction will vary, depending on the result of certain post-closing adjustments, so that we may not retain all of the cash paid to us at the closing under the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Initial Sale Price of \$460 million is subject to reduction in the event that as of the closing date (i) working capital of the Bio Companies Business is less than \$56 million, but only if the deficit exceeds \$1 million, and/or (ii) various operating expenses related to the Bio Companies Business exceed defined targets by more than \$100,000 each, but only if the aggregate amount of such excess is greater than \$500,000. While the Company does not currently expect that any material reduction in the Initial Sale Price will be required as a result of these adjustments, there can be no assurance that the Company will not have to return a portion of the Initial Sale Price to Lonza as a result of these adjustments.

The failure to complete the sale of our Bio Companies Business may result in a decrease in the market value of our common stock and limit our ability to grow and implement our current business strategies.

The sale of our Bio Companies Business is subject to a number of contingencies, including approval by our stockholders and other customary closing conditions. We cannot predict whether we will succeed in obtaining the approval of our stockholders. As a result, we cannot assure you that the sale of our Bio Companies Business will be completed. If our stockholders fail to approve the proposal at the special meeting or if the sale of our Bio Companies Business is not completed for any other reason, the market price of our common stock may decline. In addition, failure to complete the sale of our Bio Companies Business may substantially limit our ability to grow and implement our current business strategies.

If our stockholders do not approve the sale of our Bio Companies Business, there may not be any other offers from potential acquirors.

If our stockholders do not approve the sale of our Bio Companies Business, we may seek another purchaser for our Bio Companies Business. Although we had discussions with various parties concerning such a purchase, none of these parties may now have an interest in such a sale or be willing to offer a reasonable purchase price.

Due to the length and complexity of the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process, management has not been able to devote its full attention to growing and improving the Bio Companies Business.

During the Bioproducts and Company Processes, management s attention has been diverted from the day-to-day operations of the Bio Companies Business. As a result, if we are unable to complete the sale of the Bioproducts Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement for any reason, the Bio Companies Business may not be as strong as it would have been had management been able to devote its full attention to improving the business during this period of time.

We will be unable to compete with the Bio Companies Business for three years from the date of closing.

We have agreed that, without the prior written consent of Lonza, we will not engage in or own or control any interest in (except as a passive investor of less than five percent of the outstanding equity interests of a publicly held company) any entity that is engaged in any line of business that competes with the Bio Companies Business as it

exists on the date of closing anywhere in the world for three years from the date of closing. Our remaining business, the Human Health Business, is not deemed to compete with the Bio Companies Business. However, the non-compete provisions will restrict our ability to engage in any business which competes with the Bio Companies Business for three years from the date of closing. Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, this restriction will not apply to any bona fide third party purchaser who acquires all or any substantial portion of the stock or assets of

Cambrex or prohibit Cambrex from acquiring any business if less than 10% of the revenues of such business are attributable to a competing business.

Our ability to pay a special cash dividend to stockholders in the amount of \$13.50 to \$14.50 per share of common stock following the sale of the Bio Companies Business is dependent on our ability to obtain new debt financing on favorable terms.

Our ability to pay a special cash dividend to stockholders in the amount of \$13.50 to \$14.50 per share of common stock following the sale of the Bio Companies Business is dependent on our ability to arrange new debt financing in the amount of \$125 million to \$150 million on favorable terms. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms that the Company finds acceptable. Accordingly, the amount of the special dividend that we will be able to pay our stockholders will be adversely affected if we are not able to arrange for the necessary debt financing.

Although our Board of Directors may, subject to compliance with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, terminate the Stock Purchase Agreement in order to accept an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal that includes the Bio Companies Business, the requirement that the Company pay a termination fee in order to accept such a proposal may discourage the making of any such proposal.

Our Board of Directors may, subject to compliance with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, including the payment of a termination fee equal to 3.99% of the Initial Sale Price payable by Lonza for the Bio Companies Business, terminate the Stock Purchase Agreement in order to accept an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal that includes the Bio Companies Business. However, the requirement that the Company pay Lonza such a termination fee in order to accept an unsolicited superior acquisition proposal may operate to discourage third-parties from making any such proposal.

Special considerations relating to our Company if our Bio Companies Business is sold

Our business following the sale of the Bio Companies will be entirely dependent on the success of our Human Health Business, which in 2005 represented approximately 57.7% of our gross sales.

The Bio Companies Business represented approximately 42.3% of our annual revenues in 2005 and 40.8% of our annual revenues in 2004. Our business following the sale of the Bio Companies Business will be less diversified, leaving us entirely dependent on the performance of our Human Health Business, which will be our main operating unit going forward. Our Human Health Business generated gross sales of \$260,790,000 in 2005 and \$199,220,000 in the first three quarters of 2006. If we fail to effectively market, sell and implement our Human Health Business, our results of operations and financial condition will be materially adversely effected.

Our success will depend on the success of our new business model.

Upon consummating the sale of the Bio Companies Business, we will have a very different strategic focus requiring us to devote substantially all of our efforts and resources on building out and servicing our Human Health Business. Many factors may negatively impact our ability to implement our strategic focus, including our ability to manage the implementation and development of our Human Health Business, sustain the productivity of our workforce and retain key employees, manage operating expenses and quickly respond to and recover from unforeseen events associated with the restructuring. We may be required by market conditions and other factors to undertake additional restructuring efforts in the future. Our business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to manage the implementation and development of our new business strategy, sustain the productivity of our workforce and retain key employees, manage our operating expenses or quickly respond to and recover from unforeseen events associated with any future restructuring efforts.

Table of Contents

Due to the length and complexity of the Bioproducts Process and the Company Process, management has not been able to devote its full attention to growing and improving the Human Health Business.

During the Bioproducts and Company Processes, management s attention has been diverted from the day-to-day operations of the Human Health Business. As a result, the Human Health Business may not be as strong as it would have been had management been able to devote its full attention to improving the business during this period of time.

In order to pay a special dividend to our stockholders following the sale of the Bio Companies Business in the amount currently anticipated, we expect to incur a substantial amount of indebtedness, which may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business, remain in compliance with debt covenants and make payments on our indebtedness.

The incurrence of substantial indebtedness to fund the special dividend to our stockholders could have important consequences to the Company. For example, it could:

make it more difficult for us to satisfy obligations with respect to our indebtedness, and any failure to comply with our obligations under the agreements governing our indebtedness, including financial and other restrictive covenants, could result in an event of default under such agreements;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of available cash flow to pay principal and interest on debt, which will reduce the funds available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

limit flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our business and in the industry in which we operate;

limit our ability to engage in strategic transactions or implement our respective business strategies;

limit our ability to borrow additional funds; and

place us at a disadvantage compared to any competitors that have less debt.

Any of the factors listed above could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. If we do not have sufficient cash flow to service our debt, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt, sell assets, borrow more money or sell securities, none of which we can guarantee we will be able to do.

Increasing the profitability of the Human Health Business is dependent in part on our ability to reduce corporate overhead costs.

Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, we will concentrate on deploying our resources to maximize the potential of the Human Health Business through reducing annual corporate overhead costs by approximately \$8 million beginning in the second half of 2007. Because our business will be smaller and less complex following the sale of the Bio Companies Business, we believe that there will be many ways in which corporate overhead costs can be reduced. However, if we are not successful in fully implementing such cost reductions, our ability to increase the profitability of the Human Health Business will be impaired.

Pharmaceutical customers may discontinue or decrease their usage of our products and services.

We depend primarily on pharmaceutical companies that use our products and services for a large portion of our revenues. Although there has been a trend among these companies to outsource therapeutic production functions, this

trend may not continue. We have observed increasing pressure on the part of our customers to reduce spending, including the use of our services, as a result of negative economic trends generally and in the pharmaceutical industry. If these companies discontinue or decrease their usage of our products and services, including as a result of an economic slowdown in the overall United States or foreign economies, our revenues and earnings could be lower than we expect and our revenues may decrease or not grow at historical rates.

Competition in the life sciences research market, and/or a reduction in demand for our products, could reduce sales.

The markets for our products are competitive and price sensitive. Other life science suppliers have significant financial, operational, sales and marketing resources, and experience in research and development. These and other companies may have developed or could in the future develop new technologies that would compete with our products or render our products obsolete. If a competitor develops superior technology or cost-effective alternatives to our products or services, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be seriously harmed. In addition, demand for our products may weaken due to reduction in research and development budgets, loss of distributors or other factors, which would have an adverse effect on our financial condition.

The markets for certain of our products are also subject to specific competitive risks and can be highly price competitive. Our competitors have competed in the past by lowering prices on certain products. Our competitors may lower prices on these or other products in the future and we may, in certain cases, respond by lowering our prices. This would reduce revenues and profits. Conversely, failure to anticipate and respond to price competition may hurt our future growth.

We believe that customers in our markets display loyalty to their initial supplier of a particular product. Therefore, it may be difficult to generate sales to potential customers who have purchased products from competitors. To the extent we are unable to be the first to develop and supply new products, our competitive position may suffer.

Our failure to obtain new contracts or renewed contracts or cancellation of existing contracts may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and make our revenue difficult to predict.

Many of our contracts are short-term in duration. As a result, we must continually replace our contracts with new contracts to sustain our revenue. In addition, many of our long-term contracts may be cancelled or delayed by clients for any reason upon notice. Contracts may be terminated for a variety of reasons, including termination of product development, failure of products to satisfy safety requirements, unexpected or undesired results from use of the product or the client s decision to forego a particular study. The Company currently has a long-term sales contract that accounts for more than 10% of the Human Health Business sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 that is scheduled to expire at the end of 2008. There is no guarantee that this contract will be renewed. The Company is currently in negotiations to extend this contract to 2013 which, if the Company elects to do so, will result in significantly lower profitability in 2007 and 2008 than under the existing contract.

Furthermore, because our revenue is primarily generated on a contract-by-contract or purchase order basis, our revenue is difficult to predict and contributes to the variability of our financial results from period to period. In addition, we do not believe that a backlog of contracts is a meaningful indicator of our future revenue because much of our revenue is resulting from short-term contracts or purchase orders and these contracts can often be terminated for many reasons.

Loss of key employees could hurt our business.

The Company depends on a number of key executives. The loss of services of any of the Company s key executives could have a material adverse effect on the Company s business. Upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, the change of control employment agreements entered into between the Company and certain of its key executives will become effective. Such agreements provide that a termination by the executive for any reason during the 30-day period immediately following the first anniversary of the closing will be deemed to be a termination for good reason triggering certain payments to the executive. As a result, it is possible that one or more of the Company of the closing will be that one or more of the Company.

good reason, triggering certain payments to the executive. As a result, it is possible that one or more of the Company s key executives will depart during such 30-day period.

The Company also depends on its ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and technical employees. There can be no assurance the Company will be able to retain its existing scientific and technical employees, or to attract and retain additional qualified employees. The Company s inability to attract and retain qualified scientific and technical employees would have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating results may unexpectedly fluctuate in future periods.

The Company s revenue and operating results have fluctuated, and could continue to fluctuate, on a quarterly basis. The operating results for a particular quarter may be lower than expected as a result of a number of factors, including the timing of contracts; the delay or cancellation of a contract; the mix of services provided; seasonal slowdowns in different parts of the world; the timing of start-up expenses for new services and facilities; and changes in government regulations. Because a high percentage of the Company s costs are relatively fixed in the short term (such as the cost of maintaining facilities and compensating employees), any one of these factors could have a significant impact on the Company s quarterly results. In some quarters, the Company s revenue and operating results may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors due to any of the factors described above. In such event, the trading price of the Company s common stock would likely decline, even if the decline in revenue did not have any long-term adverse implications for the Company s business.

Our future growth depends on new product introductions and acceptance.

Rapid technological change and frequent new product introductions are typical of the industry in which we operate. Our future success will depend in part on continuous, timely development and introduction of new products that address evolving market requirements and are attractive to customers. We believe successful new product introductions provide a significant competitive advantage because customers make an investment of time in selecting and learning to use a new product, and are reluctant to switch thereafter. We spend significant resources on internal research and development, as well as on technology development elsewhere to support our effort to develop and introduce new products. To the extent that we fail to introduce new and innovative products, we could fail to obtain an adequate return on these investments and could be placed at a disadvantage to our competitors, which may be difficult to overcome. An inability, for technological or other reasons, to develop successfully and introduce new products could reduce our growth rate or otherwise damage our business.

In the past, we have experienced, and may experience in the future, delays in the development and introduction of products. We cannot be assured that we will keep pace with the rapid change in life sciences research, or that our new products will adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace or achieve market acceptance. Some of the factors affecting market acceptance of our products include (i) availability, quality and price as compared to competitive products; (ii) the functionality of new and existing products; (iii) the timing of introduction of our products as compared to competitive products; (iv) scientists and customers opinions of the product s utility and our ability to incorporate their feedback into future products; and (v) general trends in life sciences research.

The expenses or losses associated with unsuccessful product development activities or lack of market acceptance of our new products could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to obtain products and components from third-party manufacturers could affect our ability to manufacture and deliver our products.

We rely on third-party manufacturers to supply many of our raw materials, product components, and in some cases, entire products. In addition, we have a single source for supplies of some raw materials and components to our products. Manufacturing problems may occur with these and other outside sources. If such problems occur, we cannot ensure that we will be able to manufacture our products profitably or on time.

Any significant reduction in government regulation of the drug development process could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The design, development, testing, manufacturing and marketing of pharmaceutical products and services are subject to extensive regulation by governmental authorities, including the FDA and comparable regulatory authorities in other countries. The Company s business depends in part on strict government regulation of the drug development process. Legislation may be introduced and enacted from time to time to modify regulations administered by the FDA and governing the drug approval process. Any significant reduction in the scope of regulatory requirements or the introduction of simplified drug approval procedures could have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Violations of cGMP and other government regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

All facilities and manufacturing techniques used for manufacturing of products for clinical use or for commercial sale in the United States must be operated in conformity with cGMP regulations as required by the FDA. The Company s facilities are subject to scheduled periodic regulatory and customer inspections to ensure compliance with cGMP and other requirements applicable to such products. A finding that the Company had materially violated these requirements could result in regulatory sanctions, the loss of a customer contract, the disqualification of data for client submissions to regulatory authorities and/or a mandated closing of the Company s facilities. Any such material violations would have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The SEC is currently conducting an investigation into the Company s inter-company accounting issue. The investigation began during the first half of 2003 after the Company voluntarily disclosed certain matters related to inter-company accounts for the five-year period ending December 31, 2001 that resulted in the restatement of the Company s financial statements for those years. The Company is fully cooperating with the SEC and does not expect further revisions to its historical financial statements relating to these issues. This investigation could lead to an adverse outcome and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Litigation may harm our business or otherwise negatively impact our management and financial resources.

Substantial, complex or extended litigation could cause the Company to incur large expenditures and distract our management. For example, lawsuits by employees, stockholders, counterparties to acquisition and divestiture contracts, collaborators, distributors, customers, or end-users of our products or services could be very costly and substantially disrupt our business. Disputes from time to time with such companies or individuals are not uncommon, and we cannot assure you that we will always be able to resolve such disputes out of court or on terms favorable to the Company.

The Company is involved in a number of lawsuits. If any of the Company s lawsuits is resolved in an unfavorable manner, they could have a material adverse effect on the operating results and cash flows in future periods.

International unrest or foreign currency fluctuations could adversely affect our results.

International revenues of the Human Health Business (excluding the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries), which include revenues from our non-U.S. subsidiaries and export sales from the U.S., represented 81.3% of our product revenues in 2005 and 79.1% of our product revenues in 2004. We expect that international revenues will continue to account for a significant percentage of our revenues for the foreseeable future.

There are a number of risks arising from our international business, including (i) foreign currencies we receive for sales outside the U.S. could be subject to unfavorable exchange rates with the U.S. dollar and reduce the amount of revenue that we recognize; (ii) the possibility that unfriendly nations or groups could boycott our products; (iii) general economic and political conditions in the markets in which we operate; (iv) potential increased costs associated with overlapping tax structures; (v) more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; (vi) unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; (vii) the difficulties of compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations; (viii) longer accounts receivable cycles in certain foreign countries; and (ix) import and export licensing requirements.

A significant portion of our Human Health Business is conducted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which is our reporting currency. We recognize foreign currency gains or losses arising from our operations in the period incurred.

As a result, currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the currencies in which we do business have caused and will continue to cause foreign currency transaction gains and losses. We cannot predict the effects of exchange rate fluctuations upon our future operating results because of the number of currencies involved, the variability of currency exposures, and the potential volatility of currency exchange rates. We engage in limited foreign exchange hedging transactions to manage our foreign currency exposure, but our strategies are short-term in nature and may not adequately protect our operating results from the full effects of exchange rate fluctuations.

Incidents related to hazardous materials could adversely affect our business.

Portions of our operations require the controlled use of hazardous materials. Although we are diligent in designing and implementing safety procedures to comply with the standards prescribed by federal, state, and local regulations, the risk of accidental contamination of property or injury to individuals from these materials cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of such an incident, we could be liable for any damages that result, which could adversely effect our business.

Additionally, any incident could partially or completely shut down our research and manufacturing facilities and operations.

We generate waste that must be transported to approved storage, treatment and disposal facilities. The transportation and disposal of such waste are required to meet applicable state and federal statutes and regulations. The storage, treatment and disposal of such waste potentially exposes us to environmental liability if, in the future, such transportation and disposal are deemed to have violated such statues and/or regulations or if the storage, treatment and disposal facilities are inadequate and are proved to have damaged the environment.

The Company is also party to several environmental remediation investigations and cleanups and, along with other companies, has been named a potential responsible party for certain waste disposal sites. The Company has also retained the liabilities with respect to certain pre-closing environmental matters associated with the sale of the Rutherford Chemicals business. After reviewing information currently available, management believes any amount paid in excess of accrued liabilities will not have a material effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations. However, these matters, if resolved in a manner different from the estimates, could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, operating results and cash flows when resolved in future reporting periods.

The possibility we will be unable to protect our technologies could affect our ability to compete.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon our ability to develop proprietary products and technologies. However, we cannot be assured that patents will be granted on any of our patent applications. We also cannot be assured that the scope of any of our issued patents will be sufficiently broad to offer meaningful protection. We only have patents issued in selected countries. Therefore, third parties can make, use, and sell products covered by our patents in any country in which we do not have patent protection. In addition, our issued patents or patents we license could be successfully challenged, invalidated or circumvented so that our patent rights would not create an effective competitive barrier. We provide our customers the right to use our products under label licenses that are for research purposes only. These licenses could be contested, and we cannot be assured that we would either be aware of an unauthorized use or be able to enforce the restrictions in a cost-effective manner.

If a third party claimed an intellectual property right to technology we use, we may need to discontinue an important product or product line, alter our products and processes, defend our right to use such technology in court or pay license fees. Although we may, under these circumstances, attempt to obtain a license to such intellectual property, we may not be able to do so on favorable terms, or at all. Additionally, if our products are found to infringe on a third party s intellectual property, we may be required to pay damages for past infringement, and lose the ability to sell certain products or receive licensing revenues.

The market price of our stock could be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been subject to volatility and, in the future, the market price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially due to a variety of factors, including (i) quarterly fluctuations in our

Table of Contents

operating income and earnings per share results; (ii) technological innovations or new product introductions by us or our competitors; (iii) economic conditions; (iv) disputes concerning patents or proprietary rights; (v) changes in earnings estimates and market growth rate projections by market research analysts; (vi) sales of common stock by existing holders; (vii) loss of key employees; and (viii) securities class actions or other litigation.

The market price for our common stock may also be affected by our ability to meet analysts expectations. Any failure to meet such expectations, even slightly, could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. In addition, the stock market is subject to extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a

Table of Contents

significant effect on the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of these companies.

Following the sale of the Bio Companies Business it may be difficult to attract securities analysts to cover our Company, which could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. There are many large, well-established, publicly traded companies active in our industry, which may mean that it is less likely that we will receive widespread analyst coverage. In fact, there are no assurances that securities analysts will continue to cover our Company following the sale of the Bio Companies Business. If securities analysts do not cover our Company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn, may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who cover our Company downgrades our common stock, the trading price of our common stock may decline rapidly.

The sale of the Bio Companies Business could cause us to be become a micro-cap company, which could result in limited liquidity for our common stock and could affect your ability to sell your shares at a satisfactory price.

Stocks in the micro-cap segment of the market have many risks that are not as prevalent in large-cap and Blue Chip stocks. Often it is these risks that cause micro-cap stocks to trade at discounts to their peers. The most common of these risks is liquidity risk, which is typically caused by small trading floats and low trading volume, which can lead to large spreads and high volatility in stock price. This may result in your inability to liquidate your investment at a satisfactory price.

Following the sale of the Bio Companies Business, our Board of Directors may decide to suspend payment of regular dividends to our stockholders.

The Company expects to pay a special cash dividend to our stockholders that will be funded by the net proceeds from the sale of the Bio Companies Business plus an additional \$125 million to \$150 million from new lines of credit that the Company expects to secure after closing. Assuming financing can be arranged on favorable terms at the currently anticipated levels, Cambrex expects the special dividend to be approximately \$13.50 to \$14.50 per share of common stock. You should not otherwise anticipate receiving regular dividends with respect to shares of Company common stock that you own. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our Board of Directors deems relevant.



THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. The summary below and elsewhere in this proxy statement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Stock Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A. Certain terms used in this proxy statement without definition will have their meanings as defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement.

General

Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, we have agreed to, and to cause certain of our subsidiaries to, sell all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of each of the Bio Companies to Lonza for an initial purchase price of \$460,000,000 in cash, subject to certain post-closing adjustments, as described below.

The Bio Companies Business

Our Bio Companies Business consists of our Bioproducts Business and our Biopharma Business. Our Bioproducts Business, created in 1997, manufactures and markets research, therapeutic and analytical testing products based on cell biology and used in drug discovery and biotherapeutic manufacturing. Our Biopharma Business engages in contract services for the process development and current Good Manufacturing Practices manufacturing of therapeutic proteins, vaccines and other biologic drugs. The Biopharma Business provides complete services from strain and process development through Phase III clinical and commercial production, making use of a full range of microbial fermentation and mammalian cell culture expertise.

Purchase price

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, Lonza has agreed to purchase from Cambrex and the other Sellers all of the shares of the Bio Companies for an initial purchase price of \$460,000,000 in cash. Post-closing, the initial purchase price will be increased (if positive) or decreased (if negative) by the difference between actual working capital as of the closing date and target working capital of \$56,000,000, but only if such excess or shortfall is at least \$1,000,000, in which case such adjustment will be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the first dollar. Post-closing, the initial purchase price will also be decreased by the Additional Adjustment Amount (as defined below), if any, but only if the Additional Adjustment Amount exceeds \$500,000, in which case such adjustment will be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the first dollar. The Additional Adjustment Amount means the total amount, if any, by which the actual amount of each Adjustment Category as of the closing date exceeds the Applicable Cap, but only if such excess is at least \$100,000. The following table sets forth each Adjustment Category and the Applicable Cap:

Adjustment Category	Applicable Cap	
Advanced Payments	\$	4,500,000
Transaction Payments	\$	7,500,000
Vacation and Salary Payments	\$	4,900,000
Capital Leases	\$	4,800,000
Deferred Compensation	\$	3,300,000

If these amounts had been calculated as of August 31, 2006, the amount of each Adjustment Category would have been less than the Applicable Cap and therefore the Additional Adjustment Amount, as of such date, would have been

zero.

Closing

The closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business will take place on a date to be specified by the parties, which date will be no later than the second business day after satisfaction or waiver of all closing conditions (other than conditions with respect to actions the respective parties will take at the closing itself, but subject to the satisfaction of those conditions), at the offices of Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP, One Chase Manhattan Plaza, New York, New York 10005, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by the parties.

5	
~	~

Prepayment of indebtedness at closing

Prior to the closing, Cambrex will provide notice as required under the terms of the Credit Agreement in order to terminate the commitments of the lenders under the Credit Agreement and prepay on the closing date all indebtedness outstanding under the Credit Agreement and to otherwise discharge in full all obligations of the borrowers thereunder.

At the closing, a portion of the purchase price payable by Lonza, in an amount equal to the total amount necessary to pay all indebtedness outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of the closing date and to otherwise discharge in full all obligations of the borrowers thereunder, will be paid to the lenders under the Credit Agreement.

Representations and warranties

The Stock Purchase Agreement contains various representations and warranties by Cambrex and the other Sellers, as described below, that are subject, in some cases, to specified exceptions, including for items which would not have a material adverse effect. This description of the representations and warranties has been included in this proxy statement to provide stockholders with information regarding the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. The assertions embodied in the representations and warranties are qualified by information in the confidential disclosure letter that was delivered by Cambrex to Lonza in connection with signing the Stock Purchase Agreement. The disclosure letter contains information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties. Moreover, certain representations and warranties may not be complete or accurate as of a particular date because they are subject to a contractual standard of materiality that is different from those generally applicable to stockholders and/or were used for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties rather than establishing certain matters as facts. Finally, the information concerning the subject matter of these representations and warranties may have changed since the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement. Accordingly, you should not rely on the representations and warranties set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement as characterizations of the actual state of facts at the time they were made or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any specific facts that contradict the representations and warranties in the Stock Purchase Agreement in any material respect have been disclosed in this proxy statement or the information referred to in this proxy statement.

The representations and warranties made by Cambrex and the other Sellers, subject to identified exceptions, relate to, among other things:

the due organization, valid existence, good standing and qualification to do business of the Bio Companies and the Sellers;

the capitalization of the Bio Companies;

the absence of agreements relating to the voting of the capital stock of, or equity interests in, the Bio Companies;

the corporate power and authority to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement and the enforceability of the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of any conflicts, violations or breaches of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws, existing agreements or other instruments, laws or governmental orders of or relating to the Sellers resulting from the execution of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby;

required third-party and governmental consents or approvals;

the financial statements and books and records of the Bio Companies;

the completeness and accuracy of filings made by Cambrex with the SEC since January 1, 2004 insofar as they related to the Bio Companies and the Bio Companies Business;

since December 31, 2005, the Bio Companies Business being carried on and operated in all material respects in the ordinary course of business and the absence of any events, changes or occurrences that have had or are reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect;

Table of Contents

the absence of any pending or threatened action or proceeding and any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling or charge by or before any governmental authority;

compliance by the Bio Companies with applicable laws and possession of, and compliance with, licenses, franchises, permits, certificates, approvals, clearances and authorizations from governmental authorities necessary to conduct the Bio Companies Business;

compliance by the Bio Companies with applicable regulations and guidelines of the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act;

the adequacy and accuracy of this proxy statement and any amendments or supplements thereto;

the filing of tax returns, payment of taxes and other tax matters;

employee benefits and labor matters;

material contracts of the Bio Companies;

environmental matters of the Bio Companies;

intellectual property of the Bio Companies;

insurance policies of the Bio Companies Business;

real property owned or leased by the Bio Companies;

tangible personal property of the Bio Companies;

sufficiency of assets to conduct the Bio Companies Business;

transactions with affiliates;

conformity with product warranties;

absence of pending or threatened product liability claims;

customers and suppliers;

solvency;

bank accounts of the Bio Companies;

the receipt by our Board of Directors of the opinions of Bear Stearns and Wachovia Securities;

the absence of undisclosed broker s fees or finder s fees or commissions or reimbursement of expenses in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

the absence of any untrue statement of a material fact or omission to state a material fact.

Table of Contents

Some of the representations and warranties above are not breached unless the breach has or would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect. Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect means any occurrence which has a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Bio Companies Business or the Bio Companies taken as a whole, or on the Sellers ability to transfer the shares to Lonza at closing, excluding occurrences resulting from (i) changes in conditions in the United States or global economy or capital or financial markets generally, (ii) changes that generally affect industries in which the Bio Companies conduct business, (iii) the execution, announcement or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business acontemplated or permitted by the Stock Purchase Agreement or with Lonza s consent, (vii) the initiation of any litigation by any stockholder of Cambrex relating to the Stock Purchase Agreement or the sale of the Bio Companies Business or (viii) any decline in the market price, or change in trading volume, of the capital stock of Cambrex or any failure of Cambrex to meet publicly announced revenue or earnings projections.

Table of Contents

The Stock Purchase Agreement also contains various representations and warranties made by Lonza, subject to identified exceptions, including representations and warranties relating to:

the due organization, valid existence, good standing and qualification to do business of Lonza;

the corporate power and authority to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement and the enforceability of the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of any conflicts, violations or breaches of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws, existing agreements or other instruments, laws or governmental orders of or relating to Lonza resulting from the execution of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby;

required third-party and governmental consents or approvals;

the adequacy and accuracy of the information supplied by Lonza for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the proxy statement;

Lonza s ability to pay the purchase price and all fees and expenses in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of any pending or threatened action or proceeding and any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling or charge by or before any governmental authority which would impair the ability of Lonza to perform its obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of undisclosed broker s fees or finder s fees or commissions or reimbursement of expenses in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement; and

the absence of reliance by Lonza on any representation by the Sellers not expressly set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement and the absence of representations with respect to projections, forecasts and prospects with respect to the Bio Companies Business.

Some of the representations and warranties above are not breached unless the breach has or would be expected to impair in any material respect the ability of Lonza to perform its obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions thereunder.

The representations and warranties made by each of the parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement will expire at the closing or termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement in accordance with its terms, except for the representation regarding the capitalization of the Bio Companies, which will survive the closing and continue for the applicable statute of limitations.

Conduct of business prior to closing

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, Cambrex has agreed that, from the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement until the closing, subject to certain exceptions or except with Lonza s consent, Cambrex will cause the Bio Companies to conduct the Bio Companies Business in the ordinary course and in conformity with past practice and use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact their business organizations, customer and supplier relationships and goodwill, to maintain the real property in substantially the same condition and to continue to make capital expenditures in conformity with past practice, and will not permit any of the Bio Companies to:

issue, sell or grant any shares of its capital stock, or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or evidencing the right to subscribe for any shares of its capital stock, or any rights, warrants or options to purchase any shares of its capital stock, or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or evidencing the right to subscribe for, any shares of its capital stock, or enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of its capital stock, or effect any recapitalization, reclassification or stock split of any of the Bio Companies;

other than intercompany activity in the ordinary course of business, incur any new indebtedness or guarantee any such indebtedness, make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any person

other than one of the Bio Companies or repurchase or prepay any indebtedness, except as required by the terms of such indebtedness;

sell, transfer, encumber, demolish or remove any of its properties or assets that are material to the Bio Companies Business, except (i) sales, leases, rentals and licenses in the ordinary course of business, (ii) pursuant to contracts in force at the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement or entered into after the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement to the extent permitted, (iii) dispositions of obsolete or worthless assets or (iv) transfers among the Bio Companies;

make any individual capital expenditure in excess of \$100,000, except in the ordinary course of business or as contemplated by the forecast set forth in the disclosure letter;

make any material acquisition of the stock or assets of any other person (including by merger or consolidation) for a purchase price in excess of \$50,000;

increase the compensation of any of its directors, officers or employees, other than (i) as required pursuant to applicable law or the terms of contracts in effect on the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement or entered into after the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement to the extent permitted and (ii) increases in salaries, wages and benefits of employees made in the ordinary course of business;

hire any employee whose annual base salary exceeds \$100,000, other than to fill a vacancy with a new employee on substantially comparable terms;

other than in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to any contract or any employee benefit plans in existence on the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement or entered into after the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement to the extent permitted, (i) pay to any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of any of the Bio Companies any benefit not provided for under any contract or any employee benefit plan, (ii) take any action to fund or in any other way secure the payment of compensation or benefits under any contract or employee benefit plans, (iii) exercise any discretion to accelerate the vesting or payment of any compensation or benefit under any contract or employee benefit plan or (iv) adopt any new employee benefit plan or arrangement or amend, modify or terminate any existing employee benefit plan to increase the benefits thereunder, other than as required by applicable tax qualification requirements;

make or change any material election concerning taxes or settle or compromise any material tax liability or to the extent relating to a stand-alone tax return of a Bio Company, file or cause to be filed any amended tax return or claim for refund of taxes or amend or cause to be amended any payment of taxes;

make any changes in financial or tax accounting methods, principles or practices (or change an annual accounting period), except insofar as may be required by a change in generally accepted accounting principles in the United States or applicable law;

amend any Bio Companies charter, bylaws or comparable governing documents;

adopt a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution;

adopt or enter into any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union contract applicable to the employees of any of the Bio Companies;

fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain existing insurance policies or comparable replacement policies to the extent available for a reasonable cost or make any material changes in the type or amount of the Bio Companies insurance coverage;

enter into any new line of business that is material to the Bio Companies Business;

enter into any contract outside the ordinary course of business;

accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel any contract outside the ordinary course of business;

delay or postpone the payment of accounts payable and other liabilities outside the ordinary course of business;

Table of Contents

cancel, compromise, waive or release any right or claim involving more than \$250,000 other than in the ordinary course of business;

transfer, assign, or grant any license or sublicense of any rights under or with respect to any intellectual property of the Bio Companies;

discharge a material liability or lien outside the ordinary course of business;

take any action that would limit the Purchasers utilization of the net operating losses of any Bio Company under Code sections 382 or 1502, excluding any limitation resulting from Purchasers acquisition of the Bio Companies; or

agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

No solicitation; Superior proposals

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, Cambrex and its subsidiaries have agreed to, and Cambrex has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries representatives to, immediately cease any discussions or negotiations that may be ongoing as of the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement with any person with respect to a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (as defined below). In addition, Cambrex and its subsidiaries will not, and Cambrex will use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries representatives not to:

solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal;

participate in any discussions or negotiations with, or furnish any information to, any person relating to any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal;

enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or similar agreement reasonably likely to lead to any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal; or

make or authorize any statement to any person other than the Bio Companies in support of any possible Bio Companies Takeover Proposal.

In addition, the Board of Directors may not:

withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to Lonza, the Board of Directors recommendation that the stockholders authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

publicly approve or recommend to the stockholders a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal;

enter into any letter of intent, merger, acquisition or similar agreement with respect to any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, other than permitted confidentiality agreements; or

release any third party from, or waive any provisions of, any confidentiality or standstill agreement to which Cambrex is a party.

Notwithstanding the above limitations, prior to the authorization of the Stock Purchase Agreement by Cambrex s stockholders:

Cambrex and its Representatives may have discussions with any person that has made an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal in order to clarify and understand the terms and conditions of such proposal;

Cambrex may waive the provisions of any standstill agreement between Cambrex and such person to the extent necessary to permit such person to submit an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal; and

if the Board of Directors (i) receives an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that it determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel and a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation) constitutes or would reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Bio Companies Proposal and (ii) determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to take any of the following actions would not be consistent with its fiduciary duties to the Cambrex stockholders under Delaware law, Cambrex may furnish information with respect to the Bio Companies and the Bio Companies Business to the person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and participate in discussions and

Table of Contents

negotiations with such person regarding such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and, to the extent reasonably required to evaluate a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that includes the issuance of securities by the person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, may enter into a customary confidentiality agreement in order to obtain non-public information with respect to such person.

In addition, if Cambrex receives an unsolicited Superior Bio Companies Proposal, the Board of Directors may:

withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to Lonza, the Board of Directors recommendation that the stockholders authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

publicly approve or recommend to the stockholders a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal; and/or

cause Cambrex to enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to a Superior Bio Companies Proposal;

in each case if the Board of Directors determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that failure to take such action would not be consistent with the Board of Directors fiduciary duties to the Cambrex stockholders under Delaware law.

Cambrex may also disclose to its stockholders a position contemplated by Rules 14e-2(a), 14d-9 or Item 1012(a) under Regulation MA promulgated under the Exchange Act, or other applicable law, if the Board of Directors determines, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that failure to take such action could constitute a violation of applicable law.

Bio Companies Takeover Proposal means a bona fide proposal or offer from any person (other than Lonza and its subsidiaries) relating to any direct or indirect acquisition of (i) the outstanding shares of capital stock of any of the Bio Companies, Cambrex or the other Sellers, including by means of a merger, consolidation, share purchase or exchange, tender offer, business combination recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving Cambrex, any other Sellers and/or Cambrex s subsidiaries including the Bio Companies, (ii) all or substantially all of the assets of Cambrex and its subsidiaries primarily used in connection with the Bioproducts Business and/or the Biopharma Business, or (iii) any material portion of the Bioproducts Business or the Biopharma Business, excluding sales of assets in the ordinary course of business.

Superior Bio Companies Proposal means a bona fide written Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that (i) is not subject to any financing contingency or other material condition (other than a condition that is also a condition to Lonza s obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement), (ii) involves the purchase of more than 50% of the assets of the Bio Companies or more than 50% of the equity securities in the Bio Companies, (iii) provides for payment of aggregate consideration and other terms and conditions that, taken as a whole, are superior to the Bio Companies Transactions, and (iv) is made by a person reasonably capable of completing such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, taking into account the legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects of such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and the person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal.

Other covenants

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the parties also covenant that, from the date of the Stock Purchase Agreement until the closing, subject to certain exceptions:

Lonza will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, take, or agree or commit to take, any action that would reasonably be expected to (i) impose any material delay in the obtaining of any authorizations, consents, orders, declarations or approvals of any governmental authority necessary to consummate the sale of the Bio

Companies Business or the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period, (ii) significantly increase the risk of any governmental authority entering an order prohibiting the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business or (iii) otherwise prevent or materially delay the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

As promptly as practicable, Cambrex will prepare and file with the SEC a preliminary proxy statement relating to a meeting of Cambrex s stockholders and use all commercially reasonable efforts to respond to any comments made by the SEC;

Table of Contents

As promptly as reasonably practicable, Cambrex will call, give notice of and hold a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of voting upon the authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, will mail the proxy statement to the stockholders in advance of such meeting, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit proxies in favor of the authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Business to Lonza;

Cambrex and Lonza will use, and will cause their respective subsidiaries to use, their respective reasonable best efforts to take all actions necessary to consummate the sale of the Bio Companies Business and to obtain all approvals and consents from any governmental authority or third party necessary to consummate the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

Cambrex and Lonza will file the notifications and other filings required to be filed pursuant to the HSR Act in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

The initial press release to be issued by Cambrex, on the one hand, and Lonza, on the other, with respect to the execution of the Stock Purchase Agreement shall be reasonably agreed upon by Lonza and Cambrex, and thereafter, the parties will not issue or publish any press release or other public announcement with respect to the sale of the Bio Companies Business without the prior consent of the other party;

Cambrex will afford Lonza and its representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to the officers, employees, accountants, consultants, agents, attorneys and other representatives, properties, books, contracts and records of Cambrex and its subsidiaries relating to the Bio Companies Business;

The parties will promptly notify each other of (i) any notice or other communication received from any governmental authority in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business or from any person alleging that the consent of such person is or may be required in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business, and (ii) any actions or proceedings commenced or, to such party sknowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting such party or any of its subsidiaries which, in the case of either clause (i) or (ii), would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Stock Purchase Agreement and the sale of the Bio Companies Business will be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, except with respect to any fees and expenses incurred in connection with any HSR Act filings or other filings required under the Antitrust Laws, which shall be borne evenly between Lonza and Cambrex;

Cambrex will cause Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville, Inc. to transfer all of its interests in Cambrex North Brunswick, Inc. to Cambrex or one of its subsidiaries (other than any of the Bio Companies) prior to the closing;

Cambrex will have conducted testing activities at the debris field located at the Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville, Inc. facility and in the event such testing results in the discovery of any soil samples that exceed applicable Non-Residential Cleanup Standards or require remediation under applicable environmental laws, Cambrex will diligently conduct the remediation, provided that the first \$500,000 of remediation costs incurred by Cambrex in connection therewith will be paid solely by Cambrex and the next \$500,000 of remediation costs will be split equally between Cambrex and Lonza and all remediation costs in excess of \$1,000,000 shall be borne solely by Lonza;

Lonza will use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into definitive agreements providing terms substantially similar to those set forth in any commitment letters delivered to Cambrex, provided that the receipt of the proceeds of such debt financing will not be a condition to Lonza s obligation to consummate the sale of the Bio Companies Business;

Cambrex will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause each of the Bio Companies to cooperate with Lonza in obtaining title commitments, title policies and surveys that Lonza deems necessary with respect to owned real property;

Lonza and Cambrex will execute and deliver the Transition Services Agreement;

Cambrex and each of the Bio Companies will cause all intercompany arrangements and agreements between any of the Bio Companies and Cambrex and/or any of its Affiliates to be terminated as of the closing date, and all obligations thereunder to be cancelled and released;

Cambrex will deliver to Lonza unaudited monthly, quarterly and annual financial statements of the Bioproducts Companies and the Biopharma Companies;

Sellers will, and will cause their respective subsidiaries and affiliates to, use their commercially reasonable efforts to transfer and assign to a Bio Company all of their right, title and interest in and to all prior acquisition and indemnity agreements relating to any of the Bio Companies that provide for continuing or available indemnities or payments to or for the benefit of the Bio Companies Business as of the closing date; and

Cambrex and the other Sellers will cause all contracts between the Bio Companies and Cambrex or any of its subsidiaries (including all of the Sellers but excluding any Bio Company) to be terminated and to be of no further force or effect as of the closing.

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the parties also covenant that, after the closing, subject to certain exceptions:

Cambrex will, and will cause its subsidiaries and affiliates to, as soon as practicable after the closing and in any event within three months following the closing, cease to use the trademarks of the Bio Companies in connection with any good or service made available to the public, and immediately after the closing, cease to hold itself out as having any affiliation with the Bio Companies;

Lonza will, and will cause the Bio Companies to, as soon as practicable after the closing and in any event within three months following the closing, cease to use the trademarks of Cambrex and its subsidiaries in connection with any good or service made available to the public, immediately after the closing, cease to hold itself out as having any affiliation with Cambrex and its subsidiaries and promptly after the closing but in not event later than ninety days following the closing, in the case of any of the Bio Companies whose name includes any of the trademarks of Cambrex and its subsidiaries, change its corporate name to a name that does not include such trademarks and make any necessary legal filings with the appropriate governmental authority to effect such change;

Lonza acknowledges that, upon closing, all insurance coverage provided in relation to the Bio Companies Business will cease and no further coverage will be available to the Bio Companies under any such policies or programs to the extent that such are claims made based policies, but the Bio Companies Business will retain the benefit of occurrence based policies of insurance in relation to events occurring prior to closing but in respect of which no claim has yet arisen at the time of closing;

Effective as of the closing all rights of the Sellers and their subsidiaries to directors and officers indemnification by or from any of the Bio Companies will be terminated;

From the closing date until the third anniversary of the closing date, Cambrex will not, and will cause its subsidiaries not to, engage directly or indirectly in any business that competes, directly or indirectly, with the business conducted by the Bio Companies as of the closing date in any geographic area in which the Bio Companies conduct that business as of the closing date; <u>provided</u> that the foregoing restriction will not apply to any bona fide third party purchaser who acquires all or any substantial portion of the stock or assets of Cambrex and its subsidiaries or prohibit Cambrex or any of its subsidiaries from acquiring any business if less than 10% of the revenues of such business are attributable to a competing business; and

From the closing date until the second anniversary of the closing date, Cambrex will not, and will cause its affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, recruit, solicit or otherwise induce or influence any representative which has a material business relationship with any of the Bio Companies or employ or seek to employ any employee of any of the Bio Companies, unless such employee has been terminated by Lonza or any of its subsidiaries after the closing date; <u>provided</u> that the foregoing restriction will not apply to any bona fide third party purchaser who acquires all or any substantial portion of the stock or assets of Cambrex and its subsidiaries.

Tax matters

The Stock Purchase Agreement includes provisions relating to the filing of tax returns in respect of the Bio Companies, the allocation of liability for taxes relating to the Bio Companies, procedures for contesting taxes of the Bio Companies and an allocation of tax refunds of the Bio Companies, each as described below:

Filing of tax returns. Cambrex is obligated to file all Bio Company tax returns that are required to be filed on or before the closing date as well as all consolidated, combined and unitary tax returns that include income of a non-Bio Company and a Bio Company. Lonza is required to file all other tax returns of the Bio Companies.

Liability for taxes. Cambrex is generally required to pay and indemnify Lonza for taxes of the Bio Companies with respect to tax periods ending on or before the closing date. Cambrex and Lonza have each agreed to pay 50% of any transfer taxes (sales, use, registration, stamp and other similar taxes) imposed in connection with the sale of the Bio Companies Business.

Tax contests. Cambrex is generally allowed to control the conduct of any audit, contest or other proceeding relating to taxes for which Cambrex may be liable to indemnify Lonza and Lonza has the ability to control any Bio Company tax contests that relate to taxes for which Lonza is solely liable. If there are any contests relating to taxes of a Bio Company for which both Cambrex and Lonza may have liability, Cambrex is permitted to jointly represent the Bio Company in connection with that contest.

Tax refunds. Tax refunds received by the Bio Companies that relate to taxes for which Cambrex is liable are generally required to be paid to Cambrex. Lonza has agreed to cooperate with Cambrex and to cause the Bio Companies to cooperate in seeking any tax refunds that Cambrex may be entitled to retain pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Employee matters

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, immediately following the closing the Bio Companies will continue to employ all the employees employed by them immediately before the closing. However, the Stock Purchase Agreement does not limit the ability of Lonza to terminate the employment of any employee of the Bio Companies Business following the closing for any reason. For at least one year after the closing, Lonza or its affiliates must provide compensation and benefits to employees who remain employed by the Bio Companies that are substantially comparable to those provided by the Bio Companies before the closing. In addition, Lonza and its affiliates must honor all employment, severance, retention and change-in-control agreements with any current or former employee of the Bio Companies Business, continue to maintain for at least one year the severance arrangements in place before the closing for employees of the Bio Companies Business and credit employees of the Bio Companies Business with their service with Cambrex and its subsidiaries for most purposes under benefit plans covering these employees after the closing.

In addition, Lonza and its affiliates will generally assume all liabilities and obligations related to current and former employees of the Bio Companies Business (regardless of whether those liabilities or obligations arose before or after the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business). However, Cambrex will retain responsibility for, and will indemnify Lonza and its affiliates against, liabilities arising under the tax-qualified retirement plans and post-retirement medical plans sponsored by Cambrex in which current and former employees of the Bio Companies Business participate.

Conditions to the closing

Table of Contents

The parties obligations to complete the sale of the Bio Companies Business is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable law) on or prior to the closing date of the following conditions:

the affirmative vote of the requisite number of our stockholders approving the Stock Purchase Agreement;

the absence of any law, injunction, judgment or ruling by any governmental authority enjoining, restraining, preventing or prohibiting consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business or making the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business illegal;

Table of Contents

the receipt of all consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any governmental authority required of Lonza, Cambrex or any of their respective subsidiaries to consummate the transaction and the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act; and

the execution of the Transition Services Agreement.

Lonza s obligations to complete the sale of the Bio Companies Business is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable law) on or prior to the closing date of the following conditions:

Cambrex s representations and warranties being true and correct, except for changes permitted by the Stock Purchase Agreement or where the failure of any such representation or warranty to be true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect;

Cambrex s performance or compliance with, in all material respects, all agreements, obligations and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the closing date; and

The absence of any Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or any event or circumstance that would be reasonably expected to result in a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect in the reasonably foreseeable future.

Cambrex s obligations to complete the sale of the Bio Companies Business is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable law) on or prior to the closing date of the following conditions:

Lonza s representations and warranties being true and correct, except for changes permitted by the Stock Purchase Agreement or where the failure of any such representation or warranty to be true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair the ability of Lonza to perform its obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement or prevent or materially delay consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business; and

Lonza s performance or compliance with, in all material respects, all agreements, obligations and covenants required by the Stock Purchase Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the closing date.

Indemnification

Indemnification by Cambrex. Following the closing, Cambrex will indemnify Lonza and the Bio Companies with respect to pre-closing tax liabilities as described in the tax matters section above and with respect to certain expenses related to employee benefits or other liabilities to employees as described in the employee matters section above. Following the closing, Cambrex and the other Sellers, jointly and severally, will indemnify Lonza and its affiliates and each of their respective directors, officers, successors and assigns from and against all losses suffered and incurred arising out of or resulting from any Company Liability (as defined below), whether arising prior to, on or after the closing.

Company Liability means any liability of Cambrex or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (other than the Bio Companies) other than any of the Bio Companies Liabilities (as defined below).

Indemnification by Lonza. Following the closing, Lonza and the Bio Companies will indemnify Cambrex and its subsidiaries with respect to post-closing tax liabilities as described in the tax matters section above and with respect to certain expenses related to employee benefits or other liabilities to employees as described in the employee matters

section above. Following the closing, Lonza will indemnify Cambrex, its affiliates and each of their respective directors, officers, successors and assigns from and against all losses suffered and incurred arising out of or resulting from any Bio Companies Liability (as defined below), whether arising prior to, on or after the closing.

Bio Companies Liability means any liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from (i) any action, inaction, event, omission, condition, fact or circumstance occurring or existing prior to, on or after the closing, in each case to the extent such liability relates to, arises out of or results from any of the assets, properties or operations

of any of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business, including without limitation any liability for a violation of, or creation of liability under, any environmental law (including any liability arising from or relating to the Walkersville Facility or the Debris Field, except as expressly provided in the Stock Purchase Agreement), but excluding any Companies Liability and any liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from the Rubin Litigation, and (ii) any breach of any agreement or the Transition Services Agreement or covenant of Lonza contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement or any agreement delivered by or on behalf of Lonza under the Stock Purchase Agreement that by its terms contemplates performance in whole or in part after the closing.

Limitation of liability. In connection with the foregoing indemnification obligations, neither party will be liable for any special, consequential, indirect, incidental or punitive damages or lost profits, however caused and on any theory of liability (including, without limitation, negligence), whether or not such party has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

Termination

The Stock Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the closing date, whether before or after the approval by the stockholders of the Stock Purchase Agreement:

(i) by the mutual written consent of Cambrex and Lonza;

(ii) by either party if any law, injunction, judgment or ruling by any governmental authority enjoining, restraining, preventing or prohibiting consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business or making the consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business illegal is in effect and has become final and non-appealable;

(iii) by either party if the closing has not been consummated on or before April 23, 2007;

(iv) by either party if the affirmative vote of the requisite number of our stockholders approving the Stock Purchase Agreement is not obtained;

(v) by Cambrex if concurrently it enters into a definitive agreement in accordance with the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement providing for a Superior Bio Companies Proposal;

(vi) by Cambrex if any of the representation and warranties of Lonza set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement are not true and correct as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007 subject to customary materiality qualifiers;

(vii) by Cambrex if Lonza has breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by the Stock Purchase Agreement to be complied with by it in all material respects as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007;

(viii) by Lonza if any of the representation and warranties of Cambrex set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement are not true and correct as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007 subject to customary materiality qualifiers;

(ix) by Lonza if Cambrex has breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by the Stock Purchase Agreement to be complied with by it in all material respects as of such date and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007;

(x) by Lonza if the Board of Directors makes an adverse recommendation change by withdrawing or adversely modifying its recommendation that the stockholders approve the Stock Purchase Agreement or approves or recommends a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal to the stockholders;

(xi) by Lonza if an event has occurred or a circumstance exists that could reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, but only to the extent that such event or circumstance would cause the closing condition requiring the absence of a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect not to be satisfied and such condition is incapable of being satisfied on or before April 23, 2007; or

(xii) by Lonza if the Board of Directors (A) fails to recommend the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement to the stockholders, (B) withdraws or modifies in a manner adverse to Lonza its

Table of Contents

approval or recommendation of the Stock Purchase Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby, (C) approves or recommends a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal to the stockholders, (D) causes Cambrex or its subsidiaries or their respective representatives to take any action that would constitute a breach of the provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement restricting solicitation of alternative transaction proposals, (E) causes any Seller or Bio Company to enter into a Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement, or (F) resolves to take any of the foregoing actions.

In the event of the termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement by either party, written notice thereof will be given to the other party, specifying the provision pursuant to which such termination is made, and the Stock Purchase Agreement will become null and void (other than certain provisions specified therein) and there will be no liability as a result thereof on the part of Lonza or Cambrex or their respective directors, officers and affiliates, except Cambrex may have liability with respect to the termination fee described below and no party will be relieved from liability for fraud or any willful breach of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Termination fee and expenses

In the event that:

within sixteen months after termination of the Stock Purchase Agreement for the reasons described in clause (iii), (iv), (viii), (ix), (x), (xi) or (xii) of the section entitled Termination above, Cambrex has consummated a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal; or

the Stock Purchase Agreement is terminated by Cambrex for the reason described in clause (v) of the section entitled Termination above;

then Cambrex will (A) in the case of a termination described in the first bullet-point above, upon consummation of the transaction contemplated by such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, or (B) in the case of a termination described in the second bullet-point above, on the date of such termination, pay Lonza a fee equal to (i) \$18,453,000 if Cambrex consummates a transaction whereby more than 50% of the stock of the Bio Companies, or more than 50% of the assets of Cambrex primarily used in connection with the Bio Companies Business, is acquired by a third party, or (ii) \$2,000,000 if Cambrex consummates a transaction whereby all or substantially all of the assets of, or the equity interests in, the subsidiaries engaged in the Biopharma Business are acquired by a third party (unless it shall already have become obligated to make the payment described in the preceding clause (i)). If Cambrex becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (i) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (i) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated to pay the fee described in clause (ii) of the preceding sentence before it becomes obligated t

Amendments and waivers

At any time prior to the closing date:

the Stock Purchase Agreement may be amended or supplemented, whether before or after authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Business by the stockholders is obtained, by written agreement of the parties thereto, by action taken by their respective boards of directors; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that following authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Business by the stockholders, there will be no amendment or change to the provisions thereof which by law or in accordance with the rules of any relevant stock exchange would require further approval by the stockholders without such approval; and

any party may, subject to applicable law, (a) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party thereto, (b) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or acts of the other party thereto or (c) waive compliance by any other party with any of the agreements contained therein or,

except as otherwise provided therein, waive any of such party s conditions<u>: provided</u> that after authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Business by the stockholders is obtained, there may not be any extension or waiver of the Stock Purchase Agreement or any portion thereof which, by law or in accordance with the rules of any relevant stock exchange, requires further approval by the stockholders.

Transition Services Agreement

The Stock Purchase Agreement provides that Cambrex and Lonza will enter into the Transition Services Agreement attached as Exhibit A to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Following the closing, Cambrex will provide, or cause to be provided, certain transition services to Lonza and the Bio Companies, including Wide Area Network Usage and Management, Shared IT Infrastructure, Renaissance ERP Support and eBusiness Support in accordance with the terms of the Transition Services Agreement.

Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, Cambrex will provide transition services to Lonza and the Bio Companies during the transition period commencing on the closing date and continuing for a period not to exceed two months. Lonza may request an extension of the term of any transition service by submitting a written request to Cambrex to extend the term of such service thirty (30) days prior to the end of any service term; provided that the obligations of Cambrex to provide any transition service pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement will automatically terminate one year after the closing date. Any and all of the transition services provided by Cambrex are only terminable by Lonza during any term on thirty days prior written notice to Cambrex. As consideration for the performance of the services under the Transition Services Agreement, Lonza will pay Cambrex the amounts set forth therein.

NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS FOLLOWING THE SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS

After the sale of our Bio Companies Business, the Company will be substantially smaller and will focus on our remaining business, the Human Health Business. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Human Health Business (excluding the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries) accounted for 49.5% of our consolidated gross sales and 54.6% of our consolidated gross profit. Our Human Health Business has a strong market position, differentiating technologies such as high potency manufacturing and tastemasking expertise, and proprietary products including DEA-controlled substances and niche generic APIs. This business features a broad portfolio of products and services for process development and manufacturing of approximately 120 active pharmaceutical ingredients, advanced pharmaceutical intermediates and specialty intermediates for animal health, x-ray diagnostic and other applications under U.S. Food and Drug Administration current Good Manufacturing Practices.

Following the completion of the sale of the Bio Companies Business, our Board of Directors will focus its attention on improving the profitability of our Human Health Business. We believe we are uniquely well positioned to capitalize on the expected growth in global consumption of active pharmaceutical ingredients, Human Health s primary business. As part of the drive to improve the profitability of the Human Health Business, the Company recently completed the sale of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries. Following the sale of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries, the Human Health Business has four modern facilities remaining two in the United States located at Charles City, Iowa and North Brunswick, New Jersey, and two in Europe located at Karlskoga, Sweden and Milan, Italy.

In addition, we plan to accelerate the rebalancing of the product lines of the Human Health Business and, through internal development programs, enhance its position in high-value, fast-growing niche markets, such as high potency, high containment and DEA-controlled substances. We also intend to consider accretive, bolt-on acquisition targets to bolster our organic growth. Furthermore, through an aggressive effort to reduce our corporate overhead, in light of the decrease in both the size and complexity of the Company s operations following the sale of the Bio Companies Business, we expect to realize additional annual cost savings of approximately \$8 million beginning in the second half of 2007. Consistent with its fiduciary duties, our Board of Directors intends to evaluate any strategic opportunities for the Human Health Business as they arise.

Our 2006 Proxy Statement included a non-binding proposal submitted by one of our stockholders requesting that the Board of Directors take the necessary steps in accordance with applicable state law to declassify the Board of Directors so that all directors are elected annually, such declassification to be carried out in a manner that does not affect the unexpired terms of directors previously elected. The stockholder proposal received favorable votes from more than 80% of the shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on July 27, 2006. In light of stockholder support for the declassification of the Board of Directors, as well as the Board of Directors commitment to best practices in corporate governance, the Board of Directors has announced its intention to submit a binding proposal to stockholders at the Company s 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders seeking to declassify the Company s Board of Directors. If our stockholders approve declassification, the Board of Directors also expects to implement majority voting for directors in uncontested elections.

For a description of special considerations relating to our Human Health Business, please see Special considerations relating to our Company if our Bio Companies Business is sold beginning on page 49.

FINANCIAL HISTORY AND EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED SALE OF THE BIO COMPANIES BUSINESS

We are providing the following information to aid you in your financial analysis of the proposed sale of the Bio Companies Business.

5-Year and Interim Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data of Cambrex

The following selected historical consolidated financial data of the Company for each of the years in the five year period ended December 31, 2005 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial data of the Company for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements. The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, together with the report of independent registered public accounting firm thereon, and the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2005 are attached hereto as Appendix D.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,			Years H			
	2006 ⁽¹⁾	2005(2)	2005 ⁽³⁾	2004(4)	2003(5)	2002(6)	$2001^{(7)(8)}$
INCOME DATA:							
Gross sales	\$ 356,389	\$ 331,133	\$ 451,986	\$ 439,115	\$ 405,591	\$ 394,430	\$ 356,555
Net revenues	358,155	333,264	455,097	443,657	410,644	399,066	356,830
Gross profit	126,895	120,354	161,337	170,740	162,406	177,718	157,972
Selling, general and							
administrative	86,407	77,640	107,610	102,769	95,117	85,762	80,099
Research and							
development	16,608	16,601	22,331	19,659	17,123	15,794	17,379
Impairment and other							
charges	2,092		107,177	48,720	11,342	4,238	2,022
Operating profit/(loss)	21,788	26,113	(75,781)	(408)	38,824	71,924	58,472
Interest expense, net	12,188	8,282	10,815	10,950	11,840	11,264	10,602
Other							
expense/(income), net	107	72	40	73	139	7,890	(323)
Income/(loss) before							
income taxes	9,493	17,759	(86,636)	(11,431)	26,845	52,770	48,193
Provision for taxes	13,998	6,637	23,822	14,461	26,600	12,815	13,205
(Loss)/income from							
continuing operations							
before cumulative							
effect of a change in							
accounting principle	(4,505)	11,122	(110,458)	(25,892)	245	39,955	34,988
Loss from discontinued							
operations				(978)	(54,308)	(6,546)	(9,676)
Cumulative effect of a							
change in accounting							
principle	(228)						

Edgar Filing: CAMBREX CORP - Form PREM14A							
Net (loss)/income	(4,733)	11,122	(110,458)	(26,870)	(54,063)	33,409	25,312
			71				

. . . .

		Nine Mon						Veenal	[]	lad Daasu	b a w	. 91		
		Septem 2006 ⁽¹⁾		2005 ⁽²⁾		2005 ⁽³⁾		2004 ⁽⁴⁾	enc	led Decem 2003 ⁽⁵⁾		² 31, 2002 ⁽⁶⁾	2	2001 ⁽⁷⁾⁽⁸⁾
EARNINGS PER SHARE DATA: (Loss)/earnings per common share (basic): (Loss)/income from continuing operations before cumulative														
effect of a change in accounting principle	\$	(0.17)	\$	0.42	\$	(4.18)	\$	(0.99)	\$	0.01	\$	1.54	\$	1.36
Loss from discontinued operations Cumulative effect of a change in accounting	\$		\$		\$		\$	(0.04)	\$	(2.11)	\$	(0.25)	\$	(0.37)
principle Net (loss)/income (Loss)/earnings per common share (diluted): (Loss)/income from continuing operations before cumulative	\$ \$	(0.01) (0.18)	\$ \$	0.42	\$ \$	(4.18)	\$ \$	(1.03)	\$ \$	(2.10)	\$ \$	1.29	\$ \$	0.99
effect of a change in accounting principle	\$	(0.17)	\$	0.42	\$	(4.18)	\$	(0.99)	\$	0.01	\$	1.51	\$	1.32
Loss from discontinued operations Cumulative effect of a change in accounting	\$		\$		\$		\$	(0.04)	\$	(2.08)	\$	(0.25)	\$	(0.36)
principle Net (loss)/income Weighted average common share outstanding:	\$ \$	(0.01) (0.18)	\$ \$	0.42	\$ \$	(4.18)	\$ \$	(1.03)	\$ \$	(2.07)	\$ \$	1.26	\$ \$	0.96
Basic Diluted DIVIDENDS PER		26,718 26,718		26,389 26,550		26,456 26,456		26,094 26,094		25,775 26,174		25,954 26,520		25,648 26,495
COMMON SHARE BALANCE SHEET DATA: (at end of period)	\$	0.09	\$	0.09	\$	0.12	\$	0.12	\$	0.12	\$	0.12	\$	0.12
Working capital Total assets Long-term obligations	\$	134,661 622,111 181,723	\$	139,228 714,292 183,257	\$	137,380 612,472 186,819	\$	182,915 791,985 226,187	\$	138,458 778,503 212,369	\$	154,324 835,283 267,434	\$	159,224 818,375 312,524
Total stockholders equity		252,982		367,046		243,251		391,316		396,630		410,954		345,098

Table of Contents

- (1) Results include pre-tax charges for goodwill impairment of \$2,092 related to the Landen reporting unit of the Human Health segment, \$4,091 within administrative expenses for the costs related to the evaluation of strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value, \$1,664 within research and development expenses due to the acquisition of Cutanogen and \$5,272 within interest expense due to the pre-payment of a portion of the Company s long-term debt.
- (2) Results include pre-tax charges for an increase in an environmental reserve of \$1,300 recorded in operating expenses and a tax benefit due to a favorable Swedish court decision of \$3,329.
- (3) Results include pre-tax charges for goodwill impairment of \$76,385, long-lived asset impairment charge of \$30,792 and a tax benefit related to the long-lived asset impairment of \$1,673, recorded within the provision for income taxes in the Biopharma and Human Health segments. Results also include pre-tax charges for executive severance of \$4,223 and an increase in an environmental reserve of \$1,300 recorded in operating expenses and a tax benefit due to a favorable Swedish court decision of \$3,329 and an increase in valuation allowances against domestic deferred tax assets totaling \$16,926 within the provision for income taxes.
- (4) Results include a pre-tax charge of \$48,720 for goodwill impairment related to the Baltimore reporting unit of the Biopharma segment.

- (5) Results include a pre-tax charge of \$11,342 recorded in operating expenses for the settlement of certain class action lawsuits involving Mylan Laboratories and the establishment of valuation allowances against net domestic deferred tax assets totaling \$21,487 within the provision for income taxes.
- (6) Results include a pre-tax charge of \$4,238 for asset impairment and severance related to the closure of a small manufacturing facility and a \$7,344 pre-tax charge for investment impairments recorded in other expense.
- (7) Includes the results of Cambrex Bio Science Baltimore, Inc. from the date of acquisition effective June 2001 and the results of Cambrex Bio Science Hopkinton, Inc. from the date of acquisition effective October 2001.
- (8) Results include a pre-tax charge of \$2,022 related to the closure of a small manufacturing facility and \$2,000 for inventory write-offs in the Bioproducts segment.

3-Year and Interim Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements of Cambrex

The following unaudited pro forma financial statements give effect to the sale of our Bio Companies Business as well as our Cork and Landen Subsidiaries which were sold on October 27, 2006 for nominal consideration. The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet and statements of earnings filed with this report are presented for illustrative purposes only. The pro forma balance sheet as of September 30, 2006 has been prepared to reflect the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Bio Companies and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries as if such sales had taken place on September 30, 2006, and is not necessarily indicative of the financial position of the Company had such sales occurred on that date. The pro forma statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 and the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 have been prepared assuming that the transactions occurred on January 1, 2003, and are not necessarily indicative of the Bio Companies Business and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries as of the results that actually would have been realized had we sold the Bio Companies Business and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries as of that date. The pro forma financial statements, including the notes thereto, should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the unaudited financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 and the unaudited financial statements for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the unaudited financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2003 and the unaudited financial statements for the three and nine months ended December 30, 2006 and 2005 attached hereto as Appendix D.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet represents the September 30, 2006 balance sheet adjusted to reflect the sale of the Bio Companies Business, pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, as if such transaction had taken place on September 30, 2006:

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheet Pro forma As of September 30, 2006 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as Reported	Bio Companies Adjustments	Cork & Landen Adjustments	Other Adjustments	Pro Forma September 30, 2006
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents	34,458		(4,773)	253,300(a)(b)	282,985
Trade receivables, net	66,910	(35,794)	(4,344)	235,500(d)(b)	26,772
Inventories, net	110,840	(42,059)	(14,251)		54,530
Prepaid expenses and	-)	())			-)
other current assets	16,750	(2,952)	(705)		13,093
Total current assets	228,958	(80,805)	(24,073)	253,300	377,380
Property, plant and					
equipment, net	239,812	(83,706)	(27,947)		128,159
Goodwill	96,695	(66,113)			30,582
Other intangibles, net	50,232	(49,136)			1,096
Other assets	6,414	(1,733)			4,681
Total assets	622,111	(281,493)	(52,020)	253,300	541,898
Current liabilities					
Accounts payable	36,617	(12,663)	(5,312)	710(c)	19,352
Accrued liabilities and					
other current liabilities	57,680	(18,102)	(2,860)	(387)(b)	36,331
Total current liabilities	94,297	(30,765)	(8,172)	323	55,683
Long-term debt	181,723	(3,625)		(178,098)(b)	
Deferred tax liabilities	29,131	(622)			28,509
Other non-current					
liabilities	63,978	(4,771)	(8,574)	1,366(c)	51,999
Total liabilities	369,129	(39,783)	(16,746)	(176,409)	136,191
Common stock	2,920		x - x		2,920
Additional paid in capital	221,233				221,233
Retained earnings	55,030			155,684(d)	210,714
Invested Equity		(242,393)	(31,632)	274,025	
Treasury stock	(20,873)				(20,873)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(5,328)	683(f)	(3,642)(e)		(8,287)
Stockholders equity	252,982	(241,710)	(35,274)	429,709	405,707
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	622,111	(281,493)	(52,020)	253,300	541,898
		75			

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Income Statement Pro forma For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as	Bio Companies	Cork & Landen	Other	Pro Forma
	Reported	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	Reported
Gross sales Allowances and rebates	356,389 1,632	(157,169) (363)	(28,569) (371)		170,651 898
Net sales Other revenues	354,757 3,398	(156,806) (4,269)	(28,198) 36		169,753 (835)
Net revenues Cost of goods sold	358,155 231,260	(161,075) (98,226)	(28,162) (25,700)		168,918 107,334
Gross profit Operating expenses: Selling, general and	126,895	(62,849)	(2,462)		61,584
administrative expenses Research and development	86,407	(41,343)	(3,529)	1,600(g)	43,135
expenses Goodwill impairment	16,608 2,092	(7,845)	(703) (2,092)		8,060
Total operating expenses Operating profit Other expenses:	105,107 21,788	(49,188) (13,661)	(6,324) 3,862	1,600 (1,600)	51,195 10,389
Interest expenses, net Other expense, net	12,188 107	379 16	(57) 8	(12,745)(h)	(235) 131
Income before taxes Provision for income taxes	9,493 13,998	(14,056) (3,362)	3,911 1,029	11,145	10,493 11,665(i)
Loss before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	(4,505)	(10,694)	2,882	11,145	(1,172)
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) Loss before cumulative effect of a change in accounting	26,718				26,718
principle	(0.17) 26,718				(0.04) 26,718

Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted)			
Loss before cumulative effect of a change in accounting			
principle	(0.17)		(0.04)
		76	

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Income Statement Pro forma For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as	Bio Companies	Cork & Landen	Other	Pro Forma
	Reported	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	Reported
Gross sales	331,133	(141,385)	(27,565)		162,183
Allowances and rebates	3,696	(1,664)	(580)		1,452
Net sales	327,437	(139,721)	(26,985)		160,731
Other revenues	5,827	(3,765)	(155)		1,907
Net revenues	333,264	(143,486)	(27,140)		162,638
Cost of goods sold	212,910	(88,758)	(26,432)		97,720
Gross profit	120,354	(54,728)	(708)		64,918
Operating expenses: Selling, general and					
administrative expenses Research and development	77,640	(39,373)	(3,788)	4,700(g)	39,179
expenses	16,601	(7,332)	(633)		8,636
Total operating expenses	94,241	(46,705)	(4,421)	4,700	47,815
Operating profit Other expenses:	26,113	(8,023)	3,713	(4,700)	17,103
Interest expense, net	8,282	439	(9)	(9,290)(h)	(578)
Other expense, net	72	151	3		226
Income before taxes	17,759	(8,613)	3,719	4,590	17,455
Income taxes	6,637	(4,256)	1,112		3,493
Net Income	11,122	(4,357)	2,607	4,590	13,962
Weighted average shares					
outstanding (basic)	26,389				26,389
Net Income Weighted average shares	0.42				0.53
outstanding (diluted)	26,550				26,550
Net Income	0.42				0.53

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Income Statement Pro forma For the Year Ended December 31, 2005 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as	Bio Companies	Cork & Landen	Other	Pro Forma
	Reported	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	Reported
Gross sales	451,986	(191,198)	(37,225)		223,563
Allowances and rebates	3,437	(2,009)	(787)		641
Net sales	448,549	(189,189)	(36,438)		222,922
Other revenues	6,548	(5,071)	(189)		1,288
Net revenues	455,097	(194,260)	(36,627)		224,210
Cost of goods sold	293,760	(120,901)	(35,705)		137,154
Gross profit Operating expenses:	161,337	(73,359)	(922)		87,056
Selling, general and					
administrative expenses Research and development	107,610	(52,894)	(5,066)	6,300(g)	55,950
expenses	22,331	(9,524)	(861)		11,946
Asset impairments	107,177	(82,383)	(24,794)		
Total operating expenses	237,118	(144,801)	(30,721)	6,300	67,896
Operating (loss)/profit Other expenses:	(75,781)	71,442	29,799	(6,300)	19,160
Interest expense, net	10,815	585	(14)	(12,020)(h)	(634)
Other expense, net	40	158	3		201
Income before taxes	(86,636)	70,699	29,810	5,720	19,593
Provision for income taxes	23,822	(3,460)	2,591		22,953(i)
Net loss	(110,458)	74,159	27,219	5,720	(3,360)
Weighted average shares					
outstanding (basic)	26,456				26,456
Net loss Weighted average shares	(4.18)				(0.13)
outstanding (diluted)	26,456				26,456
Net loss	(4.18)				(0.13)

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Income Statement Pro forma For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as	Bio Companies	Cork & Landen	Other	Pro Forma
	Reported	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	Reported
Gross sales	439,115	(179,378)	(43,209)		216,528
Allowances and rebates	2,258	(739)	(701)		818
Net sales	436,857	(178,639)	(42,508)		215,710
Other revenues	6,800	(5,424)	(21)		1,355
Net revenues	443,657	(184,063)	(42,529)		217,065
Cost of goods sold	272,917	(104,830)	(35,694)		132,393
Gross profit	170,740	(79,233)	(6,835)		84,672
Operating expenses: Selling, general and					
administrative expenses	102,769	(49,440)	(5,634)	5,600(g)	53,295
Research and development expenses	19,659	(8,325)	(900)		10,434
Asset impairments	48,720	(48,720)			
Total operating expenses	171,148	(106,485)	(6,534)	5,600	63,729
Operating (loss)/profit Other expenses:	(408)	27,252	(301)	(5,600)	20,943
Interest expense, net	10,950	411	(277)	(7,622)(h)	3,462
Other expense, net	73	224	39		336
(Loss)/income from continuing					
operations before taxes	(11,431)	26,617	(63)	2,022	17,145
Provision for income taxes	14,461	(3,563)	152		11,050(i)
(Loss)/income from continuing					
operations	(25,892)	30,180	(215)	2,022	6,095
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic)	26,094				26,094
(Loss)/income from continuing operations	(0.99)				0.23
Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted)	26,094				26,462

(Loss)/income from continuing		
operations	(0.99)	0.23
-		

Cambrex Corporation

Consolidated Income Statement Pro forma For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 (Unaudited)

	Cambrex as	Bio Companies	Cork & Landen	Other	Pro Forma
	Reported	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	Reported
Gross sales Allowances and rebates	405,591 3,780	(163,447) (3,129)	(38,700) (732)		203,444 (81)
Net sales Other revenues	401,811 8,833	(160,318) (5,464)	(37,968) 56		203,525 3,425
Net revenues Cost of goods sold	410,644 248,238	(165,782) (94,264)	(37,912) (30,848)		206,950 123,126
Gross profit Operating expenses: Selling, general and	162,406	(71,518)	(7,064)		83,824
administrative expenses Research and development	95,117	(44,699)	(3,755)	5,700(g)	52,363
expenses Asset impairments	17,123	(7,230)	(876)		9,017
Legal settlement	11,342				11,342
Total operating expenses	123,582	(51,929)	(4,631)	5,700	72,722
Operating profit Other expenses:	38,824	(19,589)	(2,433)	(5,700)	11,102
Interest expense, net	11,840	265	(197)	(9,698)(h)	2,210
Other expense, net	139	(102)	(27)		10
Income from continuing operations before taxes Provisions for income taxes	26,845 26,600	(19,752) (1,664)	(2,209) (571)	3,998	8,882 24,365(i)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations	245	(18,088)	(1,638)	3,998	(15,483)
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) Income/(loss) from continuing	25,775				25,775
operations	0.01 26,174				(0.60) 25,775

Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted)		
Income/(loss) from continuing		
operations	0.01	(0.60)

(a) Reflects proceeds to be received at the closing of the sale of the Bio Companies Business of \$460,000 reduced by approximately \$31,000 of costs (\$20,000 for Change in Control costs associated with certain senior executives, \$5,000 for investment banker fees, \$4,000 of legal and accounting fees, \$1,000 of employee retention bonuses and \$1,000 for taxes on the gain on sale associated with the disposition of the Bio Companies Business), as well as \$800 of transaction costs associated with the disposition of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries.

- (b) The net proceeds are further reduced by the assumed repayment of all outstanding debt of \$178,485 partially offset by \$4,138 of cash retained by Cambrex in the disposition of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries.
- (c) Reflects a legal liability of Landen retained by Cambrex in the disposition of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries.
- (d) Reflects the estimated gain on the sale of the Bio Companies Business of approximately \$186,000 offset by the estimated loss on the disposition of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries of \$30,000. The estimated tax provision on the pre-tax gain on the Bio Companies Business reflects the utilization of a substantial portion of Cambrex s available domestic net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards. The estimate is dependent on, among other things, a final allocation of sales proceeds among domestic and foreign components of the Bio Companies Business, which cannot be determined with certainty at this time. The finalization of the allocation of sales proceeds and other estimates could result in different tax consequences.
- (e) Cork s additional minimum pension liability transferred to the buyer of the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries (ICIG) (\$2,856) and cumulative translation adjustment (CTA) recorded on the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries books of (\$-6,498).
- (f) The Bio Companies additional minimum pension liability transferred to Lonza (\$2,469) partially offset by CTA recorded on the Bio Companies books of (\$-1,786).
- (g) Reflects corporate allocations originally charged to the Bio Companies and the Cork and Landen Subsidiaries that would remain an expense of Cambrex upon divestiture.
- (h) For the year ended December 31, 2005 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, interest expense has been eliminated as if all debt had been repaid upon receipt of the Bio Companies proceeds at the beginning of the period. For 2004 and 2003, interest expense has been eliminated from continuing operations and allocated to discontinued operations based upon: (1) debt required to be repaid upon consummation of the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement and (2) an allocation based upon pro-rata net assets consistent with EITF 87-24 Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations.
- (i) For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, reflects principally foreign and state income taxes directly related to the Bio Companies. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the pro forma tax provision adjustment also reflects a tax benefit for domestic losses in pro forma continuing operations to the extent of the tax provision on the Bio Companies domestic pre-tax income reclassified to discontinued operations.

⁸¹

3-Year and Interim Unaudited Financial Statements of the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma Business

	Page Number
Combined Financial Statements of the Bio Companies for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005	
Combined Balance Sheets of the Bio Companies as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 Combined Statements of Income of the Bio Companies for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006	83
and 2005	84
Combined Statements of Cash Flows of the Bio Companies for the Nine Months Ended September 30,	
2006 and 2005	85
Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements of the Bio Companies	86
Combined Financial Statements of the Bio Companies for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	
Combined Balance Sheets of the Bio Companies as of December 31, 2005 and 2004	95
Combined Statements of Income of the Bio Companies for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and	
2003	96
Combined Statements of Changes in Invested Equity and Comprehensive Income of the Bio Companies	
for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	97
Combined Statements of Cash Flows of the Bio Companies for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004	
and 2003	98
Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements of the Bio Companies	99

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

	-			ember 31, 2005 sands)
ASSETS				
Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents	\$	12,329	\$	12,973
Trade receivables, net Inventories, net		35,794 41,851		35,713 38,754
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		2,840		3,169
Total current assets		92,814		90,609
Property, plant and equipment, net		83,642		81,106
Goodwill		65,091		64,483
Other intangible assets, net		50,168		51,079
Other assets		1,730		1,793
Total assets	\$	293,445	\$	289,070
LIABILITIES AND INVESTED EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$	12,663	\$	16,029
Accrued expense and other current liabilities		19,401		22,687
Current portion of long-term debt		1,430		1,447
Total current liabilities		33,494		40,163
Loans with affiliates		27,637		24,925
Long-term debt		3,625		4,759
Deferred tax liabilities		16,265		15,799
Other non-current liabilities		4,944		4,893

Other non-current liabilities	4,944	4,893
Total liabilities Commitments and contingencies (see Note 13) Invested equity:	85,965	90,539
Owner s net investment Accumulated other comprehensive income	206,258 1,222	197,695 836
Total invested equity	207,480	198,531
Total liabilities and invested equity	\$ 293,445	\$ 289,070

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 2005 (Dollars in thousands)						
Gross sales	\$ 1	57,208	\$	141,245			
Allowances and rebates		365		1,666			
Net sales	1	56,843		139,579			
Other revenues		4,269		3,765			
Net revenues	1	61,112		143,344			
Cost of goods sold		02,637		91,230			
Gross profit		58,475		52,114			
Selling, general and administrative expenses		46,554		42,145			
Research and development expenses		7,856		7,062			
Operating profit Other expenses/(income)		4,065		2,907			
Related party interest expense		1,468		840			
Interest income		(402)		(440)			
Other net		(17)		(151)			
Income before income taxes		3,016		2,658			
Provision for income taxes		3,201		2,832			
Net loss	\$	(185)	\$	(174)			

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	Nine Months E September 3 2006 2 (Dollars in thous			
Cash flows from operating activities: Net loss Depreciation and amortization Deferred income tax provision Allowance for doubtful accounts Inventory reserve Loss on sale of assets Changes in assets and liabilities: Trade receivables Inventories Prepaid expenses and other current assets Accounts payable and other current liabilities Other non-current assets and liabilities	(185) 9,308 435 409 2,140 23 142 (4,595) 424 (7,259) (642)	\$ (174) 9,335 1,021 2,481 144 (3,342) (7,879) (1,198) 557 28		
Net cash provided from operating activities	200	973		
Cash flows from investing activities: Capital expenditures Other investing activities	(9,787) (99)	(11,667) (2,605)		
Net cash used in investing activities Cash flows from financing activities: Long-term debt activity (including current portion):	(9,886)	(14,272)		
Borrowings Repayments Transfers from Cambrex Corporation	2,302 (2,789) 8,748	12,363 (1,185) 203		
Net cash provided by financing activities	8,261	11,381		
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	781	(1,381)		
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	(644) 12,973	(3,299) 13,816		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$ 12,329	\$ 10,517		

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(1) Basis of Presentation

Cambrex Bio Companies (the Business or Bio Companies), a combination of two business units of Cambrex Corporation (Cambrex). The Bioproducts business unit offers research products and therapeutic applications in four markets of the life sciences industry; research products, biotherapeutic media and sera, rapid microbial detection and bio sciences. The Biopharma business unit offers biopharmaceutical process development and manufacturing. The key manufacturing operations are located in the U.S. and Europe.

The combined financial statements of the Business as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and for the nine months then ended, have been prepared from the financial statements and accounting records of Cambrex. The financial statements were prepared using Cambrex s historical basis in the assets and liabilities of the Business. The combined financial statements include all revenues, costs, assets and liabilities directly attributable to the Business as well as allocations deemed reasonable by management to present the combined financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Business on a stand-alone basis. Allocation of costs for facilities, functions and certain services performed by Cambrex for the Business (including internal audit, administration of benefit and insurance programs and certain tax, legal, accounting, treasury and executive functions) have been made on the basis described below. All of the Business and estimates in the combined financial statements are based on assumptions that the management of the Business and Cambrex believe are reasonable in the circumstances. The Business financial information included herein is not necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Business in the curve of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Business in the future or indicative of the results that would have been reported if the Business had operated as an unaffiliated enterprise.

The results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

The following allocations of corporate overhead expenses have been presented in the Combined Statements of Income:

		nths Ended nber 30,
	2006	2005
Cost of goods sold Selling, general and administrative expenses Research and development expenses	\$ 10,118 9,760 349	\$ 8,575 7,725 337
Total	\$ 20,227	\$ 16,637

General corporate overhead was allocated by Cambrex based on a combination of the (i) the Business sales as a percent of Cambrex s total sales and (ii) the ratio of the number of the Business employees to the total number of Cambrex s employees. Management believes the costs of these services allocated to the Business are based on

assumptions that are a reasonable reflection of the costs attributable to the Business that have been incurred by Cambrex; however, the allocated costs may differ from those that would result from transactions with unrelated parties. The amount allocated to cost of goods sold includes an estimate of certain of the Business employee related costs (pension, worker s compensation, employee medical, etc.), insurance and management information systems that are administered by Cambrex.

Treasury management functions are performed by Cambrex. The Company s domestic cash balances are swept into a Cambrex bank account, where they are managed and invested. Net transfers of cash to and from the Business are reflected as a component of invested equity. The foreign operations maintain their own cash balances and debt. No debt has been allocated to the Business from Cambrex.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data) (2) Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions. This Interpretation requires that the Business recognize in the consolidated financial statements the impact of a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 will be effective for the Business at the beginning of the Business 2007 fiscal year, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 157 Fair Value Measurements (FAS 157). This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement will apply whenever another standard requires (or permits) assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. The standard does not expand the use of fair value to any new circumstances. FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years.

Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) (FAS 158) which is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006. FAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or liability in the balance sheet and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. This statement does not impact the amounts recognized in the income statement. FAS 158 will also require an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of the fiscal year end balance sheet. This measurement requirement is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. Adoption of this statement will not have a material impact to our results of operations and financial position.

(3) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 are as follows:

	products egment	-	pharma gment	Total
Balance as of December 31, 2005 Translation effect	\$ 55,620 608	\$	8,863	\$ 64,483 608

Table of Contents

Balance as of September 30, 2006	\$	56,228	\$	8,863	\$ 65,091
----------------------------------	----	--------	----	-------	-----------

Other intangible assets that are not subject to amortization consist of the following:

	As of September 30, 2006				
Trademarks Proprietary process	\$	33,898 2,052	\$	33,898 2,052	
Total	\$	35,950	\$	35,950	

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets, which will continue to be amortized, consist of the following:

	As of September 30, 2006					
	(Gross				
	Carrying Amount		Accumulated Amortization		Net Carrying Amount	
Product technology	\$	12,727	\$	(4,940)	\$	7,787
Patents		5,506		(1,988)		3,518
Supply agreements		2,110		(1,488)		622
License agreement		1,984		(533)		1,451
Other		2,142		(1,302)		840
Total	\$	24,469	\$	(10,251)	\$	14,218

	As of December 31, 2005					
	(Gross				
	Carrying Amount			nulated tization	Net Carrying Amount	
Product technology	\$	12,157		(4,177)	\$	7,980
Patents		5,264		(1,677)		3,587
Supply agreements		2,110		(1,152)		958
License agreement		1,985		(481)		1,504
Other		1,974		(874)		1,100
Total	\$	23,490	\$	(8,361)	\$	15,129

Amortization expense amounted to \$1,626 and \$1,506 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The expected future amortization expense related to current intangible assets is as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2006	\$ 1,973
For the year ended December 31, 2007	\$ 1,939
For the year ended December 31, 2008	\$ 1,832

Table of Contents

For the year ended December 31, 2009	\$ 1,548
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 1,356

(4) Net Inventories

Net inventories consist of the following:

	Sep	As of tember 30, 2006	As of ember 31, 2005
Finished goods Work in process Raw materials Supplies	\$	22,519 8,145 11,106 81	\$ 20,958 8,295 9,423 78
Total	\$	41,851	\$ 38,754

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(5) Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was 106.1% and 106.5%, respectively. The tax provision in the first nine months ended September 30, 2006 increased to \$3,201 compared to \$2,832 in the first nine months of 2005. The effective tax rates for each of these respective periods reflect the result of the Company not recording tax benefits related to losses in jurisdictions where it is more likely than not that the Company will be unable to realize those tax benefits in the future.

(6) Loans with Affiliates

The Business had outstanding six loans payable and two loans receivable as of September 30, 2006 and six loans payable as of December 31, 2005 to affiliates, respectively. The interest rates range from 3.86% to 9.33% on the loans payable as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005. The loans receivable have an interest rate of 3.77%. The Business records currency fluctuations as translation adjustments within the equity section of the balance sheet as these loans are permanent in nature and are not intended to be settled.

The Business utilizes a (receivable)/payable account to record certain intercompany transactions. The average monthly net (receivable)/payable balance was (\$35,079) and \$5,402 with Cambrex Corporate for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and year ended December 31, 2005, respectively.

(7) Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 consists of the following:

	Septe	As of mber 30, 2006	Dece	As of mber 31, 2005
Capitalized leases Notes payable	\$	4,823 232	\$	5,915 291
Subtotal Less: current portion		5,055 1,430		6,206 1,447
Total	\$	3,625	\$	4,759

(8) Comprehensive Income

The following table shows the components of comprehensive income/(loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	2006	2005
Net loss	\$ (185)	\$ (174)
Foreign currency translation	989	(2,637)
Unrealized (loss)/gain on hedging contracts, net of tax	(79)	544
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax	(524)	(81)
Comprehensive income/(loss)	\$ 201	\$ (2,348)

(9) Retirement Plans

Domestic Pension Plans

Cambrex maintains a pension plan which covers certain eligible employees of the Business. Generally, all employees hired after December 31, 2002 are not eligible for these benefits. Benefits are based on salary and years

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

of service. Cambrex s policy is to fund pension costs currently to the full extent required by the Internal Revenue Code. Pension plan assets consist primarily of balanced fund investments.

The Business accounts for its employees participation in the plan as a multi-employer plan. Cambrex allocated pension expense of approximately \$1,602 and \$1,134 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, to the Business. The Business does not contribute to the plan, and as such, does not have a liability on its books related to contribution payables for this plan as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

The Business has a legacy Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) that covers certain ex-employees. The components of net periodic benefit cost for the SERP plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

	2006	2005
Components of net periodic benefit cost		
Interest cost	\$ 150	\$ 143
Transition amount amortization	79	76
Recognized actuarial loss	34	26
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 263	\$ 245

International Pension Plans

A foreign subsidiary of the Business maintains a pension plan for its employees. The components of the net periodic pension cost for the international plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

	2006	2005
Components of net periodic pension cost		
Service cost	96	127
Interest cost	30	27
Expected return on plan assets	(21)	(50)
Actuarial loss		
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 105	\$ 104

(10) Other Postretirement Benefits

Cambrex provides postretirement health and life insurance benefits (postretirement benefits) to all eligible retired employees, including those of the Business. Employees who retire at or after age 55 with ten years of service are eligible to participate in the postretirement benefit plans. The Business s responsibility for such premiums for each plan participant is based upon years of service subject to an annual maximum of one thousand dollars. Such plans are self-insured and are not funded. Certain subsidiaries and all employees hired after December 31, 2002 (excluding those covered by collective bargaining) are not eligible for these benefits.

The Business accounts for its employees participation in the plan as a multi-employer plan. The Business did not record any net periodic benefit costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. The Business does not contribute to the plan, and as such, does not have a liability on its books related to contribution payables for this plan as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005.

(11) Segment Information

The Business classifies its business units into two segments: Bioproducts, consisting of research products and other therapeutic application products and Biopharma, consisting of contract biopharmaceutical process development and manufacturing services.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Information as to the operations of the Business in each of its segments is set forth below based on the nature of the products and services offered. The Business evaluates performance based on gross profit and operating profit. Intersegment sales are not material.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total combined gross sales.

The following is a summary of business segment information:

	Nine Mont Septem 2006	
Gross Sales Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 121,779 35,429	\$ 113,498 27,747
	\$ 157,208	\$ 141,245
	2006	2005
Gross Profit Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 59,510 (1,035)	\$ 56,820 (4,706)
	\$ 58,475	\$ 52,114
	2006	2005
Operating Profit	¢ 12.500	ф 15 15 2
Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 13,590 (9,525)	\$ 15,153 (12,246)
	\$ 4,065	\$ 2,907
	2006	2005

Capital Expenditures		
Bioproducts	\$ 6,443	\$ 7,946
Biopharma	3,344	3,721
	\$ 9,787	\$ 11,667
	2006	2005
Depreciation	• • • • • • • •	• • • • • •
Bioproducts	\$ 4,931	\$ 4,410
Biopharma	2,751	3,419
	\$ 7,682	

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Nine Mont Septem	
	2006	2005
Amortization Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 1,431 195	\$ 1,241 265
	\$ 1,626	\$ 1,506

	Ser	September 30, 2006		
Total Assets				
Bioproducts	\$	236,971	\$	230,417
Biopharma		56,474		58,653
	\$	293,445	\$	289,070

(12) Stock Based Compensation

Employees of the Business participate in stock-based employee compensation plans administered by Cambrex. The Business adopted FAS 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective transition method. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Business accounted for those plans under the recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*. The first nine months of 2006 do not include compensation cost for options granted prior to January 1, 2006 as all options outstanding prior to January 1, 2006 were fully vested as of December 31, 2005.

Beginning January 1, 2006, the Business recognizes compensation costs for stock option awards to employees based on their grant-date fair value. The value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average fair value per share for the stock options granted to employees during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was \$8.12.

Stock option values were estimated using a 0.55% to 0.56% dividend yield, expected volatility of 37.54% to 38.11% and a risk-free interest rate of 4.42% to 4.96%. Cambrex s stock options are not publicly traded, therefore, expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of Cambrex s stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond whose maturity period approximates the option s expected term. The expected term of 4.75 years was utilized based on Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, *Share-Based Payment* simplified method for determining the expected term of stock options. Assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock options granted in the first nine months of 2006 are consistent with the assumptions used prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R) with the

exception of the expected life. As a result of using the simplified method, the expected life was shortened by 1.25 years.

FAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the expected forfeitures for all unvested awards and record compensation costs only for those awards that are expected to vest. As of September 30, 2006, the total compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards granted to employees but not yet recognized was \$553. The cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 3.8 years.

The amount of stock based compensation costs related to stock options recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was \$28.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Bio Companies senior executives participate in a long-term incentive plan, administered by Cambrex, which rewards achievement of long-term strategic goals with restricted stock units. Awards are made annually to key executives and vest in one-third increments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant. On the third anniversary of the grant, restrictions on sale or transfer are removed and shares are issued to executives. In the event of termination of employment or retirement, the participant is entitled to the vested portion of the restricted stock units and forfeits the remaining amount; the three-year sale and transfer restriction remains in place. In the event of death or permanent disability, all shares vest and the deferred sales restriction lapses. These awards are classified as equity awards as defined in FAS 123(R). Historically, only senior executives participated in this plan. As of January 1, 2006, certain other employees are eligible to receive restricted stock as part of a redesigned stock-based compensation plan. These awards cliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Business recorded \$81 and \$8, respectively, in compensation expense for this plan. As of September 30, 2006, the total compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock granted but not yet recognized was \$2,230. The cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period.

The following table is a summary of the Company s stock option activity issued to employees and related information:

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price \$
Outstanding at December 31, 2005	511,200	24.22
Granted Exercised Cancelled	70,825 (4,688) (66,372)	21.38 18.72 31.97
Outstanding at September 30, 2006	510,965	22.76
Exercisable at September 30, 2006	441,400	

The aggregate intrinsic value for all stock options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$6 and \$3, respectively.

A summary of the Company s nonvested restricted stock as of September 30, 2006 and changes during the nine months ended September 30, 2006 is presented below:

	Number of Shares	Weigh Average (Date Fair	Grant-
Nonvested at January 1, 2006	2,619	\$	24.53

Table of Contents

Granted Vested during period Forfeited	32,296 (391)	\$ \$ \$	21.42 25.56
Nonvested at September 30, 2006	34,524	\$	21.57

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 as amended by FAS 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, to stock-based employee compensation for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and amortized ratably to expense over the option s vesting periods.

Net loss as reported	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005			
Net loss, as reported Add: stock based compensation expense included in reported net loss Deduct: stock-based compensation expenses determined using fair value method	\$	(174) 8 2,739		
Proforma net loss	\$	(2,905)		

(13) Commitments and Contingencies

Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville has been identified as a de minimis responsible party at the Spectron/Galaxy Superfund site in Maryland (the Site), and is alleged to have sent a small quantity of waste to the Site. In 2001, the Company was advised that it would not be offered settlement due to the small quantity of waste allegedly disposed of at the Site, except in the event of a threat of, or an actual suit by, other potentially responsible parties. The Company has not recorded any reserve for this matter due to its negligible involvement with the site.

The Business is party to various legal proceedings arising in the normal conduct of business. Management believes the final outcome of these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Business financial condition, operating results and cash flow when resolved in a future reporting period.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited)

Deceml	oer 31,
2005	2004
(Dollars in t	thousands)

ASSETS

Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	12,973	\$	13,816
Trade receivables, less allowances of \$2,250 and \$1,700 at respective dates		35,713		28,809
Inventories, net		38,754		33,958
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		3,169		4,368
Total current assets		90,609		80,951
Property, plant and equipment, net		81,106		89,299
Goodwill		64,483		130,902
Other intangible assets, net		51,079		53,727
Other assets		1,793		2,105
	+		+	
Total assets	\$	289,070	\$	356,984

LIABILITIES AND INVESTED EQUITY

Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 16,029	\$ 14,578
Accrued expense and other current liabilities	22,687	17,982
Current portion of long term debt	1,447	1,400
Total current liabilities	40,163	33,960
Loans with affiliates	24,925	14,614
Long-term debt	4,759	6,188
Deferred tax liabilities	15,799	902
Other non-current liabilities	4,893	4,618
Total liabilities	90,539	60,282
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 17)		
Invested equity:		
Owner s net investment	197,695	292,437
Accumulated other comprehensive income	836	4,265
Total invested equity	198,531	296,702
Total liabilities and invested equity	\$ 289,070	\$ 356,984

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Unaudited)

		Years Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003 (Dollars in thousands)				,
Gross sales Allowances and rebates	\$	191,073 2,010	\$	179,491 740	\$	163,557 3,128
Net sales Other revenues		189,063 5,070		178,751 5,423		160,429 5,463
Net revenues Cost of goods sold		194,133 124,050		184,174 107,810		165,892 99,807
Gross profit Selling, general and administrative expenses Research and development expenses Asset impairments		70,083 59,171 9,134 82,383		76,364 54,741 7,911 48,720		66,085 51,294 7,489
Operating (loss)/ profit Other expenses/(income) Related party interest expense Interest income Other net		(80,605) 991 (586) (159)		(35,008) 549 (402) (228)		7,302 749 (263) 94
(Loss)/income before income taxes Provision/(benefit) for income taxes	¢	(80,851) 19,709	¢	(34,927) (8,370)	¢	6,722 2,145
Net (loss)/income	\$	(100,560)	\$	(26,557)	\$	4,577

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN INVESTED EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

	Years Ended December 31,				1,	
		2005		2004		2003
		(Dol	lars	in thousan	ds)	
OWNER S NET INVESTMENT:						
Beginning balance	\$	292,437	\$	315,951	\$	318,712
Net (loss)/income		(100,560)		(26,557)		4,577
Net transfers to/(from) Cambrex Corporation		5,818		3,043		(7,338)
Ending balance	\$	197,695	\$	292,437	\$	315,951
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:						
Beginning balance	\$	4,265	\$	1,295	\$	(975)
Foreign currency translation		(3,431)		3,024		2,950
Unrealized gain/(loss) on hedging contracts, net of tax		377		68		(530)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax		(195)				
Minimum pension liability, net of tax		(180)		(122)		(150)
Ending balance		836		4,265		1,295
TOTAL INVESTED EQUITY	\$	198,531	\$	296,702	\$	317,246
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:						
Net (loss)/ income	\$	(100,560)	\$	(26,557)	\$	4,577
Foreign currency translation		(3,431)		3,024		2,950
Unrealized gains/(loss) on hedging contracts, net of tax		377		68		(530)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of tax		(195)				
Minimum pension liability, net of tax		(180)		(122)		(150)
Comprehensive (loss)/ income	\$	(103,989)	\$	(23,587)	\$	6,847

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

	Years Ended December 31,				
	2005 (Dol	2004 lars in thousan	2003 ds)		
		iais in thousan	us)		
Cash flows from operating activities:					
Net (loss)/income	\$ (100,560)	\$ (26,557)	\$ 4,577		
Depreciation and amortization	12,870	10,854	9,305		
Deferred income tax provision	16,028	(12,198)	329		
Asset impairment charges	82,383	48,720			
Allowance for doubtful accounts	1,681	(382)	1,620		
Inventory reserve	1,205	2,446	500		
Loss on sale of assets	906	406	632		
Changes in assets and liabilities:					
Trade receivables	(9,853)	(2,507)	1,867		
Inventories	(7,381)	(6,048)	1,242		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	1,441	2,734	(2,140)		
Accounts payable and other current liabilities	7,152	9,634	686		
Other non-current assets and liabilities	(2,039)	(2,678)	18,519		
Net cash provided from operating activities	3,833	24,424	37,137		
Cash flows from investing activities:					
Capital expenditures	(17,928)	(19,768)	(20,796)		
Acquisition of businesses (net of cash acquired)	(814)	(5,256)			
Acquisition of trademarks and product technology	(1,549)	(1,361)	(2,309)		
Other investing activities	(7)	197	(88)		
Net cash used in investing activities	(20,298)	(26,188)	(23,193)		
Cash flows from financing activities:					
Long-term debt activity (including current portion):	10.1(0	6 501			
Borrowings	13,163	6,581	(7.427)		
Repayments	(1,673)	(1,375)	(7,437)		
Transfers from/(to) Cambrex Corporation	5,818	3,043	(7,338)		
Net cash provided/(used in) by financing activities	17,308	8,249	(14,775)		
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(1,686)	917	885		
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents	(843)	7,402	54		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	13,816	6,414	6,360		

Edgar Filing: CAMBREX CORP - Form PREM14A						
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$	12,973	\$	13,816	\$	6,414

See accompanying notes to combined financial statements.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(1) Basis of Presentation

Cambrex Bio Companies (the Business or Bio Companies) is a combination of two business units of Cambrex Corporation (Cambrex). The Bioproducts business unit offers research products and therapeutic applications in four markets of the life sciences industry; research products, biotherapeutic media and sera, rapid microbial detection and bio sciences. The Biopharma business unit offers biopharmaceutical process development and manufacturing. The key manufacturing operations are located in the U.S. and Europe.

The combined financial statements of the Business as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and for the years then ended, have been prepared from the financial statements and accounting records of Cambrex. The financial statements were prepared using Cambrex s historical basis in the assets and liabilities of the Business. The combined financial statements include all revenues, costs, assets and liabilities directly attributable to the Business as well as allocations deemed reasonable by management to present the combined financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Business on a stand-alone basis. Allocation of costs for facilities, functions and certain services performed by Cambrex for the Business (including internal audit, administration of benefit and insurance programs and certain tax, legal, accounting, treasury and executive functions) have been made on the basis described below. All of the Business and estimates in the combined financial statements are based on assumptions that the management of the Business and Cambrex believe are reasonable in the circumstances. The Business financial information included herein is not necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Business in the future or indicative of the results that would have been reported if the Business had operated as an unaffiliated enterprise.

The following allocations of corporate overhead expenses have been presented in the Combined Statements of Income:

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2005	2004	2003				
Cost of goods sold	\$ 11,369	\$ 10,584	\$ 8,305				
Selling, general and administrative expenses	12,415	12,017	10,995				
Research and development expenses	368	700	730				
Total	\$ 24,152	\$ 23,301	\$ 20,030				

General corporate overhead was allocated by Cambrex based on a combination of the (i) the Business sales as a percent of Cambrex s total sales and (ii) the ratio of the number of the Business employees to the total number of Cambrex s employees. Management believes the costs of these services allocated to the Business are based on assumptions that are a reasonable reflection of the costs attributable to the Business that have been incurred by Cambrex; however, the allocated costs may differ from those that would result from transactions with unrelated parties. The amount allocated to cost of goods sold includes an estimate of certain of the Business employee related costs (pension, worker s compensation, employee medical, etc.), insurance and management information systems that

Table of Contents

are administered by Cambrex.

Treasury management functions are performed by Cambrex. The Company s domestic cash balances are swept into a Cambrex bank account, where they are managed and invested. Net transfers of cash to and from the Business are reflected as a component of invested equity. The foreign operations maintain their own cash balances and debt. No debt has been allocated to the Business from Cambrex.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The combined financial statements include the accounts of the Business and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The preparation of combined financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Temporary cash investments with an original maturity of less than three months are considered cash equivalents. The carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Derivative Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Business primarily for hedging purposes to mitigate a variety of working capital risks. The use and mix of hedging instruments can vary depending on business and economic conditions and management s risk assessments. The Business uses foreign currency forward contracts to minimize or eliminate foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with foreign currency transactions. The foreign currency forward contracts are with third party financial institutions and other Cambrex affiliates. Gains and losses on these hedging transactions are generally recorded in earnings in the same period as they are realized, which is usually the same period as the settlement of the underlying transactions.

The Business formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedging relationships. All cash flow hedges are linked to transactions and the Business assesses effectiveness at inception and on a quarterly basis. If it is determined that a derivative instrument is not highly effective or the transaction is no longer deemed probable of occurring, the Business discontinues hedge accounting.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, which approximates a first-in, first-out basis, or market. The determination of market value involves assessment of numerous factors, including costs to dispose of inventory and estimated selling prices. Reserves are recorded to reduce carrying value for inventory determined to be damaged, obsolete or otherwise unsaleable.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives for each applicable asset group as follows:

Buildings and improvements Machinery and equipment Furniture and fixtures Computer hardware and software 20 to 30 years, or term of lease if applicable 7 to 15 years 5 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

Expenditures for additions, major renewals or betterments are capitalized and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to income as incurred.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction and acquisition of assets. Capitalized interest of \$424, \$318 and \$241 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, is recorded as part of the cost of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset s estimated useful life.

Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis as follows:

Patents Product technology Non-compete agreements Trademarks and other

Amortized over the remaining life of individual patents 5 to 18 years 5 years up to 40 years

Impairment of Goodwill

The Business reviews the carrying value of goodwill, to determine whether impairment may exist on an annual basis or whenever it has reason to believe goodwill may not be recoverable. The annual impairment test of goodwill is performed during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-step process. The first step of the goodwill impairment test is used to identify potential impairment by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit, determined using various valuation techniques, with the primary technique being a discounted cash flow analysis, to its carrying value. A discounted cash flow analysis requires one to make various judgmental assumptions including assumptions about cash flows, growth rates and discount rates. The assumptions about future cash flows and growth rates are based on the Business budget and long-term plans. Discount rate assumptions are based on market participant comparables. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination. That is, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value of the reporting unit was the purchase price paid to acquire the reporting unit.

The impairment test for other intangible assets not subject to amortization consists of a comparison of the fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. See note 5 for information relating to the impairment charge recorded.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Table of Contents

The Business assesses the impairment of its long-lived assets, including amortizable intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment, whenever economic events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. Long lived assets are considered to be impaired when the sum of the undiscounted expected future operating cash flows is less than the carrying amounts of the related assets. If impaired, the assets are written down to fair market value. See note 7 for information relating to the impairment charge recorded.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Invested Equity

Invested equity consists of capital contributed by Cambrex, net borrowings and repayments to or from Cambrex, the earnings of the Business and accumulated other comprehensive income.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are generally recognized when title to products and risk of loss are transferred to customers. Certain contracts are based on time and materials and revenue for these contracts is recognized as services are performed. Additional conditions for recognition of revenue are that collection of sales proceeds is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance obligations.

The Company has certain contracts that contain multiple deliverables. These deliverables often include process development services and commercial production and are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria are met, including whether the delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer and whether there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered items. The consideration we receive is allocated among the separate units based on their respective fair values, and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units.

For contracts that contain milestone-based payments, the Company recognizes revenue using the proportional performance method based on the percentage of actual costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs to complete the contract. The methodology applied by the Company utilizes an input based measure, specifically labor costs, because the Company believes the use of an input measure is a reasonable surrogate for proportional performance within its milestone arrangements. Revenue recognition computed under this methodology is compared to the amount of non refundable cash payments received or contractually receivable at the reporting date and the lesser of the two amounts is recognized as revenue at each reporting date.

Amounts billed in advance are recorded as deferred revenue on the balance sheet. Since payments received are non-refundable, the termination of a contract by a customer prior to its completion could result in an immediate recognition of deferred revenue relating to payments already received not previously recognized as revenue.

Sales terms to certain customers include remittance of discounts if certain conditions are met. Additionally, sales are generally made with a limited right of return under certain conditions. The Company estimates these rebates and estimated returns at the time of sale based on the terms of agreements with customers and historical experience and recognizes revenue net of these estimated costs which are classified as allowances and rebates.

Income Taxes

The domestic legal entities of the Business are included in the consolidated U.S. federal income tax return of Cambrex. The provision for income taxes has been prepared as if a separate consolidated U.S. federal income tax return had been filed by the Business for its domestic operations. Foreign entities of the Business file separate returns in each jurisdiction, except in those jurisdictions that allow consolidated return filing. The provision for foreign taxes has been prepared on that same basis. Deferred income taxes have been provided on the differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the statutory rates expected to be in effect when such differences reverse. A

valuation allowance has been provided on the tax benefits otherwise associated with certain tax attributes if it is considered more likely than not that the benefits will not be realized.

Cambrex intends to indefinitely reinvest the un-remitted earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries, and as such, U.S. taxes have not been provided on the un-remitted earnings. The earnings are intended to support business expansion, either through acquisition of new businesses or investments in the existing businesses.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Business foreign subsidiaries is the applicable local currency. The translation of the applicable foreign currencies into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts and cash flows using average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Adjustments resulting from the translation of foreign currency financial statements are accumulated in a separate component of stockholders equity until the entity is sold or substantially liquidated. Gains or losses relating to transactions of a long-term investment nature are accumulated in stockholders equity. Foreign currency net transaction losses were \$194, \$146 and \$362 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include materials, equipment, and facilities that have no alternative future use, depreciation on equipment and facilities currently used for research and development, personnel costs, contract services and reasonable allocations of indirect costs, if clearly related to research and development activity. Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Freight Billing and Costs

The Business bills a portion of freight cost incurred on shipments to customers. Freight costs are reflected in cost of goods sold and amounts billed to customers are recorded within net revenues. These amounts are not material to the Business operating results.

Stock Based Compensation

Employees within the Business participate in stock-based employee compensation plans administered by Cambrex. The plans are accounted for under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and related interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost related to the stock option plans is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net (loss)/income if the Business had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 as amended by FAS 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, to stock-based employee compensation.

	Years Ended December 31,					
		2005		2004	2	2003
Net (loss)/income as reported	\$	(100,560)	\$	(26,557)	\$	4,577
Add: stock based compensation expense included in reported net (loss)/income		11		116		92
Deduct: stock-based compensation expense determined using fair market value method		3,580		816		779

Pro forma net (loss)/income

The pro forma compensation expense pertaining to stock options was \$3,569, \$700, and \$687 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

During 2005 all unvested options outstanding as well as all options granted during 2005 were fully vested by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Cambrex. Cambrex has imposed a holding period that will require all optionees to refrain from selling shares acquired upon the exercise of these options until certain future dates. The purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate compensation expense in the income statement that Cambrex would otherwise have recorded with respect to these accelerated options subsequent to the January 1,

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

2006 effective date of FAS 123(R). Due to this acceleration of stock options, the pro forma disclosures are not likely to be representative of the effects on reported net income for future periods.

The pro forma compensation expense for 2005, 2004 and 2003 were calculated by recognizing ratably over the vesting period the fair value of each option determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for non-performance options and a path dependent model for performance options.

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes model to determine fair value on grant date of grants issued in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively: (i) average dividend yield of 0.57%, 0.55% and 0.57%, (ii) expected volatility of 41.20%, 41.75% and 40.81%, (iii) risk-free interest rate ranging from 2.75% to 4.47%, 2.75% to 3.95% and 2.75% to 3.95%, and (iv) expected life of 6-7 years.

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income is recorded directly to the accumulated other comprehensive income account on the Combined Balance Sheet and includes unrealized gains and losses excluded from the Combined Statements of Income. These unrealized gains and losses consist of net of income tax adjustments for foreign currency hedging contracts, marketable securities and minimum pension liability, as well as foreign currency translation adjustments which are not recorded net of income taxes since they primarily relate to indefinite investments in foreign subsidiaries.

(3) Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Inventory Costs

In November 2004, the FASB published FAS 151 Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 . FAS 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). This Statement requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet the criteria of so abnormal . In addition, this Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the cost of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facility. This Statement will be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Business has reviewed FAS 151 and determined its adoption will not have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB published FAS 123(R) (revised 2004) Share-Based Payment. FAS 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and its related implementation guidance. This Statement eliminates the alternative to use APB Opinion No. 25 s intrinsic value method of accounting that was provided in FAS 123 as originally issued. This Statement requires entities to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptions). This Statement applies to all awards granted after the required effective date and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after that date. During 2005 all unvested outstanding options of Cambrex as well as all options granted during 2005 were fully vested by the Cambrex Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. This represents approximately 571,000 options which resulted in the acceleration of pro forma compensation expense

of \$2,738 for the Business. The purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate compensation expense in the income statement that Cambrex would otherwise have recorded with respect to these accelerated options subsequent to the January 1, 2006 effective date of FAS 123(R). Cambrex adopted FAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 and as a result of the accelerated vesting of options, the impact was not material.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47). This Statement clarifies the meaning of the term conditional asset retirement as used in FAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations and clarifies when an entity has sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 requires the accelerated recognition of certain asset retirement obligations when the fair value of such obligation can be estimated. FIN 47 became effective in the fourth quarter of 2005. The adoption of FIN 47 did not have a material effect on the Business financial position or results of operations.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109) which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 with earlier adoption encouraged. This interpretation was issued to clarify the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements by prescribing a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.

(4) Acquisitions

On October 2, 2004, the Business completed the acquisition of Genolife SA., located in Saint Beauzire, France, for approximately \$6,000 in cash. Genolife, now renamed Cambrex Bioscience Clermont Ferrand, SAS, is an innovative biotechnology company specializing in rapid microbial detection testing for the pharmaceutical, agriculture, food and cosmetic industries.

The purchase price was allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities on the basis of their respective fair values. As a result, the Business recognized goodwill and intangible assets of \$2,063 and \$2,857, respectively. Of the \$2,857 of acquired intangible assets, \$2,028 was assigned to patents with a useful life of 18 years, and \$829 was assigned to developed technology with useful lives ranging from 9 to 18 years.

On February 2, 2006, the Business acquired Cutanogen Corporation (Cutanogen) for a purchase price of \$1,445 which was paid at closing with additional purchase price payments of up to \$4,800 subject to the achievement of certain regulatory and commercial milestones. Cutanogen, formally a biotechnology company, focuses on products used to treat patients with severe burns. The Business expensed the purchase price payment and will continue to expense all additional payments prior to regulatory approval of the product as in-process research and development. At acquisition, Cutanogen was a development stage company, as it had no long-lived assets, revenues or employees.

(5) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In accordance with FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets the Business has established reporting units based on its current segment structure for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment. Goodwill has been assigned to the reporting units to which the value of the goodwill relates. The Business evaluates goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization at least on an annual basis and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable based on the estimated future cash flows.

During the performance of the annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2005, the Business determined that the goodwill of two reporting units was impaired. The Business tested for impairment and determined that the carrying value exceeded its fair value by using a discounted cash flow model. Management then computed the fair value of its tangible and intangible assets for purposes of determining the implied fair value of goodwill. The goodwill impairment charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 was \$67,950 for the Biopharma

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

segment. The goodwill impairment charge is primarily due to lower long term profitability projections due to current market factors. The Business also recorded a write-down of certain amortizable intangible assets as follows: product technology of \$662, patents of \$135 and license agreements of \$55 in the Biopharma segment, due to lower future cash flow projections. Additionally, in the third quarter of 2004, the Business recorded an impairment charge of \$48,720 to reduce the carrying value of goodwill in the Biopharma segment.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Bioproducts Segment		Biopharma Segment		Total
Balance as of December 31, 2003 Acquisitions Other, including purchase price adjustment Translation effect	\$	51,671 2,063 229 321	\$	125,338	\$ 177,009 2,063 229 321
Goodwill impairment				(48,720)	(48,720)
Balance as of December 31, 2004	\$	54,284	\$	76,618	\$ 130,902
Acquisitions		1,476			1,476
Other, including purchase price adjustment		843		195	1,038
Translation effect		(983)			(983)
Goodwill impairment				(67,950)	(67,950)
Balance as of December 31, 2005	\$	55,620	\$	8,863	\$ 64,483

Other intangible assets that are not subject to amortization consist of the following:

	As of Dec	ember 31,
	2005	2004
Trademarks Proprietary process	\$ 33,898 2,052	\$ 33,898 2,052
Total	\$ 35,950	\$ 35,950

Intangible Assets:

Other intangible assets, which will continue to be amortized, consist of the following:

Table of Contents

As of Decemb						er 31, 2005			
	Gross Carrying Amount			Accumulated Net C Amortization Ar					
Product technology Patents Supply agreements License agreement Other	\$	12,157 5,264 2,110 1,985 1,974	\$	(4,177) (1,677) (1,152) (481) (874)	\$	7,980 3,587 958 1,504 1,100			
Total	\$	23,490	\$	(8,361)	\$	15,129			

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	As of December 31, 2004					
	Ca	Gross urrying mount		umulated ortization		Carrying mount
Product technology	\$	12,915	\$	(2,475)	\$	10,440
Patents		5,096		(1,199)		3,897
Supply agreements		2,110		(936)		1,174
License agreement		956		(114)		842
Trademarks		785		(785)		
Other		2,057		(633)		1,424
Total	\$	23,919	\$	(6,142)	\$	17,777

Amortization expense amounted to \$2,015, \$1,685 and \$1,418 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The expected future amortization expense related to current intangible assets is as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2006	\$ 1,791
For the year ended December 31, 2007	\$ 1,760
For the year ended December 31, 2008	\$ 1,523
For the year ended December 31, 2009	\$ 1,407
For the year ended December 31, 2010	\$ 1,216

(6) Net Inventories

Net inventories consist of the following:

	As of Dec	,
	2005	2004
Finished goods	\$ 20,958	\$ 20,506
Work in process	8,295	6,624
Raw materials	9,423	6,747
Supplies	78	81
Total	\$ 38,754	\$ 33,958

(7) Property, Plant and Equipment

During the fourth quarter of 2005 the Business performed an impairment assessment of long-lived assets, which includes amortizable intangible assets as well property, plant and equipment. As a result of lower long term profitability projections, the Business determined that the sum of the undiscounted expected future operating cash flows were less than the carrying value of certain long-lived assets within the Biopharma segment. The Business recorded an impairment charge for long-lived assets in the fourth quarter of \$13,581 in the Biopharma segment to write down these assets to their fair value as determined primarily based on appraisals.

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(7) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

	As of December 31,			
		2005		2004
Land	\$	3,598	\$	3,647
Buildings and improvements		63,561		50,624
Machinery and equipment		50,089		39,978
Furniture and fixtures		11,356		10,372
Construction in progress		13,891		22,692
Total		142,495		127,313
Accumulated depreciation		(61,389)		(38,014)
Net	\$	81,106	\$	89,299

Depreciation expense was \$10,855, \$9,169 and \$7,887 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(8) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

The components of accrued expenses and other current liabilities are as follows:

	As of December 31,				
	2005			2004	
Salaries and employee benefits payable	\$	7,045	\$	8,135	
Deferred revenue		9,181		2,733	
Advances from suppliers		1,359		1,596	
Commissions		761		1,112	
Warranties		367		228	
Taxes		1,789		1,940	
Other		2,185		2,238	
Total	\$	22,687	\$	17,982	

(9) Income Taxes

Table of Contents

(Loss)/income before income taxes consisted of the following:

	Years 2005	Years Ended December 31, 2005 2004 20		
Domestic International	\$ (87,178) 6,327	\$ (42,969) 8,042	\$ 1,040 5,682	
Total	\$ (80,851)	\$ (34,927)	\$ 6,722	

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(9) Income Taxes (continued)

The provision for income taxes consists of the following provision/(benefits):

		Years Ended December 31,				
		2005		2004		2003
Current:						
Federal	\$		\$		\$	
State	Ψ	392	Ψ	516	Ψ	134
International		3,289		3,312		1,682
	\$	3,681	\$	3,828	\$	1,816
Deferred:						
Federal	\$	15,733	\$	(12,121)	\$	329
State		(1)		(78)		
International		296		1		
	\$	16,028	\$	(12,198)	\$	329
Total	\$	19,709	\$	(8,370)	\$	2,145

The provision for income taxes differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% for 2005, 2004 and 2003 as follows:

	Years l	Years Ended December 31,			
	2005	2004	2003		
Income tax provision at federal statutory rate	\$ (28,298)	\$ (12,225)	\$ 3,704		
State and local taxes, net of federal income tax benefits	248	253	214		
Difference between federal statutory rate and statutory rates on					
non-U.S. income	(121)	(112)	252		
Net change in valuation allowance	36,276	5,142			
Foreign tax adjustments and settlements	105	220	78		
Indefinite-lived intangibles	15,733				
Research and experimentation credits	(346)	(375)	(736)		
Extra-territorial income exclusion	(409)	(363)	(349)		
Other	(3,479)	(910)	(1,018)		

\$ 19,709 \$ (8,370) \$ 2,145

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 relate to temporary differences and carry forwards as follows:

	As of Decen 2005		mber 31, 2004	
Current deferred tax assets: Inventory Receivables Legal and related reserves Other	\$	1,153 362 965 229	\$	387 256 887 231
Current deferred tax assets Valuation allowances		2,709 (2,679)		1,761 (670)
Total current deferred tax assets	\$	30	\$	1,091
Current deferred tax liabilities: Other	\$	52	\$	
Total current deferred tax liabilities	\$	52	\$	

	As of December 31,			
	2005		2004	
Non-current deferred tax assets:				
Environmental	\$	54	\$	54
Net operating loss carryforwards (domestic)		10,743		6,101
Net operating loss carryforwards (foreign)		2,910		1,587
Employee benefits		285		223
Restructuring		99		75
Research and experimentation tax credits		3,214		2,868
Alternative minimum tax credits		421		421
Depreciation		4,554		
Intangibles		16,403		
Other		495		429
Non-current deferred tax assets		39,178		11,758
Valuation allowances		(38,739)		(4,472)

Total non-current deferred tax assets	\$ 439	\$ 7,286
Non-current deferred tax liabilities: Depreciation Intangibles Indefinite lived intangibles Other	\$ 15,733 505	\$ 2,572 5,616
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities	\$ 16,238	\$ 8,188
Total net non-current deferred tax liabilities	\$ 15,799	\$ 902

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

FAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, requires the Business to establish a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the Business will be unable to realize those deferred tax assets in the future. Based on current and past performance, cumulative losses in recent years resulting from domestic operations, the market environment in which the Business operates, and the utilization of past tax attributes, the Business has established a valuation allowance of \$38,250 against a portion of its domestic deferred tax assets. However, the Business has not recorded a valuation allowance against domestic tax assets which are offset by domestic deferred tax liabilities that are expected to reverse in the future. In addition, the Business has recorded a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets relating to domestic indefinite lived intangible assets of \$15,733 at December 31, 2005 that had been previously preserved by tax strategies. This valuation allowance results from the Business recent history of domestic losses and increased uncertainty regarding the timing and extent of a return to domestic profitability. With respect to the Business foreign deferred tax assets, the Business has recorded a valuation allowance of \$3,168 as of December 31, 2005.

The Business expects to maintain a full valuation allowance against its net domestic deferred tax assets, and against certain foreign net deferred tax assets, subject to the consideration of all prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, until such time as the Business attains an appropriate level of future domestic profitability, and an appropriate level of future profitability in those foreign jurisdictions, and the Business is able to conclude that it is more likely than not that its domestic deferred tax assets, and foreign deferred tax assets, are realizable. The change in the domestic valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was \$34,687 and \$3,563, respectively. The change in the foreign valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was \$1,589 and \$1,579, respectively.

Under the tax laws of the various jurisdictions in which the Business operates, net operating losses (NOLs) may be carried forward, subject to statutory limitations, to reduce taxable income in future years. The domestic NOL deferred tax assets total approximately \$10,743 and the foreign NOL deferred tax assets total approximately \$2,910. The domestic NOLs will expire during the period from 2019 through 2025. NOLs in foreign jurisdictions will carryforward indefinitely.

(10) Loans with Affiliates

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004 the Business had outstanding six and seven loans payable, respectively, to affiliates with interest rates ranging from 3.86% to 9.33% and 2.62% and 9.18%, respectively. The Business records currency fluctuations as translation adjustments within the equity section of the balance sheet as these loans are permanent in nature and are not intended to be settled.

The Business utilizes a receivable/payable account to record certain intercompany transactions. The average monthly net receivable balances were \$5,402 and \$4,221 with Cambrex Corporate for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(11) Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

		As of December 31,		
	2005	2004		
Capitalized leases	\$ 5,915	\$ 7,281		
Notes payable	291	307		
Subtotal	6,206	7,588		
Less: current portion	1,447	1,400		
Total	\$ 4,759	\$ 6,188		

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The Business has three capital leases for buildings and improvements. There is \$5,915 outstanding at December 31, 2005. All capital leases are collateralized by their underlying assets.

The outstanding notes payable have a fixed rate of interest of 5.7%.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

Year Ended December 31:

2006	\$ 1,447
2007	1,708
2008	1,479
2009	1,572
Total commitments	\$ 6,206

(12) Derivatives and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Business uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposures to market risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Business does not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Business is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counter parties to the contracts. However, the Business does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties.

The Business policy is to enter into forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency transactions. This hedging strategy mitigates the impact of short-term foreign exchange rate movements on the Business operating results. The Business primary market risk relates to exposures to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on transactions entered into by its international operations that are denominated primarily in U.S. dollars. As a matter of policy, the Business does not hedge to protect the translated results of foreign operations.

The Business forward exchange contracts substantially offset gains and losses on the transactions being hedged. The forward exchange contracts have varying maturities with none exceeding twelve months. The Business makes net settlements for forward exchange contracts at maturity, based upon negotiated rates at inception of the contracts.

All forward contracts outstanding at December 31, 2005 have been designated as cash flow hedges and, accordingly, changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in accumulated other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments reported in accumulated other comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings in the period in which earnings are impacted by the variability of the cash flows of the hedged item. The ineffective portion of all hedges is recognized in current-period earnings and is immaterial to the Business financial results.

The table below reflects the fair value amounts of foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

	2005	2004
Forward exchange contracts	\$ 182	\$ (391)

The carrying amount reported in the combined balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximates fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(13) Retirement Plans

Domestic Pension Plans

Cambrex maintains a pension plan which covers certain eligible employees of the Business. Generally, all employees hired after December 31, 2002 are not eligible for these benefits. Benefits are based on salary and years of service. Cambrex s policy is to fund pension costs currently to the full extent required by the Internal Revenue Code. Pension plan assets consist primarily of balanced fund investments.

The Business accounts for its employees participation in the plan as a multi-employer plan. Cambrex allocated pension expense of approximately \$1,512, \$1,815 and \$1,482 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, to the Business. The Business does not contribute to the plan, and as such, does not have a liability on its books related to contribution payables for this plan as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

The Business has a legacy Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) that covers certain ex-employees.

The benefit obligation for this plan as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

	2005	2004
Change in benefit obligation		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 3,410	\$ 3,191
Service cost		
Interest cost	191	191
Actuarial loss	324	225
Benefits paid	(197)	(197)
Benefit obligation at December 31,	\$ 3,728	\$ 3,410
Funded status	\$ (3,728)	\$ (3,410)
Unrecognized net transition obligation	199	300
Unrecognized net (gain)/loss	1,318	1,029
Additional minimum liability	(1,517)	(1,329)
Accrued benefit cost at December 31,	\$ (3,728)	\$ (3,410)

The discount rate used in determining the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 for the Business SERP plan is 5.75%.

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows:

	2005	2004	2003
Components of net periodic benefit cost			
Interest cost	\$ 191	\$ 191	\$ 192
Transition amount amortization	101	101	101
Recognized actuarial loss	35	30	14
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 327	\$ 322	\$ 307

The discount rate used in determining the net cost for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the Business SERP plan are 5.75%, 6.00% and 6.75%, respectively.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

	SERP enefits
2006	\$ 191
2007	\$ 187
2008	\$ 290
2009	\$ 283
2010	\$ 276
2011 - 2015	\$ 1,244

International Pension Plan

A foreign subsidiary of the Business maintains a pension plan for its employees. The funded status for this plan as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

	2005	2004
Change in benefit obligation		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 810	\$ 532
Service cost	169	142
Interest cost	37	26
Actuarial (loss)/gain	(62)	55
Benefits paid	(10)	(6)
Translation	(115)	61
Benefit obligation at end of year	829	810
Change in plan assets		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	488	316
Actual return on plan assets	9	5
Company contribution	126	101
Plan participants contribution	44	35
Benefits paid	(10)	(6)
Translation	(75)	37
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	582	488

Funded status	(249)	(324)
Unrecognized actuarial loss	20	67
Translation	(1)	6
Accrued benefit cost	\$ (230)	\$ (251)

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Major assumptions used in determining the benefit obligation as of December 31, for the Business international pension plan are presented in the following table:

	2005	2004
Discount rate	5.00%	5.00%
Expected return on plan assets	4.50%	4.50%
Rate of compensation increase	3.50%	3.50%

The components of the net periodic pension cost are as follows:

	2005	2004	2003
Components of net periodic pension cost			
Service cost	\$ 169	\$ 142	\$ 112
Interest cost	37	26	16
Expected return on plan assets	(67)	(52)	(37)
Actuarial loss			52
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 139	\$ 116	\$ 143

Major assumptions used in determining the net cost for the Business international pension plan are presented in the following table:

	2005	2004	2003
Discount rate	5.00%	5.00%	5.00%
Expected return on plan assets	4.50%	4.50%	4.50%
Rate of compensation increase	3.50%	3.50%	3.50%

The aggregate Accumulated Benefit Obligation of \$599 for the international plan exceeds plan assets by \$17 in 2005. The Business expects to contribute approximately \$127 in cash to its international pension plan in 2006 and does not expect to make any benefit payments from 2006 to 2010. The Business expects to make benefit payments of approximately \$178 in 2011 through 2015.

The pension plan assets are allocated to fixed income investments.

Savings Plan

Cambrex makes available to all employees of the Business a savings plan as permitted under Sections 401(k) and 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employee contributions are matched in part by Cambrex. The cost of this plan to the Business amounted to \$1,559, \$1,437 and \$1,480 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(14) Other Postretirement Benefits

Cambrex provides postretirement health and life insurance benefits (postretirement benefits) to all eligible retired employees, including those of the Business. Employees who retire at or after age 55 with ten years of service are eligible to participate in the postretirement benefit plans. The Business responsibility for such premiums for each plan participant is based upon years of service subject to an annual maximum of one thousand dollars. Such plans are self-insured and are not funded. Certain subsidiaries and all employees hired after December 31, 2002 (excluding those covered by collective bargaining) are not eligible for these benefits. Effective January 1, 2006, the Cambrex Retiree Medical Plan will no longer provide prescription coverage to retirees or dependents age 65 or over.

The Business accounts for its employees participation in the plan as a multi-employer plan. The Business did not record any net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The Business does

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

not contribute to the plan, and as such, does not have a liability on its books related to contribution payables for this plan as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

(15) Segment Information

The Business classifies its business units into two segments: Bioproducts, consisting of research products and other therapeutic application products and Biopharma, consisting of contract biopharmaceutical process development and manufacturing services.

Information as to the operations of the Business in each of its segments is set forth below based on the nature of the products and services offered. The Business evaluates performance based on gross profit and operating profit. Intersegment sales are not material.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 no single customer accounted for more than 10% of total combined gross sales.

The following is a summary of business segment information:

	2005		2004		2003
Gross Sales Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 149,375 41,698	\$	136,222 43,269	\$	119,431 44,126
	\$ 191,073	\$	179,491	\$	163,557
	2005		2004		2003
Gross Profit Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 73,291 (3,208)		\$ 70,466 5,898	41	55,664 10,421
	\$ 70,083		\$ 76,364	9	\$ 66,085
	2005		2004		2003
Operating (Loss)/Profit Bioproducts	\$ 17,405	9	\$ 20,172		\$ 9,357

Biopharma	((98,010)		(55,180)		(2,055)
	\$ ((80,605)	\$	(35,008)	\$	7,302
			2	2005		2004
Total Assets			¢)	20 417	¢	222 425
Bioproducts Biopharma				230,417 58,653	\$	222,435 134,549
			\$ 2	89,070	\$	356,984

CAMBREX BIO COMPANIES

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	2005	2004		2003
Capital Expenditures Bioproducts Biopharma	12,392 5,536 17,928	10,601 9,167 19,768	\$ \$	12,319
Depreciation	2005	2004		2003
Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 6,015 4,840 \$ 10,855	\$ 5,448 3,721 \$ 9,169		 5,125 2,762 7,887
	2005	2004		2003
Amortization Bioproducts Biopharma	\$ 1,661 354	\$ 1,333 352	•	5 1,084 334
	\$ 2,015	\$ 1,685	9	5 1,418

(16) Stock Based Compensation

Employees of the Business participate in stock-based employee compensation plans administered by Cambrex. The plans are accounted for under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and related interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost related to the stock option plans is reflected in net (loss)/income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Shares of common stock subject to outstanding options for employees of the Business under stock option plans administered by Cambrex and the activity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

	Weighted Average		
	Number of Shares	Exercise Price \$	Options Exercisable
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 Granted Exercised	238,200 116,050	39.26 19.61	26,833
Cancelled	(14,000)	36.97	
Outstanding at December 31, 2003	340,250	32.65	34,229
Granted	140,600	22.03	
Exercised	(1,350)	18.68	
Cancelled	(51,612)	33.48	
Outstanding at December 31, 2004	427,888	29.12	69,566
Granted	266,500	19.78	
Exercised	(1,750)	18.68	
Cancelled	(181,438)	29.27	
Outstanding at December 31, 2005	511,200	24.22	511,200

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was \$8.43, \$9.65 and \$8.31, respectively.

Bio Companies senior executives participate in a long-term incentive plan administered by Cambrex which rewards achievement of long-term strategic goals with restricted stock units. Awards are made annually to key executives and vest in one-third increments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant. On the third anniversary of the grant, restrictions on sale or transfer are removed and shares are issued to executives. In the event of termination of employment or retirement, the participant is entitled to the vested portion of the restricted stock units and forfeits the remaining amount; the three-year sale and transfer restriction remains in place. In the event of death or permanent disability, all shares vest and the deferred sales restriction lapses. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the Business recorded \$11, \$116 and \$92, respectively, in compensation expense for this Cambrex administered plan. Shares are held in trust for the restricted stock unit grants. The number of shares held as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 was 3,297 and 10,288, respectively. The fair value of these shares was \$62 and \$279 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Notes to Unaudited Combined Financial Statements (Continued) (dollars in thousands, except share data)

(17) Commitments and Contingencies

The Business has operating leases expiring on various dates through the year 2012. The leases are primarily for the rental of office space, office and laboratory equipment and vehicles. As of December 31, 2005, future minimum commitments under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements were as follows:

Year Ended December 31:

2006 2007 2008 2009	\$ 2,603 2,447 2,009 1,722
2010 - 2012 Total commitments	\$ 3,883 12,664

Operating lease expense was \$2,930, \$2,474 and \$2,362 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Business is party to several unconditional purchase obligations resulting from contracts that contain legally binding provisions with respect to quantities, pricing and timing of purchases. As of December 31, 2005 future commitments under these obligations were as follows:

Year Ended December 31:

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 and thereafter	\$ 3,742 530 30
Total commitments	\$ 4.302

Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville has been identified as a de minimis responsible party at the Spectron/Galaxy Superfund site in Maryland (the Site), and is alleged to have sent a small quantity of waste to the Site. In 2001, the Company was advised that it would not be offered settlement due to the small quantity of waste allegedly disposed of at the Site, except in the event of a threat of, or an actual suit by, other potentially responsible parties. The Company has not recorded any reserve for this matter due to its negligible involvement with the Site.

The Business is party to various legal proceedings arising in the normal conduct of business. Management believes the final outcome of these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Business financial condition, operating results and cash flow when resolved in a future reporting period.

PROPOSAL 2

ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING

We are asking our stockholders to vote on a proposal to adjourn the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Although it is not currently expected (and assuming the establishment of a quorum), the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. Once a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the holders of shares of our common stock representing such quorum shall be required to approve this proposal to adjourn or postpone the meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies at the special meeting.

Any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting will allow our stockholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use at the special meeting as adjourned or postponed.

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote **FOR** the proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to authorize the sale of the Bio Companies Business pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement. You should note, however, that if a quorum is not present, then the chairman of the special meeting will be entitled to adjourn the special meeting to another place, date or time.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Principal stockholders

The following sets forth information with respect to the only persons of which the Company is aware, as of September 30, 2006 (unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes), who may be deemed to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company:

	Number of Shares Beneficially	Percent of
Name and Address	Owned(1)	Class(2)
Snyder Capital Management, L.P. Snyder Capital Management, Inc. One Market Plaza Steuart Tower, Suite 1200	2,509,700(3)	9.3482%
San Francisco, CA 94105 Transamerica Investment Management, LLC 1150 South Olive Street, Suite 2700	1,913,303(4)	7.1267%
Los Angeles, CA 90015 Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc. 1299 Ocean Avenue, 11 th Floor Santa Monica, CA 90401	1,747,318(5)	6.5084%
Wentworth, Hauser & Violich, Inc. 353 Sacramento Street, Suite 600 San Francisco, CA 94111	1,439,953(6)	5.3636%
Cramer Rosenthal McGlynn, LLC 520 Madison Avenue New York, NY 10022	1,376,600(7)	5.1276%

- (1) Unless otherwise indicated (a) share ownership is based upon information furnished as of September 30, 2006, by the beneficial owner, and (b) each beneficial owner has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown.
- (2) For the purpose of this table, the percent of issued and outstanding shares of common stock of the Company held by each beneficial owner has been calculated on the basis of (i) 26,754,269 shares of common stock issued and outstanding (excluding treasury shares) on September 30, 2006, and (ii) 23,922 shares still to be issued in connection with the 1993 conversion of the Company s 9% Convertible Subordinated Notes.
- (3) In a Schedule 13F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated November 13, 2006 and filed by Snyder Capital Management, L.P. (SCMLP), SCMLP reported that it has shared voting power over 2,262,700 shares and sole dispositive power over 5,100 shares. SCMLP had reported the shares as beneficially owned as a result of acting as an investment advisor. SCMI and its direct parent company, IXIS Asset Management North America, L.P. (formerly known as CDC IXIS Asset Management North America, L.P.), operate under an

understanding that all investment and voting decisions regarding managed accounts are to be made by SCMLP and not by IXIS Asset Management North America or any entity controlling it. Accordingly, SCMLP does not consider IXIS Asset Management North America or any entity controlling it to have any direct or indirect control over the securities held in managed accounts.

- (4) In a Schedule 13F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated November 13, 2006 and filed by Transamerica Investment Management, LLC (Transamerica), Transamerica reported that it has sole dispositive power over 1,913,303 shares and sole voting power over 1,741,108 shares. The shares reported on Transamerica's Schedule 13F are reported beneficially owned as a result of acting as an investment adviser.
- (5) In a Schedule 13F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated October 30, 2006 and filed by Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc. (Dimensional), Dimensional reported that it has sole dispositive power over 1,747,318 and sole voting power over 1,721,418 shares. The shares reported on Dimensional s 13F are reported beneficially owned as a result of acting as investment advisor to four investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and as investment manager to certain other commingled group trusts and

separate accounts known as the Funds . Dimensional may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares held by the Funds and all securities reported in Dimensional s 13F are owned by the Funds. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities.

- (6) In a Schedule 13F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated November 9, 2006 and filed by Wentworth, Hauser & Violich, Inc. (Wentworth), Wentworth reported that it has sole dispositive power over 1,439,953 shares and sole voting power over 874,478 shares.
- (7) In a Schedule 13F under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dated November 13, 2006 and filed by Cramer Rosenthal McGlynn, LLC (Cramer), Cramer reported that it has sole voting power over 1,275,700 shares, sole dispositive power of 1,376,600 shares and shared voting power over 51,200 shares. Cramer is deemed to be the beneficial owner of 1,376,600 shares as a result of acting as an Investment Adviser registered under section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

Security ownership of directors and executive officers

The following table gives information concerning the beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock on October 31, 2006, by (i) each director, (ii) each of our named executive officers and (iii) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Beneficial Owners	Shares Beneficially Owned(1)	Percent of Class(2)
David R. Bethune	4,000(3)	*
Rosina B. Dixon, M.D.	34,346(4)	*
Roy W. Haley	28,576(5)	*
Kathryn Rudie Harrigan	33,885(4)	*
Leon J. Hendrix, Jr.	38,802(6)	*
Ilan Kaufthal	49,108(7)	*
William B. Korb	28,075(8)	*
John R. Leone	459,657(9)	1.72%
James A. Mack	996,519(9)	3.72%
John R. Miller	24,273(10)	*
Peter Tombros	19,206(11)	*
Luke M. Beshar	350,490(12)	1.31%
Steven M. Klosk	273,559(13)	1.02%
Gary L. Mossman	319,613(14)	1.19%
Paolo Russolo	144,136(15)	*
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (21 Persons)	3,227,009(16)	12.06%

* Beneficial Ownership is less than 1% of the common stock outstanding

(1) Except as otherwise noted, reported share ownership is as of October 31, 2006. Unless otherwise stated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of common stock he or she beneficially owns.

- (2) For the purpose of this table, the percent of issued and outstanding shares of common stock of the Company held by each beneficial owner has been calculated on the basis of (i) 26,758,622 shares of common stock issued and outstanding (excluding treasury shares) on October 31, 2006, (ii) all shares of common stock subject to stock options which are held by such beneficial owner and are exercisable within 60 days of October 31, 2006, and (iii) 23,922 shares still to be issued in connection with the 1993 conversion of the Company s 9% Convertible Subordinated Notes.
- (3) The number of shares reported are 4,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1998 and 2004 Stock Option Plans.
- (4) The number of shares reported includes 19,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans.

- (5) The number of shares reported includes 18,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans and 10,576 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Directors Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (6) The number of shares reported includes 19,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans and 13,302 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Directors Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (7) The number of shares reported includes 19,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans.
- (8) The number of shares reported includes 18,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans, 1,000 shares held by a family member for which beneficial ownership of such shares is disclaimed, and 9,075 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Directors Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (9) The number of shares reported includes 339,600 shares issuable upon exercise of an option granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans and 88,598 restricted stock units and 392 shares held at December 31, 2005 in the Company s Savings Plan. This option was exercised in the amount of 60,400 shares. Mr. Leone left the Company effective December 31, 2005.
- (10) The number of shares reported includes 456,483 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans, 32,021 restricted stock units, 94,364 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Deferred Compensation Plan, and 150,000 Stock Appreciation Rights.
- (11) The number of shares reported includes 18,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans.
- (12) The number of shares reported includes 12,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s 1996, 1998, 2001 and 2004 Stock Option Plans and 6,206 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Directors Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (13) The number of shares reported includes 326,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans, 22,909 restricted stock units and 1,081 shares held at December 31, 2005 in the Company s Savings Plan. Options under the Company s Stock Option Plans were exercised after October 31, 2006 in the amount of 96,500 shares and are therefore included in the number of shares issuable upon exercise of options.
- (14) The number of shares reported includes 176,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans, 17,388 restricted stock units, 8,386 shares held at December 31, 2005 in the Company s Savings Plan, and 48,785 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Deferred Compensation Plan.
- (15) The number of shares reported includes 279,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans, 21,680 restricted stock units and 1,254 shares held at December 31, 2005 in the Company s Savings Plan. Mr. Mossman retired from the Company on August 31, 2006, however, he signed a consulting agreement with the Company in November 10, 2006 that runs through August 31, 2007.

- (16) The number of shares reported includes 116,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company s Stock Option Plans and 14,230 restricted stock units. Options under the Company s Stock Option Plans were exercised after October 31, 2006 in the amount of 10,000 shares and are therefore included in the number of shares issuable upon exercise of options.
- (17) The number of shares reported includes 2,238,865 shares issuable upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days, 224,487 restricted stock units, 23,838 shares held at December 31, 2005 in the Company s Savings Plan, 39,159 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Director s Deferred Compensation Plan and 224,075 share equivalents held at October 31, 2006 in the Company s Deferred Compensation Plan. Shares held by immediate family members are not included and beneficial ownership of such shares is disclaimed. Options under the Company s Stock Option Plans were exercised after October 31, 2006 in the amount of 87,000 shares and are therefore included in the number of shares issuable upon exercise of options.

SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Only such business will be conducted at this special meeting as will have been brought by our Board of Directors before the special meeting pursuant to the attached Notice of Special Meeting of Stockholders .

If you want to submit a proposal for presentation at our 2007 annual meeting, you must submit it to us no later than February 8, 2007 in order to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement and related proxy materials for the 2007 annual meeting. Otherwise, if you intend to present a proposal at the 2007 annual meeting without including that proposal in Cambrex s proxy material, you must provide advance notice of the proposal.

Under our By-Laws, any stockholder wishing to present a nomination for the office of director before the 2007 annual meeting for a vote must give notice to the Company on or prior to April 28, 2007; and any stockholder wishing to bring a proposal or other business before the 2007 annual meeting for a vote must give the Company not less than 60 days, nor more than 90 days, advance notice prior to the date of the 2007 annual meeting (which date has not yet been determined by the Company), and that both such notices must meet certain other requirements as stated in our By-Laws. Any stockholder interested in making such a nomination or proposal should request a copy of such By-Law provisions from the Secretary of Cambrex. If the Company does not receive notice of a stockholder s proposal within this time frame, the individuals named in the proxies solicited by the Board of Directors for that meeting may exercise discretionary voting power with respect to that proposal.

OTHER MATTERS

Other business at the special meeting

We are not aware of any matters to be presented for action at the special meeting other than those set forth in this proxy statement. However, should any other business properly come before the special meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof, the enclosed proxy confers upon the persons entitled to vote the shares of common stock represented by such proxy, discretionary authority to vote the same in respect of any such other business in accordance with their best judgment in the interest of the Company.

Multiple stockholders sharing one address

In accordance with Rule 14a-3(e)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, one proxy statement will be delivered to two or more stockholders who share an address, unless the Company has received contrary instructions from one or more of the stockholders. The Company will deliver promptly upon written or oral request a separate copy of the proxy statement to a stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the proxy statement was delivered. Requests for additional copies of the proxy statement, and requests that in the future separate proxy statements be sent to stockholders who share an address, should be directed by writing to Peter E. Thauer, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, Cambrex Corporation, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, NJ 07073 or by calling Mr. Thauer at (201) 804-3000. In addition, stockholders who share a single address but receive multiple copies of the proxy statement may request that in the future they receive a single copy by contacting the Company at the address and phone number set forth in the prior sentence.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company is subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is required to file periodic reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC relating to its business, financial conditions and other matters. Such reports, proxy statements and other documents may be examined and copies may be obtained from the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, and at the SEC s web site at http://www.sec.gov. Copies should be available by mail upon payment of the SEC s customary charges by writing to the SEC s principal offices at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549.

Upon written request Cambrex will provide to each stockholder, without charge, a copy of its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2005 as filed with the SEC. Requests should be directed to Peter E. Thauer, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, Cambrex Corporation, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, NJ 07073. Such report will be furnished without exhibits. Copies of the exhibits to such annual report will be furnished to requesting stockholders upon payment of the Company s reasonable expenses in furnishing the same.

Table of Contents

PLEASE VOTE, SIGN AND RETURN YOUR PROXIES

If you do not intend to be present at the special meeting of stockholders on [], 2007, please vote the enclosed proxy at your earliest convenience.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Peter E. Thauer Secretary Cambrex Corporation

East Rutherford, New Jersey [], 2007

APPENDIX A

EXECUTION COPY

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT Dated as of October 23, 2006 among LONZA AMERICA INC., LONZA BIOPRODUCTS AG, LONZA SALES AG, LONZA GROUP LIMITED, as Guarantor, and CAMBREX CORPORATION and THE SUBSIDIARIES LISTED ON SCHEDULE I HERETO

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ARTICLE I SALE OF	F SHARES AND CLOSING	1
Section 1.1	Purchase and Sale	1
Section 1.2	Purchase Price	2
Section 1.3	Final Purchase Price and Post-Closing Adjustment Amount	2
Section 1.4	Preparation of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement	3
Section 1.5	Closing; Payment of Post-Closing Adjustment Amount	3
Section 1.6	Prepayment of Credit Agreement Indebtedness	3 5
Section 1.7	Further Assurances; Post-Closing Cooperation	5
Section 1.8	Withholding	6
ARTICLE II REPRES	SENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS	6
Section 2.1	Organization and Standing	6
Section 2.2	Capitalization	7
Section 2.3	Authority; Noncontravention; Voting Requirements	7
Section 2.4	Governmental Approvals	8
Section 2.5	Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities; Company SEC Documents	8
Section 2.6	Absence of Certain Changes	9
Section 2.7	Legal Proceedings	9
Section 2.8	Compliance With Laws; Permits; Food and Drug Laws; Quality	10
Section 2.9	Proxy Statement	11
Section 2.10	Tax Matters	11
Section 2.11	Employee Benefits and Labor Matters	12
Section 2.12	Contracts	14
Section 2.13	Environmental Matters	15
Section 2.14	Intellectual Property	17
Section 2.15	Insurance	18
Section 2.16	Real Property	18
Section 2.17	Tangible Personal Property	19
Section 2.18	Sufficiency of Assets	19
Section 2.19	Affiliate Transactions	20
Section 2.20	Product Warranty	20
Section 2.21	Product Liability	20
Section 2.22	Customers and Suppliers	20
Section 2.23	Solvency	20
Section 2.24	Bank Accounts	21
Section 2.25	Opinions of Financial Advisors	21
Section 2.26	Brokers and Other Advisors	21
Section 2.27	No Other Representations or Warranties	21
Section 2.28	Disclosure	21

		Page
ARTICLE III REF	PRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER	21
Section 3.1	Organization and Standing	21
Section 3.2	Authority; Noncontravention	21
Section 3.3	Governmental Approvals	22
Section 3.4	Information Supplied	22
Section 3.5	Capital Resources	22
Section 3.6	Legal Proceedings	22
Section 3.7	Brokers and Other Advisors	22
Section 3.8	No Reliance	23
ARTICLE IV AD	DITIONAL COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS	23
Section 4.1	Conduct of Business	23
Section 4.2	Other Offers; Etc	25
Section 4.3	Proxy Statement	27
Section 4.4	Company Stockholders Meeting	28
Section 4.5	Reasonable Best Efforts	28
Section 4.6	Public Announcements	29
Section 4.7	Access to Information; Confidentiality	29
Section 4.8	Notification of Certain Matters	30
Section 4.9	Fees and Expenses	30
Section 4.10	Walkersville Transfer	30
Section 4.11	Walkersville Debris Field Testing	30
Section 4.12	Capital Resources	31
Section 4.13	Title Insurance and Surveys	32
Section 4.14	Other Transaction Documents	32
Section 4.15	Intercompany Agreements	32
Section 4.16	Use of Names	32
Section 4.17	Insurance	33
Section 4.18	Delivery of Financial Statements	33
Section 4.19	Termination of Rights; Assignment of Certain Agreements and Rights	33
Section 4.20	Non-Competition	34
Section 4.21	Non-Solicitation of Customers and Employees	34
ARTICLE V CON	IDITIONS	35
Section 5.1	Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party	35
Section 5.2	Conditions to the Obligations of Purchasers	35
Section 5.3	Conditions to the Obligations of the Company	35
ARTICLE VI TAX	X MATTERS	36
Section 6.1	Tax Filings	36
Section 6.2	Certain Other Taxes	37
Section 6.3	Tax Audits	37
Section 6.4	Indemnification	38
Section 6.5	Dispute Resolution	38
Section 6.6	Refunds	39
Section 6.7	Certain Elections and Other Tax Matters	39

Table of Contents

Section 6.8	Certificate of Non-Foreign Status	40
Section 6.9	Termination of Tax Sharing Agreements	40

		Page
ARTICLE VII EMPL	OYEE AND BENEFITS MATTERS	41
Section 7.1	Transferred Bio Companies Employees	41
Section 7.2	Treatment of Certain Plans and Coverages	42
Section 7.3	Treatment of Certain Liabilities	43
Section 7.4	No Plan Amendments; No Third Party Beneficiaries; Non-US Law	43
ARTICLE VIII TERM	IINATION	44
Section 8.1	Termination	44
Section 8.2	Effect of Termination	45
Section 8.3	Termination Fee	45
Section 8.4	Acknowledgement	46
ARTICLE IX INDEM	NIFICATION	46
Section 9.1	Indemnification by the Sellers	46
Section 9.2	Indemnification by Purchasers	46
Section 9.3	Limitations on Indemnification Obligations	46
Section 9.4	Procedures for Indemnification of Third Party Claims	47
Section 9.5	Other Procedures for Indemnification	48
Section 9.6	Remedies Cumulative	48
Section 9.7	Survival of Indemnities	48
ARTICLE X MISCEL	LANEOUS	48
Section 10.1	Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements	48
Section 10.2	Amendment or Supplement	48
Section 10.3	Guaranty	49
Section 10.4	Extension of Time, Waiver, Etc	49
Section 10.5	Assignment	49
Section 10.6	Counterparts	49
Section 10.7	Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries	49
Section 10.8	Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Appointment of Agent for Service of	
	Process; Waiver of Jury Trial	50
Section 10.9	Specific Enforcement	49
Section 10.10	Notices	50
Section 10.11	Severability	51
Section 10.12	Definitions	51
Section 10.13	Interpretation	59
SCHEDULE I	Bio Companies Sellers	
SCHEDULE II	Bio Companies	
EXHIBIT A	Transition Services Agreement	

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of October 23, 2006 (this <u>Agreement</u>), is by and among LONZA AMERICA INC., a Delaware corporation (<u>Lonza America</u>), LONZA BIOPRODUCTS AG, a Swiss company (<u>Lonza Swiss Holdco</u>), and LONZA SALES AG, a Swiss company (<u>Lonza Sales AG</u> and, collectively with Lonza America and Lonza Swiss Holdco, the <u>Purchasers</u>), LONZA GROUP LIMITED, a Swiss limited company, as guarantor (<u>Lonza Group</u>), CAMBREX CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the <u>Company</u>), and each of the Subsidiaries of the Company listed on <u>Schedule I</u> hereto (collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Bio Companies Sellers</u>; and such Bio Companies Sellers and the Company collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Sellers</u>). Certain terms used in this Agreement without definition shall have their meanings as defined in <u>Section 10.12</u>.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, other than the Directors Qualifying Shares (as defined below), the Company owns directly and indirectly through wholly-owned Subsidiaries all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Subsidiaries listed on <u>Schedule II</u> hereto (collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Bio Companies</u>; and the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Bio Companies, other than the Directors Qualifying Shares, collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Bio Companies</u> ; and the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Bio Companies, other than the Directors Qualifying Shares, collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Bio Companies</u> ; and the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of the Bio Companies, other than the Directors Qualifying Shares, collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Bio Companies</u> ;

WHEREAS, the Bio Companies are engaged in (i) through the Bioproducts Companies, the manufacture and sale of products and the provision of manufacturing services in four segments of the life sciences industry, namely Research Products, Biotherapeutic Media and Sera, Rapid Microbial Detection and Cell Therapy/BioServices (such business, as engaged in by the Bioproducts Companies as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Bioproducts Business</u>), and (ii) through the Biopharma Companies, the provision of contract services for development and manufacturing of therapeutic proteins, vaccines and other biologic drugs (such business, as engaged in by the Biopharma Companies as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Companies</u> as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Companies</u> as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Companies</u> as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Companies</u> as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Companies</u> as of the date hereof, being referred to herein as the <u>Biopharma Business</u>, and collectively with the Biopharma Companies Business);

WHEREAS, the Sellers desire to sell, and Purchasers desire to purchase, (i) the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the shares of CBM Intellectual Property Inc., a Nevada corporation (<u>CBM Intellectual Property</u>)), and (ii) all of the assets of CBM Intellectual Property, in each case on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to provide certain transition services to Purchasers and the Bio Companies following the Closing Date on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Transition Services Agreement attached as <u>Exhibit A</u> hereto (the <u>Transition Services Agreement</u>);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Purchasers and the Sellers hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

SALE OF SHARES AND CLOSING

SECTION 1.1 Purchase and Sale.

(a) Each Seller that directly owns Bio Companies Shares issued by Bio Companies incorporated, formed or organized under the laws of any jurisdiction outside the United States (collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Non-US Bio</u> <u>Companies</u>; and the Bio Companies Shares issued by Non-US Bio Companies collectively being referred to herein as the <u>Non-US Bio</u> <u>Non-US Bio</u> <u>Non-US Bio</u> <u>Companies</u>) agrees to sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Swiss Holdco, and

Lonza Swiss Holdco agrees to purchase from each such Seller, at the Closing, all of the right, title and interest of Sellers in and to the Non-US Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Non-US Bio Company Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland IP Limited, an Irish private limited company (<u>Cambrex Ireland IP</u>), on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

Table of Contents

(b) Each Seller that directly owns Bio Companies Shares issued by Bio Companies incorporated, formed or organized under the laws of any state in the United States (collectively being referred to herein as the <u>US Bio Companies</u>; and the Bio Companies Shares issued by US Bio Companies collectively being referred to herein as the <u>US Bio Companies</u>) agrees to sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza America, and Lonza America agrees to purchase from each such Seller, at the Closing, all of the right, title and interest of Sellers in and to the US Bio Companies Shares (excluding the US Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

(c) CBM Intellectual Property agrees to sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Sales AG, and Lonza Sales AG agrees to purchase from CBM Intellectual Property, at the Closing, all of the right, title and interest of CBM Intellectual Property in and to all of the assets of CBM Intellectual Property on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

(d) Cambrex Bahamas Inc., a Bahamas corporation and the owner of 100% of the Non-US Bio Companies Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland IP, agrees to sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Sales AG, and Lonza Sales AG agrees to purchase from Cambrex Bahamas Inc., at the Closing, all of the right, title and interest of Cambrex Bahamas Inc. in and to the Non-US Bio Companies Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland IP, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 1.2 Purchase Price.

(a) The aggregate amount payable by Purchasers at the Closing for the Bio Companies Shares and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property shall be equal to US \$460,000,000 (the <u>Initial Purchase Price</u>).

(b) The <u>Final Purchase Price</u> shall be an amount equal to the Initial Purchase Price

Plus or minus, as applicable,

(i) Working Capital to the extent it exceeds (in which case, the Initial Purchase Price shall be increased) or to the extent it is less than (in which case, the Initial Purchase Price shall be decreased) US \$56,000,000 (<u>Target Working Capital</u>): provided, however, that there shall be no such increase or decrease unless Working Capital exceeds or is less than, as the case may be, Target Working Capital by more than US \$1,000,000, in which case the adjustment required by this clause (i) shall be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the first dollar;

Minus,

(ii) the Additional Adjustment Amount, if any; <u>provided</u> that the Additional Adjustment Amount shall be deemed to be US \$0 unless it exceeds US \$500,000, in which case the adjustment required by this clause (ii) shall be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the first dollar.

Attached as <u>Section 1.2 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> is a schedule setting forth the Company s good faith, illustrative determination of (i) Working Capital, (ii) any Additional Adjustment Amount and (iii) the Final Purchase Price, in each case as if the Closing Date had been August 31, 2006 and determined in accordance with GAAP (the <u>Signing Date Adjustment Schedule</u>). Following the delivery of the Signing Date Adjustment Schedule to Purchasers, the Company will consider such revisions thereto as are reasonably proposed by Purchasers.

(c) In determining the Final Purchase Price, to the extent any components or amounts are not reflected in U.S. dollars, the spot or currency market exchange rates as of the date two (2) business days before the Closing Date will be utilized.

SECTION 1.3 <u>Final Purchase Price and Post-Closing Adjustment Amount</u>. Subsequent to the Closing, (i) the Company shall be obligated to make a payment to Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) to the extent that the Final Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 1.4</u> is less than the Initial Purchase Price or (ii) Purchasers shall be obligated to make a payment to the Company (for itself and as agent for the other Sellers) to the extent the Final Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 1.4</u> exceeds the Initial Purchase Price. The amount equal to the difference between the Initial Purchase Price and the Final Purchase

Price as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 1.4</u> is referred to herein as the <u>Post-Closing Adjustment Amount</u>. The Post-Closing Adjustment Amount shall be paid pursuant to <u>Section 1.5(b)</u> and (c).

SECTION 1.4 Preparation of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement.

(a) As soon as practicable on or following the Closing Date, but in no event later than the seventh (7th) business day following the Closing Date, Purchasers and their Representatives shall conduct a physical count of the Inventory as of the close of business on the Closing Date. The physical count of such Inventory shall be observed and confirmed by the Company and its Representatives. The results of the physical count of the Inventory, which shall take into account changes in Inventory between the Closing Date and the date on which such physical count is completed, shall be used to prepare the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule pursuant to paragraph (b) below.

(b) Within thirty (30) days after the Closing Date, Purchasers shall prepare and deliver to the Company a post-Closing purchase price adjustment schedule (the <u>Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule</u>) setting forth in reasonable detail Purchasers good faith determination of (i) Working Capital, (ii) any Additional Adjustment Amount and (iii) the Final Purchase Price, in each case as of the Closing Date and determined in accordance with GAAP. The Company shall give Purchasers and their Representatives (including their advisors and accountants) such assistance and access to the assets and books and records and relevant personnel of the Company and its Subsidiaries as Purchasers may reasonably request during normal business hours in order to enable Purchasers to prepare the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule. Following delivery of the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule, Purchasers shall give the Company and its Representatives (including its advisors and accountants) such assistance and access to the assets and books and records and relevant personnel of such assistance and access to the assets and books and records and relevant personnel of the Company and its Representatives (including its advisors and accountants) such assistance and access to the assets and books and records and relevant personnel of Purchasers and the Bio Companies as the Company may reasonably request during normal business hours in order to analyze the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule.

(c) The Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule shall be final and binding on the parties unless the Company shall, within thirty (30) days following the delivery of the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule, deliver to Purchasers written notice of objection (the <u>Objection Notice</u>) with respect to the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule. The Objection Notice shall specify in reasonable detail each disputed item on the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule (each, a <u>Disputed Item</u>) and describe in reasonable detail the basis for each Disputed Item, including the data that forms the basis thereof, as well as the amount in dispute. Notwithstanding the delivery of an Objection Notice, the Post-Closing Adjustment Schedule shall be final and binding to the extent any item is not a Disputed Item.

(d) If the Objection Notice is delivered, the parties shall consult with each other with respect to the Disputed Items and attempt in good faith to resolve the dispute. If the parties are unable to reach agreement within fifteen (15) days after delivery of the Objection Notice, either Purchasers or the Company may refer any unresolved Disputed Items to the Independent Accountants. The Independent Accountants shall be directed to render a written report as promptly as practicable and, in any event, within fifteen (15) days after the Independent Accountants engagement on the unresolved Disputed Items, within the range of values proposed for each Disputed Item by Purchasers and the Company, and to resolve only those issues of dispute set forth in the Objection Notice. The Independent Accountants shall resolve such issues of dispute on a basis consistent with GAAP, and such resolution shall be final and binding on the parties. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountants shall be borne by the non-prevailing party if and to the extent that the resolution validates the position of the prevailing party and the Final Purchase Price determined by such resolution is more than one percent (1%) greater or less than the Final Purchase Price proposed by the non-prevailing party. Otherwise, Purchasers, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other, shall each pay 50% of the fees and expenses of the Independent Accountants.

SECTION 1.5 Closing; Payment of Post-Closing Adjustment Amount.

(a) The closing of the purchase and sale of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the purchase and sale of the assets of CBM Intellectual Property pursuant to this Agreement (the <u>Closing</u>) shall take place at 10:00 a.m. (New York time) on a date to be specified by the parties (the <u>Closing Date</u>), which date shall be no later than the second 2 business day after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Article V</u> (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions at such time), at the offices of Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP, 1 Chase Manhattan Plaza, New York, New York 10005, unless another time, date or

place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. At the Closing, Purchasers will pay to the Company (for itself and as agent for the other Sellers) an amount equal to the Initial Purchase Price less the Pay-Off Amount (which shall be payable by Purchasers to the lenders under the Credit Agreement in accordance with <u>Section 1.6(b)</u>) (the <u>Net Closing Purchase Price</u>). Such payment to the Company at Closing shall be by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by the Company in writing at least three (3) business days prior to the Closing Date.

(b) At the Closing, the Purchasers payment to the Company pursuant to <u>Section 1.5(a)</u> and the Sellers delivery of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) pursuant to <u>Section 1.1(b)</u> shall occur in the following sequence:

(i) each Seller that owns any Non-US Bio Companies Shares shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Swiss Holdco all of such Seller s right, title and interest in and to such Non-US Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Non-US Bio Companies Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland IP), against payment by Lonza Swiss Holdco of the portion of the Net Closing Purchase Price attributable to such Non-US Bio Companies Shares; then

(ii) Cambrex Bio Science Walkersville, Inc., a Delaware corporation (<u>Cambrex Walkersville</u>), will distribute to the Company all of Cambrex Walkersville s right, title and interest to the Net Closing Purchase Price proceeds received or receivable from Lonza Swiss Holdco pursuant to <u>Section 1.5(b)(i)</u> and attributable to the Bio Companies Shares owned immediately prior to the Closing by Cambrex Walkersville (including such proceeds received by the Company in its capacity as agent for Cambrex Walkersville under <u>Section 1.5(b)(i)</u>; then

(iii) each Seller that owns any US Bio Companies Shares shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza America all of such Seller s right, title and interest in and to such Bio Companies Shares (excluding the US Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM IP Seller), against payment by Lonza America of the portion of the Net Closing Purchase Price attributable to such transferred US Bio Companies Shares; then

(iv) (A) CBM Intellectual Property shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Sales AG all of the right, title and interest of CBM Intellectual Property in and to all of its assets pursuant to a general bill of sale that describes the assets generically but does not specify the name of each asset, and (B) Cambrex Bahamas Inc. shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Lonza Sales AG all of the right, title and interest of Cambrex Bahamas Inc. in and to the Non-US Bio Companies Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland, in each case against payment by Lonza Sales AG of the portion of the Net Closing Purchase Price attributable to the assets of CBM Intellectual Property and the Non-US Bio Companies Shares issued by Cambrex Ireland.

At the Closing, the Sellers shall deliver to each Purchaser certificates representing all Bio Companies Shares purchased by such Purchaser under this Agreement, in genuine and unaltered form, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by duly executed stock powers, in form and substance satisfactory to Purchasers and endorsed in blank, with requisite stock transfer tax stamps, if any, attached; <u>provided</u> that Cambrex Bio Science Clermont Ferrand SAS shall not deliver certificates representing fifteen thousand (15,000) shares of Genolife do Brazil held by Maria E. Menezes and Jose Carlos Serufo, each of whom is a director of such company (the <u>Directors Qualifying Shares</u>). At the Closing, there shall also be delivered to the Company and Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) the certificates and other instruments to be delivered under <u>Article V</u>.

(c) After the final determination of the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount in accordance with <u>Section 1.4</u>, the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount, if any, shall be paid as follows:

(i) if the Final Purchase Price is greater than the Initial Purchase Price, Purchasers shall pay to the Company (for itself and as agent for the other Sellers) the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount, together with any interest earned on such

amount; or

(ii) if the Final Purchase is less than the Initial Purchase Price, the Company (for itself and as agent for the other Sellers) shall pay to Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount, together with any interest earned on such amount.

(d) Payment of the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount shall be made as soon as practicable, but in no event more than three (3) business days, following the final determination of the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount by wire transfer of immediately available funds to a single account designated in writing at least three (3) business days prior to such payment by the Company or Purchasers, as the case may be, and shall be accompanied by a payment of interest determined by computing simple interest on the Post-Closing Adjustment Amount from the Closing Date to the date of payment at the rate of interest announced publicly by JPMorgan Chase Bank as its reference rate (on the basis of a 365-day year).

SECTION 1.6 Prepayment of Credit Agreement Indebtedness.

(a) At least three (3) business days prior to the Anticipated Closing Date or such earlier time as is necessary or appropriate under the Credit Agreement, the Company shall provide (i) the notice required under the terms of the Credit Agreement in order to terminate the commitments of the lenders under the Credit Agreement and prepay on the Closing Date all Indebtedness outstanding under the Credit Agreement and to otherwise discharge in full all obligations of the borrowers thereunder, (ii) written notice to Purchasers of the total amount necessary to pay all Indebtedness outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of the Closing Date and to otherwise discharge in full all obligations of the borrowers thereunder (the <u>Pay-Off Amount</u>) and (iii) to Purchasers appropriate payoff letters and forms of Lien releases with respect to all Indebtedness of the Company and the Subsidiaries under the Credit Agreement.

(b) At the Closing, Purchasers shall pay to the lenders under the Credit Agreement the Pay-Off Amount by wire transfer of immediately available funds and in accordance with wire instructions set forth in the payoff letters referenced in <u>Section 1.6(a)</u> or, if the payoff letters contain no wire instructions, in accordance with wire instructions to be delivered to the Purchasers by the Company in writing at least three (3) business days prior to the Closing Date. The foregoing payment by Purchasers shall be, and for all purposes will be considered as, payment on behalf of the Company and in respect of obligations and liabilities of the Company.

(c) The Company represents to Purchasers that upon payment of the amounts set forth in this <u>Section 1.6</u>, the Company and the Bio Companies will not be subject to any further obligations or liabilities with respect to the Credit Agreement or the Pay-Off Amount.

SECTION 1.7 Further Assurances; Post-Closing Cooperation.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at any time or from time to time after the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall execute and deliver such other documents and instruments, provide such materials and information and take such other actions as may reasonably be necessary, proper or advisable, to the extent permitted by Law, to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Following the Closing, each party will afford the other party, its counsel and its accountants, during normal business hours, reasonable access to the books, records, personnel files, payroll files and other data relating to the Bio Companies Business in its possession with respect to periods prior to the Closing and the right to make copies and extracts therefrom, to the extent that such access may be reasonably required by the requesting party in connection with (i) the preparation of Tax Returns, (ii) the determination or enforcement of rights and obligations under this Agreement, (iii) compliance with the requirements of any Governmental Authority, (iv) in connection with any actual or threatened Action or Proceeding, including, but not limited to, the Rubin Litigation or (v) the determination of pension or other benefits. In addition, Purchasers agree that, in the event that the Rubin Litigation proceeds to trial, it shall, and shall cause the Bio Companies to, allow the Company and its Representatives reasonable access to employees and personnel of the Bio Companies as necessary for purposes of such litigation and that Purchasers shall, and shall cause the Bio Companies to, make all reasonable efforts to ensure that any employees or personnel of the

Bio Companies will appear if called to testify at trial. Further, each party agrees for a period extending seven (7) years after the Closing Date not to destroy or otherwise dispose of any such books, records, personnel files, payroll files and other data unless such party shall first offer in writing to surrender such books, records, personnel files, payroll files and other data to the other party and such other party shall not agree in writing to take possession thereof during the sixty (60) day period after such offer is made. The parties acknowledge and agree that any cooperation and access provided by or on behalf of Purchasers as contemplated in this <u>Section 1.7(b)</u>, including but not limited to any cooperation and access provided by Purchasers and their employees

and personnel in connection with the Rubin Litigation or any other Company Liability, shall under no circumstances imply that Purchasers, the Bio Companies or their respective Affiliates are assuming or retaining any Liabilities arising out of, resulting from or relating to the Rubin Litigation or such other Company Liability, which Liabilities shall remain obligations of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

(c) If, in order properly to prepare its Tax Returns, other documents or reports required to be filed with Governmental Authorities or its financial statements or to fulfill its obligations hereunder, it is necessary that a party be furnished with additional information, documents or records relating to the Bio Companies Business not referred to in paragraph (b) above, and such information, documents or records are in possession or control of the other party, such other party agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to furnish or make available such information, documents or records (or copies thereof) at the recipient s request, cost and expense.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this <u>Section 1.7</u>, if the parties are in an adversarial relationship in litigation or arbitration, the furnishing of information, documents or records relevant or necessary to the prosecution or defense of any such litigation or arbitration shall be subject to applicable rules relating to discovery.

(e) Any party requesting information pursuant to <u>Section 1.7(b)</u> or <u>(c)</u> shall reimburse the non-requesting party for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs, if any, of creating, gathering, copying and transporting such information. In addition, in the event that employees and personnel of the Bio Companies are requested by the Company and made available to the Company and its Representatives in connection with the Rubin Litigation or any other Action or Proceeding, the Company shall reimburse Purchasers or the applicable Bio Company employer of such employees or personnel for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs of any travel and other expenses incurred in connection with the Company s request.

SECTION 1.8 <u>Withholding</u>. Purchasers shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable to any Person pursuant to this Article such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under any provision of federal, state, local or foreign Tax Law. Purchasers shall provide the Company with a reasonably detailed explanation of the need and basis for any such deduction and withholding of payment at least five (5) business days prior to making such deduction and withholding of payment. If any Purchaser so withholds amounts, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been fully paid.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS

The Sellers represent and warrant to Purchasers that, except as set forth in the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter delivered by the Company to Purchasers simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement (the <u>Bio Companies</u> <u>Disclosure Letter</u>) (it being understood that any matter set forth in the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter shall not be deemed disclosed with respect to any Section of this <u>Article II</u> to which the matter relates unless the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter identifies the matter with reasonable particularity and describes the relevant facts in reasonable detail, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the mere listing of a document or other item shall not be deemed adequate disclosure to any matter unless the representation or warranty pertains to the existence of the document or other item itself):

SECTION 2.1 Organization and Standing.

(a) Each Seller is a corporation or other organization duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization. Each Seller is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned or leased or held under license by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary,

except where the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair in any material respect the ability of any Seller to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

(b) Each of the Bio Companies is a corporation or other organization duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization. Each of the Bio Companies is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned or leased or held under license by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect. Section 2.1(b) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of the jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each Bio Company.

(c) The Company has previously made available to Purchasers complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or other comparable organizational documents) of each of the Bio Companies, as amended to the date of this Agreement (the <u>Bio Companies Charter Documents</u>). None of the Bio Companies is in violation of any provision of its respective certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or other comparable organizational documents).

(d) The minute books (containing the records of meetings of the stockholders, the board of directors and any committees of the board of directors), the stock certificate books and the stock record books for each of the Bio Companies are correct and complete in all material respects.

SECTION 2.2 <u>Capitalization</u>. (a) The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each of the Bioproducts Companies is as set forth in <u>Section 2.2(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>. All the outstanding shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each Bio Company are duly authorized, have been validly issued, are fully paid, nonassessable and free of preemptive rights, and are owned directly or indirectly by one of the Sellers free and clear of all Liens, claims and demands (other than the Directors Qualifying Shares). The delivery of certificates at the Closing representing the Bio Companies Shares in the manner provided in <u>Section 1.5</u> will transfer to Purchasers good and valid title to the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property), free and clear of all Liens, claims and demands other than those created by Purchasers.

(b) There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchaser rights or other contractual obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (i) restricting the transfer of, (ii) affecting the voting rights of, (iii) requiring the sale, transfer, issuance or other disposition of, or the repurchase, redemption or disposition of, or containing any right of first refusal with respect to, (iv) requiring the registration for sale of, or (v) granting any preemptive or anti-dilutive right with respect to, any shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, any of the Bio Companies. There are no outstanding or authorized bonds, debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of any of the Bio Companies having the right to vote (or convertible into or exchangeable for securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which stockholders of any of the Bio Companies may vote. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights with respect to any of the Bio Companies.

SECTION 2.3 Authority; Noncontravention; Voting Requirements.

(a) The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and, subject to obtaining the Company Stockholder Authorization, to perform its obligations hereunder, and Sellers have all necessary corporate power and authority, subject in the case of the Company to obtaining the Company Stockholder Authorization, to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Companies Transactions, have been duly authorized and approved by the board of directors of Sellers and by each of the stockholders of the Bio Companies Sellers, and except for obtaining the Company Stockholder Authorization, no other corporate action on the part of Sellers is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Company of this Agreement and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Company of this Agreement and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Company of this Agreement and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Company of this Agreement and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Companies Transactions. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered

by the Company and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery hereof by Purchasers, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laws of general application affecting or relating to the

enforcement of creditors rights generally and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity, whether considered in a proceeding at Law or in equity (the <u>Bankruptcy and Equity Exception</u>).

(b) The Company Board, at a meeting duly called and held, has (i) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions and directed that this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions be submitted to the holders of shares of Company Common Stock for their authorization, and (ii) resolved, subject to Section 4.2, to recommend that the holders of Company Common Stock authorize this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions.

(c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company nor the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Companies Transactions, nor compliance by Sellers with any of the terms or provisions hereof, will (i) conflict with or violate any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or other comparable organization documents) of any Seller, (ii) assuming that the authorizations, consents and approvals referred to in <u>Section 2.4</u> and the Company Stockholder Authorization are obtained and the filings referred to in <u>Section 2.4</u> are made, (x) violate any Law, judgment, writ, injunction or other restriction of any Governmental Authority applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (y) conflict with, result in a breach of, violate, constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel, or require any notice under any loan or credit agreement, debenture, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, lease, license, contract or other agreement (each, a <u>Contract</u>) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or (iii) result in the imposition or creation of a Lien upon or with respect to the Bio Companies Shares, except, in the case of clause (ii), for such violations or defaults as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or to impair in any material respect the ability of Sellers to perform their obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

(d) The affirmative vote (in person or by proxy) of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock in favor of authorizing this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions is the only vote or approval of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of the Company which is necessary to authorize this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions (the <u>Company Stockholder Authorization</u>).

SECTION 2.4 <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for (i) the filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the <u>SEC</u>) of the Proxy Statement in definitive form, and other filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the <u>Exchange Act</u>), and the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (<u>NYSE</u>), (ii) filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the HSR Act and (iii) filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, non-U.S. Laws intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions or transactions having the purpose or effect of monopolization, restraint of trade, harm to competition or effectuating foreign investment (collectively, <u>Foreign Antitrust Laws</u>), no notices, consents or approvals of, or filings, declarations or registrations with, any Governmental Authority are necessary for the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by Sellers of the Bio Companies Transactions, other than such notices, consents, approvals, filings, declarations or registrations that, if not obtained, made or given, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or to impair in any material respect the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 2.5 Financial Statements: Undisclosed Liabilities; Company SEC Documents.

(a) Prior to the execution of this Agreement, the Company has made available to Purchasers true and complete copies of (i) the audited combined balance sheets of the Bioproducts Companies as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, and the related audited combined statements of income, changes in invested equity and comprehensive income,

and cash flows for each of the fiscal years then ended, together with a true and correct copy of the report on such audited information by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, (ii) the unaudited combined balance sheets of the Biopharma Companies as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, and the related unaudited combined statements of income for each of the fiscal years then ended, (iii) the unaudited combined balance sheets of the Bioproducts Companies as of August 31, 2006, and the related unaudited combined statements of income for the eight-month period then ended, and (iv) the unaudited combined balance sheets of the Biopharma Companies as

of August 31, 2006, and the related unaudited combined statements of income for the eight-month period then ended. Except as set forth in the notes thereto and as disclosed in <u>Section 2.5 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, the financial statements identified in clause (i) above were prepared in accordance with all applicable requirements of Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC, the financial statements identified in clause (ii) above were prepared on a basis consistent with the financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 included in the Company SEC Documents (as defined in paragraph (c) below), and the unaudited interim financial statements identified in clauses (iii) and (iv) above were prepared on a basis consistent with the preparation of its internal monthly financial statements in the ordinary course and are subject to normal year-end adjustments (which will not be material, individually or in the aggregate, in kind or amount). The books and records of the Company and the Bio Companies have been, and are being, maintained in all material respects in accordance with applicable legal and accounting requirements and are in all material respects with such books and records.

(b) None of the Bio Companies has any Liabilities or obligations of whatever kind or nature, except Liabilities (i) reflected or reserved against on the combined balance sheet of the Bioproducts Companies as of December 31, 2005 (the <u>Balance Sheet Date</u>) included in the financial statements referred to in clause (i) of paragraph (a) above (including the notes thereto, the <u>Bioproducts Balance Sheet</u>) or on the combined balance sheet of the Biopharma Companies as of the Balance Sheet Date included in the financial statements referred to in clause (ii) of paragraph (a) above (including the notes thereto, the <u>Biopharma Balance Sheet</u>), as applicable, (ii) Liabilities and obligations in existence as of the Balance Sheet Date not required to be reflected or reserved against on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, (iii) incurred after the Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business, (iv) incurred under this Agreement or otherwise in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions and expressly contemplated by this Agreement to remain outstanding following the closing or (v) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect.

(c) The Company has filed all forms, reports and documents required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 2004 (collectively, including without limitation the financial statements and related schedules included therein, and as such forms, reports and documents shall have been amended or supplemented from time to time, the <u>Company SEC</u> <u>Documents</u>). As of their respective SEC filing dates, and insofar as they related to the Bio Companies Business or the Bio Company with the SEC after the date of this Agreement, including all financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Documents or in reports, forms and other documents filed by the Company with the SEC after the date of this Agreement (in each case insofar as they related or relate to the Bio Companies Business or the Bio Companies), (i) complied or will comply in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and (ii) did not, or will not, contain any untrue statement of a material fact with respect to the Bio Companies Business or the Bio Companies or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No Bio Company is required to file any report, form or other document with the SEC.

SECTION 2.6 <u>Absence of Certain Changes</u>. Since the Balance Sheet Date, (a) the Bio Companies Business has been carried on and operated in all material respects in the ordinary course of business, (b) there have not been any events, changes or occurrences that have had or are reasonably expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect and (c) no action, event, occurrence or transaction has taken place that would have been prohibited by <u>Section 4.1(a)</u> without the consent of Lonza America (on behalf of itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) if this Agreement had been in effect at the time thereof.

SECTION 2.7 Legal Proceedings. Section 2.7 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter sets forth each instance in which (a) any of the Sellers or Bio Companies or their respective properties or assets (i) is a party or, to the Knowledge of any of the Sellers, is threatened to be made a party to any Action or Proceeding or (ii) is subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling or charge by or before any Governmental Authority, with each such Section of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter separately indicating which instances apply to the Sellers and the Sellers properties and which apply to the Bio Companies and the Bio Companies properties. None of the matters set forth under Section 2.7 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter would reasonably be expected to

have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions. None of the Sellers has any reason to believe that any such Action of Proceeding may be brought or threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or that there is any past or present fact, situation, circumstance, status, condition, activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, failure to act or transaction that forms or could form the basis for any such Action or Proceeding, that in any such case would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 2.8 Compliance With Laws; Permits; Food and Drug Laws; Quality.

(a) The Bio Companies have been and remain in material compliance with all applicable Laws, and no Action or Proceeding, claim, demand or notice has been filed, commenced or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against any Bio Company alleging any failure to so comply.

(b) The Bio Companies own all Permits necessary for the lawful conduct of the Bio Companies Business and all such Permits are valid and in full force and effect, except where the failure to hold the same or of the same to be valid and in full force and effect would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect. The Bio Companies are in material compliance with the terms of all such Permits. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.8 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, no Permit required to be obtained or maintained by the Sellers (with respect to the Bio Companies Business) or any Bio Company has ever been suspended or terminated.

(c) All facilities operated by the Bio Companies in connection with the operation of the Bio Companies Business have been operated and remain in material compliance with the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act and regulations and guidelines thereunder and the regulations of the FDA, the USDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and all other jurisdictions, in each case to the extent applicable, including without limitation current Good Manufacturing Practices and current Good Laboratory Practices of the FDA or laid down in the Member States of the European Economic Area, and all similar Laws applicable to the operation of the Bio Companies Business (collectively, Food and Drug Laws). Additionally, all products of the Bio Companies currently in the marketplace, including those related to investigational use, pre-market clearance and applications or abbreviated applications, (i) have been, and in-process products of the Bio Companies will be, prior to the Closing Date, manufactured, packaged, labeled, stored and shipped materially in accordance with all applicable Food and Drug Laws; (ii) are not, and in-process products of the Bio Companies will not be, prior to the Closing Date, materially adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of any applicable Food and Drug Law; and (iii) are not, and in-process products of the Bio Companies will not be, prior to the Closing Date, articles which may not be introduced into interstate commerce under the provisions of any applicable Food and Drug Law. Additionally, all techniques, processes and clinical trials used, supervised or conducted by the Bio Companies, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, by the Bio Companies third party vendors and independent contractors, for the manufacturing or processing of products for use have been and remain in material compliance with all Food and Drug Laws. The Bio Companies have consistently and in all material respects followed their ISO 9002 quality systems to the extent applicable and all applicable Food and Drug Laws, including those Food and Drug Laws applicable to manufacturing, processing, operations, animal housing, animal care and husbandry, and the extraction of human cells, tissue cells and other substances.

(d) None of the Bio Companies has received any warning letter, notice of violation or other correspondence or communication from the FDA or any other Governmental Authority stating or suggesting that any of the Bio Companies (i) violated any Food and Drug Laws in any material respect or (ii) will be required to suspend or discontinue any portion of the Bio Companies Business. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions that would reasonably be expected to form the basis for any investigation, Action or Proceeding with respect to a recall, suspension or discontinuance of the Bio Companies manufacture or sale of any products or the performance of any services or the suspension or discontinuance of any other material portion of the

Bio Companies Business.

(e) Neither the Company nor any of the Bio Companies has been debarred by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a (1999). To the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the Sellers (with respect to the Bio Companies Business) or Bio

Companies uses or has used the services of any Person who at the time that the services were rendered was debarred by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a (1999).

(f) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no director, officer or employee of any of the Bio Companies has ever been convicted of a felony under any Law for conduct relating to the development, testing or approval of any drug product or device, including, without limitation, the preparation or submission of a new drug application, abbreviated new drug application, device 510(k) notification, device premarket approval application or biologics license application and, in the European Economic Area, the preparation or submission of an application for marketing authorization.

SECTION 2.9 <u>Proxy Statement</u>. Subject to the accuracy of the representations and warranties of Purchasers set forth in <u>Section 3.4</u>, the Proxy Statement, and any amendments or supplements thereto, will not, on the date it is first mailed to the holders of Company Common Stock, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, and will not, at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting, omit to state any material fact necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication from the Company with respect to the Company Stockholders Meeting which shall have become false or misleading in any material respect. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to information supplied by or on behalf of Purchasers for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement.

SECTION 2.10 Tax Matters.

(a) Each of the Bio Companies has timely filed, or there has been timely filed on their behalf (taking into account any extension of time within which to file), all Tax Returns required to be filed with respect thereto, and all such filed Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects; (ii) all Taxes shown to be due on such Tax Returns have been timely paid; (iii) no deficiency with respect to Taxes has been proposed, asserted or assessed against any of the Bio Companies which have not been fully paid or adequately reserved in the Bioproducts Balance Sheet or Biopharma Balance Sheet; (iv) no Bio Company has requested any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return, which Tax Return has not since been filed, and (v) no audit or other Action or Proceeding is pending (or to the Knowledge of the Sellers threatened) with any Governmental Authority with respect to Taxes of any of the Bio Companies, and no written notice thereof has been received.

(b) Since the Balance Sheet Date, none of the Bio Companies has incurred any liability for Taxes outside the ordinary course of business or otherwise inconsistent with past custom and practice.

(c) None of the Bio Companies is a party to any Contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any amount that is not deductible under sections 162(m) or 280G of the Code.

(d) None of the Bio Companies is a party to or bound by any Tax allocation or sharing agreement (other than any such agreement between or among the Company, its Subsidiaries and the Bio Companies).

(e) None of the Bio Companies (i) has been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than any such group the common parent of which is the Company) or (ii) has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries or any other Bio Company) under United States Treasury Regulation §1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by Contract, or otherwise.

(f) There are no Liens for Taxes upon any material property or other material assets of any of the Bio Companies, except Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable and Liens for Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.

(g) All Taxes required to be withheld, collected or deposited by or with respect to any of the Bio Companies have been timely withheld, collected or deposited, as the case may be, and to the extent required, have been paid to the relevant Tax Authority or other Governmental Authority, except for such failure to do any of the foregoing as

would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect.

(h) The Bio Companies will not be required to include any amount in income in a post-Closing Tax period as a result of any adjustment to income under Code section 481 or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law in connection with a change in accounting method made in a taxable year for which Tax Returns have been filed prior to the date hereof.

(i) In the past five (5) years, none of the Bio Companies has been a party to a transaction that has been reported as a reorganization within the meaning of Code section 368, or distributed as a corporation (or been distributed) in a transaction that is reported to qualify under Code section 355.

(j) Since January 1, 2003, no written claim has been made by a Tax Authority in a jurisdiction where a Bio Company does not file a Tax Return asserting that such Bio Company is subject to Tax in that jurisdiction. No Bio Company that is organized under the Laws of the United States or any State therein has, or has had, a permanent establishment or other taxable presence in any foreign country, as determined pursuant to applicable foreign Law and any applicable Tax treaty or convention between the United States and such foreign country.

(k) No Bio Company has been a party to a reportable transaction as such term is defined in Treasury Regulations section 1.6011-4(b)(1) or to a transaction that is or is substantially similar to a listed transaction, as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation \$1.6011-4(b)(2).

(1) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including each Bio Company, has fully performed any and all of its obligations under Code section 965 and that certain domestic reinvestment plan adopted by the Company pursuant thereto to the extent such actions were required to be performed prior to the date hereof. Any further actions that are required of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including each Bio Company) after the date hereof in order to ensure that the Tax benefits of Code section 965 will be derived as contemplated in such domestic reinvestment plan will be performed when required.

(m) For purposes of this Agreement: (i) <u>Taxes</u> shall mean (x) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges, fees, imposts, levies or other assessments, including all net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property and estimated taxes, customs duties, fees, assessments or similar charges, (y) all interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any Governmental Authority in connection with any item described in clause (x), and (z) any liability in respect of any items described in clauses (x) and/or (y) payable by reason of Contract, assumption, transferee liability, being party to any agreement or any express or implied obligation to indemnify any other Person, operation of Law, Treasury Regulation §1.1502-6(a) (or any predecessor or successor thereof of any analogous or similar provision under Law) or otherwise as a result of being or having been before the Closing Date a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for federal, state, local or foreign Tax purposes, and (ii) <u>Tax Returns</u> shall mean any return, report, claim for refund, estimate, information return or statement or other similar document relating to or required to be filed with any Governmental Authority with respect to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

(n) This <u>Section 2.10</u> contains the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of the Sellers with respect to Tax matters.

SECTION 2.11 Employee Benefits and Labor Matters.

(a) Section 2.11(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter lists each employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (<u>ERISA</u>)) and any other material employee benefit plan, program, policy, contract, arrangement or agreement, including, but not limited to, any material retirement or deferred compensation plan, incentive compensation plan, stock plan, retention plan or agreement, unemployment compensation plan, vacation pay, change in control, severance pay, bonus or benefit arrangement, insurance or hospitalization program or fringe benefit arrangement that is maintained or sponsored by any Bio Company, to which any Bio Company contributes or is required to contribute, in which any current or former employee of any Bio Company participates or is eligible to participate or with respect to which any Bio

Company has any Liability, but excluding, in each case, any plan, program or arrangement required to be maintained or contributed to by applicable Law or by national labor agreement (each, a <u>Bio Companies Plan</u>). The Company has made available to Purchasers correct and complete copies of (i) each Bio Companies Plan (or, in the case of any such Bio Companies Plan that is unwritten, descriptions thereof) that will be sponsored by any Bio Company after Closing in accordance with the provisions of Article VII (the Assumed Bio Companies Plans), (ii) the most recent annual reports on Form 5500 required to be filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the <u>IRS</u>) with respect to each Assumed Bio Companies Plan (if any such report was required), (iii) the most recent summary plan description for each Assumed Bio Companies Plan for which such summary plan description is required and (iv) each material trust agreement and insurance or group annuity Contract relating to any Assumed Bio Companies Plan. Each Bio Companies Plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been administered in accordance with its terms other than instances of non-compliance as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect. The Bio Companies and each corporation, trade or business which, together with any Bio Company, is a member of a controlled group of corporations or a group of trades or businesses under common control within the meaning of section 414 of the Code (each, an _ERISA Affiliate) (in each case, in connection with the Assumed Bio Companies Plans) and all the Assumed Bio Companies Plans are all in compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and all other applicable Laws, except for any instances of noncompliance that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, and no notice has been issued by any Governmental Authority questioning or challenging such compliance. All Bio Companies Plans that are employee pension plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) that are intended to be Tax qualified under section 401(a) of the Code and exempt from Tax under section 501(a) of the Code have received a favorable opinion or determination letter from the IRS and all amendments to any such plan for which the remedial amendment period (within the meaning of section 401(b) of the Code and applicable regulations) has expired are covered by a favorable determination or opinion letter from the IRS. The Company has made available to Purchasers a correct and complete copy of the most recent opinion or determination letter received with respect to each Assumed Bio Companies Plan, as well as a correct and complete copy of each pending application for an opinion or a determination letter, if any. No Assumed Bio Companies Plan is subject to Title IV of ERISA, a multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA, or an employee benefit plan subject to Sections 4063 or 4064 of ERISA.

(b) Each of the Bio Companies is in compliance with all applicable Laws respecting labor, employment, fair employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, workers compensation, occupational safety, plant closings, and wages and hours, except for such failures to be in compliance as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect. None of the Bio Companies is a party to a collective bargaining agreement and no labor union has been certified to represent any employee of the Bio Companies or any of the Bio Companies or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, has applied to represent or is attempting to organize so as to represent such employees.

(c) <u>Section 2.11(c) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> lists each (i) severance or employment agreement with directors, officers or employees of or consultants to any of the Bio Companies; (ii) severance program or policy with or relating to employees of the Bio Companies; and (iii) plan, program, agreement or other arrangement of, with or relating to any directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Bio Companies which contain change-in-control, retention or comparable provisions.

(d) There have been no prohibited transactions (as described in section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code) with respect to any Assumed Bio Companies Plan and no Bio Company nor any of their respective ERISA Affiliates has engaged in any prohibited transaction, in each case, that would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect.

(e) There have been no acts or omissions by any Bio Company or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates which have given rise to or may give rise to interest, fines, penalties, taxes or related charges under section 502 of ERISA or Chapters 43, 47, 68 or 100 of the Code that would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect.

(f) There are no actions, suits or claims (other than routine claims for benefits) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened involving any Assumed Bio Companies Plan or the assets thereof, and no facts exist which could reasonably be expected to give rise to any such action, suit or claim, that would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect.

(g) With respect to any Bio Companies Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, none of the following has occurred that would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect: (i) a reportable event (as described in section 4043 of ERISA); (ii) steps taken to terminate any such plan; (iii) a withdrawal (within the meaning of section 4063 of ERISA) of a substantial employer (as defined in section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA); or (iv) notice received from the Pension Benefits Guaranty Corporation indicating that it would seek to terminate, or appoint, a trustee to administer any such plan.

(h) None of the Bio Companies or any Subsidiary of any Bio Company has any Liability for providing, under any Assumed Bio Companies Plan or otherwise, any post-retirement medical or life insurance benefits, other than statutory liability for providing group health plan continuation coverage under Part 6 of Title I of ERISA and section 4980B of the Code or applicable state Law or comparable foreign regulations.

(i) <u>Section 2.11(i) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> lists each director and executive officer of each of the Bio Companies. Except as otherwise set forth in <u>Section 2.11(i) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, none of these executive officers has given written notice of his or her intention to leave his or her position, office or employment on or prior to the Closing.

SECTION 2.12 Contracts.

(a) <u>Section 2.12(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> sets forth a correct and complete list as of the date of this Agreement, and the Company has made available to Purchasers and their Representatives correct and complete copies of all Contracts (including all material amendments, modifications, extensions or renewals with respect thereto, but excluding all names, terms and conditions that have been redacted in compliance with the terms of each such Contract or with applicable Laws governing the sharing of information) to which any of the Bio Companies is a party (collectively, the <u>Bio Companies Contracts</u>):

(i) with distributors, dealers, manufacturer s representatives or sales agencies, the performance of which will involve the payment or potential payment, pursuant to the terms of any such Contract, by or to any Bio Company of more than US \$200,000 annually;

(ii) that contain a covenant restricting the ability of any of the Bio Companies to compete in any business or with any Person or in any geographic area;

(iii) with any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company (other than any of the Bio Companies and other than employment or compensation-related Contracts);

(iv) which primarily relate to (A) the granting to any of the Bio Companies of any IP License in or to any Bio Companies Intellectual Property owned by a third party which is material to the Bio Companies Business, or (B) the granting by any of the Bio Companies of any IP License to a third party (including another Bio Company) in or to any Bio Companies Intellectual Property which is material to the Bio Companies Business, in each of clause (A) and (B) above, excluding click-wrap or shrink-wrap agreements, agreements contained in or pertaining to off-the-shelf Software, or the terms of use or service for any web site;

(v) relating to any material joint venture, partnership or other similar arrangement involving co-investment with a third party;

(vi) with a Governmental Authority (other than ordinary course Contracts with Governmental Authorities as a customer) which imposes any material obligation or restriction on any of the Bio Companies;

(vii) pursuant to which any indebtedness for borrowed money of any of the Bio Companies is outstanding or may be incurred (other than indebtedness between Bio Companies) or pursuant to which any of the Bio Companies has guaranteed any indebtedness for borrowed money of any other Person (other than one of the Bio Companies) or under which any of the Bio Companies have imposed a Lien on any of its assets, tangible or intangible (other than trade payables arising in the ordinary course of business);

Table of Contents

(viii) relating to (A) the future disposition or acquisition of any assets or properties individually or in the aggregate material to the Bio Companies Business, other than dispositions or acquisitions in the ordinary course of business, and (B) any merger or other business combination;

(ix) that (A) involve the payment or potential payment, pursuant to the terms of any such Contract, by or to any Bio Company of more than US \$300,000 annually and (B) cannot be terminated within ninety (90) days after giving notice of termination without resulting in any material cost or penalty to any Bio Company (other than Bio Companies Plans and leases listed in Section 2.16 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter);

(x) relating to any collective bargaining agreement, excluding any plan, program or arrangement required to be maintained or contributed to by applicable Law or by national labor agreements;

(xi) providing for the employment of any individual on a full-time, part-time, consulting or other basis providing annual base salary in excess of US \$100,000 or providing severance benefits;

(xii) under which it has granted any Person any registration rights (including, without limitation, demand and piggyback registration rights);

(xiii) providing for any settlement, conciliation or similar agreement, the performance of which will involve payment after the Balance Sheet Date of consideration in excess of US \$100,000;

(xiv) providing for any advancement or loan to any directors, officers or employees of any of the Bio Companies; or

(xv) providing for any advancement or loan to any other Person of amounts in the aggregate exceeding US \$50,000, other than intercompany advancements or loans.

(b) Each Bio Companies Contract is valid and binding on any Seller and Bio Company which is party thereto and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each other party thereto, and is enforceable and in full force and effect. Each Bio Companies Contract will continue to be valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect on identical terms immediately following the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions. The applicable Seller or Bio Company has performed all obligations required to be performed by it prior to the date hereof under each Bio Companies Contract and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each other party to each Bio Companies Contract has performed all material obligations required to be performed by it prior to the date hereof under such Bio Companies Contract. No Seller or Bio Company and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no other party is in breach or default under any Bio Companies Contract, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no event has occurred that constitutes or, with notice or lapse of time, would constitute, a breach or default or permit any party to terminate, modify or accelerate any provisions of a Bio Companies Contract.

SECTION 2.13 Environmental Matters.

(a) The Bio Companies have, for the five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, complied and are in compliance with all Environmental Laws, except for any non-compliance that (i) has been responded to and corrected (including the payment of any fines and penalties with respect thereto), or (ii) would not reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect;

(b) Without limiting the generality of paragraph (a), the Bio Companies have obtained, currently maintain and are in material compliance with all Permits required pursuant to all Environmental Laws for the occupation of their currently leased or owned real estate and/or the current operation of the Bio Companies Business;

(c) The Bio Companies have not received any written claim, complaint, Lien, notice, or Order in the five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, and no Action or Proceeding is pending, regarding any actual or alleged violation of, or Liability under, any Environmental Law or any Liability related to Environmental Conditions;

(d) To the Knowledge of the Sellers and except for matters set forth in <u>Section 2.13(d) of the Bio Companies</u> <u>Disclosure Letter</u>, there has been no Release or Threat of Release of Hazardous Materials at, onto, under or migrating to or from any properties currently or previously owned, operated, occupied or leased by the Bio Companies, or, at any location to which any of the Bio Companies have sent, transported or arranged for the

transportation, treatment or disposal of a Hazardous Material, which Release would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect;

(e) To the Knowledge of the Sellers and except for matters set forth in <u>Section 2.13(e) of the Bio Companies</u> <u>Disclosure Letter</u>, (i) the Bio Companies have not, in the five (5) year period prior to the date of this Agreement, received any letter or written request for information under Section 104 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (<u>CERCLA</u>), or comparable state Laws, and (ii) none of the operations of the Bio Companies are the subject of any investigation by a governmental body evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a Release or threatened Release of any Hazardous Material at any location currently or previously owned, operated, occupied or leased by the Bio Companies or any locations to which either of the Bio Companies have sent, transported, or arranged for the transportation, treatment or disposal of, any Hazardous Material;

(f) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the following exists at any location currently owned, operated, occupied or leased by the Bio Companies: (i) regulated Hazardous Materials underground storage tanks; (ii) asbestos-containing material in a friable or damaged condition; (iii) materials or equipment containing regulated levels polychlorinated biphenyls; or (iv) regulated landfills, surface impoundments, or disposal areas, in each case above, where the presence of any of the foregoing is not in material compliance with Environmental Laws or would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect;

(g) None of the Bio Companies has treated, stored, disposed of, arranged for or permitted the treatment, transportation or disposal of, transported, handled, manufactured, distributed, or released any Hazardous Material, or owned, operated, occupied or leased any property or facility (and no such property or facility is contaminated by any Hazardous Material) in a manner that would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, including any Liability for fines, penalties, response costs, corrective action costs, personal injury, property damage, natural resource damages or attorneys fees, pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (CERCLA), the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, the Clean Water Act, or any other Environmental Law, the common law or civil law;

(h) Neither this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in any material obligations for site investigation or cleanup, or notification to or consent of any Governmental Authority or other third parties, pursuant to any transaction triggered or responsible party transfer Environmental Law;

(i) The Bio Companies are not currently subject to any contractually assumed material Liability of any other Person or entity arising under Environmental Laws, including without limitation any material obligation for corrective or remedial action relating to the Environmental Condition of any property pursuant to any Environmental Law;

(j) The Bio Companies have furnished to Purchasers all non-privileged environmental audits and reports in their possession, custody or control; the possession, custody or control of their Subsidiaries; or the possession, custody or control of the Sellers, prepared within the five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement and relating to the Bio Companies previously or currently owned, operated, occupied or leased properties, facilities or operations; and

(k) The Bio Companies, during the five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, have not entered into any written consent decree or other written agreement in settlement of any alleged violation of or Liability under any applicable Environmental Law, under which decree or agreement any of the Bio Companies has any unfulfilled material obligations.

(1) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, except as set forth on <u>Section 2.13(1) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> or in the forecasts of capital expenditures set forth in <u>Section 4.1 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, there are no

material capital expenditures planned or reasonably foreseeable to maintain compliance with Environmental Laws or Permits.

This <u>Section 2.13</u> contains the sole and exclusive representations and warranties of Sellers with respect to any environmental matters, including without limitation any arising under any Environmental Laws.

SECTION 2.14 Intellectual Property.

(a) As used herein: (i) <u>Intellectual Property</u> means all U.S. and foreign (A) trademarks, service marks, trade names, Internet domain names, designs, logos and slogans, together with goodwill, registrations and applications relating to the foregoing (<u>Trademarks</u>), (B) patents and pending patent applications, invention disclosure statements, and any and all divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part, reissues, reexaminations and extensions thereof, any counterparts claiming priority therefrom and like statutory rights (<u>Patents</u>), (C) registered and unregistered copyrights (including those in Software) and registrations and applications to register the same (<u>Copyrights</u>), (D) confidential technology, know-how, inventions, processes, formulae, algorithms, models and methodologies (<u>Trade Secrets</u>) and (E) databases and compilations, including any and all electronic data and electronic collections of data; (ii) <u>IP Licenses</u> means any license or sublicense rights in or to any Intellectual Property, (iii) <u>Software</u> means all computer programs, including any and all software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies whether in source code or object code form, and all documentation, including user manuals and training materials, related to any of the foregoing; and (iv) <u>Bio Companies Intellectual Property</u> means the Intellectual Property, IP Licenses and Software owned by the Bio Companies, or held for use or used in the Bio Companies Business in their business as currently conducted.

(b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, the Bio Companies own or possess licenses or other legal rights to use, sell or license all Bio Companies Intellectual Property that are appropriate for their business as currently conducted.

(c) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, all Trademark registrations and applications for registration, Patents issued or pending and Copyright registrations and applications for registration included in the Bio Companies Intellectual Property are valid and subsisting, in full force and effect and have not lapsed, expired or been abandoned (subject to the vulnerability of a registration for Trademarks to cancellation for lack of use), and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, are not the subject of any opposition filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office or any other Intellectual Property registry.

(d) Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.14(d) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> or as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect:

(i) the Bio Companies are the sole and exclusive owners of the entire right, title and interest in and to the Bio Companies Intellectual Property except as is set forth in the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter;

(ii) no claim has been made or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against the Bio Companies or their licensees that the ownership or use of the Bio Companies Intellectual Property conflicts with, infringes, misappropriates, dilutes or otherwise violates any of the rights of any third party;

(iii) the Bio Companies have taken all commercially reasonable steps to safeguard their Trade Secrets and to the Knowledge of the Sellers (x) none of the Trade Secrets has been used, divulged, disclosed or appropriated for the benefit of any other Person; (y) no employee, independent contractor or agent of any of the Bio Companies has misappropriated any Trade Secrets in the course of the performance of his or her duties as an employee, independent contractor or agent of any of the Bio Companies; and (z) no employee, independent contractor or agent of any of the Bio Companies; and (z) no employee, independent contractor or agent of any of the Bio Companies is in default or breach of any term of any employment agreement, non-disclosure agreement, assignment of inventions agreement or similar agreement or contract relating in any way to the protection, ownership, development, use or transfer of the Bio Companies Intellectual Property;

(iv) the Bio Companies have made all filings necessary in their reasonable business judgment to protect their interest in the Bio Companies Intellectual Property, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, have used proper statutory notice as

necessary in connection with their use of any Patent, Trademark and Copyright included in the Bio Companies Intellectual Property;

(v) The Bio Companies are not in default in any material respect under the terms of any IP Licenses included in the Bio Companies Intellectual Property;

(vi) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the conduct of the Bio Companies Business does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Intellectual Property rights of any third party;

(vii) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no third party is infringing, misappropriating, diluting or violating any Bio Companies Intellectual Property that is owned by any of the Bio Companies;

(viii) no settlement agreements, consents, orders, forbearances or covenants not to sue, non-assertion assurances, releases or similar obligations to which any of the Bio Companies is a party limit or restrict any rights of any of the Bio Companies in and to any Bio Companies Intellectual Property that is owned or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, used by any of the Bio Companies;

(ix) the Bio Companies have not made a previous assignment, sale, transfer or agreement constituting a present or future assignment, sale or transfer of any Intellectual Property, including for purposes of granting a security interest in respect of any Intellectual Property that has not been terminated or released; and

(x) the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions will not result in the loss or impairment of any rights of any of the Bio Companies to own or use any of the Bio Companies Intellectual Property or obligate any of the Bio Companies to pay any royalties or other amounts to any third party in excess of the amounts that would have been payable by them absent the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 2.15 Insurance. Section 2.15 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all the insurance policies currently in effect that insure the business, operations or employees of the Bio Companies Business or affect or relate to the ownership, use or operation of any of the assets and properties of any of the Bio Companies and that (i) have been issued to any of the Bio Companies or (ii) have been issued to any Person (other than any of the Bio Companies) for the benefit of any of the Bio Companies and the Company has made available to Purchasers true, correct and complete copies of such policies. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, each policy referred to in clause (i) above is valid and binding and in full force and effect, no premiums due thereunder have not been paid and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any notice of cancellation or termination in respect of any such policy or is in default thereunder.

SECTION 2.16 Real Property.

(a) <u>Section 2.16(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> contains a true and correct list of (i) each parcel of real property owned by any of the Bio Companies which is individually or in the aggregate with other owned or leased parcels material to the Bio Companies Business (the <u>Owned Real Property</u>), (ii) each parcel of real property leased by any of the Bio Companies (as lessor or lessee) which is individually or in the aggregate with other owned or leased parcels material to the Bio Companies Business (the <u>Leased Real Property</u>, and together with the Owned Real Property, the <u>Real Property</u>), and (iii) all Liens (other than Permitted Liens) relating to or affecting any Owned Real Property.

(b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, the applicable Bio Company has good title to each parcel of Owned Real Property. The applicable Bio Company is in possession of each parcel of Real Property, together with all buildings, structures, facilities, fixtures and other improvements thereon.

(c) The Company has delivered to Purchasers a true and complete copy of each lease document for the leases with respect to the Leased Real Property and in the case of any oral lease, a written summary of the material terms of such lease. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.16(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, with respect to each of such

leases:

(i) such lease is legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect;

(ii) the transactions contemplated by this Agreement do not require the consent of any other party to such lease, will not result in a breach of or default under such lease and will not otherwise cause such lease to cease to be legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect on identical terms immediately following the Closing;

(iii) the applicable Bio Company s possession and quiet enjoyment of the Leased Real Property under such lease has not been disturbed and there are no disputes with respect to such lease;

(iv) except as would not individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, none of the Bio Companies, nor any other party to the lease, is in breach of or default under such lease, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit the termination, modification or acceleration of rent under such lease; (v) no security deposit or portion thereof deposited with respect to such lease has been applied in respect of a breach of or default under such lease that has not been redeposited in full;

(vi) none of the Bio Companies owes, or will owe in the future, any brokerage commissions or finder s fees with respect to such lease;

(vii) the other party to such lease is not an Affiliate of, and otherwise does not have any economic interest in, the Bio Companies;

(viii) none of the Bio Companies has collaterally assigned or granted any other Lien (other than Permitted Liens) in such lease or any interest therein; and

(ix) there are no Liens (other than Permitted Liens) on the estate or interest created by such lease.

(d) Except for such failures to be in such condition as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, the improvements on the Owned Real Property are in good operating condition and in a state of good maintenance and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, are adequate and suitable for the purposes for which they are currently being used, are sufficient in all material respects for the operation of the Bio Companies Business as currently conducted and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no (x) structural deficiencies or latent defects affecting any of such improvements thereon that would, individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the use of such improvements in the operation of the Bio Companies Business as currently conducted thereon and (y) condemnation or appropriation proceedings pending or threatened against any Owned Real Property or the improvements thereon.

(e) There is no injunction, decree, order, writ or judgment outstanding, or any Action or Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened, relating to the ownership, lease, use or occupancy of the Real Property or any portion thereof, or the operation of the Bio Companies Business as currently conducted thereon, and such Real Property is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable building, zoning, subdivision, health and safety and other land use Laws, and all insurance requirements affecting the Real Property and the current use and occupancy of the Real Property and operation of the Bio Companies Business thereon do not violate any such Laws in any material respect.

(f) All material certificates of occupancy, permits, licenses, franchises, approvals and authorizations of all Governmental Authorities, associations or any other entity having jurisdiction over the Real Property that are required to use or occupy the Real Property or operate the Bio Companies Business as currently conducted thereon have been issued and are in full force and effect.

SECTION 2.17 <u>Tangible Personal Property</u>. The Bio Companies are in possession of and have good title to, or have valid leasehold interests in or valid rights under contract to use all tangible personal property (a) used in and individually or in the aggregate with other such property material to the Bioproducts Business and the Biopharma Business, as the case may be, (b) located on the premises of the Bio Companies, (c) shown on the Bioproducts Balance Sheet and Biopharma Balance Sheet (unless disposed of in the ordinary course of business since the Balance

Sheet Date) or (d) acquired in the ordinary course of business after the date of the Bioproducts Balance Sheet or Biopharma Balance Sheet, as the case may be. All such tangible personal property is free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, and is in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

SECTION 2.18 <u>Sufficiency of Assets</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Section 2.18 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> and except for the services to be rendered pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, (a) the assets, rights, properties and interests owned, leased or licensed by the Bio Companies reflected in the Bioproducts

Balance Sheet and the Biopharma Balance Sheet or acquired, leased or licensed by any of the Bio Companies since the Balance Sheet Date, taken as a whole, constitute all of the assets, rights, properties and interests necessary for Purchasers to conduct the Bio Companies Business immediately following the Closing Date in all material respects in the ordinary course of the Bio Companies Business as currently conducted, (b) the Bio Companies exclusively own, lease or license all assets and properties reflected in the Biopharma Balance Sheet and Bioproducts Balance Sheet (with such additions or deletions thereto since the Balance Sheet Date as shall have occurred in the ordinary course of business or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement), and (c) immediately after the Closing, none of Sellers, its Subsidiaries or its Affiliates will have any rights, title or interest in or to the properties, assets or rights of the Bio Companies.

SECTION 2.19 <u>Affiliate Transactions</u>. Except as disclosed in <u>Section 2.19 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, (a) neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates (other than any of the Bio Companies) provides or causes to be provided any raw materials, manufactured materials or other products or services used in the Bio Companies Business, (b) the Bio Companies Business does not sell any products or provide any services to the Company or any of its Affiliates (other than any of the Bio Companies), (c) neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates (other than any of the Bio Companies), their directors, officers or employees has been involved in any business arrangement or relationship with the Bio Companies within the past 12 months, and (d) no officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any entity in which any such individual owns any beneficial interest, is a party to any arrangement (other than ordinary course employment arrangements) or Contract with, or has any ownership interest in or with respect to, any of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business.

SECTION 2.20 <u>Product Warranty</u>. Section 2.20 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter sets forth the applicable standard terms and conditions of sale for (a) off-the-shelf products and (b) custom products (other than those sold pursuant to an individual Contract), in each case manufactured, sold or delivered by any of the Bioproducts Companies. Each such product is (and was, when sold or delivered) in conformity in all material respects with all applicable contractual commitments and all express and implied warranties relating thereto, and none of the Bio Companies has any Liability (and there is no basis for any present or future Action or Proceeding against any of the reserve for product warranty claims set forth on the face of or reflected in the Biopharma Balance Sheet and Bioproducts Balance Sheet, in each case as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the past custom and practice of the Bio Companies.

SECTION 2.21 <u>Product Liability</u>. None of the Bio Companies has any Liability arising out of any Product Liability Claim (and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there is no basis for any present or future Action or Proceeding against any of them giving rise to any Product Liability Claim), arising out of any injury to individuals, animals or property as a result of the ownership, possession or use of any product, product component, product ingredient or product constituent manufactured, designed, marketed, sold, leased, distributed, tested, inspected, produced or delivered by the Bio Companies.

SECTION 2.22 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) <u>Section 2.22 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> contains true and correct lists of the twenty (20) largest customers of the Bio Companies (on a consolidated basis) for each of the two most recent fiscal years and for the current year-to-date through August 31, 2006 and sets forth opposite the name of each such customer the percentage of consolidated net sales and (to the extent reasonably available) gross profit attributable to such customer.

(b) Since the Balance Sheet Date, no material supplier of any of the Bio Companies has indicated or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened, either orally or in writing, that it shall stop, materially decrease the rate of, or

materially increase the prices of supplying materials, products or services to any of the Bio Companies or seek to materially modify the terms of any Contract with any of the Bio Companies.

SECTION 2.23 <u>Solvency</u>. To the Knowledge of Sellers, immediately after giving effect to the Closing and the Bio Companies Transactions, including, without limitation, their obligations under this Agreement, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they become due and shall own property which has a fair saleable

value greater than the amounts required to pay its debts (including a reasonable estimate of the amount of all contingent liabilities). No transfer of property is being made and no obligation is being incurred in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 2.24 <u>Bank Accounts</u>. <u>Section 2.24 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> sets forth a true, complete and correct list of each bank, deposit, lock-box or cash collection, management or other account of the Bio Companies or in respect of the Bio Companies Business, including the title and number of the account and name of the financial or other institutions at which such account is located.

SECTION 2.25 <u>Opinions of Financial Advisors</u>. The Company Board has received the opinion of each of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, to the effect that, as of the date of such opinions and subject to the various assumptions and qualifications set forth therein, the Initial Purchase Price is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company.

SECTION 2.26 <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. Except for Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Company, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s, agent s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 2.27 <u>No Other Representations or Warranties</u>. Except for the representations and warranties made by the Sellers in this <u>Article II</u> or pursuant to the certificates to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section 5.2(a)</u>, neither the Company nor any other Person makes any representation or warranty hereunder with respect to any of the Bio Companies or, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to Purchasers or any of their respective Affiliates or representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information with respect to any one or more of the foregoing.

SECTION 2.28 <u>Disclosure</u>. No representation or warranty or other statement made by the Sellers in this Agreement, the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter, any supplement to the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter, the certificates delivered pursuant to <u>Article V</u> hereof or the information presented in the electronic data room contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make such statement, in light of the circumstances in which it was made, not misleading.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchasers represent and warrant to the Sellers that:

SECTION 3.1 <u>Organization and Standing</u>. Lonza America is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Lonza Swiss Holdco, Lonza Group and Lonza Sales AG are companies duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of Switzerland. Each Purchaser is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned or leased or held under license by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair in any material respect the ability of such Purchaser to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 3.2 Authority; Noncontravention.

(a) Each Purchaser has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions. The execution, delivery and performance by Purchasers of this Agreement, and the consummation by Purchasers of the Bio Companies Transactions, have been duly authorized and approved by their respective boards of directors, and no other corporate action on the part of any Purchaser or its shareholders is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and

performance by such Purchaser of this Agreement and the consummation by it of the Bio Companies Transactions. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each Purchaser and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery hereof by the Company, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Purchaser, enforceable against such Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception.

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by any Purchaser, nor the consummation by any Purchaser of the Bio Companies Transactions, nor compliance by any Purchaser with any of the terms or provisions hereof, will (i) conflict with or violate any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of such Purchaser or (ii) assuming that the authorizations, consents and approvals referred to in <u>Section 3.3</u> are obtained and the filings referred to in <u>Section 3.3</u> are made, (x) violate any Law, judgment, writ, injunction or other restriction of any Governmental Authority applicable to such Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, or (y) conflict with, resulting a breach of, violate, constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of, create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel, or require any notice under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which such Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, except, in the case of clause (ii), for such violations or defaults as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair the ability of such Purchaser to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 3.3 <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for (i) the filing with the SEC of any filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the Exchange Act and the rules of the NYSE, and (ii) filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the HSR Act and Foreign Antitrust Laws, no notices, consents or approvals of, or filings, declarations or registrations with, any Governmental Authority are necessary for the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Purchasers or the consummation by Purchasers of the Bio Companies Transactions, other than such other notices, consents, approvals, filings, declarations or registrations that, if not obtained, made or given, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair in any material respect the ability of Purchasers to perform their respective obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 3.4 <u>Information Supplied</u>. The information supplied by Purchasers for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement will not, on the date it is first mailed to the holders of Company Common Stock, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, and will not, at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting, omit to state any material fact necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the Company Stockholders Meeting which shall have become false or misleading in any material respect.

SECTION 3.5 <u>Capital Resources</u>. Purchasers have, or will have prior to the Closing, cash, available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds in an amount sufficient to pay (i) the Final Purchase Price and (ii) all fees and expenses payable by Purchasers in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions. To the extent that Purchasers are financing all or a portion of the Bio Companies Transactions through proceeds received from debt financing provided by third parties, prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement Purchasers have furnished to the Company fully executed copies of the debt commitment letters relating to such financing with conditions precedent no more restrictive than the conditions to Closing contained in this Agreement. As of the date hereof and after communicating with the institutions providing such debt financing, Purchasers knows of no facts or circumstances (other than any that arise as a result of a breach by the Company of this Agreement) that are reasonably likely to result in any of the conditions set forth in such commitment letters not being satisfied.

SECTION 3.6 <u>Legal Proceedings</u>. As of the date hereof, there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of Purchasers, threatened Action or Proceeding against or relating to a Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, nor is there any injunction, order, judgment, ruling or decree imposed upon a Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, by or

before any Governmental Authority, that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to impair in any material respect the ability of such Purchaser to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 3.7 <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. Except for Credit Suisse, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Purchasers (subject to <u>Section 8.3</u>), no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is

entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Purchasers or any of their respective Subsidiaries.

SECTION 3.8 <u>No Reliance</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, Purchasers acknowledge and agree that (a) neither the Company nor any Person on behalf of the Company is making any representations or warranties whatsoever, express or implied, beyond those expressly made by the Company in <u>Article II</u>, and (b) Purchasers have not been induced by, or relied upon, any representations, warranties or statements (written or oral), whether express or implied, made by any Person, that are not expressly set forth in <u>Article II</u> of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Purchasers acknowledge that no representations or warranties are made with respect to any projections, forecasts, estimates, budgets or information as to prospects with respect to the Bio Companies Business that may have been made available to Purchasers or any of its representatives.

ARTICLE IV

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

SECTION 4.1 Conduct of Business.

(a) Except as contemplated or permitted by this Agreement or as required by applicable Law or as contemplated by <u>Section 4.1(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>, during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, unless Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) otherwise consents (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (x) the Company shall cause the Bio Companies to conduct the Bio Companies Business in all material respects in the ordinary course and in conformity with past practice and to use their commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact their business organizations, customer and supplier relationships and goodwill, to maintain the Real Property, including all of the improvements thereon, in substantially the same condition as of the date of this Agreement, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and to continue to make capital expenditures in conformity with past practice, and (y) without limiting the generality of the foregoing, none of the Sellers shall take any of the actions set forth in the following clauses (ii), (iii) and (vi) through (xxii) (in each case, solely to the extent related to the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business) and shall not permit any of the Bio Companies to take any of the following actions:

(i) (A) issue, sell or grant any shares of its capital stock, or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or evidencing the right to subscribe for any shares of its capital stock, or any rights, warrants or options to purchase any shares of its capital stock, or any securities or rights convertible into, exchangeable or exercisable for, or evidencing the right to subscribe for, any shares of its capital stock, or enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of its capital stock, or (B) effect any recapitalization, reclassification, stock split or like change in the capitalization of any of the Bio Companies;

(ii) (A) incur any new indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness, (B) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person other than one of the Bio Companies or (C) repurchase or prepay any indebtedness for borrowed money, except as required by the terms of such indebtedness, in each case other than intercompany activity between the Bio Companies in the ordinary course of business;

(iii) sell, transfer, encumber, demolish or remove any of its properties or assets that are material to the Bio Companies Business, except (A) sales, leases, rentals and licenses in the ordinary course of business, (B) pursuant to Contracts in force at the date of this Agreement or entered into after the date of this Agreement to the extent permitted by the terms of this Agreement, (C) dispositions of obsolete or worthless assets or (D) transfers among the Bio Companies;

(iv) make any individual capital expenditure in excess of US \$100,000, except either in the ordinary course of business or as contemplated by the forecasts set forth in <u>Section 4.1 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>;

(v) make any material acquisition of the stock or assets of any other Person (including by merger or consolidation) for a purchase price in excess of US \$50,000, excluding any acquisition of supplies and equipment in the ordinary course of business;

(vi) increase in any material respect the compensation of any of its directors, officers or employees, other than (A) as required pursuant to applicable Law or the terms of Contracts in effect on the date of this Agreement or entered into after the date of this Agreement to the extent permitted by the terms of this Agreement and (B) increases in salaries, wages and benefits of employees made in the ordinary course of business;

(vii) hire any employee whose annual base salary exceeds US \$100,000, other than to fill a vacancy with a new employee on substantially comparable terms;

(viii) other than in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to any Contract or any Bio Companies Plan in existence on the date hereof or entered into after the date of this Agreement to the extent permitted by the terms of this Agreement, (A) pay to any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of any of the Bio Companies any benefit not provided for under any Contract or Bio Companies Plan, (B) take any action to fund or in any other way secure the payment of compensation or benefits under any Contract or Assumed Bio Companies Plan, (C) except for the bonuses payable to employees of the Biopharma Companies described in <u>Section 7.3(b)(iii)</u>, exercise any discretion to accelerate the vesting or payment of any compensation or benefit under any Contract or Assumed Bio Companies Plan, (D) adopt any new employee benefit plan or arrangement or amend, modify or terminate any existing Assumed Bio Companies Plan to increase the benefits thereunder, in each case for the benefit of any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of any of the Bio Companies, other than as required by applicable Tax qualification requirements or (E) make any other change in employment terms for any of the Bio Companies respective directors, officers and employees;

(ix) (A) make or change any material election concerning Taxes, settle or compromise any material Tax liability, or (B) to the extent relating to a stand-alone Tax Return of a Bio Company and not a consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Return that includes the Company or a non-Bio Company Subsidiary of the Company, file or cause to be filed any amended Tax Return or file or cause to be filed any claim for refund of Taxes or amend or cause to be amended any payment of Taxes;

(x) make any changes in financial or Tax accounting methods, principles or practices (or change an annual accounting period), except insofar as may be required by a change in GAAP or applicable Law;

(xi) amend the Bio Companies Charter Documents;

(xii) adopt a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution;

(xiii) adopt or enter into any collective bargaining agreement or other labor union Contract applicable to the employees of any of the Bio Companies;

(xiv) fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain existing insurance policies or comparable replacement policies to the extent available for a reasonable cost or make any material changes in the type or amount of the Bio Companies insurance coverage;

(xv) enter into any new line of business that is material to the Bio Companies Business; or

(xvi) enter into any Contract (or series of related Contracts) outside the ordinary course of business;

(xvii) accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel any Contract outside the ordinary course of business;

(xviii) delay or postpone the payment of accounts payable and other liabilities outside the ordinary course of business;

(xix) cancel, compromise, waive or release any right or claim (or series of related rights or claims) involving more than US \$250,000 or other than in the ordinary course of business;

(xx) transfer, assign, or grant any license or sublicense of any rights under or with respect to any Bio Companies Intellectual Property outside the ordinary course of business;

A-24

(xxi) discharge a material Liability or Lien outside the ordinary course of business;

(xxii) take any action that would limit the Purchasers utilization of the net operating losses of any Bio Company (including any such losses that were carried over to the Company under Code section 381) under Code sections 382 or 1502 or the regulations thereunder or otherwise (including any comparable provisions of state, local or foreign law), excluding any limitation resulting from Purchasers acquisition of the Bio Companies; or

(xxiii) agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

(b) During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, Purchasers and Sellers shall not, and shall not permit any of their respective Subsidiaries to, take, or agree or commit to take, any action that would reasonably be expected to (i) impose any material delay in the obtaining of, or significantly increase the risk of not obtaining, any authorizations, consents, orders, declarations or approvals of any Governmental Authority necessary to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions or the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period, (ii) significantly increase the risk of any Governmental Authority entering an order prohibiting the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions or (iii) otherwise prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions; provided, however, that this Section 4.1(b) shall not require Purchasers or Sellers to agree, or cause any of their respective Subsidiaries to agree, to take any Action of Divestiture or any action which would be reasonably likely to materially adversely impact the benefits expected to be derived by Purchasers and Sellers as a result of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 4.2 Other Offers; Etc.

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries shall, and the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its Subsidiaries respective directors, officers, employees and investment bankers (collectively, Representatives) to, immediately cease any discussions or negotiations that may be ongoing as of the date of this Agreement with any Person with respect to a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal. During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing Date, or such earlier date as this Agreement may be terminated in accordance with its terms, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not, and the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its Subsidiaries Representatives not to, (i) solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations with (whether initiated by the Company or not), or furnish any information to, any Person relating to any possible Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, (iii) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or other similar agreement constituting or related to, or reasonably likely to lead to, any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (each, a <u>Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement</u>), or (iv) make or authorize any statement, recommendation or solicitation to any Person other than the Company in support of any possible Bio Companies Takeover Proposal. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Authorization, (x) the Company and its Representatives may have discussions with any Person that has made an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal in order to clarify and understand the terms and conditions of such proposal, (y) the Company may waive the provisions of any standstill agreement between the Company and such Person to the extent necessary to permit such Person to submit an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal if the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to so waive the applicable provisions of such standstill agreement would not be consistent with the Company Board s fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under the Laws of the State of Delaware (<u>Delaware Law</u>) and (z) if the Company Board (A) receives an unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 4.2 and the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel and a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation) that such unsolicited Bio Companies Takeover Proposal constitutes or would reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Bio Companies Proposal and (B) determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to take any of the following actions in response to such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal would not be consistent with

its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Delaware Law, then the Company may (x) furnish information with respect to the Bio Companies and the Bio Companies Business to the Person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (provided that the Company shall only provide non-public information pursuant to a confidentiality agreement not less restrictive of the recipient thereof in the aggregate than the Confidentiality Agreement, it being understood that

such confidentiality agreement shall not prohibit disclosure to Purchasers of any of the information and materials required to be disclosed or provided to Purchasers pursuant to this Agreement), and (y) participate in discussions and negotiations with such Person regarding such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and, to the extent reasonably required to evaluate a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that includes the issuance of securities by the Person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, may enter into a customary confidentiality agreement in order to obtain non-public information with respect to such Person. Without limiting the foregoing, it is understood that any violation of the restrictions set forth in this <u>Section 4.2</u> by any Representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be deemed a breach of this <u>Section 4.2</u> by the Company.

(b) Except as expressly permitted by this <u>Section 4.2(b)</u>, (i) the Company Board and any committee thereof shall not (A) withdraw or modify, or propose publicly to withdraw or modify, in a manner adverse to Purchasers, its recommendation that the holders of Company Common Stock authorize the Bio Companies Transactions (the _Bio Companies Recommendation) or (B) approve or recommend or propose publicly to approve or recommend to the holders of Company Common Stock, or otherwise permit or cause the Company to accept or enter into, a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (any action described in this clause (i) being referred to as a <u>Bio Companies Adverse</u> Recommendation Change), (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall enter into any Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement other than a confidentiality agreement permitted by and subject to the requirements of Section 4.2(a), (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall release any third party from, or waive any provisions of, any confidentiality or standstill agreement to which the Company is a party except to the extent the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to so waive the applicable provisions of a standstill agreement would not be consistent with the Company Board s fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Delaware Law and (iv) neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall agree or resolve to take any actions set forth in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) of this sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any provision of Section 4.2(a), prior to the Company Stockholder Authorization, (x) other than in connection with a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, the Company Board may withdraw or modify the Bio Companies Recommendation if it determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that the failure to take such action would not be consistent with its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Delaware Law, and (y) subject to Section 4.2(c), if the Company Board (A) receives a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that it determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel and a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation) constitutes a Superior Bio Companies Proposal, and (B) determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that failure to take any of the following actions would not be consistent with its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Delaware Law, then the Company Board may (I) make a Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change and/or (II) cause the Company to enter into a Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement with respect to such Superior Bio Companies Proposal, but only if the Company shall have concurrently with entering into such Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(i).

(c) If the Company Board determines to effect a Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change as provided in <u>Section 4.2(b)(y)(I)</u> or to authorize the Company to enter into a Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement as provided in <u>Section 4.2(b)(y)(II)</u>, such Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change or Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement (as applicable) may only become effective after the end of the fifth (5th) business day following Purchasers receipt of written notice from the Company (a <u>Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice</u>) advising Purchasers that the Company Board intends to effect such Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change or to authorize the Company to enter into such Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement, which notice shall contain a copy of the Superior Bio Companies Proposal to which such Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change or Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement relates; <u>provided</u> that any material amendment to the terms of such Superior Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice shall require a new Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice shall require a new Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice and restart the five (5) business day period referred to above. In determining whether to effect a Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change or to enter into a Bio

Companies Acquisition Agreement in response to a Superior Bio Companies Proposal, in each case, as provided in <u>Section 4.2(b)(y)</u>, the Company Board shall take into account in good faith any changes to the terms of this Agreement proposed by Purchasers (in response to a Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice or otherwise) in determining whether such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal still constitutes a Superior Bio Companies Proposal.

(d) In addition to the obligations of the Company set forth in <u>Section 4.2(a)</u>, (b) and (c), the Company will, unless (and to the extent) the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that doing so would not be consistent with its fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Delaware Law, (i) promptly, and in any event within 24 hours, advise Purchasers orally and in writing of any request for information with respect to a potential Bio Companies Takeover Proposal or of any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, the financial and other material terms and conditions of such request or Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and the identity of the Person making such request or Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, (ii) keep Purchasers reasonably informed of the status and details (including amendments or proposed amendments) of any and all such requests or Bio Companies Takeover Proposals and (iii) provide to Purchasers as soon as practicable after receipt or delivery thereof (and in any event within 48 hours) copies of all material correspondence and other written material sent or provided to the Company, directly or indirectly, from any third party in connection with any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal or inquiry or sent or provided by the Company to any third party in connection with any Bio Companies Takeover Proposal or inquiry.

(e) For purposes of this Agreement:

<u>Bio Companies Takeover Proposal</u> means a bona fide proposal or offer from any Person (other than Purchasers and their respective Subsidiaries) relating to any direct or indirect acquisition of (i) the outstanding shares of capital stock of any of the Bio Companies, including by means of a merger, consolidation, share purchase or exchange, tender offer, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company, any other Sellers and/or the Company s Subsidiaries, including the Bio Companies, (ii) the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company or the other Sellers, including by means of a merger, consolidation, share purchase or exchange or exchange, tender offer, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction, share purchase or exchange, tender offer, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction, but excluding any such acquisition that would take place after the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property have been sold, assigned, transferred and conveyed to Purchasers as contemplated by this Agreement, (iv) all or substantially all of the assets or (v) any material portion of the Bioproducts Business or the Biopharma Business, excluding sales of assets in the ordinary course of business.

<u>Superior Bio Companies Propos</u>al means a bona fide written Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that (i) is not subject to any financing contingency or other material condition (other than a condition that is also a condition to Purchasers obligations under this Agreement), (ii) involves the purchase of more than 50% of the assets of the Bio Companies or more than 50% of the equity securities in the Bio Companies, (iii) provides for payment of aggregate consideration and other terms and conditions that, taken as a whole, are superior to the Bio Companies Transactions, and (iv) is made by a Person reasonably capable of completing such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, taking into account the legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects of such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal and the Person making such Bio Companies Takeover Proposal.

(f) Nothing in this <u>Section 4.2</u> shall prohibit the Company Board from taking and disclosing to the Company s stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a), Rule 14d-9 or Item 1012(a) of Regulation MA promulgated under the Exchange Act, or other applicable Law, if the Company Board determines, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that failure to so disclose such position could constitute a violation of applicable Law.

SECTION 4.3 Proxy Statement.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC a preliminary proxy statement relating to the Company Stockholders Meeting (together with any amendments thereof or supplements thereto, the <u>Proxy Statement</u>). The Company shall provide such preliminary proxy statement and any

further revised proxy statements to Purchasers at least five (5) business days prior to its filing with the SEC. The Company will use all commercially reasonable efforts to respond to any comments made by the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement. Purchasers shall (x) cooperate with the Company in connection with the preparation of the Proxy Statement, (y) furnish all information concerning Purchasers and their respective Subsidiaries as the Company may reasonably request in connection with the preparation of the Proxy Statement and (z) notify the Company promptly after becoming aware that the representation contained in <u>Section 3.4</u> is not true and correct at any time prior to the Closing. Subject to <u>Section 4.2</u>, the Proxy Statement shall include the Bio

A-27

Companies Recommendation. At the Company s election, the Proxy Statement may also contain any other proposal deemed advisable by the Company Board, together with such information related thereto as required under the Exchange Act.

(b) Subject to <u>Section 4.2</u> and other than pursuant to Rule 14a-12 of the Exchange Act with respect to releases made in compliance with <u>Section 4.6</u>, no amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement, nor any response to any comments or inquiry from the SEC, relating to the Company Stockholder Authorization will be made by the Company without the approval of Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Company will advise Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) promptly after the Company receives notice of any request by the SEC for amendment of the Proxy Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information.

SECTION 4.4 Company Stockholders Meeting.

(a) The Company shall duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a special meeting of the holders of Company Common Stock (the <u>Company Stockholders Meeting</u>) as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement for the purpose of voting upon the authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property to Purchasers pursuant to this Agreement and, at the Company s election but as a separate proposal or proposals, any other proposal deemed advisable by the Company Board, and, in connection therewith, the Company shall mail the Proxy Statement to the holders of Company Common Stock in advance of such meeting. Subject to Section 4.2, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) solicit from the holders of Company Common Stock proxies in favor of the authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property to Purchasers pursuant to this Agreement and (ii) take all other actions necessary or advisable to secure the vote or consent of the holders of Company Common Stock required by applicable Law to obtain such authorization; provided that the Company may extend the date of the Company Stockholders Meeting to the extent (A) necessary in order to obtain a quorum of its stockholders or (B) the Company reasonably determines that such delay is required by applicable Law. The Company shall not be required to hold the Company Stockholders Meeting for the purpose of voting on the authorization of the sale of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property to Purchasers pursuant to this Agreement if this Agreement is terminated before that meeting is held.

SECTION 4.5 Reasonable Best Efforts.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of the Company and Purchasers shall cooperate with the other and use (and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to use) their respective reasonable best efforts, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, to promptly (i) take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, all things, necessary, proper or advisable to cause the conditions to Closing to be satisfied as promptly as practicable and to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Bio Companies Transactions, including preparing and filing promptly and fully all documentation to effect all necessary filings, notices, petitions, statements, registrations, submissions of information, applications and other documents (including any required or recommended filings under applicable Antitrust Laws), and (ii) obtain all approvals, consents, registrations, permits, authorizations and other confirmations from any Governmental Authority or third party necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions; provided, however, that Purchasers shall not be required to agree to take any Action of Divestiture or any action which would be reasonably likely to materially adversely impact the benefits expected to be derived by Purchasers as a result of the Bio Companies Transactions. For purposes hereof, <u>Antitrust Laws</u> means the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, all applicable Foreign Antitrust Laws and all other

applicable Laws issued by a Governmental Authority that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition through merger or acquisition.

(b) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Company and Purchasers shall each make an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the Bio Companies

Transactions as promptly as practicable following the date hereof and to supply as promptly as practicable any additional information and documentary material that may be requested pursuant to the HSR Act and use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all other actions consistent with this <u>Section 4.5</u> necessary to cause the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act as soon as practicable.

(c) The Company and Purchasers shall use their reasonable best efforts to (i) cooperate in all respects with each other in connection with any filing or submission with a Governmental Authority in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry by or before a Governmental Authority relating to the Bio Companies Transactions, including any Action or Proceeding initiated by a private party, and (ii) keep the other party informed in all material respects and on a reasonably timely basis of any material communication received by such party from, or given by such party to, the Federal Trade Commission, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice, or any other Governmental Authority and of any material communication received or given in connection with any Action or Proceeding by a private party, in each case regarding the Bio Companies Transactions. Subject to applicable Laws relating to the exchange of information, each of the parties hereto shall have the right to review in advance, and to the extent practicable each will consult the other on, all the information relating to the other party and its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, that appears in any filing made with, or written materials submitted to, any third party and/or any Governmental Authority in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions.

(d) In furtherance and not in limitation of the covenants of the parties contained in this <u>Section 4.5</u>, the Company and Purchasers shall use their reasonable best efforts to resolve such objections, if any, as may be asserted by a Governmental Authority or other Person with respect to the Bio Companies Transactions. Without limiting any other provision hereof, Purchasers and the Company shall use their reasonable best efforts to avoid the entry of, or to have vacated or terminated, any decree, order or judgment that would restrain, prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions on or before the Outside Date, including by defending through litigation on the merits any claim asserted in any court by any Person.

SECTION 4.6 <u>Public Announcements</u>. The initial press release to be issued by each of the Company, on the one hand, and Purchasers, on the other, with respect to the execution of this Agreement shall be reasonably agreed upon by Lonza America (for itself and as agent for the other Purchasers) and the Company (for itself and as agent for the Sellers). Thereafter, except as expressly permitted by <u>Section 4.2</u>, neither the Sellers nor Purchasers shall issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement (to the extent not previously issued or made in accordance with this Agreement) with respect to this Agreement or the Bio Companies Transactions without the prior consent of Lonza America or the Company, as the case may be (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as may be required by Law, applicable fiduciary duties or by any applicable listing agreement with the NYSE as determined in the good faith judgment of the party proposing to make such release (in which case such party shall not issue or cause the publication of such press release or other public announcement without prior consultation with the other party to the extent reasonably practicable).

SECTION 4.7 <u>Access to Information; Confidentiality</u>. Subject to applicable Laws relating to the exchange of information, the Company shall afford to Purchasers and Purchasers Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to the officers, employees, accountants, consultants, agents, attorneys and other Representatives, properties, books, Contracts and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries relating to the Bio Companies Business, and the Company shall furnish promptly to Purchasers other information concerning the Bio Companies Business as Purchasers may reasonably request; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to provide such access or information if the Company determines, in its reasonable judgment, that doing so would violate applicable Law or a Contract or obligation of confidentiality owing to a third party or jeopardize the protection of an attorney-client privilege. Until the Closing Date, the information provided pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2006, between Lonza Group and the Company (as it may be amended from time to time, the <u>Confidentiality Agreement</u>), which shall survive the termination of this

Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement. The Company and its Subsidiaries will use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Purchasers to provide such documentation to Purchasers lenders as such lenders may reasonably request in connection with their providing financing to Purchasers for the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 4.8 <u>Notification of Certain Matters</u>. The Company shall give prompt notice to Purchasers, and Purchasers shall give prompt notice to the Company, of (i) any notice or other communication received by such party from any Governmental Authority in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions or from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the Bio Companies Transactions, and (ii) any Actions or Proceedings commenced or, to such party s Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting such party or any of its Subsidiaries which, in the case of either clause (i) or (ii), would reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 4.9 <u>Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as expressly provided in <u>Section 8.3</u> and any other provisions of this Agreement and except with respect to any fees and expenses incurred in connection with any HSR Act filings or other filings required under the Antitrust Laws, which shall be borne evenly between Purchasers and the Company, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Bio Companies Transactions are consummated.

SECTION 4.10 <u>Walkersville Transfer</u>. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall cause Cambrex Walkersville to transfer all of its interest in Cambrex North Brunswick, Inc. to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries (other than any of the Bio Companies).

SECTION 4.11 Walkersville Debris Field Testing.

(a) Prior to the date hereof, the Company has conducted testing at an area known as the Debris Field located on a portion of the Cambrex Walkersville facility (the <u>Walkersville Facility</u>), as identified on the plan attached as <u>Section 4.11(a) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u> (<u>Testing</u>). The Scope of Work for the Testing is set forth in <u>Section 4.11(b) of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter</u>. The Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Testing and the analysis of the results to be completed as soon as reasonably practicable.

(b) In the event that the Testing results in the discovery of any soil samples that exceed applicable Non-Residential Cleanup Standards (as defined below) or require Remediation under applicable Environmental Laws, the Company shall diligently conduct the Remediation following the procedures of the State of Maryland voluntary cleanup program or other appropriate voluntary Remediation program administered by a Governmental Authority (collectively, the <u>Debris Field Remediation</u>). To the extent that the Debris Field Remediation continues following the Closing, the party responsible for paying the Debris Field Remediation Costs pursuant to <u>Section 4.11(g)</u> shall, for so long as it remains responsible, retain Principal Management of the Debris Field Remediation; <u>provided</u>, that if the Debris Field Remediation. Both prior to and following the Closing, Purchasers and their Representatives shall be entitled to reasonable participation in the Debris Field Remediation at their own cost and expense, such reasonable participation to include, without limitation, the right to (x) receive and comment on copies of material reports, work plans, agreements with Governmental Authorities and other documents prior to submission (and the Company shall consider in good faith any reasonable comments of Purchasers with respect thereto) and (y) receive prior notice of and attend any meetings with Governmental Authorities (if acceptable to such authorities).

(c) The Company s obligations with respect to the Debris Field Remediation obligation stated above shall be satisfied upon completion of Remediation sufficient to achieve contaminant concentration standards or risk levels required for continuing use of the Walkersville Facility for its present purposes as specified under applicable Environmental Laws or by the relevant jurisdictional Governmental Authority (<u>Non-Residential Cleanup Standards</u>), provided, however, in the event that background concentrations are higher than the Non-Residential Cleanup Standards, then the Company s

obligations with respect to the Debris Field Remediation shall be satisfied upon completion of Remediation sufficient to achieve the background concentrations.

(d) With respect to Debris Field Remediation conducted by the Company under this <u>Section 4.11</u> following the Closing, Purchasers shall not:

(i) without the express written consent of the Company, communicate with any Governmental Authority or any third Person regarding the Debris Field Remediation, unless and to the extent required to do so pursuant to any applicable Law, and then only after providing the Company with reasonable notice in advance of the

A-30

communication and the opportunity to defend the need for such communication and/or provide the communication on Purchasers behalf, provided that the Purchasers shall not be required to provide the Company with prior notice of the communication to the extent that it is not feasible to provide such notice and comply with the Law or the communication arises from an emergency situation where prior notice to the Company is not possible, in which events the Purchasers shall promptly send copies of all such communications to the Company;

(ii) unreasonably or negligently interfere with the Debris Field Remediation being conducted by the Company under this Section, including any destruction of documents, denial of access or refusal to respond to or sign documentation reasonably requested by the Company to comply with such Debris Field Remediation obligations; or

(iii) conduct any sampling, testing or other intrusive environmental investigation, whether conducted by any Purchaser or on its behalf or with its approval by any other Person, with respect to the Debris Field or the Debris Field Remediation unless required to do so by Environmental Laws or any Governmental Authority.

(e) With respect to the Debris Field Remediation conducted by the Company under this <u>Section 4.11</u> following the Closing, Purchasers shall:

(i) provide to the Company and its Representatives and contractors such non-privileged information as is within the reasonable possession or knowledge of Purchasers and/or, to the extent reasonably available, current employees of the Walkersville Facility, in each case relating to the performance of the Debris Field Remediation, including without limitation non-privileged information regarding the location of Hazardous Materials for which the Company is responsible hereunder, historical uses of such facility, and the location of subsurface structures, equipment and utilities; and

(ii) sign any certifications or other documentation, including without limitation, any deed restrictions, use restrictions, applications, certifications or other reasonable agreements required by the jurisdictional Governmental Authority, with respect to the Walkersville Facility, in order to complete the Debris Field Remediation and obtain concurrence of such completion from the Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the Debris Field Remediation.

(f) With regard to the Debris Field Remediation, the Company and Purchasers shall enter into a mutually satisfactory access agreement.

(g) The first US \$500,000 of Remediation Costs incurred by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the Debris Field Remediation obligations under this <u>Section 4.11</u> shall be paid solely by the Company, the next US \$500,000 of Debris Field Remediation Costs incurred by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the Debris Field Remediation obligations under this Section shall be split equally between the Company, on the one hand, and Purchasers, on the other, and all Debris Field Remediation Costs in excess of US \$1,000,000 shall be borne by Purchasers; <u>provided</u> that in no event shall the Company or any Seller be responsible for (i) any consequential, incidental or special costs or damages, such as those arising from lost profits or a business interruption, relating to the Debris Field Remediation or (ii) any Remediation Costs or other Losses to the extent that the Remediation Costs or Losses arise from, relate to or are increased or aggravated by the breach of any of Purchasers obligations under this <u>Section 4.11</u>.

(h) The Company shall have no Liabilities or other obligations to Purchasers or any of their Affiliates in respect of Environmental Conditions at the Debris Field except as expressly provided in this <u>Section 4.11</u>, which shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of Purchasers under this Agreement with respect to any Environmental Conditions at the Debris Field.

(i) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause environmental consultants who have prepared reports for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any facilities used by the Bio Companies or in the Bio Companies Business to provide reliance letters with respect to such reports to Purchasers or any of their Subsidiaries.

SECTION 4.12 <u>Capital Resources</u>. To the extent that Purchasers are financing all or a portion of the Bio Companies Transactions through proceeds received from debt financing provided by third parties, Purchasers shall

use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into definitive agreements providing for such financing (or financing from other third party lenders) containing terms substantially similar to those set forth in the commitment letters referred to in <u>Section 3.5</u>, or such other terms as are reasonably satisfactory to the Company, and to obtain, prior to the date that Purchasers become obligated to pay the Initial Purchase Price, the financing contemplated by such definitive financing agreements; <u>provided</u> that the receipt of the proceeds of such debt financing shall not be a condition to Purchasers obligation to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions.

SECTION 4.13 <u>Title Insurance and Surveys</u>. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall cause each of the Bio Companies to cooperate with Purchasers in obtaining such title commitments, title policies and surveys that Purchasers deem necessary with respect to Owned Real Property, including using commercially reasonable efforts to remove from title any Liens or encumbrances which are not Permitted Liens and provide affidavits, indemnities, memoranda or other assurances requested by a title company to issue such title policies.

SECTION 4.14 <u>Other Transaction Documents</u>. On or prior to the Closing Date, Purchasers and the Company (on behalf of itself and the other Sellers) shall execute and deliver the Transition Services Agreement.

SECTION 4.15 <u>Intercompany Agreements</u>. Prior to or at Closing, except (i) with regard to those arrangements provided for in the Transition Services Agreement or (ii) as set forth on <u>Section 4.15 of the Bio Companies Disclosure</u> <u>Letter</u>, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries, including the Bio Companies, to, cause all intercompany arrangements and agreements between any of the Bio Companies, on the one hand, and the Company and/or any of its Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies), on the other hand, to be terminated as of the Closing Date, and all obligations thereunder to be cancelled and released.

SECTION 4.16 Use of Names.

(a) The Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and Affiliates to, (i) except as otherwise provided in the immediately succeeding sentence, as soon as practicable after the Closing Date and in any event within three (3) months following the Closing Date, cease to use the Trademarks of the Bio Companies in connection with any goods or services made available to the public, and (ii) immediately after the Closing cease to hold itself out as having any affiliation with the Bio Companies. In furtherance thereof, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than six (6) months following the Closing Date, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and Affiliates to, remove, strike over or otherwise obliterate all of the Trademarks of the Bio Companies from all materials available to the public and owned by the Company or any such Subsidiary or Affiliate, including, without limitation, vehicles, business cards, schedules, stationery, packaging materials, displays, signs, promotional materials, manuals, forms, computer software and other materials.

(b) Purchasers shall, and shall cause the Bio Companies to, (i) except as otherwise provided in the immediately succeeding sentence, as soon as practicable after the Closing Date and in any event within three (3) months following the Closing Date (unless a longer period is required to comply with regulations of applicable Governmental Authorities), cease to use the Trademarks of the Company and its Subsidiaries (excluding the Bio Companies) in connection with any goods or services made available to the public, (ii) immediately after the Closing cease to hold itself out as having any affiliation with the Company and its Subsidiaries (excluding the Bio Companies) and (iii) promptly after the Closing but in no event later than ninety (90) days following the Closing Date, in the case of any of the Bio Companies), including without limitation Cambrex , change its corporate name to a name that does not include such Trademarks and make any necessary legal filings with the appropriate Governmental Authority, as the case may be, to effect such change. In furtherance thereof, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than six (6) months following the Closing Date (unless a longer period is required to comply with regulations of applicable Governmental Authorities), Purchasers shall, and shall cause the Bio Companies to, remove, strike over or otherwise

obliterate all of the Trademarks of the Company and its Subsidiaries from all materials available to the public and owned by Purchasers or the Bio Companies, including, without limitation, vehicles, business cards, schedules, stationery, packaging materials, displays, signs, promotional materials, manuals, forms, computer software and other materials.

SECTION 4.17 Insurance.

(a) Purchasers acknowledge and agrees that, upon Closing, all insurance coverage provided in relation to the Bio Companies Business shall cease and no further coverage shall be available to the Bio Companies under any such policies or programs to the extent that such are claims made based policies, but (subject to the terms of any relevant policy) without prejudice to any accrued claims which any of the Bio Companies or any Seller, any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates (in the latter case in relation to the Bio Companies Business) may have made on or prior to Closing under any of such policies; provided that the Bio Companies Business shall retain the benefit of occurrence based policies of insurance in relation to events occurring prior to Closing but in respect of which no claim has yet arisen at the time of Closing, it being understood and agreed that the retention by the Bio Companies Business of the benefit of such occurrence based policies of insurance shall, to the extent such coverage also exists with respect to the Company or any of its current or former Subsidiaries or Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies), be without prejudice to the rights of the Company or such other current or former Subsidiary or Affiliate to continue to retain the benefit of such occurrence based policies of insurance at and after the Closing Date as such policies were in effect on the date prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Purchasers and Sellers agree that any claims made under the insurance policies referred to in <u>Section 4.17(a)</u> in respect of the Bio Companies Business and as to which coverage remains available after Closing shall be administered and collected by Sellers (or by a claims handler appointed by Sellers) on behalf of Purchasers. Purchasers shall cooperate fully with Sellers to enable Sellers to comply with the requirements of the relevant insurer, and Purchasers shall provide such information and assistance as Sellers may reasonably request in connection with any such claim. Without prejudice to the provisions of <u>Sections 9.1</u> and <u>9.2</u>, any monies received by Sellers as a result of such claims and not utilized by Sellers prior to the Closing Date to repair the damage, pay the Liability or otherwise resolve the related claim shall be paid over to Purchasers, net of all reasonable costs and expenses of recovery (including, without limitation, all reasonable handling and collection charges by any claims handler appointed by Sellers).

SECTION 4.18 Delivery of Financial Statements. From the date hereof until the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Purchasers unaudited financial statements of the Bioproducts Companies and the Biopharma Companies (a) within fifteen (15) business days after the end of each fiscal month ending after the date of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) of Section 2.5(a), monthly financial statements consisting of a balance sheet as of the end of such month and statements of income for that month and for the portion of the year then ended (the <u>Monthly</u> Financial Statements), (b) for each fiscal quarter beginning with the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2006, quarterly financial statements consisting of a balance sheet as of the end of such quarterly period and statements of income for such quarter and for the portion of the year then ended, on or about the time that the Company files its related Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC (the <u>Quarterly Financial Statements</u>), and (c) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, annual financial statements consisting of a balance sheet as of December 31, 2006 and statements of income for the fiscal year then ended, on or about the time that the Company files its related Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC (the <u>Annual Financial Statements</u>). The Monthly Financial Statements and the Quarterly Financial Statements shall be prepared on a basis consistent with past practice for the monthly and quarterly interim internal reports of the Bioproducts Companies and the Biopharma Companies. The Annual Financial Statement shall be prepared on a basis consistent with the financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 included in the Company SEC Documents.

SECTION 4.19 Termination of Rights: Assignment of Certain Agreements and Rights.

(a) The Sellers agree that, effective as of the Closing, all rights of any of the Sellers and any of their Subsidiaries or Affiliates to directors and officers indemnification by or from any of the Bio Companies (whether by contract, by-law, Law or otherwise) shall be terminated, void or of no effect and unenforceable by them.

(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall, and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries and Affiliates to, use their commercially reasonable efforts to transfer and assign to a Bio Company all of their right, title and interest in and to all of the prior acquisition and indemnity agreements relating to any of the Bio Companies that provide for continuing or available indemnities or payments to or for the benefit of the Bio Companies Business as of the Closing Date, to the extent relating to the Bio Companies Business.

A-33

(c) At or prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall, and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries and Affiliates to, use their commercially reasonable efforts to transfer and assign to Purchasers or a Bio Company (other than CBM Intellectual Property) all of the Sellers right, title and interest in and to any and all (i) NDAs that provide for continuing or available confidentiality protection for the benefit of, or related to the confidential information of, the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business as of or following the Closing Date and (ii) written non-competition, non-solicitation, confidentiality or similar protective covenants or agreements to which any Seller, any Subsidiary of any Seller (excluding the Bio Companies) or any of their respective officers or employees (or former officers or employees) is a party, in each case to the extent such NDA, covenant or agreement relates to or was entered into for the benefit of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business. To the extent any such NDA, covenant or agreement has not been (or under the terms of such NDA, covenant or agreement cannot by its terms be) assigned to Purchasers or a Bio Company, the Company and the other Sellers shall, from and after the date of this Agreement, perform and fully enforce (including not agreeing to any modification, amendment or waiver) and take all actions as may be reasonably requested by Purchasers to prevent the violation or breach by any other party of any such NDA or covenant or agreement; provided that Purchasers shall reimburse the Company and the other Sellers for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs of any counsel fees and travel and other expenses incurred, after consultation with Purchasers, in connection with their taking any such action.

SECTION 4.20 Non-Competition. During the Restricted Period, the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, engage directly or indirectly in any business that competes, directly or indirectly, with the business conducted by the Bio Companies as of the Closing Date in any geographic area in which the Bio Companies conduct that business as of the Closing Date (a <u>Competing Business</u>); provided, however, that no owner of less than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock of any publicly-traded corporation shall be deemed to engage solely by reason thereof in a Competing Business; provided, further, that the provisions of this Section shall not (a) be applicable to any bona fide third party purchaser who acquires all or any substantial portion of the stock or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, whether by means of a merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination or similar transaction, or (b) prohibit the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from acquiring any business if less than 10% of the revenues of such business for its most recently completed fiscal year are attributable to a Competing Business; provided further, however, that in each such case the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, provide such third party purchaser or the employees associated with such business with any confidential information of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business. If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Section is invalid or unenforceable, the parties agree that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to reduce the scope, duration or area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be enforceable as so modified after the expiration of the time within which the judgment may be appealed.

SECTION 4.21 <u>Non-Solicitation of Customers and Employees</u>. During the Restricted Period, the Company shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, in one or a series of transactions, recruit, solicit or otherwise induce or influence any proprietor, partner, lender, sales agent, joint venturer, investor, lessor, customer, supplier, agent or representative which has a material business relationship with any of the Bio Companies to discontinue, reduce or modify such business relationship with any of the Bio Companies, or (ii) employ or seek to employ any employee of any of the Bio Companies who is then (or was at any time within twelve (12) months prior to the date the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates employs or seeks to employ such former employee of the Bio Companies) employee has been terminated by Purchasers or any of their respective Subsidiaries after the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) nothing herein shall prevent the Company and its Subsidiaries from providing a letter of recommendation to an employee or other Person with respect to a future employment opportunity and (b) this Section shall not apply to general solicitations of employment not specifically directed towards employees

of the Bio Companies; <u>provided</u> that the provisions of this <u>Section 4.21</u> shall not be applicable to any bona fide third party purchaser who acquires all or any substantial portion of the stock or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, whether by means of a merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination or similar transaction; <u>provided</u> <u>further</u>, <u>however</u>, that in each such case the

Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, provide such third party purchaser with any confidential information of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business.

ARTICLE V

CONDITIONS

SECTION 5.1 <u>Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party</u>. The respective obligations of each party hereto to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable Law) on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) The Company Stockholder Authorization shall have been obtained.

(b) No Law, injunction, judgment or ruling enacted, promulgated, issued, entered, amended or enforced by any Governmental Authority (collectively, the <u>Restraints</u>) shall be in effect enjoining, restraining, preventing or prohibiting consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions or making the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions illegal.

(c) All consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any Governmental Authority required of Purchasers, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions, the failure of which to be obtained or taken would be reasonably expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or an adverse effect on the ability of Purchasers and the Company to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions, shall have been obtained; <u>provided</u> that no such consent, approval, action, filing or notice under the Foreign Antitrust Laws shall be a condition to either party s obligations to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions. Without limiting the foregoing, any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act (and any extension thereof) shall have expired or terminated.

(d) The other party shall have executed and delivered the Transition Services Agreement.

SECTION 5.2 <u>Conditions to the Obligations of Purchasers</u>. The obligations of Purchasers to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable Law) on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) Each of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement shall be true and correct at and as of the Closing Date as if made on such date (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date, which shall be true and correct as of such date), except (x) for changes permitted by this Agreement or (y) where the failure of any such representation or warranty to be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect; and Purchasers shall have received a certificate of an executive officer of the Company to that effect.

(b) The Company shall have performed or complied with in all material respects all agreements, obligations and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date; and Purchasers shall have received a certificate of an executive officer of the Company to that effect.

(c) Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or any event or circumstance that would reasonably be expected to result in a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect in the reasonably foreseeable future.

SECTION 5.3 <u>Conditions to the Obligations of the Company</u>. The obligations of the Company to consummate the Bio Companies Transactions shall be subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, if permissible under applicable Law) on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) Each of the representations and warranties of Purchasers set forth in this Agreement shall be true and correct at and as of the Closing Date as if made on such date, except where the failure of any such representation or warranty to be true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be

A-35

expected to impair the ability of Purchasers to perform their respective obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions; and the Company shall have received a certificate of an executive officer of each Purchaser to that effect.

(b) Purchasers shall have performed or complied with in all material respects all agreements, obligations and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date; and the Company shall have received a certificate of an executive officer of each Purchaser to that effect.

ARTICLE VI

TAX MATTERS

SECTION 6.1 Tax Filings.

(a) (i) Where required by applicable Law, the Company shall include any applicable Bio Companies in, or cause those Bio Companies to be included in, and shall file or cause to be filed, (A) the United States consolidated federal income Tax Returns of the Company for all taxable periods of any applicable Bio Company ending on or prior to the Closing Date, and (B) all other Company consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Returns that include one or more of the Bio Companies for all taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date. The Company shall pay (or cause to be paid) all Taxes attributable to the Tax periods for which the Tax Returns referred to in clauses (A) and (B) above are filed. Within 120 days after the Closing Date (or sooner if reasonably requested by the Company to timely file a Tax Return), Purchasers shall cause each of the Bio Companies included in a Tax Return described in clause (A) or (B) above to prepare and provide to the Company a package of Tax information materials, including schedules and work papers, required by the Company to enable the Company to prepare and file all Tax Returns (which have not been filed on or before the Closing Date) required to be prepared and filed by the Company pursuant to this paragraph (the <u>Tax Package</u>). In addition, on or before the earlier of the date that is thirty (30) days after the Closing Date and the fifth (5th) business day after the calendar quarter in which the Closing occurs, Purchasers shall cause each of the Bio Companies included in a Tax Return described in clause (A) or (B) above to prepare and provide to the Company a package of Tax information materials, including schedules and work papers, required by the Company in connection with the public release of its results of operations for such quarter in a manner consistent with past practice.

(ii) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed, all Tax Returns of or which include any Bio Company, other than Tax Returns described in Section 6.1(a)(i), that are required to be filed (after giving effect to any valid extension of time in which to make such filing) on or prior to the Closing Date. The Company shall cause the Bio Companies to pay all Taxes attributable to the Tax periods for which such Tax Returns are filed.

(iii) After the Closing, Purchasers shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed, on behalf of the Bio Companies all other Tax Returns of, or which include, a Bio Company (other than those Tax Returns described in Section 6.1(a)(i) or Section 6.1(a)(i)). Purchasers shall, or shall cause the Bio Companies to, pay (or cause to be paid) all Taxes attributable to the Tax periods for which such Tax Returns are filed.

(b) All Tax Returns described in <u>Section 6.1(a)</u> (including the Tax Package) shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past practice unless a past practice has been finally determined to be incorrect by the applicable Taxing Authority or a contrary treatment is required by applicable Tax Laws (or the judicial or administrative interpretations thereof).

(c) To the extent permitted by applicable Law or administrative practice of any Taxing Authority, any transactions involving any of the Bio Companies that are not in the ordinary course of business occurring on the Closing Date but

after the Closing, other than any transactions relating to the sale of any Bio Company or any assets thereof to Purchasers or any of Purchasers Affiliates, shall be reported on Purchasers consolidated United States federal income Tax Return to the extent permitted by Treasury Regulation §1.1502-76(b)(1)(ii)(B) or on the post-Closing separate company Tax Returns of the applicable Bio Company (if the applicable Bio Company does not file a consolidated federal income Tax Return with Purchasers), and shall be similarly reported on all other Tax Returns

of Purchasers or its Affiliates to the extent permitted. The Sellers, Purchasers and the Bio Companies shall not take any position inconsistent with the preceding sentence on any Tax Return.

(d) Purchasers and the Company agree to furnish or cause to be furnished to each other, and each at its own expense, as promptly as practicable, such information (including access to books and records) and assistance, including making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanations of any material provided relating to the Bio Companies, as is reasonably necessary for the filing of any Tax Returns, for the preparation for any audit and for the prosecution or defense of any Action or Proceeding relating to any adjustment or proposed adjustment with respect to Taxes. Purchasers shall retain in their possession or cause the Bio Companies to retain in their possession, and shall provide the Company reasonable access to (including the right to make copies of), such supporting books and records and any other materials that the Company may specify with respect to matters relating to Taxes for any taxable period ending on or prior to or which includes the Closing Date for a period of seven (7) years after the Closing Date or such longer period as may be required by Law. After such time, Purchasers may dispose of such material; provided, that prior to such disposition Purchasers shall give the Company a reasonable opportunity at its expense to take possession of such materials.

(e) No Purchasers or any Affiliate or successor of any Purchaser shall (or shall cause or permit any of the Bio Companies to) amend, refile or otherwise modify any Tax Return relating in whole or in part to any Bio Company with respect to any taxable year or period ending on or before December 31, 2005, without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

SECTION 6.2 <u>Certain Other Taxes</u>. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such similar Taxes and fees (including any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement, if any, shall be paid 50% by Purchasers and 50% by the Company, and the party obligated under applicable Law to file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to any such transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes and fees, shall file such Tax Returns or other documentation and, if required by applicable Law, the other party will, and will cause its Affiliates to, join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation and will cooperate with the other party to take such commercially reasonable actions as will minimize or reduce the amount of such Taxes or fees.

SECTION 6.3 Tax Audits.

(a) The Company shall have the right (but not the obligation) to represent the interests of the Bio Companies in and control the conduct of any audit or administrative or court Action or Proceeding, with the participation of Purchasers at Purchasers expense, relating to Taxes described in Section 6.1(a)(i) and (i) (a Tax Claim) and the Company shall have the right to employ counsel of its choice at its expense in the conduct of any such contest. Purchasers will reasonably cooperate, and shall cause the Bio Companies to reasonably cooperate, at the Company sexpense, with the Company and its counsel in the defense against or compromise of any claim in any said Action or Proceeding. If the Company does not elect to control a Tax Claim pursuant to this Section 6.3(a) that relates to a separate company Tax of a Bio Company and not a Tax relating to a consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Return that includes the Company or a non-Bio Company Subsidiary of the Company, Purchasers or the Bio Companies may, without affecting its or any other indemnified party s rights to indemnification under this Article VI, assume and control the defense of such Tax Claim with participation by the Company (at the Company s expense).

(b) If any Taxing Authority asserts a claim, makes an assessment or otherwise disputes any Taxes for which the Company may have an indemnity obligation pursuant to <u>Section 6.4(a)</u>, Purchasers shall, promptly upon receipt by Purchasers and/or the Bio Companies of notice thereof, inform the Company thereof. The failure of Purchasers or the Bio Companies to timely forward such notification in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence shall not relieve the Company of any indemnity obligation it may have pursuant to <u>Section 6.4(a)</u> except and to the extent that

the failure to timely forward such notification actually prejudices the ability of the Company to contest such liability for Taxes or increases the amount of such Taxes.

(c) The Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to jointly represent the interests of any Bio Company with Purchasers in any audit or administrative or court Action or Proceeding relating to Taxes for any

Straddle Period. Any disputes regarding the conduct or resolution of any such audit or proceeding shall be resolved pursuant to <u>Section 6.5</u>.

(d) Purchasers shall have the sole right to represent the interests of the Bio Companies in all audits or administrative or court Actions or Proceedings relating to Taxes other than those specified in Section 6.3(a) and (c).

(e) The Company, on the one hand, and Purchasers and/or the Bio Companies, on the other hand, shall not enter into any compromise or agree to settle any claim pursuant to any Tax audit or Action or Proceeding which would adversely affect the other party without the written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

SECTION 6.4 Indemnification.

(a) After the Closing Date, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, indemnify and hold harmless Purchasers and the Bio Companies from and against any and all claims, actions, causes of action, liabilities, losses, damages, and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and costs (<u>Tax Losses</u>) resulting from, arising out of or relating to (i) any Taxes that the Company is responsible to pay pursuant to Section 6.1(a)(i) or (ii), (ii) Taxes of any Bio Company with respect to taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date, and (iii) the Company s share of Taxes payable pursuant to Section 6.2; provided, however, that the Company shall not be liable pursuant to this Section 6.4 to the extent of Taxes with respect to which a liability was recorded on the Bioproducts Balance Sheet or Biopharma Balance Sheet made available pursuant to Section 2.5(a) and Tax liabilities taken into account in determining Working Capital for purposes of Article I of this Agreement, (iv) any liability for Taxes resulting directly from making any Section 338 Election, provided such election is made in accordance with Section 6.7, and (v) any liability for Taxes (other than Taxes described in Section 6.2 of this Agreement) imposed on any Bio Company arising a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The indemnity provided in the foregoing sentence shall include, without limitation, any Tax liability arising by reason of any Bio Company being severally liable for any Taxes of another Person pursuant to Treasury Regulation §1.1502-6 or any analogous state, local or foreign Tax provision, as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company s obligation to indemnify Purchasers pursuant to this Section 6.4(a) is unconditional and not subject to any limitation on the Company s obligations pursuant to Article IX or any other provision of this Agreement.

(b) After the Closing Date, Purchasers shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its Affiliates from and against any and all Tax Losses arising out of or relating to (i) any Taxes of the Bio Companies (including Purchasers shares of Taxes payable pursuant to Section 6.2) other than amounts for which the Company has an indemnification obligation pursuant to Section 6.4(a) and (ii) any Taxes resulting from Purchasers breach of Section 6.7(a).

(c) For purposes of <u>Sections 6.4(a)</u> and <u>(b)</u>, whenever it is necessary to determine the liability for Taxes in the case of any taxable period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (a <u>Straddle Period</u>), (i) real, personal and intangible property Taxes (<u>Property Taxes</u>) of the Company and its Subsidiaries allocable to periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date (the <u>Pre-Closing Tax Period</u>) shall be equal to the amount of such Property Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during the Straddle Period; and (ii) Taxes (other than Property Taxes) allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the denominator of which is the number of days in the Straddle Period; and (ii) Taxes (other than Property Taxes) allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be computed as if such taxable period ended as of the close of business on the Closing Date, provided that exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including, but not limited to, depreciation and amortization deductions) shall be allocated between the period ending on the Closing Date and the period after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each period.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the indemnification obligations of the parties under this <u>Section 6.4</u> shall survive until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

SECTION 6.5 <u>Dispute Resolution</u>. In the event that the Company or any Purchaser disputes the application or interpretation of any provision of <u>Sections 6.1</u> through <u>6.3</u>, or the amount or calculation of Taxes, if any, owed by such party thereunder, such party shall deliver to the other a statement setting forth, in reasonable detail, the nature of and dollar amount of any disagreement so asserted. The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any such

A-38

dispute within twenty (20) days following the date of the statement provided pursuant to the preceding sentence. If the parties are unable to resolve such dispute within such twenty (20) day period, the dispute shall be resolved by the Independent Accountants. The Independent Accountants shall finally and conclusively resolve any dispute relating to matters set forth in this <u>Section 6.5</u> within thirty (30) days following receipt of the submission. The Independent Accountants shall determine, only with respect to the specific disagreements submitted in writing by the Company and the applicable Purchaser, the manner in which such item or items in dispute should be resolved; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the dollar amount of any such item or items shall be determined within the range of dollar amounts proposed by the Company, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand. Any finding by the Independent Accountants shall be a reasoned award stating the findings of fact and conclusions of Law (if any) on which it is based, shall be final and binding upon the parties and shall be the sole and exclusive remedy between the parties regarding the disputed items so presented. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountants shall be shared by the Company and the applicable Purchaser in proportion to each party s respective liability for Taxes which are the subject of the dispute as determined by the Independent Accountants, and the parties shall otherwise bear their own expenses incurred in any dispute resolution pursuant to this Section.

SECTION 6.6 Refunds.

(a) Any refunds (including but not limited to any refunds related to the U.K. Group Relief process) of Taxes (together with any interest received with respect thereto) paid to or in respect of the Bio Companies (including any amounts credited against income Tax to which any Purchaser, its Affiliates or any of the Bio Companies becomes entitled) and that relate to Taxes for which the Company is responsible pursuant to this Article VI shall be for the account of the Company. A Purchaser shall pay over to the Company any such refund or the amount of any such credit (in each case, together with any interest received with respect thereto) within fifteen (15) days after receipt or entitlement thereto. The preceding sentences shall not apply to any refunds or credits to the extent such refunds or credits are (i) reflected as an asset on the Bioproducts Balance Sheet or the Biopharma Balance Sheet or (ii) reflected as an asset in determining Working Capital for purposes of <u>Section 1.2</u> of this Agreement, in each case, all of which refunds or credits shall be for the account of the applicable Purchaser.

(b) Purchasers shall, if the Company so requests and at the Company s expense, prepare, execute and file any claims for refunds or credits, or cause the Bio Companies to prepare, execute and file any claims for refunds or credits, to which the Company is entitled under this Section. Purchasers shall permit the Company to control the prosecution of any such refund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchasers shall have no obligations under this <u>Section 6.6(b)</u> to the extent Purchasers reasonably determine that fulfilling their obligations described herein would have a material adverse effect on Purchasers with respect to any taxable periods beginning after the Closing Date.

SECTION 6.7 Certain Elections and Other Tax Matters.

(a) Upon the mutual agreement of the Company and Lonza America (for itself and on behalf of the other Purchasers), the Company and Purchasers shall make or join in making any elections under Section 338 of the Code (and any comparable election under any relevant state or local Law) (a <u>Section 338 Election</u>) with respect to the purchase and sale of any of the Bio Companies under this Agreement. In no event shall either party make a Section 338 Election with respect to any Bio Company without the prior written consent of the other party. If either party desires to make one or more Section 338 Elections, it shall notify the other party in writing of such decision within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date. If such other party agrees to make the Section 338 Election, the party proposing the Section 338 Election shall propose an allocation of the Final Purchase Price (which, for this purpose, shall include any Bio Company liabilities properly taken into account for purposes of determining the purchase price under Code Section 338) among the assets of the applicable Bio Company in accordance with Code Section 1060 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law, as appropriate), and shall notify the other party in writing of such proposed Final Purchase Price allocation within fifteen (15) days

following receipt of the other party s written consent to the making of such Section 338 Election. The parties shall cooperate in good faith to agree on an allocation of the Final Purchase Price and, once agreed to, the allocation shall be binding on the parties (the <u>Allocation</u>). If the parties cannot agree upon the Allocation within thirty (30) days following the delivery of the proposed allocation then no such Section 338 Election shall be made. Purchasers and the Company shall report and file Tax Returns (including but not limited to

Internal Revenue Service Form 8594 if applicable) in all respects and for all purposes consistent with the Allocation. Neither Purchasers nor the Company shall take any position (whether in audits, Tax Returns or otherwise) that is inconsistent with the Allocation unless required to do so by applicable Law. Within 180 days following the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Purchasers IRS Form 8023 (or applicable successor form) for each Bio Company for which a Code Section 338(h)(10) election is made, fully executed by the Company or other applicable sellers pursuant to the requirements stated therein.

(b) Purchasers shall not permit the Bio Companies to carry back any loss, deduction or credit to any taxable period that ends on, prior to or which includes the Closing Date.

(c) It is the intention of the parties to treat any indemnity payment made under this <u>Article VI</u> as an adjustment to the Final Purchase Price for all federal, state, local and foreign Tax purposes, and the parties agree to file their Tax Returns accordingly.

(d) At least five (5) business days prior to the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Purchasers a schedule setting forth the allocation of the Final Purchase Price among the Bio Companies. If any Purchaser disagrees with the allocation of the Final Purchase Price among the Bio Companies, such Purchaser shall notify the Company of such disagreement and its reasons for so disagreeing, in which case the Company and Purchasers shall cooperate in good faith to resolve the disagreement. To the extent the Company and Purchasers cannot agree on a mutually acceptable determination and/or allocation of the Final Purchase Price, such determination and/or allocation shall be made by each of Purchasers, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other, in connection with their respective U.S. federal, state, and local tax returns and other filings, and each such Person shall report the allocation of the Final Purchase Price among the Bio Companies as such party acting in good faith deems appropriate.

(e) If the transfer of any Bio Company is treated as an applicable asset acquisition within the meaning of Code Section 1060 (other than any such transfer for which a Section 338 Election is made, the allocation for which shall be governed by Section 6.7(a) hereof) and the Company and Purchasers have agreed on an allocation of the Final Purchase Price to the interests in such Bio Company pursuant to Section 6.7(d), then, within ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, Purchasers shall deliver to the Company a schedule allocating the portion of the Final Purchase Price allocable to each Bio Company the sale of which is treated as an applicable asset acquisition (such portion determined pursuant to Section 6.7(d) and increased to take into account any Bio Company liabilities properly included therein) among the assets of the applicable Bio Company in accordance with Code Section 1060 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law, as appropriate). If the Company disagrees with any items reflected on the schedule so provided, the Company shall notify Purchasers of such disagreement and its reasons for so disagreeing, in which case the Company and Purchasers shall cooperate in good faith to resolve the disagreement. To the extent the Company and Purchasers cannot agree on the contents of the schedule delivered pursuant to this Section 6.7(e), each of the Company and Purchasers shall be free to use their own allocation schedule in preparing their respective U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax returns and other filings. If the parties are able to agree on an allocation for purposes of this Section 6.7(e), Purchasers and the Company shall report and file Tax Returns (including but not limited to Internal Revenue Service Form 8594 if applicable) in all respects and for all purposes consistent with the allocation and neither Purchasers nor the Company shall take any position (whether in audits, Tax Returns or otherwise) that is inconsistent with the allocation unless required to do so by applicable Law. To the extent consistent with the foregoing, any adjustment to the Final Purchase Price shall be allocated as provided by Treasury Regulation §1.1060-1(c).

SECTION 6.8 <u>Certificate of Non-Foreign Status</u>. At the Closing, each Seller that is not a foreign Person for purposes of Code Section 1445 shall deliver to Purchasers, in a form reasonably satisfactory to Purchasers, a certificate from the Seller certifying as to its non-foreign status that complies with Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2).

SECTION 6.9 <u>Termination of Tax Sharing Agreements</u>. Anything in any other agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, all liabilities and obligations between Sellers or any of their Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Bio Companies, on the other hand, under any Tax allocation or Tax sharing agreement in effect prior to the Closing Date (other than this Agreement) shall cease and terminate as of the Closing Date and the Bio Companies shall have no liability or obligation thereunder after the Closing Date.

ARTICLE VII

EMPLOYEE AND BENEFITS MATTERS

SECTION 7.1 Transferred Bio Companies Employees.

(a) <u>Continued Employment</u>. The Bio Companies shall continue to employ immediately following the Closing each of the individuals employed by the Bio Companies immediately prior to the Closing , including, without limitation, any individual on leave or short-term or long-term disability (each such employee being hereafter referred to as a <u>Transferred Bio Companies Employee</u>). No provision of this Agreement shall be construed as limiting the ability of Purchasers to terminate the employment of any Transferred Bio Companies Employee at any time following the Closing for any reason, nor shall they be construed to create any contractual rights between any Transferred Bio Companies Employee and Purchasers.

(b) <u>Continued Compensation and Benefits</u>. Without limiting any of the obligations of Purchasers set forth in this Article VII and subject to Section 7.2(a), effective as of the Closing, Purchasers shall continue or establish, or cause to be continued or established, employee compensation and benefit plans, programs, policies and arrangements (including fringe benefits and severance pay) that will provide benefits and compensation to the Transferred Bio Companies Employees (and, if applicable, their eligible beneficiaries) for a period of at least one (1) year after the Closing (or such longer period as may be required by applicable Law) that are at least substantially comparable in the aggregate to those provided by the Company and its Subsidiaries (including the Bio Companies) to the Transferred Bio Companies Employees (and, if applicable, their eligible beneficiaries) immediately prior to the Closing. Without limiting the foregoing, Purchasers and their respective Affiliates shall (i) honor all employment, severance, retention and change-in-control agreements by and between the Company or its Subsidiaries and any Transferred Bio Companies Employee or any Former Bio Companies Employee, which agreements shall be assigned to, and assumed by, Purchasers or a Bio Company on or prior to the Closing Date, (ii) for the longer of one (1) year following the Closing and the period during which such benefits are required to be provided by the terms of any applicable Company Plan, continue to maintain for each Transferred Bio Companies Employee the severance arrangements maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including the Bio Companies) for each such Transferred Bio Companies Employee immediately prior to the Closing and (iii) assume and perform the obligations of the Company with respect to Transferred Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees under The Cambrex Corporation 2004 Incentive Plan in accordance with the terms of such plan as in effect on the date hereof.

(c) <u>Service Crediting, Etc.</u> For purposes of vesting, eligibility to participate and level of benefits (but not benefit accrual under pension or similar plans and not for purposes of eligibility for any post-retirement medical benefits) under the employee benefit plans of Purchasers and their respective Affiliates which provide benefits to any Transferred Bio Companies Employees after the Closing (the <u>New Plans</u>), each Transferred Bio Companies Employee shall be credited with his or her years of service with the Company and its Subsidiaries (including the Bio Companies) before the Closing, to the same extent as such Transferred Bio Companies Employee was entitled, before the Closing, to credit for such service under the corresponding Bio Companies Plan in which such Transferred Bio Companies Employee participated or was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Closing; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to the extent that its application would result in a duplication of benefits or to the extent that prior service with a Purchaser and its Affiliates is not provided under such Purchaser Plan for similarly situated employees of Purchasers and its Affiliates who is not a Transferred Bio Companies Employee. In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing but subject to the consent of any applicable insurer or other service provider with respect to a New Plan: (i) each Transferred Bio Companies Employee shall be immediately eligible to participate, without any waiting time, in each New Plan that is an employee welfare benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA) to the extent that the Transferred Bio Companies Employee had satisfied the waiting period under a corresponding Bio Companies Plan in which such Transferred Bio Companies Employee participated

immediately before the Closing and (ii) for purposes of each New Plan providing medical, dental, pharmaceutical and/or vision benefits to any Transferred Bio Companies Employee, a Purchaser or its Affiliates shall cause (x) all pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements of such New Plan to be waived for such employee and his or her covered dependents, unless such conditions would not have been waived under the corresponding Bio Companies Plan in which such employee participated immediately prior to the Closing, and (y) any eligible expenses

A-41

incurred by such employee and his or her covered dependents during the portion of the plan year of the applicable Bio Companies Plan ending on the date such employee s participation in the corresponding New Plan begins to be taken into account under such New Plan for purposes of satisfying all deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such employee and his or her covered dependents for the applicable plan year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such New Plan.

SECTION 7.2 Treatment of Certain Plans and Coverages.

(a) <u>Company Pension Plans</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this <u>Article VII</u>, but subject to <u>Section 7.3(a)</u>, neither Purchasers nor any of the Bio Companies shall have any responsibility for, or liability under or with respect to, The Retirement Plan for Employees of Cambrex Corporation, The Cambrex Corporation Savings Plan, The Cambrex Retiree Medical Plan or the Cambrex Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (collectively, the <u>Company Pension Plans</u>), and the Company Pension Plans shall each retain all assets and liabilities related to Transferred Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees accrued thereunder. Each Purchaser, its Affiliates and their assigns shall cooperate with the Company and its successors and assigns in connection with administering the benefits accrued by Transferred Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees under the Company Pension Plans and to promptly provide all documentation, information and assistance reasonably requested by the Company, its successors and assigns or the administrator of the Company Pension Plans in respect of the administration and or distribution of such benefits. The Company and its Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies) shall indemnify and hold Purchasers and the Bio Companies and their respective Affiliates harmless against all Liabilities related to the Company Pension Plans, regardless of when such Liabilities arise.

(b) <u>Bio Companies Pension Plans</u>. Subject to <u>Section 7.2(a)</u>, each deferred compensation, pension, retirement or other similar plan that covers or provides benefits solely to Transferred Bio Companies Employees and/or Former Bio Companies Employees, including, without limitation, the BioWhittaker, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the <u>Bio Companies SERP</u>) and the Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (collectively, the <u>Bio Companies</u> Stand-Alone Pension Plans), shall be sponsored by a Bio Company as of the Closing (and any associated insurance and service provider agreements shall have been assumed by a Bio Company as of the Closing), and the Company shall have caused to be transferred to the applicable Bio Companies sponsorship of any trust established to fund any Bio Companies Stand-Alone Pension Plan. The Company, its Affiliates and their assigns shall provide reasonable cooperation to Purchasers, the Bio Companies and their successors and assigns in connection with administering the Bio Companies Stand-Alone Pension Plans and shall as soon as reasonably practicable provide all documentation, information and assistance reasonably requested by Purchasers, the Bio Companies, their successors and assigns or the administrator of the Bio Companies Stand-Alone Pension Plans in respect of the administration of and/or distribution of benefits from such plans. Purchasers and the Bio Companies shall (i) within thirty (30) days following the Closing, make any contribution required to be made pursuant to Section 4.4 of the Bio Companies SERP and (ii) indemnify and hold the Company and its Affiliates harmless against all Liabilities related to the Bio Companies Stand-Alone Pension Plans, regardless of when such Liabilities arise.

(c) <u>Flexible Spending Accounts</u>. Purchasers or an Affiliate of Purchasers shall establish flexible spending accounts for medical and dependent care expenses under a new or existing plan established or maintained under Section 125 or Section 129 of the Code, as applicable (<u>Purchasers FSAs</u>), effective as of the Closing Date, for each Transferred Bio Companies Employee who, as of the Closing Date, is a participant in a flexible spending account for medical or dependent care expenses under a Bio Companies Plan pursuant to Section 125 or Section 129 of the Code (<u>Company FSAs</u>). As soon as administratively practicable following the Closing Date, the Company shall provide an accounting to Purchasers of each applicable Transferred Bio Companies Employee s account balance in Company FSAs, in each case as of the Closing Date. Upon receipt of such accounting, Purchasers shall cause each participating Transferred Bio Companies Employee s account under Purchasers FSAs to be credited or debited, as applicable, effective on the day after the Closing Date, in an amount equal to the applicable account balance of such Transferred Bio Companies

Employee under the corresponding Company FSA as of the Closing Date. As soon as administratively practicable after the delivery of the accounting described above, the Company shall transfer to Purchasers an amount equal to the total contributions made to Company FSAs by Transferred Bio Companies Employees in respect of the plan year in which the Closing Date occurs, reduced by an amount equal to the total claims already paid to Transferred Bio Companies Employees under such plans in respect of such plan

year; <u>provided</u> that if such amount is a negative number, Purchasers shall transfer to the Company, within thirty (30) days following the Company s request, an amount equal to the aggregate deficit balance in such accounts. Purchasers and the Company intend that the actions to be taken pursuant to this Section be treated as an assumption by Purchasers of the portion of Company FSAs and the elections made thereunder attributable to the participating Transferred Bio Companies Employees.

(d) <u>COBRA Coverage</u>. Purchasers shall, commencing on the Closing Date, provide group health plan continuation coverage pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code and Sections 601 through 609 of ERISA (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, <u>COBRA Coverage</u>) to each Transferred Bio Companies Employee (and such employee s eligible dependents) who is receiving, or is eligible to receive, COBRA Coverage on the Closing or becomes eligible for COBRA Coverage following the Closing.

SECTION 7.3 Treatment of Certain Liabilities.

(a) <u>Post-Termination Welfare Benefits</u>. Purchasers and the Bio Companies shall assume responsibility for, and shall indemnify and hold the Company and its Affiliates harmless against, all Liabilities related to the obligation to provide any post-termination welfare benefits (including, without limitation, long-term disability and post-retirement medical, dental, vision, pharmacy and life insurance benefits) under the Cambrex Retiree Medical Plan to any eligible Transferred Bio Companies Employee or Former Bio Companies Employee at the Rockland facility (and, if applicable, his or her eligible beneficiaries) who has satisfied the eligibility conditions for such benefits as of the Closing and who elects such coverage within thirty (30) days following the Closing.

(b) Other Liabilities. Except as set forth in Section 7.2(a) and Section 7.2(c), Purchasers and the Bio Companies shall assume, discharge, pay and be solely liable for, and shall indemnify and hold the Company and its Subsidiaries harmless from and against, any and all Losses related to Transferred Bio Companies Employees or Former Bio Companies Employees including, without limitation, (i) any earned and unused vacation, holiday pay or other fringe benefits, (ii) any health, accidental death and dismemberment, disability or life insurance coverage and any health and welfare benefits under the Bio Companies Plans, (iii) any severance pay, salary continuation, retention or other special bonuses or like compensation payable under the Bio Companies Plans, including without limitation, to the extent not paid prior to Closing, accrued bonuses payable on a discretionary basis to employees of the Biopharma Companies in an amount equal to the amounts reserved therefor in the financial statements delivered by the Company to Purchasers pursuant to Section 2.5(a)(iv) and (iv) any other Liability arising out of the employment or termination of employment of the Transferred Bio Companies Employees or Former Bio Companies Employees, in each case whether such Losses relate to or arise out of events, occurrences, actions, omissions, facts or circumstances occurring, existing or asserted before, on or after the Closing Date. Purchasers shall make all necessary arrangements to assume all worker s compensation claim files, whether open or closed, as of the Closing Date, and will make the necessary arrangements for assuming the continued management of such liabilities, including through providing to the Company at Closing a letter of credit in favor of the Company.

SECTION 7.4 No Plan Amendments; No Third Party Beneficiaries; Non-US Law.

(a) No provision of this Agreement is intended to be, and shall not be construed as, an amendment of an employee benefit plan, program, policy or arrangement nor shall any provision of this Agreement be interpreted to modify, waive or supplement the provisions of any employee benefit plan, program, policy or arrangement.

(b) It is understood and agreed between the parties that all provisions contained in this Agreement with respect to employee benefit plans or employee compensation are included for the sole benefit of the respective parties hereto and do not and shall not create any right in any other person, including, but not limited to, any Transferred Bio Companies Employees or Former Bio Companies Employee, any participant in any benefit or compensation plan or any

beneficiary thereof.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Purchasers and Sellers shall (or shall cause their respective Affiliates to) take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to cause the transfer of employment of each Transferred Bio Companies Employee whose employment is governed by a jurisdiction other than the United States from employment with the Seller to employment with Purchasers (or their respective Affiliates) and the Seller and Purchasers agree that all such transfers of employment shall be made in all respects in accordance with the applicable requirements of local Law.

A-43

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION

SECTION 8.1 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated and the Bio Companies Transactions abandoned at any time prior to the Closing Date, whether before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Authorization:

(a) by the mutual written consent of the Company and Purchasers; or

(b) by either the Company or Purchasers:

(i) if any Restraint having any of the effects set forth in <u>Section 5.1(b)</u> shall be in effect and shall have become final and non-appealable; <u>provided</u> that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 8.1(b)(i)</u> shall not be available to a party if the issuance of such final, non-appealable Restraint was primarily due to the failure of such party to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement;

(ii) if the Closing shall not have been consummated on or before the Outside Date; <u>provided</u> that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 8.1(b)(ii)</u> shall not be available to any party whose failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement resulted in the failure of the Closing to be so consummated on or before the Outside Date; or

(iii) if the Company Stockholder Authorization shall not have been obtained at the Company Stockholders Meeting (or at any adjournment or postponement thereof) by reason of the failure to obtain the required vote; or

(c) by the Company if:

(i) the Company enters into a definitive Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement providing for a Superior Bio Companies Proposal; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Company may only exercise this termination right if the Company has complied with its obligations under <u>Section 4.2</u>, including, without limitation, <u>Section 4.2(c)</u>; and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that such termination shall not be effective unless concurrently therewith the Company fulfills its obligations under <u>Section 8.3</u>;

(ii) any of the representations and warranties of Purchasers set forth in this Agreement shall not be true and correct on and as of the date of such determination as if made on such date (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date which shall be true and correct as of such date), but only to the extent that such failure would cause the condition contained in <u>Section 5.3(a)</u> not to be satisfied as of such date and such condition is, as a result of any such failure, incapable of being satisfied on or before the Outside Date; or

(iii) Purchasers shall have breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it, but only to the extent that such breach or failure would cause the condition contained in <u>Section 5.3(b)</u> not to be satisfied as of such date and such condition is, as a result of any such failure, incapable of being satisfied on or before the Outside Date.

(d) by Purchasers, if:

(i) any of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement shall not be true and correct on and as of the date of such determination as if made on such date (other than those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date, which shall be true and correct as of such date), but only to the extent that such failure would cause the condition contained in <u>Section 5.2(a)</u> not to be satisfied as of such date and such

condition is, as a result of such breach or failure, incapable of being satisfied on or before the Outside Date;

(ii) the Company shall have breached or failed to perform or comply with any obligation, agreement or covenant required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it, but only to the extent that such breach or failure would cause the condition contained in <u>Section 5.2(b)</u> not to be satisfied as of such

date and such condition is, as a result of such breach or failure, incapable of being satisfied on or before the Outside Date;

(iii) a Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change shall have occurred;

(iv) an event has occurred or a circumstance exists that could reasonably be expected to have a Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect, but only to the extent that such event or circumstance would cause the condition contained in <u>Section 5.2(c)</u> not to be satisfied as of such date and such condition is, as a result of such event or circumstance, incapable of being satisfied on or before the Outside Date; or

(v) the Company Board or any committee thereof shall have (A) failed to recommend the Bio Companies Transactions to the holders of Company Common Stock in accordance with this Agreement, (B) withdrawn or modified or proposed publicly to withdraw or modify in a manner adverse to Purchasers its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Bio Companies Transactions, (C) approved or recommended, or proposed publicly to approve or recommend, a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal to the holders of Company Common Stock, (D) caused the Company or its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives to take any action that would constitute a breach of Section 4.2, (E) caused any Seller or Bio Company to enter into a Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement, or (F) resolved to take any of the foregoing actions.

SECTION 8.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. In the event of the termination of this Agreement by either party as provided in <u>Section 8.1</u>, written notice thereof shall be given to the other party, specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void (other than <u>Sections 4.9, 8.2, 8.3, 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, 10.6, 10.7, 10.8, 10.9, 10.10, 10.12</u>, the penultimate sentence of <u>Section 4.7</u> and the Confidentiality Agreement in accordance with its terms, all of which shall survive termination of this Agreement at any time) and there shall be no liability as a result thereof on the part of Purchasers or the Company or their respective directors, officers and Affiliates, except (i) the Company may have liability as provided in <u>Section 8.3</u>, and (ii) nothing shall relieve any party from liability for fraud or any willful breach of this Agreement.

SECTION 8.3 Termination Fee.

(a) In the event that:

(i) within sixteen (16) months after termination of this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 8.1(b)(ii)</u>, <u>8.1(b)(iii)</u> or <u>8.1(d)</u> the Company shall have consummated an Alternative Bio Companies Takeover Proposal (as defined below); or

(ii) this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to <u>Section 8.1(c)(i)</u>;

then the Company shall (A) in the case of a termination described in paragraph (a)(i) of this <u>Section 8.3</u>, upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by such Alternative Bio Companies Takeover Proposal, or (B) in the case of a termination described in paragraph (a)(ii) of this <u>Section 8.3</u>, on the date of such termination, pay Purchasers the Termination Fee (as defined below) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Purchasers. Upon failure to timely pay any amount payable under this <u>Section 8.3</u>, interest shall accrue on such unpaid amount at the rate of interest announced publicly by JPMorgan Chase Bank as its reference rate (on the basis of a 365-day year). <u>Alternative Bio Companies Takeover Proposal</u> means a Bio Companies Takeover Proposal that involves the purchase, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, of (i) more than 50% of the assets of the Bio Companies or more than 50% of the equity securities in the Bio Companies (<u>Alternative Bio Companies</u> <u>Transaction</u>) or (ii) all or substantially all of the assets of or the equity securities in the Biopharma Companies (<u>Alternative Biopharma Transaction</u>). <u>Termination</u> Fee means (x) in the case of a termination described in paragraph (a)(ii) of this <u>Section 8.3</u>, US \$18,354,000; (y) in the case of an Alternative Bio Companies Transaction, US

\$18,354,000 less the amount of any Termination Fee previously paid in respect of an Alternative Biopharma Transaction; or (z) in the case of an Alternative Biopharma Transaction, US \$2,000,000 unless Purchasers have previously received a Termination Fee in respect of an Alternative Bio Companies Transaction, in which case no Termination Fee shall be payable in connection with such Alternative Biopharma Transaction.

Table of Contents

(b) Purchasers and the Company acknowledge and agree that the payment of the Termination Fee as contemplated by <u>Section 8.3(a)</u> is reasonable and not excessive in light of the nature of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Purchasers right to receive the Termination Fee pursuant to this <u>Section 8.3</u> shall not be the exclusive remedy for any breach by the Company of any of the representations, warranties, covenants or other provisions of this Agreement and shall be in addition to any other remedies available at law or in equity to Purchasers.

SECTION 8.4 <u>Acknowledgement</u>. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the agreements contained in <u>Section 8.3</u> are an integral part of the Bio Companies Transactions and that, without these agreements, Purchasers would not enter into this Agreement. If the Company fails promptly to pay the Termination Fee or and, in order to obtain such payment, Purchasers commence a suit that results in a judgment against the Company for the Termination Fee or any portion thereof, the Company shall pay to Purchasers their reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees and expenses) incurred in connection with such suit.

ARTICLE IX

INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 9.1 Indemnification by the Sellers. Following the Closing, except with respect to Taxes (which shall be governed exclusively by <u>Article VI</u>), employee benefits of or other Liabilities to Transferred Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees (which shall be governed exclusively by <u>Article VII</u>) and as expressly provided in the Transition Services Agreement, the Company and the other Sellers, jointly and severally, shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, indemnify, defend and hold harmless Purchasers, the Bio Companies and each of their respective Affiliates, directors, officers, successors and assigns (the <u>Purchaser Indemnitees</u>) from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by any of the Purchaser Indemnitees arising out of, resulting from or relating to any Company Liability (including, without limitation, arising out of the failure of the Company, the other Sellers or their respective Subsidiaries (other than the Bio Companies) to pay, perform or otherwise discharge when due any such Company Liability), whether arising prior to, on or after the Closing.

SECTION 9.2 Indemnification by Purchasers. Following the Closing, except with respect to Taxes (which shall be governed exclusively by <u>Article VI</u>), employee benefits of or other Liabilities to Transferred Bio Companies Employees and Former Bio Companies Employees (which shall be governed exclusively by <u>Article VII</u>) and as expressly provided in the Transition Services Agreement, Purchasers shall, jointly and severally, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company, each Affiliate of the Company and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, successors and assigns (the <u>Company Indemnitees</u>) from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by any of the Company Indemnitees arising out of, resulting from or relating to any Bio Companies Liability (including, without limitation, arising out of the failure of any Purchaser or any of the Bio Companies to pay, perform or otherwise discharge when due any such Bio Companies Liability), whether arising prior to, on or after the Closing.

SECTION 9.3 Limitations on Indemnification Obligations. The amount which any party (an <u>Indemnifying Party</u>) is or may be required to pay to any other party (an <u>Indemnitee</u>) pursuant to Section 9.1 or Section 9.2 shall be reduced (including, without limitation, retroactively) by any Insurance Proceeds or other amount actually recovered by or on behalf of such Indemnitee, in reduction of the related Loss arising out of a Company Liability or Bio Companies Liability; <u>provided</u>, that no party is required to maintain insurance for such purpose. If an Indemnitee shall have received the payment required by this Agreement from an Indemnifying Party in respect of any Loss arising out of a Company Liability or Bio Companies Liability and shall subsequently actually receive Insurance Proceeds or other amounts in respect of such Loss arising out of a Company Liability or Bio Companies Liability, then such Indemnitee shall pay to such Indemnifying Party a sum equal to the amount of such Insurance Proceeds or other amounts actually received (up to but not in excess of the amount of any indemnity payment made hereunder). An insurer who would

otherwise be obligated to pay any claim shall not be relieved of the responsibility with respect thereto, or, solely by virtue of the indemnification provisions hereof, have any subrogation rights with respect thereto, it being expressly understood and agreed that no insurer or any other third party shall be entitled to a

windfall__(i.e., a benefit they would not be entitled to receive in the absence of the indemnification provisions) by virtue of the indemnification provisions hereof.

SECTION 9.4 <u>Procedures for Indemnification of Third Party Claims</u>. Procedures for indemnification of Third Party Claims shall be as follows:

(a) If an Indemnitee shall receive notice or otherwise learn of the assertion by a Person (including, without limitation, any Governmental Authority) who is not a party to this Agreement of any claim or of the commencement by any such Person of any Action or Proceeding (a <u>Third Party Claim</u>) with respect to which an Indemnifying Party may be obligated to provide indemnification pursuant to <u>Section 9.1</u> or <u>Section 9.2</u>, such Indemnitee shall give such Indemnifying Party written notice thereof promptly after becoming aware of such Third Party Claim; <u>provided</u> that the failure of any Indemnitee to give notice as provided in this <u>Section 9.4(a)</u> shall not relieve the related Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this <u>Article IX</u>, except to the extent that such Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such failure to give notice. Such notice shall describe the Third Party Claim in reasonable detail and, if ascertainable, shall indicate the amount (estimated if necessary) of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by such Indemnitee.

(b) An Indemnifying Party may elect to defend or to seek to settle or compromise, at such Indemnifying Party s own expense and by such Indemnifying Party s own counsel, any Third Party Claim. Within thirty (30) days after the receipt of notice from an Indemnitee in accordance with <u>Section 9.4(a)</u> (or sooner, if the nature of such Third Party Claim so requires), the Indemnifying Party shall notify the Indemnitee whether the Indemnifying Party will assume responsibility for defending such Third Party Claim. After notice from an Indemnifying Party to an Indemnitee of its election to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim, such Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to such Indemnitee under this <u>Article IX</u> for any legal or other expenses (except expenses approved in advance by the Indemnifying Party) subsequently incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof; provided that if the defendants in any such claim include both the Indemnifying Party and one or more Indemnitees and in any Indemnitee s reasonable judgment a conflict of interest between one or more of such Indemnitees and such Indemnifying Party exists in respect of such claim, such Indemnitees shall have the right to employ separate counsel to represent such Indemnitees and in that event the reasonable fees and expenses of such separate counsel (but not more than one separate counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnifying Party) shall be paid by such Indemnifying Party. If an Indemnifying Party elects not to assume responsibility for defending a Third Party Claim, or fails to notify an Indemnitee of its election as provided in this Section 9.4(b), such Indemnitee may defend or (subject to the remainder of this Section 9.4(b) and Section 9.4(d)) seek to compromise or settle such Third Party Claim at the expense of the Indemnifying Party. Neither an Indemnifying Party nor an Indemnitee shall consent to entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement of any Third Party Claim which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such Indemnitee, in the case of a consent or settlement by an Indemnifying Party, or the Indemnifying Party, in the case of a consent or settlement by the Indemnitee, of a written release from all Liability in respect to such Third Party Claim.

(c) If an Indemnifying Party chooses to defend or to seek to compromise or settle any Third Party Claim, the related Indemnitee shall make available to such Indemnifying Party any personnel or any books, records or other documents within its control or which it otherwise has the ability to make available that are necessary or appropriate for such defense, settlement or compromise, and shall otherwise cooperate in the defense, settlement or compromise of such Third Party Claim.

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this <u>Section 9.4</u> to the contrary, neither an Indemnifying Party nor an Indemnitee may settle or compromise any claim over the objection of the other; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that consent to settlement or compromise shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If an Indemnifying Party notifies the related Indemnitee in writing of such Indemnifying Party s desire to settle or compromise a Third Party Claim on the basis set forth in such notice (provided that such settlement or compromise includes as an unconditional term thereof the giving

by the claimant or plaintiff of a written release of the Indemnitee from all Liability in respect thereof) and the Indemnitee shall notify the Indemnifying Party in writing that such Indemnitee declines to accept any such settlement or compromise, such Indemnitee may continue to contest such Third Party Claim, free of any participation by such Indemnifying

Party, at such Indemnitee s sole expense. In such event, the obligation of such Indemnifying Party to such Indemnitee with respect to such Third Party Claim shall be equal to (i) the costs and expenses of such Indemnitee prior to the date such Indemnifying Party notifies such Indemnitee of the offer to settle or compromise (to the extent such costs and expenses are otherwise indemnifiable hereunder) plus (ii) the lesser of (x) the amount of any offer of settlement or compromise which such Indemnitee declined to accept and (y) the actual out-of-pocket amount such Indemnitee is obligated to pay subsequent to such date as a result of such Indemnitee s continuing to pursue such Third Party Claim.

(e) In the event of payment by an Indemnifying Party to any Indemnitee in connection with any Third Party Claim, such Indemnifying Party shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, be subrogated to and shall stand in the place of such Indemnitee as to any events or circumstances in respect of which such Indemnitee may have any right or claim relating to such Third Party Claim against any claimant or plaintiff asserting such Third Party Claim or against any other Person. Such Indemnitee shall cooperate with such Indemnifying Party in a reasonable manner, and at the cost and expense of such Indemnifying Party, in prosecuting any subrogated right or claim.

SECTION 9.5 Other Procedures for Indemnification.

(a) Any claim on account of a Loss which does not result from a Third Party Claim shall be asserted by written notice given by the Indemnitee to the related Indemnifying Party. Such Indemnifying Party shall have a period of thirty
(30) days after the receipt of such notice within which to respond thereto. If such Indemnifying Party does not respond within such thirty (30) day period, such Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have refused to accept responsibility to make payment. If such Indemnifying Party does not respond within such thirty (30) day period or rejects such claim in whole or in part, such Indemnitee shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to such party under this Agreement or under applicable Law.

(b) In addition to any adjustments required pursuant to <u>Section 9.3</u>, if the amount of any Loss shall, at any time subsequent to the payment required by this Agreement, be reduced by recovery, settlement or otherwise, the amount of such reduction, less any expenses incurred in connection therewith, shall promptly be repaid by the Indemnitee to the Indemnifying Party.

SECTION 9.6 <u>Remedies Cumulative</u>. The remedies provided in this <u>Article IX</u> shall be cumulative and shall not preclude assertion by an Indemnitee of any other rights or the seeking any and all other remedies against any Indemnifying Party.

SECTION 9.7 <u>Survival of Indemnities</u>. The obligations of each of the parties under this <u>Article IX</u> shall survive the sale or other transfer by it of any assets or businesses or the assignment by it of any Liabilities with respect to any Loss of the other related to such assets, businesses or Liabilities.

ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 10.1 <u>Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements</u>. The representations and warranties contained herein or in any other writing delivered pursuant hereto, as well as any covenant or agreement of the parties that by its terms contemplates performance exclusively prior to the Closing Date, shall survive until (but not beyond) the Closing Date, other than the representations and warranties in <u>Section 2.18(b)</u> and (c), which shall survive the Closing and continue for twelve (12) months thereafter, and the representations and warranties in <u>Section 2.2</u>, which shall survive the Closing and continue thereafter indefinitely. Each of the agreements and covenants in this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement or any other agreement delivered by or on behalf of the Company or the other Sellers under this Agreement which, in any such case, by its terms contemplates performance in whole or in

part after the Closing Date shall survive the Closing until performed in accordance with its terms.

SECTION 10.2 <u>Amendment or Supplement</u>. At any time prior to the Closing Date, this Agreement may be amended or supplemented in any and all respects, whether before or after authorization of the Bio Companies Transactions by the holders of Company Common Stock, by written agreement of the parties hereto, by action taken

Table of Contents

by their respective boards of directors; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that following the Company Stockholder Authorization, there shall be no amendment or change to the provisions hereof which by Law or in accordance with the rules of any relevant stock exchange would require further approval by the holders of Company Common Stock without such approval; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that any supplement to the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter shall not be deemed a cure for any breach of a representation or warranty contained in this Agreement.

SECTION 10.3 <u>Guaranty</u>. Lonza Group hereby guarantees the payment and performance by Purchasers of all of Purchasers obligations set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 10.4 Extension of Time, Waiver, Etc. At any time prior to the Closing Date, any party may, subject to applicable Law, (a) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party hereto, (b) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or acts of the other party hereto or (c) waive compliance by any other party with any of the agreements contained herein or, except as otherwise provided herein, waive any of such party s conditions: provided that after the Company Stockholder Authorization is obtained, there may not be any extension or waiver of this Agreement or any portion thereof which, by Law or in accordance with the rules of any relevant stock exchange, requires further approval by such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by the Company or any Purchaser in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right hereunder. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party.

SECTION 10.5 Assignment.

(a) Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other party; <u>provided</u> that such consent shall not be required (i) for assignments and transfers by operation of Law and (ii) in the event the Company assigns any or all of its rights, interests and obligations hereunder to a Person with whom the Company merges or to whom the Company sells all or substantially all of its assets. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Any purported assignment not permitted under this section shall be null and void.

(b) At any time prior to the Closing Date, Purchasers may, with the prior written consent of the Company (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), designate one or more of its Affiliates not party to this Agreement to participate in the purchase of any portion or all of the Bio Companies Shares; <u>provided</u>, that any such designation would not be reasonably expected to delay the Closing or require the procurement of any additional consents; and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that no such designation shall relieve Purchasers of their obligations under this Agreement and all such designees shall agree in writing to be bound by this Agreement.

SECTION 10.6 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (each of which shall be deemed to be an original but both of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement) and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party.

SECTION 10.7 Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement, together with the Schedules, the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter and the Confidentiality Agreement, (a) constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and (b) are not intended to and shall not confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder, including without limitation any Transferred Bio Companies Employee, any participant in any Bio Companies Plan or any beneficiary thereof.

SECTION 10.8 <u>Governing Law: Submission to Jurisdiction: Appointment of Agent for Service of Process: Waiver of Jury Trial</u>.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflict of Laws that would require the application of the Laws of another jurisdiction. The parties hereto hereby declare that it is their intention that this Agreement shall be regarded as made under the Laws of the State of Delaware and that the Laws of said State shall be applied in interpreting its provisions

A-49

in all cases where legal interpretation shall be required. Each of the parties hereto agrees (x) that this Agreement involves at least US \$100,000 and (y) that this Agreement has been entered into by the parties hereto in express reliance upon 6 <u>Del. C</u>. § 2708. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees (i) to be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Delaware and of the federal courts sitting in the State of Delaware, and (ii)(A) to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to service of process in the State of Delaware, to appoint and maintain an agent in the State of Delaware as such party s agent for acceptance of legal process and (B) that, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, service of process may also be made on such party by prepaid certified mail with a proof of mailing receipt validated by the United States Postal Service constituting evidence of valid service, and that service made pursuant to (ii)(A) or (B) above shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, is for a party personally within the State of Delaware.

(b) The parties hereto hereby agree to bring all Actions and Proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement in the Courts of the State of Delaware, and the parties irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any such Action or Proceeding. The parties hereto agree that a final judgment in any such Action or Proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable Law.

(c) EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT.

SECTION 10.9 <u>Specific Enforcement</u>. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware, without bond or other security being required, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at Law or in equity.

SECTION 10.10 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally, facsimiled (which is confirmed) or sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) to the parties at the following addresses:

If to Purchasers, or to any of them, to:

Lonza Group Limited Muenchensteinerstrasse 38 CH-4002 Basel Switzerland Attention: Head of Legal Affairs Facsimile: 41-61-316-8314

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Mayer Brown Rowe & Maw LLP 1675 Broadway New York, New York 10019 Attention: James B. Carlson Facsimile: (212) 849-5515

Table of Contents

If to the Company, to:

Cambrex Corporation One Meadowlands Plaza East Rutherford, NJ 07073 Attention: Peter E. Thauer Facsimile: (201) 804-9852

A-50

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP 1 Chase Manhattan Plaza New York, NY 10005 Attention: Robert S. Reder Facsimile: (212) 822-5680

or such other address or facsimile number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the other party hereto. All such notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient thereof if received prior to 5 P.M. in the place of receipt and such day is a business day in the place of receipt. Otherwise, any such notice, request or communication shall be deemed not to have been received until the next succeeding business day in the place of receipt.

SECTION 10.11 <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the Bio Companies Transactions are fulfilled to the extent possible.

SECTION 10.12 Definitions.

(a) As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings ascribed thereto below:

<u>Action of Divestiture</u> means (i) making proposals, negotiating, executing or carrying out agreements or submitting to legal requirements, by consent decree, hold separate order or otherwise, imposed by a Governmental Authority providing for the license, sale, divestiture or other disposition or holding separate (through the establishment of a trust or otherwise) of any assets or categories of assets or businesses of any Purchaser and its Subsidiaries or (ii) otherwise taking, committing, imposing or seeking to impose any limitation on the ability of any Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries to conduct or retain their respective business, product line or assets or own such assets or to acquire, hold or exercise full rights of ownership of the Bio Companies Business.

<u>Action or Proceeding</u> shall mean any action, suit, proceeding, hearing, charge, complaint, grievance, arbitration or Governmental Authority investigation.

<u>Additional Adjustment Amount</u> shall mean the total amount, if any, by which the amount of each Adjustment Category (as determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement) exceeds the Applicable Cap; <u>provided</u> that in the case of each Adjustment Category, there shall be no increase or decrease unless the amount of such Adjustment Category exceeds the Applicable Cap by more than US \$100,000, in which case the adjustment in respect of such Adjustment Category (for purposes of calculating the Additional Adjustment Amount) shall be made on a dollar-for-dollar basis from the first dollar without giving effect to such US \$100,000 cushion).

<u>Adjustment Category</u> shall mean each of the (i) Advanced Payments, (ii) Transaction Payments, (iii) Vacation and Salary Payments, (iv) Capital Leases and (v) Deferred Compensation, each of which shall be determined in accordance with GAAP.

<u>Advanced Payments</u> shall mean customer deposits received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from customers of the Bio Companies Business prior to the Closing Date for which the corresponding services have not been rendered as of the Closing Date, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

<u>Affilia</u>te shall mean, as to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. For this purpose, control (including, with its correlative meanings, controlled by and under common control with) shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by Contract or otherwise.

A-51

<u>Applicable Cap</u> shall mean with respect to (i) Advanced Payments, US \$4,500,000, (ii) Transaction Payments, US \$7,500,000, (iii) Vacation and Salary Payments, US \$4,900,000, (iv) Capital Leases, US \$4,800,000, and (v) Deferred Compensation, US \$3,300,000.

<u>Bio Companies Liability</u> shall mean any Liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from (i) any action, inaction, event, omission, condition, fact or circumstance occurring or existing prior to, on or after the Closing, in each case to the extent such Liability relates to, arises out of or results from any of the assets, properties or operations of any of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business, including without limitation any Liability for a violation of, or creation of Liability under, any Environmental Law (including any Liability arising from or relating to the Walkersville Facility or the Debris Field, except as expressly provided in <u>Section 4.11</u>), but excluding any (i) Company Liabilities; (ii) Liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from the Rubin Litigation; and (iii) any breach of any agreement or covenant of Purchasers contained in this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement or any other agreement delivered by or on behalf of Purchasers under this Agreement, which, in any such case, by its terms contemplates performance in whole or in part after the Closing Date, including without limitation Purchasers obligations under <u>Section 4.11</u>.

Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect shall mean any change, event or occurrence which has a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Bio Companies Business or the Bio Companies taken as a whole, or on the ability of the Sellers to perform their respective obligations hereunder, other than changes, events, occurrences or effects arising out of, resulting from or attributable to (i) changes in conditions in the United States or global economy or capital or financial markets generally, including changes in interest or exchange rates, (ii) changes in general legal, regulatory, political, economic or business conditions or changes in generally accepted accounting principles that, in each case, generally affect industries in which the Bio Companies conduct business, provided that such changes do not affect the Bio Companies in a disproportionate manner, (iii) the execution, announcement or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions, including the impact thereof on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers, suppliers, distributors, partners or employees, (iv) acts of war, sabotage or terrorism, or any escalation or worsening of any such acts of war, sabotage or terrorism threatened or underway as of the date of this Agreement, (v) storms, earthquakes or other natural disasters, (vi) any action taken by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as contemplated or permitted by this Agreement or with Purchasers consent, (vii) the initiation of any litigation by any stockholder of the Company relating to this Agreement or the Bio Companies Transactions or (viii) any decline in the market price, or change in trading volume, of the capital stock of the Company or any failure of the Company to meet publicly announced revenue or earnings projections.

<u>Bio Companies Transactions</u> refers collectively to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby to take place on the Closing Date, including the purchase and sale of the Bio Companies Shares (excluding the Bio Companies Shares issued by CBM Intellectual Property) and the assets of CBM Intellectual Property.

Biopharma Companies shall mean the entities identified as such on Schedule II hereto.

Bioproducts Companies shall mean the entities identified as such on Schedule II hereto.

<u>business day</u> shall mean a day except a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which the SEC or banks in the City of New York are authorized or required by Law to be closed.

<u>Capital Leases</u> shall mean any lease of any real or personal property by the Bio Companies that, in conformity with GAAP, is required to be accounted for as a capital lease of the Bio Companies as of the Closing Date.

Cash shall mean all cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of the Bio Companies Business.

<u>Code</u> shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

<u>Company Board</u> shall mean the board of directors of the Company or any duly constituted committee thereof which has been duly given the authority to act in the name, place and stead of the board of directors of the Company with respect to this Agreement and the Bio Companies Transactions.

<u>Company Common Stock</u> shall mean the voting common stock, US \$0.10 par value, of the Company.

<u>Company Liability</u> shall mean any Liability of the Company, the Sellers or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates, excluding any of the Bio Companies Liabilities, but including without limitation any Liability relating to, arising out of or resulting from (i) the Rubin Litigation; (ii) the Human Health Business of the Company and its Affiliates; (iii) any Liability, Action or Proceeding or Loss for a violation of, or creation of Liability under, any Environmental Law on the part of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company, other than the Bio Companies, or in respect of their respective properties (excluding the properties of the Bio Companies), including but not limited to the matters set forth on Section 10.12 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter; (iv) any Action or Proceeding brought by shareholders of the Company or its Subsidiaries (excluding the shareholders of the Bio Companies following the Closing), including but not limited to the SEC investigation and securities class action lawsuits listed in Section 10.12 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter; (v) any Liability, Action or Proceeding or Loss arising out of the sale of the Company s Rutherford Chemicals business, including but not limited to the lawsuit filed by the buyers of the Company s Rutherford Chemicals business in April 2006 or any other Liability, Action or Proceeding or Loss arising out of or related to the Company s Rutherford Chemicals business or the properties related thereto; (vi) any breach of the representations and warranties contained in Sections 2.2 and 2.18(b) and (c) (including any breach of such representations and warranties as of the Closing Date), disregarding in each case the effect of any Knowledge, Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect or materiality qualifications or other numerical or dollar thresholds and qualifiers set forth in any such representation or warranty, and without giving effect to any supplement to the Bio Companies Disclosure Schedule; (vii) any breach of any agreement or covenant of the Company or the other Sellers under this Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement or any other agreement delivered by or on behalf of the Company or the other Sellers under this Agreement that by its terms contemplates performance in whole or in part after the Closing Date, including without limitation the Company s obligations under Section 4.11; and (viii) any Liability, Action or Proceeding or Loss arising out of, related to or caused by the matters listed on Schedule 10.12 of the Bio Companies Disclosure Letter.

<u>Credit Agreement</u> shall mean the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2005, as amended, among the Company, the other Borrowers signatory thereto, the persons designated as Lenders thereunder, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner, and Citibank, N.A. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents.

<u>Deferred Compensation</u> shall mean earned but unpaid deferred compensation and amounts payable under the Bio Companies SERP (net of related assets held by the BioWhittaker, Inc. Supplement Executive Retirement Plan Trust) to any of the Transferred Bio Companies Employees or Former Bio Companies Employees as of the Closing Date, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

<u>Environmental Condition</u> shall mean any condition, contamination, constituent(s) or set of circumstances concerning the soil, groundwater, surface water, air or other environmental media that (i) constitutes a threat to human health or the environment; (ii) requires any response, action or similar action under any Environmental Law, including the presence, suspected presence, release or threat of release (including migration) of any Hazardous Material in, on, under, or into the air, soil, surface water, groundwater or other environmental media, (iii) constitutes or causes a violation of any Environmental Law, or (iv) is subject to an Action or Proceeding under or pursuant to any Environmental Law or common or civil law.

<u>Environmental Law</u> shall mean any applicable foreign, federal, state or local Law or Order relating to pollution or the protection of the environment including, without limitation, any of the foregoing relating to the presence, use, production, generation, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release, threatened release, control or cleanup of any Hazardous Materials, each as amended and in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

<u>FD</u>A shall mean the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.

<u>Former Bio Companies Employee</u> shall mean any person who was at any time employed in the Bio Companies Business on or prior to the Closing Date, but is not so employed immediately prior to the Closing, excluding persons who are employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries immediately after the Closing Date.

<u>GAAP</u> shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, applied on a basis consistent with the financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 included in the Company SEC Documents.

<u>Governmental Authority</u> shall mean any government, court, regulatory or administrative agency, commission or authority or other governmental instrumentality, federal, state or local, domestic, foreign or multinational.

<u>Hazardous Material(s)</u> shall mean any substance, material or waste, including special waste, that is characterized, classified or designated under any Environmental Law as hazardous, toxic, pollutant, contaminant, or radioactive, including, without limitation, petroleum and its by-products, lead based paint, asbestos and polychlorinated biphenyls.

HSR Act shall mean the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

<u>Indebtedness</u> shall mean, with respect to any Person, but without duplication, (i) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money and all accrued interest thereon, including without limitation, arising from any and all loans, advances, letters of credit, surety bonds and obligations related thereto (and including, with respect to the Bio Companies, arising from the Credit Agreement), (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures, hedging and swap arrangements or contracts or other similar instruments other than trade payables, accrued expenses and liabilities to current and/or former employees incurred in the ordinary course of business, (iii) all capital lease obligations of such Person, (iv) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of assets, property or services other than operating or other leases of property (except for capital lease obligations as set forth in clause (iii) above), trade payables and other non-ordinary course third party payables, accrued expenses and liabilities to current and/or former employees incurred in the ordinary course of business, (v) all payables, obligations and liabilities owed or payable by such Person to any of its direct or indirect parent companies or Subsidiaries or any of such Person s Affiliates, (vi) all accrued and unpaid interest on any Indebtedness referred to in clauses (i) through (v) above through the Closing Date and any prepayment penalties, premiums, consent or other fees, breakage costs on interest rate swaps and any other hedging obligations (including, but not limited to, foreign exchange contracts) or other costs incurred in connection with the repayment or assumption of such Indebtedness, and (vii) all Indebtedness of others referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) above guaranteed directly or indirectly in any manner by such Person.

<u>Independent Accountants</u> shall mean a firm of independent accountants reasonably acceptable to Purchasers and the Company.

<u>Insurance Proceeds</u> shall mean those monies (i) received by an insured from an insurance carrier or (ii) paid by an insurance carrier on behalf of the insured, in either case net of any applicable premium adjustments, retrospectively rated premium adjustments, deductibles, retentions or costs paid by such insured.

<u>Intercompany Assets</u> shall mean all receivables and other amounts payable by any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies) to any of the Bio Companies and all receivables and other amounts payable by any of the Bio Companies to any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies).

Intercompany Items shall mean all Intercompany Assets and Intercompany Liabilities.

<u>Intercompany Liabilities</u> shall mean all payables, obligations and liabilities owed or payable by any of the Bio Companies to any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies), including any agreements or commitments by or binding upon any of the Bio Companies, and all payables, obligations and liabilities owed or payable by any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies) to any of the Bio Companies, including any agreements or commitments by or binding upon any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies) to any of the Bio Companies, including any agreements or commitments by or binding upon any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Bio Companies).

<u>Inventory</u> means all inventories of raw materials, work-in-process, finished goods and any other items that the Bio Companies have accounted for as inventory on a basis consistent with the financial statements made available to Purchasers pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) of <u>Section 2.5(a)</u>, which in any case are held at, or are in transit from or to, the locations at which the business and operation of the Bio Companies is conducted, or located at customers premises on consignment, in each case, which are used or held for use by the Bio

A-54

Companies in the conduct of the Bio Companies Business, including any of the foregoing purchased subject to any conditional sales or title retention agreement in favor of any other Person, together with all rights of the Bio Companies against suppliers of such inventories.

<u>Knowledge</u> shall mean, in the case of either the Sellers or Purchasers, the knowledge, as of the date of this Agreement, of any of the executive officers or senior management of such party, including executive officers or senior management of such party s Subsidiaries. An individual will be deemed to have Knowledge of a particular fact or other matter if that individual is actually aware of that fact or matter.

<u>Law</u> shall mean any applicable federal, state, local or foreign law (including common law), statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, decree, order or other legally binding requirement.

Letters of Credit shall mean all letters of credit and the related reimbursement obligations of the Bio Companies.

<u>Liability</u> or <u>Liabil</u>ities shall mean any and all debts, liabilities and obligations, whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, reserved or unreserved, or determined or determinable, including, without limitation, those arising under any Law, claim, demand, Action or Proceeding, whether asserted or unasserted, or judgment, writ or injunction of any Governmental Authority, and those arising under any Contract, arrangement, commitment or undertaking or any fines, damages or equitable relief which may be imposed and including, without limitation, all costs and expenses related thereto.

<u>Lie</u>n shall mean any lien, pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, claim, lease, charge, option, warrant, right of first refusal or other purchase right, easement, servitude, transfer restriction under any shareholder or similar agreement, encumbrance or any other restriction or limitation whatsoever.

<u>Loss</u> or <u>Losses</u> shall mean any and all losses, injuries, claims, expenses, damages of any kind, judgments, settlements, debts, penalties, fines, obligations, interest (including prejudgment interest), costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable attorneys fees and expenses and reasonable costs of investigation).

<u>material</u> and <u>Bio Companies Material Adverse E</u>ffect and all derivatives thereof shall mean, when used in Article II only (and not, in the case of the definition of Bio Companies Material Adverse Effect , for purposes of evaluating the satisfaction of any conditions precedent to closing in <u>Section 5.2</u> or a party s right to indemnification unde<u>r Article IX</u>), facts, circumstances, developments, obligations or Liabilities that would reasonably be expected to involve an expenditure, value or Liability of US \$500,000 or more.

<u>ND</u>A means any confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement entered into in connection with the contemplated sale of the Bio Companies or the Bio Companies Business.

<u>Order</u> shall mean any injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling or charge issued by Governmental Authority or any arbitrator.

Outside Date shall mean April 23, 2007.

Permits shall mean any approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, permits or certificates.

<u>Permitted Liens</u> shall mean (i) any Lien for Taxes not yet due or delinquent or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (ii) any statutory Lien arising in the ordinary course of business by operation of Law with respect to a liability that is not yet due or delinquent or (iii) any minor imperfection of title or similar Lien.

<u>Person</u> shall mean an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, an association, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization or any other entity, including a Governmental Authority.

<u>Principal Management</u> shall mean the authority to principally direct, control and make all decisions with respect to the Debris Field Remediation, including without limitation selection of consultants, contractors, experts and advisors; evaluation, selection and implementation of investigatory, corrective and remedial measures; communications or negotiations with or challenges to any Governmental Authority or third parties; and determination that the Debris Field Remediation has been completed.

A-55

<u>Product Liability Claim</u> shall mean any Action or Proceeding or other written claim or demand from any Person against the Bio Companies related to Losses actually or allegedly caused by a product manufactured by the Bio Companies prior to the Closing Date, including by reason of exposure to substances, ingredients, constituents, components or materials contained in a product manufactured by the Bio Companies prior to the Closing Date, or any Order relating to or arising from such Action or Proceeding, claim or demand.

<u>Remediation</u> shall mean any and all investigation, delineation, cleanup, removal, capping, remediation, corrective action, monitoring or other treatment required by any Environmental Laws or any Governmental Authority to address any non-compliance with Environmental Laws or the release or presence of Hazardous Materials.

<u>Remediation Costs</u> means any and all administrative, legal, investigative, remedial, corrective and other costs, expenses and fees arising from or incurred in connection with any Remediation.

<u>Restricted Period</u> shall mean the period from the Closing Date to (i) the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date in the case of <u>Section 4.20</u> and (ii) the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date of this Agreement in the case of <u>Section 4.21</u>.

<u>Rubin Litigation</u> shall mean the litigation against the Company pending in the New York federal court, entitled *Rubin Squared Inc. v. Cambrex Corp.*, brought by an entity controlled by the former owner of Cambrex Bio Science Baltimore, Inc. in connection with the purchase by the Company of Cambrex Bio Science Baltimore, Inc.

<u>Subsidiary</u> when used with respect to any party, shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity and more than 50% of the ordinary voting power (or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests) are, as of such date, owned by such party or one or more Subsidiaries of such party or by such party and one or more Subsidiaries of such party.

<u>Surety Bonds</u> shall mean all surety and performance bonds and the related reimbursement obligations of the Bio Companies.

<u>Taxing Authority</u> means any Governmental Authority and any other quasi-governmental or non-governmental body administering, regulating or having general responsibility for the imposition of any Tax.

<u>Transaction Payments</u> shall mean regular bonuses owing to any of the Transferred Bio Companies Employees in respect of the period beginning on January 1, 2006 and ending on or prior to the Closing Date that have not been paid prior to the Closing, and any change of control payments and retention bonuses payable in cash to any of the Transferred Bio Companies Employees as a result of the consummation of the Bio Companies Transactions that have not been paid prior to the Closing, all as determined in accordance with GAAP.

<u>USD</u>A shall mean the United States Department of Agriculture.

<u>Vacation and Salary Payments</u> shall mean earned but unpaid vacation payments and earned but unpaid salary with respect to the Transferred Bio Companies Employees as of the Closing Date, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

<u>Working Capital</u> means the difference between (i) the Bio Companies current assets as of the Closing Date and (ii) the Bio Companies current liabilities as of the Closing Date, in each case of the type that would be reflected in a year-end balance sheet of the Bio Companies as determined in accordance with GAAP, but disregarding for this purpose (A) any adjustment arising from purchase accounting or otherwise arising out of the Bio Companies Transactions,

(B) Cash, (C) Indebtedness, Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds, (D) all income, current deferred and other Taxes, (E) all Intercompany Items, and (F) each of the Adjustment Categories; <u>provided</u> that in computing any of the elements contained in clause (i) or (ii) above, changes in foreign exchange rates between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date shall be disregarded.

The following terms are defined on the page of this Agreement set forth opposite such term below:

Agreement	1
Allocation	56
Alternative Bio Companies Takeover Proposal	65
Alternative Bio Companies Transaction	65
Alternative Biopharma Proposal	65
Annual Financial Statements	48
Antitrust Laws	41
Assumed Bio Companies Plans	18
Balance Sheet Date	12
Bankruptcy and Equity Exception	11
Bio Companies	1,2
Bio Companies Acquisition Agreement	36
Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Change	37
Bio Companies Adverse Recommendation Notice	38
Bio Companies Business	1
Bio Companies Charter Documents	9
Bio Companies Contracts	20
Bio Companies Disclosure Letter	9
Bio Companies Intellectual Property	24
Bio Companies Plan	18
Bio Companies Recommendation	37
Bio Companies Sellers	1
Bio Companies SERP	60
Bio Companies Shares	1
Bio Companies Stand-Alone Pension Plans	60
Bio Companies Takeover Proposal	38
Biopharma Balance Sheet	12
Biopharma Business	1
Bioproducts Balance Sheet	12
Bioproducts Business	1
Cambrex Ireland IP	2
Cambrex Walkersville	5
CBM Intellectual Property	1
Closing	5
Closing Date	5
COBRA Coverage	61
Company	1
Company FSAs	61
Company Indemnitees	66
Company Pension Plans	60
Company SEC Documents	13
Company Stockholder Authorization	11
Company Stockholders Meeting	40
Competing Business	49
Confidentiality Agreement	42
Contract	11

Debris Field	43
Debris Field Remediation	43
Directors Qualifying Shares	6
Disputed Item	4
ERISA	18
ERISA Affiliate	18
Exchange Act	11
Final Purchase Price	3
Food and Drug Laws	14
Foreign Antitrust Laws	11
Indemnifying Party	66
Indemnitee	66
Initial Purchase Price	2
Intellectual Property	24
IP Licenses	24
IRS	18
Leased Real Property	26
Lonza America	1
Lonza Group	1
Lonza Sales AG	1
Lonza Swiss Holdco	1
Monthly Financial Statements	48
Net Closing Purchase Price	5
New Plans	59
Non-Residential Cleanup Standards	44
Non-US Bio Companies Shares	2